
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

 

Audit and Risk Committee 
25 July 2022 

 
Time 
 

2.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Regulatory 

Venue 
 

Council Chamber - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH 

Membership 
 

Chair Cllr Craig Collingswood (Lab) 
Vice-chair Cllr Paul Appleby (Con) 
 

Labour Independent Member  

Cllr Mary Bateman 
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE 
Cllr Claire Darke 
Cllr John Reynolds 
Cllr Tersaim Singh 
 
Conservative  
 
Cllr Jonathan Yardley  
 

Mr Mike Ager 
Mr Armstrong Ngoh  
 

 

Quorum for this meeting is two Councillors. 
 

Information for the Public 
 
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team: 

Contact Fabrica Hastings 
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 552699 or Fabrica.Hastings2@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square, 

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL 
 

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from: 
 

Website  https://wolverhamptoninternet.moderngov.co.uk 

Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk  

Tel 01902 550320 

 

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording and use of social media in meetings, copies of 
which are displayed in the meeting room. 
 
Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public. 
 
 

 

mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

Agenda 
 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 
Item No. Title 

 
MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS 
 
1 Apologies for absence  
 

2 Declaration of interests  
 

3 Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6) 
 [For approval] 

 

4 Matters arising  
 [To consider any matters arising from the minutes] 

 

DECISION ITEMS 
 
5 Code of Corporate Governance (Pages 7 - 26) 
 [To receive an update on the code of corporate governance.] 

 

6 Annual Governance Statement 2021-2022 (Pages 27 - 50) 
 [To receive an annual governance statement 2021-2022 update.] 

 

7 Assessment of Going Concern Status (Pages 51 - 62) 
 [To receive an assessment of going concern status update.] 

 

8 Draft Statement of Accounts (Pages 63 - 350) 
 [To receive the draft statement of accounts.] 

 

9 Counter Fraud Update (Pages 351 - 364) 
 [To receive an update on counter fraud.] 

 

10 Strategic Risk Register (Pages 365 - 374) 
 [To receive an update on the strategic risk register.] 

 

10a Cyber Security Update (Pages 375 - 386) 
 [To receive an update on cyber security.] 

 



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

Audit and Risk Committee 
Minutes - 20 June 2022 

 

Attendance 
 

Members of the Audit and Risk Committee 
 
Cllr Craig Collingswood (Chair) 
Cllr Mary Bateman 
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE 
Cllr Claire Darke  
Cllr John Reynolds  
Cllr Tersaim Singh  
Mike Ager  
Armstrong Ngoh  
 
Conservative 
Cllr Jonathan Yardley  
Cllr Paul Appleby (Vice-Chair) 
 

Employees  

Emma Bland Finance Business Partner  
Peter Farrow Head of Audit 
Claire Nye Director of Finance 
Mark Wilkes 
Ian Cotterill  
David Pattison      
Jaswinder Kaur   
Fabrica Hastings                                                 
 
In attendance  
Jon Roberts                                                                                 

Audit Business Partner  
Audit Business Partner  
Chief Operating Officer  
Democratic Services Manager  
Democratic Services Officer  
 
 
Grant Thornton  

 

 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 

Item No. Title 

 
1 Apologies for absence 

Apologies were received from Alison Shannon – Chief Accountant. 
 

2 Declaration of interests 
Councillor Philip Bateman declared an interest as a member of the Birmingham 
International Airport. 
 

3 Minutes of previous meeting 
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 14 March 2022 be approved as a 
correct record. 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

4 Matters arising 
The Chair of the Committee thanked the previous Chair and Members for their 
contributions. He congratulated and welcomed Armstrong Ngoh, Independent 
Member, to the Committee.  
He advised the Committee of the proposed dates for a tour of the Civic Halls, later 
scheduled for the 30 June 2022. 
 

5 City of Wolverhampton Council Audit Plan 2021-2022 
Jon Roberts, Grant Thornton, presented the City of Wolverhampton Council Audit 
Plan 2021-2022. He provided an overview of the Statutory external audit process. In 
accordance with the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice and in line with 
the local audit accountability act.  
 
He advised the Committee that the audit plan was based on a risk assessment, the 
audit attention is tailored around the risks identified and based on planning 
considerations. The Committee were advised that the risk of fraud revenue 
expenditure and manipulated expenditure was considered a significant risk from an 
accounting perspective. Other identified risks included; 

Management Overriding Controls 
Valuation of Land and Buildings  
Valuation of Pension Fund Liability 
Group Governance.  

 
The audit undertaken for 2021-2022, was against the background of post pandemic 
and therefore, the audit findings included the legacy of the pandemic. Particular 
themes included; 

Grant / Accounting Agreements for Grants 
Economic Downturn  
Accounting for Infrastructure Assets – National Issue. 

 
The Committee were advised on the key developments for 2022 that included, the 
Help to Own Arrangements and the Civic Halls Restoration  
 
Grant Thornton would aim to comply with the Governments timetables for audit 
reports. Set at 30 September for completion which was extended until the 30 
November 2023. Information regarding the timetable extension was published by 
Government in a document called ‘Measures to improve Local Audit Delays’.  
 
In response to a question regarding remote working. The Director of Finance advised 
the Committee, that the auditing would be completed onsite to reduce the financial 
loss.  
 
In response to a question from the Chair regarding accounting for the covid-19 
business support grants that the Council had administered on behalf of the 
Government, Grant Thornton responded that they were being dealt with appropriately 
within the accounts.  
 
In response to a further question from the Chair, Grant Thornton expanded on the 
arrangement the Council has with regards to Birmingham Airport. 
 
Resolved: 

1. That the City of Wolverhampton Council Audit Plan 2021-2022 be noted. 
 Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

6 CIPFA Financial Management Code Review 
Claire Nye, Director of Finance, presented the CIPFA Financial Management Code 
Review. She provided members with an overview of the progress since last year and 
areas for improvement.  
 
She advised that that framework focused on six principles, and that the Council was 
overall complaint with the CIPFA Code. She advised that monitoring/ delivery of 
value for money was strengthened at the Council., over the last 12-months. To be 
able to demonstrate to Councillors by linking performance data to finances in reports. 
Some other key progress included; 

Robust Financial Processes 
Monitoring Arrangements  
Good Governance  
Strong Financial Leadership across the Organisation.   

The Committee were advised on the areas for improvement flagged within the report 
that included financial benchmarking and financial sustainability.  
 
The focus area for development was the procurement and contact management, as 
key to the delivery of value for money, for the organisation and to the delivery, of the 
Council’s commitment to the Wolverhampton pound. 
 
In response to comments raised by Councillor Appleby, regarding the maintenance 
of the process in place and time scales, to resolve the amber rated actions. The 
director of Finance advised that an action plan was under development.  
 
In response to a question raised by Armstrong Ngoh, Independent Member, 
regarding access to the code guide. The Director of Finance advised that she would 
provide a copy of the code to members of the Committee, and provide more detail on 
the highlighted areas within the report to the next meeting.  
 
Resolved: 

1. That the CIPFA Financial Management Code Review be noted. 
 

7 Payment Transparency 
Peter Farrow, Head of Audit, presented the Payment Transparency update. He 
advised the Committee that spend data continues to be published online for public 
inspection and that no armchair auditor requests have been received since the last 
meeting. 
 
Resolved: 

1. That the Council’s current position with regards to the publication of all its 
expenditure be noted. 

 
8 Annual Internal Audit Report 2021-2022 

Peter Farrow, Head of Audit, presented the Annual Internal Audit Report 2021-2022. 
He provided the Committee with an overview of the Audit review process for the 
benefit of the new members in attendance.  
 
He advised the Committee that the cyber security and disaster recovery review was 
completed at a satisfactory level of assurance.  

The Committee were advised that three limited assurance reports were made 
during the year and had been reported previously to the Committee.  

He advised that action was being taken to address the recommendations.  Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
The Head of Audit was able to provide an unqualified opinion, based on a 12- month 
period. He was confident to give reasonable assurance, that the Council has 
adequate and affective governance/ internal controls and risk management process 
in place.  
 
In response to a question raised by the Chair of the Committee regarding cyber 
security. The Head of Audit advised that the Council was signed up to the National 
Cyber Security to receive updates on emerging risks. He advised that Jai Ghai, Head 
of ICT, would provide members with a cyber security update at the next meeting.  
 
In response to a question raised by Armstrong Ngoh, Independent Member, 
regarding the ICT development and testing. Ian Cotterill, Audit Business Partner, 
advised the Committee that programme testing/ backup and restore, for all Council 
systems are practiced regularly.  
 
The Chair of the Committee commented that at future meetings, a risk or risks may 
be identified by the Committee for a deep dive, and that in such cases, the relevant 
risk owner would be invited to the following meeting in order to provide further details 
to the committee on how that particular risk was being managed. The Head of Audit 
advised that this was considered good practice for the Committee.  
 
The Chief Operating Officer advised the Committee that a report on disaster recovery 
and local flooding would be bought to the Committee.  
 
Resolved: 

1. That the contents of the Annual Internal Audit Report and the overall opinion 
that “based on the work undertaken during the year, the implementation by 
management of the recommendations made and the assurance made 
available to the Council by other providers as well as directly by Internal Audit, 
Internal Audit can provide reasonable assurance that the Council has 
adequate and effective governance, risk management and internal control 
processes” be noted.   

 

Page 6



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

  

 
Audit and Risk Committee 
25 July 2022 
 

  
Report title Code of Corporate Governance 
  

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Paula Brookfield 
Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities 
 

Accountable director David Pattison, Chief Operating Officer 

Originating service Governance 

Accountable employee David Pattison 

Tel 

Email 

Chief Operating Officer 

01902 553840 

David.Pattison@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Report to be/has been 

considered by 

 

 

 

Governance and Ethics Committee 

Council   

7 July 2022 

14 September 2022 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation for decision: 

 

The Audit and Risk Committee recommends that Council: 

 

1. Considers and approves the revised Code of Corporate Governance. 

 

2. Authorises the Chief Operating Officer to publicise the document and add it to the 

Constitution. 

 

 

Recommendation for noting: 

 

The Audit and Risk Committee notes that: 

 

1. The Audit and Risk Committee will consider the revised Code of Corporate Governance. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item No: 5



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

1.0 Purpose 

1.1 This report outlines the improvements made to the Code of Corporate Governance. The 

updating of the Code of Corporate Governance is a recommendation from the Council’s 

Annual Governance Statement in 2021. This Code has been updated to reflect changes in 

the guidance issued supporting the Code. It is recommended that the Council agrees to 

the addition of this document to the Constitution to ensure continuing lawfulness and 

effectiveness. 

2.0 Background 

2.1 The Code of Corporate Governance (the Code) aims to set out the principles of good 

governance and to describe the arrangements in place that ensure the Council conducts 

its business in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 

safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and effectively.  

2.2 The document was developed in 2016 following the introduction of  the Chartered Institute 

of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Society of Local Authority Chief 

Executive (SOLACE) framework and guidance, which recommends best practice for local 

authorities to follow.  There are seven core principles, each of which is supported by sub-

principles, to provide a governance framework.   

2.3 Compliance with the Council’s Code underpins the effectiveness of its systems of internal 

controls, and this in turn informs the Annual Governance Statement which accompanies 

its Annual Statement of Account. 

2.4 The Code forms part of the Council’s Constitution although it is not currently included within 

the published version. 

3.0 Progress, options, discussion, etc. 

3.1 The Council is committed to maintaining robust arrangements for good governance and a 

periodic review of the Code was undertaken to ensure that: 

A. The Council was still complying with the core principles. 

B. It reflected the most up to date ways in which the Council operates, including its 

expectations and standards. 

3.2 At the same time the document was revised to ensure that it was more inclusive without 

losing any important detail.  The revised version of the document has reduced in length, 

and includes a diagram showing the relationship between each of the seven core 

principles.   

3.3 To ensure the document is used and can be easily understood it relies on signposting 

readers to other documents, so that they can easily find what they need without being 

distracted by unnecessary information. 

Page 8



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

3.4 The views of the Council’s Head of Strategy, Head of Communications, Head of Audit and 

Director of Finance were taken into account and incorporated into the revised version of 

the Code. 

3.5 Critically the Code can and will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis.   

4.0 Financial implications 

4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

[AS/29062022/V] 

5.0 Legal implications 

5.1 Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance supports the Council’s review of the 

effectiveness of its system of internal controls as required by the Accounts and Audit 

Regulations 2015. 

[SZ/29062022/P] 

6.0 Equalities implications 

6.1 There are no equalities implications arising from the recommendation in this report. 

7.0 All other Implications 

7.1 There are no other implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 

8.0 Schedule of background papers 

8.1 None. 

9.0 Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1: Code of Corporate Governance. 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 

City of Wolverhampton Council is committed to demonstrating the highest standards of 
Corporate Governance.  Good governance leads to good management, good 
performance, effective use of resources, good public involvement, and ultimately good 
outcomes. 

The Council’s Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”) comprises a range of 
documents, policies, procedures, cultures, and values and is the system through which 
the business of the Council is directed and controlled.  The Code underpins the aim of 
achieving good governance. 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

The corporate governance framework of City of Wolverhampton Council is consistent 
with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE best practice framework Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government 2016 (the most up-to-date version).  The following 
seven core governance principles ensure that we have high standards of good 
governance. 

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 
respecting the rule of law. 

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 
C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits. 
D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes. 
E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it. 
F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management. 
G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 

effective accountability. 
 
The table below shows the relationship between each of the seven Principles in 
achieving the intended outcomes while acting in the public interest at all times. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

 

 Underpinning principles Implementation principles 

Principles A and B permeate implementation of all other principles 

A 

Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law 

 

G 
Implementing good practice in transparency, reporting, 
and audit to deliver effective accountability 
 

C 
Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, 
social, and environmental benefits 
 

B 
Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive 
stakeholder engagement 

D 
Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended categories 
 

E 

Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its 

leadership and the individuals within it 

 

F 

Managing risks and performance through robust internal control 

and strong public financial management 

 

 
Improving governance requires a continuing, cyclical, process of 

evaluation and review.   When reaching this point, continue from the 
top at principle G 

 

 

MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
The Council’s commitment to good corporate governance includes the application, 
development, and maintenance of this Code.  Each year the Code is reviewed, and an 
Annual Governance Statement made to accompany the Annual Accounts.  The 
Statement includes an appraisal of the key measures in place to manage the Council’s 
decision making and financial control, and it also provides details of where 
improvements need to be made.  The Statement will be reported to the Governance & 
Ethics Committee and Audit and Risk Committee (whose respective Terms of 
Reference can be found here and here) who will also monitor progress towards any 
improvements which need to be made. 
 
The following tables detail how the Council demonstrates its commitment to the seven 
core principles and indicates where more information can be obtained. 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 12

https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s210602/Part%202%20-%20Article%209%20-%20Governance%20and%20Ethics%20Committee.pdf
https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s210601/Part%202%20-%20Article%208-%20Regulatory%20and%20Other%20Committees.pdf


Appendix 1  

 

 

 

CODE OF GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLE A  

Behaving with Integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, 

and respecting the rule of law 

 

This core principle is supported by three supporting principles: 

 Behaving with integrity 

 Demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values 

 Respecting the rule of law 

 

What the Council does How it demonstrates this 

Ensures that the Council’s leadership set 
and reinforces the tone of the organisation 
by creating a climate of openness, support, 
and respect. 

 Protocol for Councillor/Officer relations 

 Code of Conduct for Councillors 

 Code of Conduct for Officers 

 Leadership Forum, Operational Manager 

Network, Officer Briefings, City People 

articles, News from the Chief Executive (by 

email and video) 

 Weekly Councillor update emails 

 City Plan 

 Our People Strategy 

 HR policy framework including all HR 

policies 

 Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion Strategy 

 

Defines the personal behaviours expected of 
Councillors and Officers. 

 Protocol for Councillor/Officer relations 

 Code of Conduct for Councillors 

 Detailed training on Code of Conduct 

 Planning Committee Code of Conduct for 

Councillors and Employees 

 Councillors Guide – Equalities 

 Councillor induction and regular training 

 

Puts in place arrangements to ensure that 
conflicts of interest are declared and if 
necessary, the Member/Officer does not 
participate in decision-making.  

 Revised Code of Conduct for Councillors 

and detailed training  

 Code of Conduct for Officers 

 Councillors and Officers Register of 

Interests 

 Whistle-blowing Policy & Procedure 

 Councillor induction and regular training 

 

Develops and maintains shared values 
including values for both the organization 
and Officers and communicate these with 

 Our City: Our Plan 

 Council’s website 

 Our People Strategy 

Page 13



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

Councillors, Officers, the community, and 
partners. 

 Engagement with residents and businesses 

including social media channels 

 

Uses the Council’s shared values to act as a 
guide for decision making and as a basis for 
developing positive and trusting relationships 
within the authority. 

 Our City: Our Plan 

 Our People Strategy 

 Code of Conduct for Councillors 

 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy  

 Code of Conduct for Officers 

 Professional Conversations 

 

Maintain effective Governance & Ethics 
Committee. 

 Governance & Ethics Committee Terms of 

Reference 

 

Has in place effective systems to enable staff 
and others to identify any potential wrong-
doing and to protect staff should they raise 
areas of concern. 

 Whistleblowing policy 

 Details of Monitoring Officer on website 

 Monitoring officer accessible to officers 

 Safe Space confidential reporting telephone 

and website for officers 

 

Ensures that professional advice on matters 
that have legal or financial implications is 
available in advance of decision making. 

 Senior lawyers and senior finance officers 

review reports going to member decision 

making meetings and all decisions must 

have legal and finance team approval 

before proceeding 

 Lead Officers for projects have responsibility 

to engage with legal services and finance to 

ensure that legal and finance advice is 

secured for their projects 

 

CODE OF GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLE B  

Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

 

This core principle is supported by three supporting principles: 

 Openness 

 Engaging comprehensively with institutional stakeholders 

 Engaging with individual citizens and service users effectively 

 

What the Council does How it demonstrates this 

Encourages all sections of the community 
and other stakeholders to participate in our 
work through public consultation. 

 

 Notices in local newspapers 

 Press releases for all local media 

 Promotion and links to consultation via 

social media channels 

 Stakeholder engagement channels 

Page 14



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

 The Council’s website  

 Consultation Guidance for Employees 

 Citizen Space consultation and 

engagement portal 

 

Holds meetings in public unless there is to 
be discussion of matters of a confidential 
nature. 

 Council, Cabinet, Board, Committee and 

Scrutiny meetings are all held in public 

unless considering exempt or confidential 

information 

 Protocol for Webcasting of meetings 

(including arrangements made as per 

Covid-19 special requirements) 

 Protocol for Recording and Filming of 

Meetings and the Use of social media 

 Clear guidance that meetings must be 

open unless considering exempt or 

confidential information  

 

Makes all information publicly available 
unless it is exempt by law. 

 Constitution 

 The Council’s website 

 Forward Plan of Key Decisions 

 Webcast of various Meetings (including 

those made as per Covid-19 special 

requirements) in accordance with relevant 

Protocols 

 Information Governance policies and 

procedures including relating to Freedom of 

Information 

 Environmental Information Regulations 

procedures 

 WV Insight data and analytics) 

 

Ensures that clear channels of 
communication are in place with all sections 
of the community and other stakeholders and 
put in place monitoring arrangements to 
ensure these operate effectively. 

 Forward Plan of Key Decisions 

 Consultation on significant policy changes 

including via the Council’s consultation and 

engagement portal Citizen Space 

 Petitions Scheme 

 Public questions at Health & Wellbeing 

Together meetings 

 Information Governance policies and 

procedures including relating to Freedom of 

Information 

 Environmental Information Regulations 

procedures 

 Whistleblowing policy 

 Regular surveys of residents to inform 

Council documents such as Our City: Our 

Plan 

Page 15



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

 Customer feedback including complaints 

and compliments 

 

Ensures that Officers are regularly consulted 
and invite comments from Officers on a wide 
range of issues. 

 Consultation with Recognised Trade Unions 

 Regular Staff engagement including senior 

officers attending each Staff Equality Forum 

and a representative from each Staff 

Equality Forum attending Strategic 

Executive Board meetings  

 

CODE OF GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLE C 

Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental 

benefits 

 

This core principle is supported by two supporting principles: 

 Defining outcomes 

 Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits 

 

What the Council does How it demonstrates this 

Defines and promotes its purpose and 
vision. 

 Our City: Our Plan 

 Black Country Core Strategy 2011-2026 

 

Maintains up-to-date Purpose and Vision to 
reflect its financial position and other major 
policy changes. 

 Annual review of Our City: Our Plan 

Works with its partners on an agreed 
common vision. 

 Development and implementation of 

strategies and policies with partners 

(including but not limited to): 

 Black Country Local Enterprise 

Partnership (LEP) 

 Wolverhampton Health & Well Board 

(Health & Wellbeing Together) 

 One Wolverhampton 

 Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning 

Group 

 Royal Wolverhampton Hospital Trust 

 Health Watch 

 West Midlands Combined Authority 

 University of Wolverhampton 

 Wolverhampton College 

 Wolverhampton Homes 

 

Page 16



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

Communicates on a regular basis the 
Council’s key performance data, 
achievements and financial position. 

 Annual Report 

 Finance, performance and risk reports to 

Cabinet and Scrutiny at least quarterly 

 A clear performance framework set out in 

Our City: Our Plan and agreed by Full 

Council 

 Annual Audit Letter 

 Council Tax Information Sheet for residents 

 

Ensures that each service area reviews on a 
regular basis its objectives and priorities.  

 Service Delivery Plans to ensure Our City: 

Our Plan outcomes are delivered 

 Performance deep dives at Strategic 

Executive Board monthly, underpinned by 

service performance framework 

 Review of contributions towards the 

Council’s Net Zero Targets 

 

Puts in place effective arrangements to 
identify and deal with failure in service 
delivery. 

 

 Complaints routes and procedures 

(various) including reports to Scrutiny 

Board 

 Scrutiny Board and Panels  

 Internal Audit  

 Liaison with External Audit 

 Whistle blowing policy 

 Monitoring Officer reporting route 

 Regular performance and budget 

monitoring reports to Cabinet and Cabinet 

Resources Panel 

 

Uses national benchmarking of value for 
money and needs based evidence to 
regularly review and shape corporate 
priorities and supporting financial plans 
effectively. 

 CIPFA Financial Management Code 

 External auditors Annual Report 

Addresses the environmental impact of its 
policies, plans and decisions. 

 Environmental implications in all reports 

 

CODE OF GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLE D  

Determining the interventions necessary to optimize the achievement of the 

intended outcomes 

 

This core principle is supported by three supporting principles: 

 Determining interventions 

 Planning interventions 

Page 17



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

 Optimising achievements of intended outcomes 

 

What the Council does How it demonstrates this 

Defines and promote its purpose and vision. 
 Our City: Our Plan 

Reviews annually its purpose and vision to 
reflect its financial position and other major 
policy changes. 

 Annual review of Our City: Our Plan 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Regular finance, performance and risk 

reports to Cabinet and Scrutiny to inform 

annual review 

 

Communicates on a regular basis the 
Council’s key performance data, 
achievements and financial position.  

 Annual Reports of Scrutiny Board, Head of 

Internal Audit, Audit & Risk Committee, 

Councillor Champions 
 Regular finance, performance and risk 

reports to Cabinet and Scrutiny 
 Updating reports to Cabinet 

 External Auditors Annual Report 

 Council Tax leaflets and letters to residents 

and online information 

 

Ensures risk management process is 
applied at all levels of the organisation. 

 

 Risk Management Framework 
 Strategic Risk Register reviewed on a 

regular basis by the Audit & Risk 
Committee 

 Update on Strategic Risk Register to each 
Audit & Risk Committee 

 Corporate and Departmental risk registers  

 Risks considered as part of finance and 

performance reports to Cabinet and 

Scrutiny at least quarterly 

 

Ensures that each service area reviews on a 
regular basis its objectives and priorities. 

 Departmental Service Plans/Business 

plans 

 Service performance frameworks, with 

deep dives on performance at Strategic 

Executive Board on a monthly basis 

 

Puts in place effective arrangements to 
identify and deal with failure in service 
delivery. 

 Complaints routes and procedures 

(various) 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 Whistleblowing Policy 

 Monitoring Officer reporting route 

 

Page 18



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

Ensures resilience with regard to continuity of 
service in the event of unforeseen events. 

 Corporate and departmental business 

continuity and disaster recovery plans and 

arrangements 

 

CODE OF GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLE E  

Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and 

the individuals within it. 

 

This core principle is supported by two supporting principles: 

 Developing the Council’s capacity 

 Developing the capability of the Council’s leadership and other individuals 

 

What the Council does How it demonstrates this 

Sets out in clear terms how the respective 
roles and responsibilities of the Cabinet and 
of the Cabinet members are allocated 
between the Leader, Cabinet and Council 
Officers. 

 Constitution 

 Protocol for Councillor/Officer relations 

 

Sets out in clear terms the general 
responsibilities of Councillors and senior 
Officers and how they perform non-
executive functions such as development 
control. 

 Responsibility for Functions (Part 3) and 

delegation information within or arising from 

the Constitution 

 Forward Plan of key Decisions 

 

Sets out how decisions are made, and which 
decisions are reserved to the Full Council. 
Determine a scheme of delegation to Chief 
Officers, including those decisions which are 
not included in their delegated powers and 
are reserved to Council or Cabinet 

 Scheme of Delegation to Officers (Part 3) 

within the Constitution 

 Articles of the Constitution (Part 2) within the 

Constitution 

 Forward Plan of Key Decisions 

 

Makes the Chief Executive responsible and 
accountable for all aspects of operational 
management. 

 The Chief Executive is designated Head of 

Paid Service for the Authority 

 

Makes the Director of Finance (as section 
151 officer) responsible for ensuring that 
appropriate advice is given on all financial 
matters, for keeping proper financial records 
and accounts, and for maintaining an 
effective system of internal financial control. 

 Section 151 Officer responsibilities (Part 3) 

within the Constitution 

 

Page 19



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

Adopts a protocol for relationships between 
Councillors and Officers which ensures 
proper and effective relationships. 

 Protocol for Councillor/Officer relations 

 Staff induction 

 Code of Conduct for Councillors 

 Councillor induction and other training 

 Code of Conduct for Officers 

 Officer induction documents and sharing of 

information 

 

Makes the Chief Legal Officer (as Monitoring 
Officer) responsible for the Council 
Constitution and for ensuring that agreed 
procedures are followed and that all 
applicable statutes and regulations are 
complied with. 

 Monitoring Officer responsibilities specified 

in the Constitution 

 

Sets out the terms and conditions for the 
remuneration of Councillors and Officers. 

 

 Constitution 

 Council’s Pay Policy Statement 

 Councillors Allowances Scheme 

 HR Policies and compliance with Local 

Government Terms and Conditions 

 

Ensures that service delivery is effectively 
monitored. 

 Performance framework aligned to Our City: 

Our Plan, with regular reports to Cabinet 

and Scrutiny 

 Service level performance frameworks, with 

monthly performance deep dives at 

Strategic Executive Board 

 Regular reports to Cabinet, Governance & 

Ethics Committee, Scrutiny board and its six 

panels 

 

Consults widely on its vision, strategic plans 
and priorities and take into account the views 
of the local community and key stakeholders. 

 Consultation on Our City: Our Plan, Medium 

Term Financial Strategy  

 Consultation on major policy developments 

via the Council’s consultation and 

engagement portal Citizen Space 

 Statutory consultations 

, 

Ensures that when working in partnership 
that Councillors are clear about their legal 
responsibilities and liabilities. 

 Advice given to Councillors by Senior 

Officers 

Ensures that where the Council enters into a 
partnership there is a written agreement 
between the parties clearly setting out the 

 Head of Law to arrange contract 

preparations 

 

 

Page 20



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

roles and responsibilities, including 
responsibilities for staffing and funding. 

Provides induction programme for 
Councillors and Officers. 

 Member Handbook 

 Councillors Development Programme 

 Councillors Online Learning 

 Officer induction documents and sharing of 

information 

 Councillor Induction training 

 

Ensures statutory officers have the 
resources and support to effectively perform 
their roles. 

 Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring 

Officer have a statutory right to be provided 

with sufficient support and so are able to 

raise the issue formally if they consider that 

they do not have adequate resources to 

enable them to undertake their roles 

 

Assesses the learning and development 
needs of Officers and Councillors and make 
a commitment to meet those needs and 
develop required skills. 

 Performance Management and 

Development arrangements 

 Professional Conversations 

 Our People Strategy 

 Councillors Development arrangements  

 

Identifies leaders of the future.  Leadership and Management Development 

including talent management and aspiring 

managers 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion initiatives 

 Deputies for officer roles 

 Our People Strategy 

 

Provides support for Councillors and Officers 
who are Directors of Council companies. 

 Advice given as required/necessary 

 Training for Councillors 

CODE OF GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLE F 

Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 

public financial management 

 

This core principle is supported by five supporting principles: 

 Managing risk 

 Managing performance 

 Robust internal control  

 Managing data 

 Strong public financial management 

 

Page 21



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

What the Council does How it demonstrates this 

Maintains an effective scrutiny function 
which is aimed at improvement and service 
delivery. 

 Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements as 

outlined in Article 7 of the Constitution 

 

Maintains effective arrangements for 
recording decisions. 

 Forward Plan of Key Decisions 

 Record of Key Decisions 

 Minutes of all Council meetings  

 Protocol for Recording and Filming of 

Meetings and the Use of social media 

 Protocol for webcasting 

 

Puts in place arrangements to ensure that 
decisions are not affected by conflict of 
interest. 

 Member and Officer Codes of Conduct 

 Member and Officers Register of Interests 

 Support to officers and Councillors who are 

directors of companies 

 

Maintains an effective Audit Committee that 
is independent of executive and scrutiny 
functions. 

 Audit & Risk Committee Terms of Reference 

(Part 8) within the Constitution 

 Two Independent Councillors appointed to 

the Audit & Risk Committee 

 

Ensures that an effective and accessible 
complaints procedure is in place. 

 Complaints routes and procedures (various) 

and guidance on website 

 Policy on Management of Unreasonable 

Complainant Behaviour 

 Whistleblowing Policy 

 Safe Space confidential reporting telephone 

line and website 

 

Ensures that those involved in making 
decisions are provided with all relevant 
advice and implications. 

 Section 151 Officer advice  

 Monitoring Officer advice 

 Finance Procedure Rules 

 Contract Procedures Rules 

 Senior officers in Legal Services and 

Finance review all reports going to 

Councillors for decision 

 Cabinet Member Briefings 

 Executive Meetings 

 

Ensures risk management process is applied 
at all levels of the organization. 

 

 Risk Management Framework 
 Strategic Risk Register reviewed regularly 

by Audit & Risk Committee 

 Corporate and Departmental risk registers 

 Information Governance Risk Register 

Page 22



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

 Performance, finance and risk report to 

Cabinet and Scrutiny quarterly 

 

Ensures that whistle blowing arrangements 
are in place for all officers and those 
contracting with the authority. 

 Whistleblowing Policy 

 Contract Procedure Rules 

 Standard contracts and involvement of legal 

team in drafting 

 

Maintains an effective process for reviewing 
the requirements of the law, the legality of 
transaction, decisions and the impact of new 
laws. 

 Constitution 

 Monitoring Officer’s responsibilities as per 

Constitution 

CODE OF GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLE G 

Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 

effective accountability 

 

This core principle is supported by three supporting principles: 

 Implementing good practice in transparency 

 Implementing good practices in reporting 

 Assurance and effective accountability 

 

What the Council does How it demonstrates this 

Maintains an effective scrutiny function 
which is aimed at improvement and service 
delivery. 

 Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements as per 

Article 7 of the Constitution 

 

Maintains an effective Audit Committee that 
is independent of executive and scrutiny 
functions. 

 Audit and Risk Committee Terms of 

Reference as per Article 8 of the 

Constitution  

 Audit and Risk Committee includes two 

independent Councillors 

 

Has a robust approach to the provision of 
Internal and External Audit. 

 Internal Audit function with an Internal Audit 

Charter 

 Compliance with Public Sector Internal 

Audit Standards 

 Internal Audit Annual Report providing an 

opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness 

of the Council’s internal control, risk 

management and governance framework 

 Opt-in to the Public Sector Audit 

Appointments arrangements for the 

selection of the External Auditor 

Page 23



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

 External Auditor’s Annual Report 

 Internal and external Audit reports 

considered regularly by Audit and Risk 

Committee 

 Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report to 

Council 

 

Makes all information publicly available 
unless it is exempt by law. 

 

 Constitution 

 The Council’s website 

 Forward Plan of Key Decisions 

 Webcast of various Meetings (including 

those made as per Covid-19 special 

requirements) in accordance with relevant 

Protocols 

 Information Governance policies and 

procedures including relating to Freedom of 

Information 

 Environmental Information Regulations 

procedures 

 WV Insight data and analytics 

 

Ensures that Officers are regularly consulted 
and invite comments from Officers on a wide 
range of issues. 

 Consultation with Recognised Trade Unions 

 Professional Conversations 

Holds meetings in public unless there is to be 
discussion of matters of a confidential nature. 

 Council, Cabinet, Board, Committee and 

Scrutiny meetings are all held in public 

unless considering exempt or confidential 

information 

 Protocol for Webcasting of meetings 

(including arrangements made as per 

Covid-19 special requirements) 

 Protocol for Recording and Filming of 

Meetings and the Use of social media 

 

Ensures that clear channels of 
communication are in place with all sections 
of the community and other stakeholders and 
put in place monitoring arrangements to 
ensure these operate effectively. 

 Forward Plan of Key Decisions 

 Consultation on significant policy changes 

including via the Council’s consultation and 

engagement portal Citizen Space 

 Annual Report 

 Petitions Scheme 

 Public questions at Council meetings 

 Information Governance policies and 

procedures including relating to Freedom of 

Information 

 Environmental Information Regulations 

procedures 

 Whistleblowing policy 

Page 24



Appendix 1  

 

 

 

Communicates on a regular basis the 
Council’s key performance data, 
achievements and financial position. 

 Annual Report 

 Regular finance, performance and risk 

reports 

 Annual Audit Letter 

 Council Tax Information for residents 

 

Sets out how decisions are made, and which 
decisions are reserved to the Full Council. 
Determine a scheme of delegation to Chief 
Officers, including those decisions which are 
not included in their delegated powers and 
are reserved to Council or Cabinet. 

 Scheme of Delegation to Officers (Part 3) 

within the Constitution 

 Articles of the Constitution (Part 2) within the 

Constitution 

 Forward Plan of Key Decisions 

Makes the Director of Finance (as Section 
151 officer) responsible for ensuring that 
appropriate advice is given on all financial 
matters, for keeping proper financial records 
and accounts, and for maintaining an 
effective system of internal financial control. 

 Section 151 Officer responsibilities as set 

out in the Constitution 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 

 

 

 Agenda Item No:  XX 

 

Audit and Risk Committee 
25 July 2022 

  
Report title Annual Governance Statement 2021-2022 
  

Accountable director David Pattison, Chief Operating Officer 

Claire Nye, Director of Finance 

Originating service Governance 

Accountable employee 

 

Report to be/has been 

considered by 

 

David Pattison,  

Tel 

Email 

 

 

Chief Operating Officer 

01902 553840 

david.pattison@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation for action or decision: 

 

The Audit and Risk Committee is recommended to: 

 

1. Review and comment upon the contents of the Council’s Annual Governance Statement 

for 2021-2022.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item No: 6

mailto:david.pattison@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 

 

 

1.0 Purpose 

 

1.1 That Members review and comment upon the content of the Annual Governance 

Statement for the year 2021-2022. 
  

1.2 The Council is required under Regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, 

to produce an Annual Governance Statement to be included in the annual statement of 

accounts, which is signed by the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive. 

 

2.0 Background 

 

2.1 The Annual Governance Statement draws upon the management and internal control 

framework of the Council, especially the work of internal and external audit and the 

Council’s risk management arrangements. In compiling the Annual Governance 

Statement assurance is obtained from a range of sources in order that the signatories to 

the statement can assure themselves that it reflects the governance arrangements for 

which they are responsible. 

 

3.0 Progress, options, discussion 

 

3.1 Progress on the implementation of the actions required in the key areas will be reported 

to the Audit and Risk Committee during the year. 

 

4.0 Financial implications 

 

4.1 There are no financial implications arising from the recommendation in this report. 

[SR/14072022/C] 

 

5.0 Legal implications 

 

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendation in this report beyond 

those set out clearly in the Annual Governance Statement.[DA/14/07/2022/2] 

 

6.0 Equalities implications 

 

6.1 The Council’s governance framework underpins the Council Plan, which itself is guided 

by consultation and equality analysis, and thereby aides the Council in its ability to meet 

its equality objectives 

 

7.0 All other implications 

 

7.1 There are no other implications arising from the recommendation in this report. 

 

8.0 Schedule of background papers 

 

8.1 None. 

 

 

Page 28



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 

 

 

9.0  Appendices  

9.1 Appendix 1 -  Annual Governance Statement  

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

      Annual Governance Statement 2021-2022 

Scope of Responsibility  

The City of Wolverhampton Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and 
that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The Council also has a duty under 
the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, 
facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk.  

The Council has a Local Code of Corporate Governance, which is currently under revision in line with the latest principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local Government. The latest principles have been adopted in this statement. 

The Council is also responsible for the strategic management and administration of the West Midlands Pension Fund with the Council’s Chief 
Executive, Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer holding specific responsibilities for supporting both the members of the Pensions Committee 
and the Local Pension Board in their role. 

The Council has a number of bodies that it either owns or has a potential liability for. This statement also covers the approach taken in relation to 
these and specifically covers how the Council ensures that there is good governance in respect of these other bodies – the most relevant bodies 
are listed below: 

 

 Wolverhampton Homes is the Council’s Arm’s Length (Housing) Management Organisation (ALMO) and is a company wholly owned by the 
Council. The control of the ALMO is through the Board which has representatives drawn from 1/3 council, 1/3 tenants and 1/3 independent. 
There is a Management Agreement between the Council and Wolverhampton Homes which sets out the contractual and governance 
arrangements between the parties, performance of the agreement with Wolverhampton Homes is regularly monitored. The agreement with 
Wolverhampton Homes is due to expire in 2028 and the agreement and compliance with it is subject to a detailed review by the Council in 
2022 to ensure that it remains fit for purpose as there is a break clause in the agreement in 2023.  
 

 City of Wolverhampton Housing Company Limited – this is a wholly owned trading company set up under the powers in the Local 
Government Act 2003 and is known as WV Living focused on developing properties within the City to meet the Council’s aspirations in 
terms of available housing. There is a shareholder agreement in place between the Council and WV Living with WV Living’s Business Plan 

P
age 31

http://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/download/484/code_of_corporate_governance


 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

having to be approved by the Council and compliance with that business plan being monitored by the Council. The approach to WVL Living 
was reviewed in 2020 and changes made as a result, the effectiveness of the governance arrangements continues to be closely monitored 
by the Council.       
 

 Yoo Recruit Limited – this is a wholly owned trading company set up under the powers in the Local Government Act 2003 and provides 
staffing to the Council and other bodies. There is a shareholder agreement in place between the Council and Yoo Recruit and the Business 
Plan has to be approved by the Council and compliance with that business plan being monitored by the Council. As detailed below the 
operation of Yoo Recruit is being reviewed and a report will be brought to the relevant Committees shortly.   
 

 Help 2 Own – this is a limited liability partnership that was jointly established with the West Midlands Combined Authority in 2021 to pilot an 
an affordable housing product that helps to address the issue that many potential buyers who are in work have in raising the deposit to 
secure a mortgage. This is the subject of a number of legal agreements which sets up the contractual and governance arrangements 
between the relevant parties.   

 

The Purpose of the Governance Framework 

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by which the Council is directed and controlled and its 
activities through which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It enables the council to monitor the achievements of its strategic 
objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services.  

Risk management and internal control are a significant part of the governance framework and are designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. 
They cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The systems of risk management and internal control are based on an on-going process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Council’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  

The governance framework has been in place at the Council for the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of approval of the annual report 
and statement of accounts. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 32



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 
 
 
 
Our City Our Plan 
 
The Council’s Our City Our Plan is structured around six priorities which are supported by three cross cutting principles as follows: 

 

These priorities and principles are underpinned by the governance environment. This environment is consistent with the core principles of the latest 
CIPFA/ SOLACE framework. In reviewing the Council’s priorities and the implications for its governance arrangements, the Council carries out an 
annual review of the elements that make up the governance framework to ensure it remains effective. 

P
age 33



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

 

The key elements of the systems and processes that comprise the Council’s governance framework, and where assurance against these is 
required, are described below. 

Core principles of the CIPFA/ 
SOLACE framework 

Assurances required Governance framework providing 
assurance 

Review of Effectiveness Issues identified 

 Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong 
commitment to ethical 
values, and respecting the 
rule of law. 

 Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement. 

 Defining outcomes in terms 
of sustainable economic, 
social, and environmental 
benefits. 

 Determining the 
interventions necessary to 
optimise the achievement of 
the intended outcomes. 

 Developing the entity’s 
capacity, including the 
capability of its leadership 
and the individuals within it. 

 Managing risks and 
performance through robust 
internal control and strong 
public financial 
management. 

 Implementing good practices 
in transparency, reporting, 

 

 Delivery and 
communication of an 
agreed corporate plan 

 Quality services are 
delivered efficiently and 
effectively 

 Clearly defined roles and 
functions 

 Management of risk 

 Effectiveness of internal 
controls 

 Compliance with laws, 
regulation, internal policies 
and procedures 

 Value for money and 
efficient management of 
resources 

 High standards of conduct 
and behaviour 

 Public accountability 

 Published information is 
accurate and reliable 

 Implementation of 
previous governance 
issues 

 The Constitution 

 Statutory Chief Officers (Head of 
Paid Service, Chief Financial Officer 
and Monitoring Officer) 

 Council, Cabinet and Committees 

 Audit and Risk Committee 

 Scrutiny function including use of 
Select Committee where appropriate 
for a detailed look at an area of 
importance  

 Governance and Ethics Committee 

 Internal and External Audit  

 Strategic Executive Board 

 Directors Assurance Statements 

 Corporate and Business plans 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Strategic Risk Register  

 Codes of Conduct 

 Whistleblowing and other anti-fraud 
related policies 

 Financial and Contract Procedure 
Rules  

 Our People Strategy  

 HR policies and procudres 

 External Audit Report to 
Those Charged with 
Governance (ISA 260) 
Report – unqualified 
opinion 

 Annual Internal Audit 
Report  - unqualified 
opinion 

 Annual Audit and Risk 
Committee Report to  
Council 

 Annual Statement of 
Accounts  

 Local Government 
Ombudsman Report  

 Scrutiny reviews 

 Annual Governance 
Statement – including the 
follow up of previous 
year issues 

 Reports from regulatory 
bodies including Ofsted  

  

 

 Effectiveness of the 
area in implementing 
the disability and 
special educational 
needs (SEND) reforms 
as set out in the 
Children and Families 
Act 2014  - through 
Ofsted report from 
November 2021 – this 
is being tackled through 
a written statement of 
actions that is being 
carefully monitored by 
the Council    

 Individual occasions of 
non compliance with 
rules – including: 
i) Some issues 

regarding 
information 
governance 
due to 
individual error 

ii) Some issues 
regarding 
publication of 
certain Council 

P
age 34



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

and audit to deliver effective 
accountability. 

  modern.gov (the council’s 
committee management information 
system) 

decisions again 
due to 
individual error 

 Review of Linked 
Bodies 
Governance – 
there have been a 
number of 
examples 
nationally of 
bodies linked to 
authorities failing 
and therefore we 
will review the 
Council’s 
governance of all 
linked bodies and 
report back on this 
to the relevant 
committees to 
ensure that we 
continue to have 
good governance 
in place.  

 Adult services - A 
planned redesign 
of Adult Services is 
underway and the 
vision and 
direction has been 
agreed and 
incorporates the 
legislative change 
outlined in the 
Health and Social 
Care White Paper 
which requires the 
local authority to 
broker all care for 
those with an 
assessed need if 

P
age 35



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

requested i.e. any 
self funders who 
want the LA to 
source their care 
at the fair cost of 
care rate.  A new 
operating model 
and improved 
methods for 
managing demand 
and front door 
contact will be 
implemented.  

        

 

 

 
The Financial Management Code  
 
The Council has self-assessed itself against the new Financial Management Code, which includes the following core principles by which local 
authorities should be guided in managing their finances: 
 

 Organisational leadership – demonstrating a clear strategic direction based on a vision in which financial management is embedded into 
organisational culture. 

 Accountability – financial management is based on medium-term financial planning, which drives the annual budget process supported by 
effective risk management, quality supporting data and whole life costs.  

 Financial management is undertaken with transparency at its core using consistent, meaningful and understandable data, reported with 
appropriate frequency and with evidence of periodic officer action and elected member decision making.  

 Adherence to professional standards is promoted by the leadership team and is evidenced.  

 Sources of assurance are recognised as an effective tool mainstreamed into financial management and include political scrutiny and the 
results of external audit, internal audit and inspection.  

 The long term sustainability of local services is at the heart of all financial management processes and is evidenced by prudent use of 
public resources.  

P
age 36



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
The self-assessment found the Council to be in compliance with the Code. However, there were a limited number of matters where areas for 
improvement were identified. As a result of this, an action plan has been prepared and its implementation is being monitored. The results of the 
ongoing exercise will be reported to the Audit and Risk Committee as appropriate. 

 

 

Covid-19 Considerations 

Covid-19 Considerations 

 

“In 2021-2022 the Council, as with all other local authorities, continued to adapt the ways in which it worked to address Covid-19 not only in terms of ensuring 

that the City’s vulnerable residents have been supported alongside its businesses, but also in the way it operates, including its governance arrangements.  

 

The Coronavirus Act 2020 and associated regulations permitted the Council to hold its meetings remotely, which it did until early May 2021 when the law 

changed.  From that point meetings returned to the Council’s usual “in person” arrangements, with social distancing measures in place when necessary and in 

accordance with Government Guidance and careful consideration fo appropriate Health and Safety measures.  Both types of meeting enabled the Council to 

make effective and transparent decisions on delivery of its services and ensured that democracy continued to thrive whilst keeping Councillors, staff and 

members of the public safe.  

 

There was no interruption to the decision-making process and the emergency powers provisions of the Constitution (which were relied on heavily the previous 

year) were used only twice. 

 

 

At all times the approach of the Council has been informed and shaped by advice from the Director of Public Health and key partners to ensure that 
the Council as had the most effective response possible to the pandemic. As part of the governance process key areas of concern have been able 
to be fed up through the mechanisms set out in the Governance Structure to a regional and national level.  

 

 

 

P
age 37



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

The Review of Effectiveness 

The Council has a responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of 
intermal control. This review is informed by the work of councillors and senior officers within the Council who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance framework including Internal Audit’s annual report, the Scrutiny function and also by reports 
made by the Council’s external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates. The above table helps illustrate this framework, where 
assurance is provided and the processes through which the effectiveness of these arrangements are reviewed.  

Opinion for 2021-2022 

The review of effectiveness has found the arrangements for the governance framework to be fit for purpose.  

A key component of the review of effectiveness is through the work of the Council’s Audit and Risk Committee and during the year the Committee 
continued helping to ensure that the Council had a modern, effective and risk focussed Committee. During the year they: 

 Maintained the focus of the Committee on the Council’s risk management arrangements (including during the Covid-19 pandemic), gaining 
an increased assurance that the Council was managing its risks well.  

 Maintained a strong working relationship, through regular progress meetings, with the Council’s External Auditors Grant Thornton, the 
Internal Auditors and Senior Officers. There was also further engagement with Grant Thornton, through regular consideration of their 
informative Audit Committee Update publications at Committee meetings.  
  

Internal Audit 

Internal Audit has reviewed itself against the governance arrangements set out in the CIPFA Statement on the Role of Head of Internal Audit and 
the Council is able to confirm that the arrangements conform to these requirements. The Council is also able to confirm compliance with the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards.  

Internal Audit has concluded that based on the work undertaken during the year on areas of key risk, including the implementation by management 
of the recommendations made and the assurance made available to the Council by other providers as well as directly by Internal Audit, it can 
provide reasonable assurance that the Council has adequate and effective governance, risk management and internal control processes.  

 
Managing the risk of Fraud and Corruption 

With regards to the latest CIPFA Code of practice on managing the risk of fraud and corruption - having considered all the principles, the Council is 
satisfied that it has adopted a response that is appropriate for its fraud and corruption risks and commits to maintain its vigilance to tackle fraud. 
The activities undertaken in this area were primarily led during the year by the Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
 

P
age 38



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Opportunities for concerns to be raised 

The Council is committed to upholding the highest standards of conduct and ethics, alongside it’s own Whistleblowing Policy, it has entered into the 
following arrangements in order to help enhance the opportunities available for anyone wishing to raise any concerns with the Council:  

 A safe space run by SeeHearSpeakUp who provide an external and independent confidential reporting service for employees to report any 
serious concerns about any aspects of the Council's work. The site can be accessed at any time via a link on the City People homepage. 
Employees who have serious concerns about any aspect of the Council’s work, can choose to come forward and voice those concerns in a 
safe and secure environment, in the knowledge that they will be taken seriously, and concerns will be investigated appropriately. Senior 
council officers who have been trained by SeeHearSpeakUp consider the concerns and identify any potential investigation and provide 
governance and assurance on all safe space matters disclosed with a view to safeguarding, consistency, equality and fairness. 
 

 The Council also has a support arrangement with Protect (formerly Public Concern at Work), the whistleblowing charity and leading authority 
on whistleblowing in the UK. This arrangement gives access to Protect’s Whistleblowing benchmark and diagnostic tools across key areas 
including governance, staff engagement and operations.  

 

CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government  

The role of the Council’s Section 151 Officer has been assessed against the CIPFA Statement and found to be compliant.  

West Midlands Pension Fund 

The West Midlands Pension Fund has completed its own “Assurance Framework – Supporting the Annual Governance Statement” which identified 
that there had been no adverse matters arising from the work behind their assurance framework.   
 

Wolverhampton Homes 

The Council’s internal auditors also provide the internal audit service for Wolverhampton Homes. They were able to provide reasonable assurance 
that the Company had adequate and effective governance, risk management and internal control processes, and this was reported through their 
Audit and Business Assurance Committee. As detailed above  the agreement with Wolverhampton Homes is due to expire in 2028 and the 
agreement and compliance with it is subject to a detailed review by the Council in 2022 to ensure that it remains fit for purpose as there is a break 
clause in the agreement in 2023. 

 

WV Living  

WV Living’s accounts are audited separately by external auditors and an unqualified opinion was provided on the accounts for 2020-2021, a copy 
of which will be published on the Council’s website. .  

P
age 39



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Following on from the review of WV Living in 2020-2021 a number of changes that were made to the way in which the Council and WV Living 
interacted with during 2020-21 the way in which the Council and WV Living interact has been carefully considered by the Council and as a result a 
number of changes have been/are being made, these include: 

 

 Appointment of non-executive director to the board of WV Living with considerable Housing experience 

 Production and approval of a new business plan for WV Living and regular reviews and reports on the compliance with that business plan 
taken both to the Council’s political and officer leadership and also to the Council’s Shareholder Board for WV Living  

 Strengthening of the Council’s Shareholder board –ensuring that clear objective advice is provided to the Shareholder Board by Council 
officers including the S.151 officer and the Monitoring Officer 

 

It is the Council’s clear view that there is an appropriate level of oversight on WV Living and the Council notes that it remains a going concern and 
the substantial reduction in the level of borrowing that WV Living has with the Council, which at the time of the writing of the statement was 
approximately £5 million, importantly the level of assets that WV Living holds are substantially in excess of its liabilities to the Council.  

 

Yoo Recruit 

Yoo Recruit’s accounts are audited separately by external auditors and an unqualified opinion was provided on the accounts for 2020-2021, a copy 
of which will be published on the Council’s website .  

An internal review of the Council’s approach and need for Yoo Recruit has been carried out and will be reported to Cabinet and the relevant 
Scrutiny Panel, namely Resources and Equalities Panel, later in 2022, subject to the decisions made by Councillors Yoo Recruit will update their 
business plan and additional formal governance measures will be agreed. Currently Yoo Recruit’s performance is reviewed by officers and reported 
to cabinet members and the leader of the opposition through the regular monitoring of linked bodies.  

 

Help 2 Own 

Help 2 Own was only established in 2021. The Council and the WMCA instructed and obtained detailed external advice in order to ensure that the 
arrangements are fit for purpose and will protect the interests of each body and deliver the proposed outcomes. The partnership is subject to 
external audit. This will provide assurance that the partnership has adequate and effective governance, risk management and internal control 
processes. A review of the  way governance works for all linked bodies including Help 2 Own will be carried out  in 2022/23 and will be reported to 
the relevant Committees including Audit and Risk Committee.  

The operation and governance of Help 2 Own continues to be reported on regularly to Cabinet members and the Leader of the Opposition.  

   

P
age 40



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Key changes to the governance framework during the year   

During 2020-21 a full review was carried out of the Council’s constitution and decision making in the Council. As a result a number of changes were 
developed and recommended to be made at the annual general meeting in May 2021 and May 2022.  Throughout the year futher work has been 
undertaken to update and improve key parts, and to create related documents which aim to provide further clarity to Councillors and officers.  This 
includes the following changes adopted by Council: 

 

 Revisions to the Scrutiny Approach to ensure that Scrutiny is more focused on the Council’s performance against its Our City Our Plan 
adopted in March 2022 and that there is greater focus on strategic matters by the Council’s primary Overview and Scrutiny Committee (the 
Scrutiny Board) – with regular performance/financial updates being provided to the Scrutiny Board and more detailed consideration by the 
relevant Scrutiny Panel, on a “hub and spoke” approach   

 Revisions to Council Procedure Rules 

 Updated Employee procedure rules  

 Adoption of the the LGA Model  Code of Conduct  

 

Further changes continue to be worked on as the constitution is a living document and should be changed whenever necessary this includes an 
updated scheme of officer delegation that will be brought forward shortly, these updates will be proposed to the Council in 2022/23.. 

 

 

Work continues in relation to supporting Councillors through to the Councillor Induction and Development programme (introduced last year) which 
has been updated and expanded to include additional support on key issues affecting the Councillor role, as well as guidance on leading within the 
rules and clarification around expected standards of behaviour. 

 

Regular briefings continue to take place of all cabinet members, opposition leader/deputy leader and chairs of panels ensuring that there is 
proactive information provided and discussion on key issues, risks and matters. As part of this regular  briefings are given on the risks and issues in 
relation to the Council owned bodies and the steps taken to address any risks. As part of this work a review has also taken place of the lessons 
learned in other authorities in governance terms following a number of Public Interest/Best Value Reports. This has led to additional assurance 
work being carried out that has provided re-assurance that governance arrangements are fit for purpose in the Council. Indeed the relevant 
Scrutiny Panels will be receiving reports on the governance arrangements in place for specific Council owned bodies/those that the Council has 
potential liability for, for example through guranatees or other arrangements as well as reports on the overall approach to monitoring arrangements 
for such bodies.   

 
 

P
age 41



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Progress on the Governance Issues from 2020-2021 

The table below describes the governance issues identified during 2020-2021 and the progress made against these during 2021-2022.  
 

2021-2022 - Key areas and actions for implementation Mid -year update to Audit and Risk Committee – December 
2021 

Latest update as at June 2022 

Savings Targets  

In March 2021 the Council approved a balanced budget for 
2021-2022 without the use of general reserves. 

It is important to note that the financial implications of the 
pandemic have significantly distorted the budget and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy.  Current projections indicate that 
having taken into account additional government grant, there 
is a net cost pressure of over £6 million in 2021-2022 as a 
result of Covid.  In order to set a balanced budget, this cost 
pressure has been met from other efficiencies identified 
across the Council. During 2021-2022 work will continue to 
monitor the financial impact of Covid to both inform the in 
year budget position and to inform medium term forecasts.  

Looking forward it is estimated that further savings of £25.4 
million are required in 2022-2023 rising to £29.6 million in 
2023-2024 in order to set balanced budgets. These forecasts 
take into account the potential ongoing impact of Covid in 
addition to the underlying budget pressures that face the 
Council.  

In addition to the impact of Covid, there continues to be 
significant uncertainty about future funding streams for local 
authorities. At the time of writing it is unclear when the 
Government will undertake the Comprehensive Spending 
Review, Fair Funding Review, Business Rates Reset and 
Business Rates Retention Review.  

Work has started to address the budget deficit over the 
medium term and updates will be brought to Cabinet 
throughout the year. 

 

Cabinet in October 2021 received the proposed approach 
to the MTFS and budget for 2022-23, it is anticipated that 
the Council will be able to set a balanced budget for 2022-
23. Work continues towards ensuring that the Council 
addresses the budget deficit over the medium term. 

In March 2022 the Council approved a 
balanced budget for 2022-2023 without 
the use of general reserves.  
 
The report to Council noted that the 
Council is now faced with finding further 
projected budget reductions estimated at 
£12.6 million in 2023-2024, rising to £25.8 
million over the medium-term period to 
2025-2026.  
 
The level of uncertainty over future 
funding levels continues to be a significant 
risk. A prudent approach has been taken 
to forecasting resources over the MTFS 
period and all assumptions were detailed 
in the report to Council.  
 
There are also a number of significant 
risks and uncertainties in relation to the 
cost of services including rising inflation, 
the impact of the cost of living on 
residents and adult social care reform. 
 
Work to develop budget reduction and 
income generation proposals for 2023-
2024 onwards in line with the Five Year 
Financial Strategy has started with an 
updates on progress will be brought to 
Cabinet throughout the year. 

 

Procurement 

In December 2020 the Government published a Green Paper 
on ‘Transforming public procurement’ which proposes a 

A significant amount of work is taking place to ensure that 
the Council is ready for changes to the procurement rules 
and the Council is also working to ensure that it takes the 

The Council has published its 
procurement pipeline in accordance with 

P
age 42



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

number of changes which would impact on the Council. Work 
will be undertaken to monitor the progress of this paper and 
to respond appropriately to any resulting changes in 
legislation.” 

 

opportunities that are presented to ensure that as much of 
its spend, and that of other key partners, is spent within the 
city, as part of the Council’s key work on Wolverhampton 
Pound – which is currently being examined by the Council 
Select Committee. 

 

the statutory requirements. The pipeline 
will be updated regularly.  

 

An action plan has been developed to 
respond to the recommendations of the 
Select Committee on Wolverhampton 
Pound. 

 

Procurement Bill is currently progressing 
through the House of Lords.  

We understand that it could become law 
early 2023 with 6 months for us to 
implement.  

 

The Head of Procurement has started 
work to map across the old to new 
requirements to enable us to be as 
prepared as possible for the changes to 
come. 

  

Contract Management 

Contract management practises across the Council have 
been found to be inconsistent. The Council also utilises a 
contract management system which is a central repository 
database that has a record of those contracts that have been 
procured, but not those that have been commissioned locally. 
Consequently, the Council has decided to transform how 
contract management is delivered and contracting process 
are measured to generate economic and efficiency benefits 
aligned to the Council Plan and other relevant strategies, 
such as Wolverhampton Pound and Relighting Our City.”   

The Council plans to have a one council approach to contract 
management. The intention is to develop a contract 
management framework, establish external contract 
management training for officers and procure a contract 
management software system. The system will provide 
greater visibility of contract performance and a strategic 
oversight of contracts.  These identified areas will provide a 
consistent and efficient method where possible and 

Contract management training is already underway as is 
the other work described above. A detailed paper was 
taken to the Our Council Scrutiny Panel in September 2021. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Contract Framework and Toolkit has 
been established to enable a consistent 
approach to contract management across 
the organisation.  

Contract management training has been 
rolled out with monitoring provided 
through the LGA and feedback being 
gathered to help us to ensure that the 
training is relevant and helpful.  

 

The procurement of a new system is 
currently underway. 

P
age 43



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

contribute to continuous improvement whilst obtaining value 
for money. These improvements will also prepare the Council 
in good stead for the forthcoming new procurement 
regulations as the Government’s green paper, ‘Transforming 
Public Procurement’, identified contract management and 
commercial life cycle as key areas which will form part of the 
new procurement regulations. 

Strategic Asset Plan 

We have made progress on reviewing and challenging the 
Council’s asset portfolio as part of the Our Assets 
Programme (formally referred to as Our Space programme), 
particularly in light of how services will operate moving 
forward as part of Relighting our City. This has included 
developing six workstreams Asset Data, Asset Review, 
Retained Estate, Civic Centre, Surplus Assets and Asset 
Disposals. The Strategic Asset Plan and Action Plan will be 
updated following completion of this programme. 

 

 

Work continues in relation to strategic asset plan. A detailed 
paper was taken to the Our Council Scrutiny Panel in 
September 2021 on Our Assets programme and an update 
on Relighting Our Council in November 2021. 

City Assets are currently undertaking a full 
review of the Strategic Asset Plan over 
the course of 2022/23 financial year to 
allow for this to be reviewed and adopted 
in advance of the current plan expiring in 
2023. 

 

Following the Covid pandemic, several 
workstreams have been undertaken and 
now concluded (including Relighting Our 
Council) and the new plan will reflect the 
updated approach to asset management 
as required to meet the ongoing and 
future needs of the Council and the City in 
line with the Council plan. 

Civic Halls  
Delivery of the Civic Halls in accordance with any set budget 
and in line with the set timeline will continue to be closely 
monitored by the Council throughout, and the Council will 
ensure that the contracts in place are complied with.   
 

A detailed update on the Civic Halls project was provided to 
the Audit and Risk Committee in December 2021. 

As the project nears completion a 
significant amount of work is taking place 
to ensure that the contracts that the 
Council has in place with its contractors 
are being met and appropriate advice has 
and continues to be taken on those 
contracts.  

 

Officers are working closely with advisors 
to ensure that any budget set is complied 
with and that regular updates on progress 
are provided to appropriate persons 
including the Audit and Risk Committee. 

 

A further detailed report will be brought to 
Audit and Risk Committee shortly and a 

P
age 44



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

site visit of the project has been arranged 
for the Committee in June 2022.  

 

 

Constitution Review Conclusion  
Completion of the review of the constitution including revision 
of financial procedure rules, employment procedure rules, 
officer delegation and adoption of a new Corporate Code of 
Governance. 

A number of revisions were taken to the Governance and 
Ethics Committee and to Council in early 2021.Work has 
continued preparing further updates and improvements to 
key parts as noted previously, and additional related 
documents (such as procedures and guidance which sit 
outside the Constitution).  Regular updates should be 
expected throughout 2022/23 to make the Constitution, and 
the Council’s procedures, more concise so that the 
decision-making processes can be understood by all. 

Further revisions have been taken to the 
Governance and Ethics Committee and 
Council in 2022.These include revisions to 
the employment procedure rules and a 
number of other amendments to the 
constitution including a re-focusing of the 
role of scrutiny to more clearly focus on 
performance and our City our Plan. 

 

The new Corporate Code of Governance 
is due to go to the meeting of the 
Governance and Ethics Committee on 7 
July 2022.  

 

A new scheme of delegations has now 
been drafted and is being checked to 
ensure that it is appropriate and will be 
brought to a meeting of the Council in the 
autumn.   

 

 

 

 

 

Action Plan for the Significant Governance Issues identified during 2021-2022 which will need addressing in 2022-2023 

Based on the Council’s established risk management approach, the following issues have been assessed as being key for the purpose of the 2021-
2022 annual governance statement. Over the coming year appropriate actions to address these matters and further enhance governance 
arrangements will be taken.  

 

P
age 45



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

2021-2022  Key areas and actions for implementation Responsibility and 
expected implementation 
date 

MTFS – In March 2022 the Council approved a balanced budget for 2022-2023 without the use of general reserves.  
 
The report to Council noted that the Council is now faced with finding further projected budget reductions estimated 
at £12.6 million in 2023-2024, rising to £25.8 million over the medium-term period to 2025-2026.  
 
The level of uncertainty over future funding levels continues to be a significant risk. A prudent approach has been 
taken to forecasting resources over the MTFS period and all assumptions were detailed in the report to Council.  
 
There are also a number of significant risks and uncertainties in relation to the cost of services including rising 
inflation, the impact of the cost of living on residents and adult social care reform. 
 
Work to develop budget reduction and income generation proposals for 2023-2024 onwards in line with the Five 
Year Financial Strategy has started with an updates on progress will be brought to Cabinet throughout the year. 
 
Work will also be undertaken to update the Council’s Capital strategy including our proposed approach to the use of 
capital resources and other financial solutions and a framework of delivery models that the Council will 
consider/favour 
 
– do we also cover including regular reporting back on critical asset projects and methods for doing that?]    

March 2023 - Director of 
Finance 

 

Procurement and Contract Monitoring 

The Select Committee on Wolverhampton Pound made a number of recommendations these will be considered by 
Council in July 2022 and will need to be implemented by Council. 

 

The new Procurement Bill is currently going through the House of Lords. We understand that it could become law in 
early 2023. There could be significant changes for the authority and we will continue to prepare in order that we can 
have a smooth transition.  

March 2023 - Director of 
Finance   

 

Adult services - A planned redesign of Adult Services is underway and the vision and direction has been agreed 
and incorporates the legislative change outlined in the Health and Social Care White Paper which requires the local 
authority to broker all care for those with an assessed need if requested i.e. any self funders who want the LA to 

 

March 2023 - Director of 
Adult Services 

P
age 46



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

source their care at the fair cost of care rate.  A new operating model and improved methods for managing demand 
and front door contact will be implemented. 

Review of Linked Bodies Governance – we will review the Council’s governance of all linked bodies and report 
back on this to the relevant committees to ensure that we continue to have good governance in place.   

December 2022 – 
Monitoring Officer 

Civic Halls - Delivery of the Civic Halls in accordance with any set budget and in line with the set timeline will 
continue to be closely monitored by the Council throughout, and the Council will ensure that the contracts in place 
are complied with.   

 

March 2023 – Director of 
Regeneration  

Compliance with Information Governance/Transparency requirements – ensuring that all relevant staff 
complete information governance/governance training to provide confidence that the Council will meet all of its legal 
duties.  

 

December 2022 – 
Monitoring Officer 

SEND – implementation of written statement of actions following on from SEND inspection by Ofsted, detailed in the 
Ofsted report from November 2021  

March 2023 – Executive 
Director of Families  

  

P
age 47



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

  

Future Assurance 
Where appropriate, a progress report on the implementation of the above actions from the key areas will be reported to the Audit and Risk 
Committee during 2022-2023.   

 

Certification 

 

To the best of our knowledge, the governance arrangements, as outlined above have been effectively operating during the year with the 
exception of those areas identified as requiring improvement. We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to 
further enhance our governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that were identified 
during the review of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our annual review. 

 

 

Ian Brookfield, Leader of the Council 

 

Date: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Tim Johnson, Chief Executive 

 

Date: 

 

 

P
age 48



 

 

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

 

 

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

Audit and Risk Committee 
25 July 2022 

 

Report title Assessment of Going Concern Status  

 Accountable Director Claire Nye, Director of Finance  

Originating service Strategic Finance  

Accountable employee Alison Shannon
  

Chief Accountant 

Tel 01902 554561 
Email Alison.shannon@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 
Report to be/has been 
considered by 
 

Strategic 
Executive Board 
 

12 July 2022 
 

Recommendation for noting: 

The Audit and Risk Committee is asked to note: 

1. The assessment of Going Concern Status  

  

Page 51

Agenda Item No: 7



 This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

1.0 Purpose 

1.1 This purpose of this report is to provide Audit and Risk Committee with the Section 151 

Officers assessment of the Council’s Going Concern status for the City of 

Wolverhampton Council.   

2.0 Background 

2.1 The concept of a ‘going concern’ statement assumes that an authority, its functions and 

services will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. This assumption 

underpins the accounts drawn up under the Local Authority Code of Accounting Practice 

and is made because local authorities carry out functions essential to the local 

community and are themselves revenue-raising bodies. 

2.2 Local authorities have to compile a Statement of Accounts in accordance with Code of 

Practice Local Authority Accounting for 2021-2022 as published by the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). In accordance with the Code, the 

Council’s Statement of Accounts is prepared assuming that the Council will continue to 

operate in the foreseeable future and that it is able to do so within the current and 

anticipated resources available.   

2.3 The main factors which underpin the going concern assessment are: 

 The Council’s current financial position  

 The Council’s projected financial position  

 The Council’s governance arrangements  

 The regulatory and control environment applicable to the Council as a local authority  

2.4 The Covid-19 pandemic has significantly distorted the budget and medium term financial 

strategy and there will be a ‘covid cost’ beyond the short – medium term.  The Going 

Concern assessment therefore also considers the impact of the pandemic on the 

Council. 

2.5 The Council owns three other organisations, Wolverhampton Homes, WV Living and Yoo 

Recruit. The performance of these organisations has also been considered when 

preparing the Going Concern Statement. 

2.6 It is considered that, having regard to the Council’s arrangements and such factors as 

highlighted in the Going Concern statement, that the Council remains a going concern.  

2.7 The Council’s assessment on its Going Concern is at Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

Page 52



 This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

3.0 Financial implications 

3.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. The Final Budget 2022-

2023 and Medium Term Financial Strategy approved by Full Council on 2 March 2022 

provided details of the budget position of the council over the medium term.  

[AS/0672022/I] 

4.0 Legal implications 

4.1 Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the authority’s Section 151 Officer 

to comment on the robustness of budget estimates and the adequacy of reserves. 

4.2 Section 114 (1) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 places a duty on the Section 

151 Officer to report certain matters to the authority. This does not apply here as through 

the assessment of going concern the S.151 Officer has confirmed that she has the 

required level of assurance on the robustness of budget estimates and the adequacy of 

reserves 

4.3 The proposed approach is lawful and in compliance with the relevant legislation 

[DP/15072022/B] 

5.0 Equalities implications 

5.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.  However, any 

consideration given to the Council’s budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy have 

direct or indirect equality implications. 

6.0 All other Implications 

The implications of Covid-19 are detailed in Appendix 1. 
 

7.0 Appendices 

7.1 Appendix 1: Going Concern Statement  

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Appendix 1 
 
Assessment of Going Concern Statement  
 
Background  

 
As with all principal local authorities, the Council is required to compile its Statement 
of Accounts in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
for 2021-2022 (hereafter referred to as the Code) as published by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).  

 
In accordance with the Code the Council’s Statement of Accounts is prepared 
assuming that the Council will continue to operate in the foreseeable future and that 
it is able to do so within the current and anticipated resources available. By this, it is 
meant that the Council will realise its assets and settle its obligations in the normal 
course of business.  
 
It the preparation of this statement, the performance and going concern status of the 
Council’s wholly owned companies – Wolverhampton Homes, WV Living and Yoo 
Recruit have also been considered. 
 
It is considered that, having regard to the Council’s arrangements and such factors 
as highlighted in this document, that the Council remains a going concern.  
 

The following statement has been prepared by Strategic Finance and the Director of 
Finance to present to Grant Thornton to support our conclusion.   
 
The Council’s current financial position (revenue) 
 
On 3 March 2021, Council approved a net budget of £258.5 million for 2021-2022, 
without the use of general fund reserves.  This budget included the delivery of 
budget reduction and income generation targets totalling £4.9 million.   
 
This budget was set considering the potential ongoing impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic could have on 2021-2022 budget, including the cost of ‘living with covid’.  
The pandemic has significantly distorted the budget and medium-term financial 
strategy.  However, despite the net budget impact of Covid, the Council was able to 
set a balanced budget for 2021-2022, without the need to undertake fundamental 
review of services or the use of general fund reserves.  
 
Covid-19 continued to affect many areas of the Council during 2021-2022 as it 
continued to play a proactive, leading role in responding to the pandemic.  This 
included the delivery of many vital, short-term policy initiatives to protect the city’s 
most vulnerable residents - including support for care home residents and staff, the 
NHS response, for city schools and young people and much needed help for 
struggling city businesses.  As a result of these activities the Council incurred 
additional expenditure. In addition, to these important short-term initiatives, the 
Council’s income streams continued to be adversely affected during 2021-2022 from 
the loss of fees and charges. This included revenue normally gained from leisure 
centre membership, and from car parking charges.   

Page 55



 

 

 
Government awarded a number of one-off grants to local authorities to help tackle 
the pandemic, including un-ringfenced general covid grants, compensation for loss of 
sales, fees and charges income and specific grants to help contain the outbreak.  
The Council has carefully managed the use of these grants, taking into consideration 
evidence when drawing up a response to the pandemic to ensure the right response 
is delivered at the right level to support residents and businesses.  
 
When setting the 2021-2022 budget, the Council considered and forecast the 
potential financial impact of Covid on its budget.  It was stated whilst it was difficult to 
project the exact cost of the pandemic, (after taking into account Covid-19 grants), 
the estimated impact of the pandemic in 2021-2022 was in the region of £6.4 million.  
The 2021-2022 budget setting identified other efficiencies from across the Council to 
meet this cost pressure.  The Council managed the use of Covid-19 grants very 
carefully which enabled some grant to be carried forward into the 2021-2022.  In 
March 2022, as part of the Budget Strategy, Council approved the use of £5 million 
of Covid-19 Emergency Grant to be drawn down to support the underlying budget 
pressures in 2021-2022, thereby, releasing general fund resources to support the 
predicted budget deficit for 2022-2023. 
 
The 2021-2022 revenue budget monitoring process identified ‘in year’ pressures 
across Adult Social Care.  These financial pressures in 2021-2021 have been offset 
by the use of one-off grants which will not be available in future years.  The medium- 
term financial strategy incorporates growth for future years to address these cost 
pressures going forward.  However, there continues to be significant uncertainty 
around the cost of adult social care over the medium term due to the increase in 
demand for services, impact of a fee uplift, impact of the pandemic and the delivery 
of the ‘Build Back Better: Our Plan for Health and Social Care’. 
 
Despite this uncertainty and distortion, the Council has once again managed it 
finances well and is reporting a net underspend of £2.0 million for 2021-2022.  This 
underspend has been transferred into the Future Years Budget Strategy Reserve to 
support the budget deficit over the medium term.  
 
This position has been achieved as a result of disciplined financial management after 
the Council delivered on its plan to tightly control spending as part of its wider 
strategy to protect essential services from further cuts in the future as far as 
possible. This position means the Council has been able to identify a total of £11 
million from efficiencies to be transferred into the Future Years Budget Strategy 
Reserve to support the budget deficit over the medium term.  
 
The General Fund balance at the end of 2021-2022 continues to stand at £13.7 
million (representing approximately 5% of the net budget). The Council also reported 
earmarked reserves totalling £112.2 million at the end of 2021-2022. The Council is 
required to hold a number of reserves which have a specific criteria associated with 
funding, legal requirements or accounting practice; these reserves total £55.9 million.  
The balance of £56.3 million are reserves set aside by the council to fund future 
estimated liabilities and planned expenditure.   
 

Page 56



 

 

The General Fund reserve reflects the ability of the Council to deal with unforeseen 
events and unexpected financial pressures in any particular year and are a key 
indicator of the financial resilience of the organisation.  In addition, the council hold 
specific reserves set aside by the Council to fund future expenditure plans.  In the 
opinion of the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer), the proposed level of 
reserves, provisions and balances is adequate in respect of the forthcoming financial 
year (reported to Cabinet on 23 February 2022). 
 
The Council’s current financial position (capital)  
 
The Capital Strategy is underpinned by the Council’s Corporate Plan and the Vision 
2030.  Like many other councils, the City of Wolverhampton Council has 
experienced significant funding reductions and needs to make careful choices in 
prioritising where money is spent.  However, despite the financial challenges faced, 
the Council’s capital programme includes significant investment programmes that 
endeavour to create an environment where new and existing businesses can thrive, 
people can develop the skills they need to secure jobs and to create neighbourhoods 
in which people are proud to live in.   
 
On 3 March 2021, Council approved the revised medium term capital programme of 
£316.4 million for the period of 2020-2021 to 2025-2026 of which £173.2 million is 
forecast to be required in 2021-2022.  Updates were approved by Council throughout 
the year, with the outturn being reported to be £82.5 million for 2021-2022. 
 
The pandemic has understandably continued to impact on the development of 
capital projects during 2021-2022.  Given the unprecedented circumstances, there 
have been delays on some capital schemes.  In some instances, cost pressures 
have also been identified associated with ‘social distancing’ operating models, 
materials and how they are sourced.  In addition, there is considerable uncertainty 
and risk of inflationary pressures across the capital programme as costs of materials 
continue to increase.   Project contingency budgets are reviewed in light of these 
pressures in order to mitigate against such cost increases.  The Council will continue 
to assess the potential implications on the capital programme.  
 
The Council’s projected medium term financial position 
 
In March 2022, the Council was able to set a balanced budget for 2022-2023 without 
the use of general fund reserves or the need to undertake significant service 
reductions.  
 
However, due to the short-term nature of Government funding streams, the one-off 
nature of some of the efficiency measures and the forecast cost implications of the 
pandemic, the Council reported it faced a forecast deficit of £12.6 million in 2023-
2024, rising to £25.8 million in 2025-2026.   
 
The Council’s strategic approach to address the budget deficit is to align resources 
to Our Council Plan 2019-2024 which was approved by Full Council in April 2019. To 
ensure resources continues to be aligned to the needs of local people a refresh of 
the plan has been undertaken, this was approved by Council in March 2022, entitled 

Page 57



 

 

- Our City, Our Plan incorporating key policy areas into a refreshed narrative and 
updated structure, which has a focus on delivery and performance.  
 
The Council Five-Year Financial Strategy, approved by Council in March 2019, also 
provides the strategic framework used to address the budget challenge facing the 
Council over the medium-term.  
 
In order that the Council can deliver on its priorities, a Corporate Contingency budget 
to support Council Priorities such as, discretionary housing support and financial 
wellbeing, support for businesses, Rainbow City, Youth Employment and Climate 
Change has been incorporated into the 2022-2023 budget.    
 
In addition, the outturn position for 2021-2022 has enabled the council to transfer 
£3.4 million into the Our City, Our Plan reserve (previously called Recovery 
Reserve), to support our priorities going forward. 
 
It is vital government provides confirmation of long-term, sustainable funding as soon 
as possible in order for the Council to ensure the continuation of key service 
provision and delivery of Our City, Our Plan. 
 
 
Impact of Covid-19  
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organisation categorised Covid-19 as a global 
pandemic.  As mentioned above, the pandemic has significantly distorted the budget 
and medium term financial strategy and there will be a cost of ‘living with covid ’ 
beyond the short-medium term.   
 
As part of setting the 2022-2023 budget and updating the medium-term financial 
strategy, the ongoing impact of the pandemic has been considered.   
 
The costs of dealing with the pandemic extend beyond 2022-2023, it is not yet 
known how long the pandemic will go on for, or what the level of future support 
required will be. There is considerable uncertainty on the cost of ‘living with covid’ 
and the additional demand which will continue to be placed on services such as 
social care and public health and well-being. In addition, the economic costs of the 
pandemic will place additional pressures on the Council’s income collected from fees 
and charges, as well as council tax and business rates for years to come.  
 
In Wolverhampton, as elsewhere across the country, the pandemic continues to 
affect the lives of our residents and businesses.   A key priority of the Council is to 
support our vital local business as well as generate more jobs and learning 
opportunities for our residents. The level of support the council can provide will be 
reliant on the availability of resources.  
 
As detailed above, to ensure the Council could continue to deliver on its priorities, 
the favourable outturn position enabled the Council to contribute £3.4 million into Our 
City, Our Plan reserve to support Council priorities going forward. 
 
 

Page 58



 

 

Inflation and Cost of Living Crisis 
 
Inflation in the UK is at the highest it has been for four decades, which means as a 
country we are facing a ‘cost of living’ crisis.  There creates significant risk and 
uncertainty in relation to the cost of delivering Council services including inflation, 
supply chain delays and the impact of the cost of living on residents. 
 
In March 2022, the Council approved its Financial Wellbeing Strategy – Tackling the 
Cost of Living Crisis. This new strategy aims to support a reduction and future 
avoidance, of the financial hardship currently being experienced by residents in our 
city.   
 
 
Treasury Management 
 
The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy is reviewed and approved annually by 
Council.  In addition, mid-year reports are presented to Council, and quarterly 
monitoring reports are regularly reviewed by Councillors in both Executive and 
Scrutiny functions.   
 
Part of the treasury management operation is to ensure that the Council’s cash flow 
is adequately planned, with cash being made available when it is needed.  Surplus 
monies are invested in low-risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the 
Council approach to risk management, providing adequate liquidity initially before 
considering investment return.  
 
The Council recognises the value of employing external treasury management 
service providers to assess specialist skills and resources.  Therefore, the Council 
uses the Link Group as its external treasury management advisors.   
 
Due to the receipt of one-off government grants received in 2020-2021 and 
throughout 2021-2022, there has been no adverse impact on the council’s cashflow. 
However, we will continue to monitor the impact the pandemic may have on the 
council’s cashflow going forward, including the loss of income across council tax, 
business rates, and fees and charges.   
 
The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) regularly reviews the actual activity 
against the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and cash flow forecasts. 
 
The Governance Arrangements 
 
The Council has a responsibility to ensure its business is conducted in accordance 
with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded, and 
properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently, and effectively.  The 
Council has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to 
secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, 
having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.   
 
The Council has a well-established corporate governance framework.  This includes 
statutory elements like the post of Head of Paid Services, Monitoring Officer and 

Page 59



 

 

Section 151 Officer. Risk Management and internal controls are also a significant 
part of the governance framework and are designed to manage risk to a reasonable 
level.   
 
The Monitoring Officer provides a short report, at least every other month if not more 
often, updating cabinet members on the position with each of the bodies that the 
Council either owns or has significant involvement in with bodies in respect of which 
the Council has potential liabilities. In addition, detailed reports are reported to 
cabinet members in advance of any substantive document being taken for approval 
such as an Annual Business Plan. 
 
The outcomes of the Council Plan are underpinned by the governance environment, 
which is consistent with the core principles of the CIPFA / SOLACE framework.  The 
Council carries out annual reviews of all elements which make up the governance 
framework to ensure it remains effective. 
 
An overview of this governance framework is provided within the Annual Governance 
Statement. This includes a review of the effectiveness of the council’s governance 
framework including system of internal control.  The Annual Governance Statement 
will also include a detailed section on each of the bodies within the Council’s group 
structure setting out what measures we have in place to provide us with assurance 
on good governance and what performance management takes place.  
 
Risk Management 
 
The continuous budget setting and monitoring cycle captures the major risks and 
uncertainties facing the council.  Major projects are overseen by Project Boards and 
projects are monitored and reported through ‘Verto’, which identifies risks, 
mitigations and timelines.   
 
Risk management and internal control are a significant part of the governance 
framework and are designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.   The Council’s 
risk register is updated and reported on a regular basis to the Senior Executive 
Board (SEB) and Audit and Risk Committee.  At the very start of the pandemic, a 
separate Covid-19 Risk Register was established alongside the Strategic Risk 
Register, this has now been incorporated into the Council’s main Risk Register.  The 
Risk Registers include both the budgetary pressures for the current year and the 
medium-term.   
 
Budget reports considered by Cabinet also include details of the main budgetary risk 
facing the council. The main risks facing the council, as with other local authorities 
are the uncertainties around the future funding streams, impact of demand on 
statutory services, and the impact of ‘living with covid’, and in 2022-2023, inflationary 
pressures due to the ‘cost of living’ crisis.   
 
SEB regularly review the budget and medium-term financial strategy which 
incorporates potential known financial risks facing the council.   
 

 
 

Page 60



 

 

Other Wholly Owned Companies  
 
The Council owns three other organisations, Wolverhampton Homes, WV Living and 
Yoo recruit.  The performance of these organisations and their going concern status 
has also been taken into consideration when preparing the Going Concern 
Assessment for the Council. 
 
The External regulatory and control environment 
 
As a local authority the Council has to operate within a highly legislated and 
controlled environment.  An example of this is the requirement for a balanced budget 
each year combined with the legal requirement for councils to have regard to 
consideration of such matters as the robustness of budget estimates and the 
adequacy of reserves.   
 
In addition to the legal framework and central government control, there are other 
factors such as the role undertaken by External Audit as well as the statutory 
requirements in some cases for compliance with best practise and guidance 
published by CIPFA and other relevant bodies. 
 
Against this backdrop, it is considered unlikely that a local authority would be 
‘allowed to fail’ with the likelihood being, when faced with such a scenario, that 
central government would intervene - supported by organisations such as the Local 
Government Association to bring about the required improvements or help to 
maintain service delivery. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
It is considered that having regard to the Council’s arrangements and such factors as 
highlighted above, that the Council remains a going concern. 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

 

 
Recommendations for noting: 
 

The Audit and Risk Committee is asked to note: 

 

1. That the Director of Finance approved the Draft Statement of Accounts 2021-2022 on 15 

July 2022, in accordance with the revised deadline of 31 July 2022. 

 

2. That the audit of the 2021-2022 Draft Statement of Accounts, by Grant Thornton UK LLP, 

will commence 18 July 2022. Any material changes required as a result of the audit will 

be reported to the Audit and Risk Committee.  

 

3. That formal approval by the Council and publication of the 2021-2022 Statement of 

Accounts is required by 30 November 2022.  

 

4. That the Statement of Accounts incorporates a copy of the Annual Governance 

Statement as required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Audit and Risk Committee 
25 July 2022 

  
Report title Draft Statement of Accounts 2021-2022 
  

Accountable director Claire Nye, Director of Finance 

Originating service Strategic Finance 

Accountable employee Emma Bland 

Tel 

Email 

Finance Business Partner 

01902 553928 

 Emma.Bland2@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Report to be/has been 

considered by 

 

 

None  

Page 63

Agenda Item No: 8



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

1.0 Purpose 

1.1 The draft Statement of Accounts for 2021-2022, which is subject to audit, has been 

approved by the Director of Finance and is appended to this report. 

 

 

2.0 Background 

 

2.1 Previously the draft Statement of Accounts have been required by statute (The Accounts 

and Audit Regulations 2015) to be prepared and approved by the Section 151 Officer by 

31 May. However, given the unprecedented situation across the UK relating to COVID-19, and 

new regulations, the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021 extended the 

deadline from 31 May 2022 to 31 July 2022, to reduce pressure on authorities.  

 

2.2 A copy of the draft Statement of Accounts is attached at Appendix A and can also be 

found at http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/article/3050/Statement-of-Accounts. The audit 

by the Council’s appointed external auditors, Grant Thornton will commence 18 July 

2022. Following the audit, it is expected that they will report their findings to the Audit and 

Risk Committee. At the same time the final audited Statement of Accounts to be 

published by the Council will be presented to the Committee for approval.  

 

2.3 The statutory deadline for publication of the audited Statement of Accounts is 30 

November 2021 (also extended from 31 July 2022). 

 
2.4 The format of the Statement of Accounts is governed by the Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting (the Code), published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA). The Statement is prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

 

 

3.0 Financial Implications 

 

3.1 The statement, and the forthcoming audit of those statements by the external auditors, is 

an important element of the accountability and transparency of the Council’s finances. 

  

[EB/15072022/H] 

 

 

4.0 Legal implications 

 

4.1 The Secretary of State makes the Accounts and Audit Regulations in exercise of powers 

conferred by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The Accounts and Audit 

Regulations 2015 require the 2020-2021 Statement of Accounts be produced in 

accordance with proper practice.  

 

4.2 This is exemplified by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting which is 

published by CIPFA.   

Page 64

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/404
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/article/3050/Statement-of-Accounts


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

 

4.3 The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021 require that the accounts are 

approved by 31 July 2022 and published by 30 November 2022.  

 
[Legal Code: DP/15072022/A] 

 
5.0 Equalities implications 
 
5.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report 
 

 
6.0  All other Implications 

6.1  There are no other implications arising from this report.  

 

7.0  Schedule of background papers 

7.1 There are no relevant preceding reports. 

 
8.0 Appendices 
 
8.1  Appendix A – Draft Statement of Accounts 2021-2022 
 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Statement of Accounts 

 

 

 

  

2021-2022 

 

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

P
age 67



1 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

   

Section Title Page 

1 Narrative Report 2 

   

2 Statement of Responsibilities 25 

   

3 Independent Auditors’ Report to Councillors of the City of Wolverhampton Council 27 

   

4 The Financial Statements 36 

   

5 The Housing Revenue Account Statements 178 

   

6 The Collection Fund Statement 186 

   

7 West Midlands Pension Fund Statements 191 

   

8 Annual Governance Statement 257 

   

9 Glossary 275 

   

 

  

P
age 68



2 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

SECTION 1 - NARRATIVE REPORT 

 

Important note for readers of the accounts   

Local authority accounts, like those of any organisation, are prepared to comply with a series of rules and conventions set by the accounting 

profession. However, for local authorities there are many types of transaction where the law, which takes precedence, requires a different 

treatment from the accounting rules. This effectively means that local authorities are trying to simultaneously fulfil two conflicting sets of rules 

when preparing their accounts.  

This conflict is addressed by having local authorities present a set of financial statements which comply with the accounting rules, followed by a 

reconciliation of those statements to the accounts as prepared under the legal rules. This reconciliation essentially takes the form of a list of 

adjustments for items which must be in the accounts per the accounting rules but are not allowed in them under law, and vice versa.  

It is the legal rules that must be used when calculating budget requirements, council tax and housing rents. As a result, all the council’s internal 

reporting and decision-making is based purely on accounts prepared under the legal rules. The only time it prepares accounts that comply with 

the accounting rules is when it prepares this document. It is crucial to bear this in mind when reading the statements.  

 

Purpose and contents of this document  

The purpose of this document is to show the council’s and group’s financial performance over the course of the year, and their financial position 

at the end of the year. It also provides some information about factors that may affect the council’s financial performance in the future. This 

document is divided into a number of sections: 

Section 2 contains the statement of responsibilities and sets out the roles and responsibilities of the council and of the Director of Finance in 

preparing the statement of accounts. The independent auditors’ report is included in Section 3. 

Section 3. This report draws reader’s attention to any important information they might need to consider when reading the statements.  

Section 4 contains the financial statements prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 

Kingdom (the Code). These comprise four main statements, and a series of notes. The four main statements are:  

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this summarises all expenditure, income, gains and losses for the council during 

the year.   

P
age 69



3 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Balance Sheet – this shows all the council’s assets, liabilities, and reserves at the end of the financial year. Assets are either items that 

the council owns and can use or sell in the future, or money that it is owed by other parties. Liabilities are money owed by the council to 

other parties. Reserves fall into two categories: usable reserves are funds that the council has available to spend in the future, while 

unusable reserves are amounts that have come about purely from accounting adjustments and are not therefore available to spend.  

Movement in Reserves Statement – this shows the amounts in the council’s reserves, and how they have changed over the course of 

the year.  

Cash Flow Statement – this summarises all the council’s payments and receipts over the course of the year. The fundamental difference 

between this statement and the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is that it does not include adjustments to comply with 

the accounting concept of accruals.  

The notes to the accounts provide additional information about the main statements, or items that the council is required by law or by the Code 

to include in the statement. The notes are:  

Note 1 Expenditure and funding analysis – notes showing how expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the 

council’s directorates and how the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement reconciles to the General Fund.  

Note 2 Income and expenditure – this note provides information about several specific areas of income and expenditure required by law 

or by the Code.  

Note 3 Other operating expenditure 

Note 4 Financing and investment income and expenditure 

Note 5 Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure  

Note 6 Current receivables and current payables – this note summarises how much money was owed to the council at the end of the 

year, and how much the council owed other parties.  

Note 7 Provisions, contingent liabilities and guarantees – this note provides information about things for which the council knows it will 

(or may have to) pay money to other parties, but there is uncertainty about one or more elements of that payment. This may be the amount 

of the payment, when it must be paid, or even whether the council will have to make a payment.  

Note 8 Non-current assets – this note provides information about the council’s non-current assets, which are assets that it uses for more 

than one year.  

P
age 70



4 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 9 Employee pensions – this note provides information about employee pensions, including the net pensions’ liability (the difference 

between current pension commitments and the assets available to fund those) at the end of the year.  

Note 10 Financial instruments – this note provides information about the council’s financial instruments, which are assets or liabilities 

entered into under contracts.  

Note 11 Members of the City of Wolverhampton Council group and other related parties – the council has relationships with several other 

organisations that readers should be aware of when reading the accounts. This note provides information about these relationships.  

Note 12 Trust funds – this note provides information about the trust funds that the council manages on behalf of other people.  

Note 13 Movement in Reserves Statement – this note analyses the changes in each of the council’s reserves from year to year 

Note 14 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement - these notes provide more detail relating to certain items included in the cash flow statement.  

Note 15 Accounting policies – this note describes the policies that have been used by the council to prepare these statements, changes 

in those since last year, and any significant judgements in applying these policies that had to be made when preparing the statements.  

Section 5 provides a set of financial statements and associated notes relating to the Housing Revenue Account. By law, the council must account 

for its council housing service separately from other services, to ensure that rents only pay for housing (and likewise, that council tax does not 

subsidise housing).  

Section 6 contains statements for the Collection Fund. These show how much council tax was raised in Wolverhampton during the year, and 

how it was allocated between the council, fire and police authorities. The Collection Fund also provides details of business rates collected by the 

council on behalf of central government and the amount retained by the council and allocated to the fire authority.   

Section 7 provides the financial statements of West Midlands Pension Fund. These are separate from the council’s accounts, but because the 

council is the administering body it is required to include the Pension Fund’s accounts alongside its own. They follow a similar format to the 

council’s accounts, with two main statements followed by a series of notes.  

Section 8 is the council’s Annual Governance Statement. This provides important information about how the council and group is run and how it 

manages key risks.   

Section 9 provides a glossary which describes many of the technical accounting terms and abbreviations used in these statements.  

 

 

P
age 71



5 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Introduction 

These accounts set out the financial results of the City of Wolverhampton Council’s activities for the year ending 31 March 2022 and demonstrate 

the council’s economic, efficient, and effective use of resources available.  

The narrative report provides information on the City of Wolverhampton Council and the economic environment in which it operates, specifically 

the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and developing cost of living crisis. It looks at how the council has strategically responded to these 

challenges and outlines the new Our City: Our Plan. 

It aims to explain the main information in the statement of accounts, provides an overview financial performance in 2021-2022, looks at the 

council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy and sets the framework on how we will allocate resources and our priorities for the year ahead. 

 

Note on group accounts  

The council owns three other organisations: Wolverhampton Homes Limited, Yoo Recruit Ltd and WV Living (City of Wolverhampton Housing 

Company Limited). As a result of this the council is required to produce group accounts. Yoo Recruit Ltd became a wholly owned subsidiary of 

the council in 2013-2014. As the impact on the group accounts is considered by the council, to not be material, Yoo Recruit Ltd has not been 

consolidated into the group accounts. Wolverhampton Homes Limited is an arm’s length management organisation (ALMO) which was 

established in 2005 to manage and maintain most of the council’s housing stock and is wholly owned by the council. WV Living became a wholly 

owned subsidiary of the council in 2016-2017 and was set-up in response to housing demand in Wolverhampton, to provide good quality homes 

for sale and rent. Wolverhampton Homes Limited and WV Living’s accounts have been wholly consolidated in the group elements of the financial 

statements.  

In 2021, the council entered a joint venture with the West Midlands Combined Authority to pilot an affordable housing project; Help to Own. Help 

to Own helps to address the issue that many potential buyers in work have when looking to buy a home; in raising the deposit to secure a 

mortgage. Help to Own has not been consolidated into the group accounts as the impact is not considered to be material.  

The group accounts combine the accounts of the council, Wolverhampton Homes Limited and WV Living (City of Wolverhampton Housing 

Company Limited) and shows them as if they were one. Throughout the financial statements (Section 4) the numbers in italics relate to the group. 

Non-italic numbers relate to the council only. These figures are usually combined in the same table, but occasionally owing to space, they are 

shown in separate tables. Where there is only one figure given, this means that the figure is the same for the group and the council.  

 

Some, but not all of, our schools are brought into the financial statements. Where the council determines that the overall balance of control of 

schools lies with the council, those schools’ assets, liabilities, reserves, and cash flows are recognised in the council financial statements and not 

P
age 72



6 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

the group accounts. Therefore, schools’ transactions, cash flows and balances are recognised in the financial statements of the council as if they 

were the transactions, cash flows and balances of the council. Academies and other schools such as voluntary aided schools, where control does 

not lie with the council, are excluded from the council’s financial statements.  

 

Items of interest in the accounts  

This section discusses some of the key items of interest in this year’s statement of accounts.  

Provisions, contingent liabilities and guarantees  

The council’s total level of provisions increased by £3.1 million (net) over the course of the year. Total provisions (excluding expected credit 

losses) at 31 March 2022 stood at £14.7 million (2020-2021: £11.6 million): further details are provided in Note 7A to the Financial Statements.  

Capital expenditure   

The council once again successfully managed a large capital expenditure programme in 2021-2022, resulting in additions to non-current assets 

of £118.8 million, together with other capital expenditure of £19.9 million. The main additions were on council dwellings (£55.9 million), Other 

land and buildings (£39.6 million) and Infrastructure assets (£14.5 million), which reflects investment in the highway network. Information about 

non-current assets held by the council can be found in Note 8.  

Net pensions liability   

The council’s net pension liability shows the extent to which its existing pension commitments to employees and former employees exceed the 

assets currently available to meet those commitments. This liability decreased by £149.2 million during 2021-2022, made up of a decrease of 

£55.2 million in liabilities, countered by an increase of £94.0 million in assets. The main reasons for the net movement were gains of £201.1 

million resulting from changes in actuarial assumptions, net interest payable of £17.2 million, and other expenditure of £34.7 million. Note 9 to 

the Financial Statements provides further information on employee pensions.  

In practice, the value of the net pension’s liability is not entirely meaningful, because pension payments will generally not need to be made for 

many years, and the pension fund plans over long timescales as a result. Furthermore, the amount the council must charge to its revenue 

accounts is the amount of employee contributions payable for the year, and not the costs calculated under the accounting rules. It is also important 

to note that the calculation of the net pensions’ liability relies on several complex judgements and assumptions, variations in which can lead to 

significant differences in the outcome: this is discussed in Note 15 to the Financial Statements.  

 

P
age 73



7 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Borrowing facilities and capital borrowing  

The council borrows to part-fund its capital expenditure programme. As a local authority, the council can borrow funds from the Public Works 

Loan Board (UK Debt Management Office), which allows the council to benefit from the relatively low cost of government borrowing. At 31 March 

2022, its total borrowing portfolio stood at £720.4 million, of which £616.6 million is owed to the Public Works Loan Board and £103.8 million to 

private sector lenders. The council’s borrowing activities are governed by the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (CIPFA). 

Please note borrowings on the balance sheet are higher due to £5.3 million accrued interest and a £5.2 million difference between the LOBO 

principal cash value and amortised cost (under the Code of Practice).  

 

Movement in reserves 

Reserves play a vital role in the financial sustainability of the council.  The council’s General Fund Reserve remains at £13.7 million, which 

represents approximately 5% of the net budget for 2022-2023 and is in line with recommended best practice. The HRA balance remains at £7 

million.  

The Council also hold specific reserves which are set aside to fund future planned expenditure. The Council holds earmarked reserves totalling 
£112.2 million at the end of 2021-2022. The Council is required to hold a number of reserves which have a specific criterion associated with 
funding, legal requirements, or accounting practice; these reserves total £55.9 million.  The balance of £56.3 million are reserves set aside by 
the council to fund future estimated liabilities and planned expenditure 

 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been an extensive business rates relief scheme, meaning that the collection fund deficit is higher 

when compared to years prior to the pandemic. The government have provided Section 31 grants to cover the cost of COVID-19 related business 

rates reliefs. The usable reserve balance as at 31 March 2022 includes those government grants received in relation to collection fund deficits 

that will be realised in future years. They do not represent additional spending power taken forward into future years. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 74



8 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

An introduction to the City of Wolverhampton  

The City of Wolverhampton is a place which is proud of its history, celebrates its diversity and is ambitious for the future.  

Wolverhampton is one of the most densely populated local authority areas in England with 263,700 residents living within its 26.8 square miles 
boundaries. The latest Indices of Deprivation (2019) show that levels of deprivation in Wolverhampton have fallen since 2015, a change from the 
17th most deprived in 2015 to 24th most deprived in 2019 (1 = worst). Wolverhampton is also nationally ranked 19th for Employment deprivation, 
42nd for Education deprivation with child poverty levels at 29.1%. Data shows that deprivation in the city is concentrated in a number of ‘hot spots’, 
where the council is seeking to intervene using a targeted ‘place-based’ approach. 

The city’s demographic profile is changing, as it attracts new residents.  As a result Wolverhampton’s population is projected to increase by 13% 
(approximately 31,695 residents) between 2018 and 2043. The city boasts an ethnically diverse population with 35.5% of residents being of non-
white British heritage.  

Although Wolverhampton has a younger age than the average in England,  projections show that the 65+ age group is expected to increase 
faster than younger cohorts. This will put significant strain on the public sector, specifically the NHS and adult social care, as more people are 
likely to be admitted to hospital and require long-term care.  

Other significant local data includes relatively high levels of unemployment which has been, exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Wolverhampton is currently ranked second in the country for youth unemployment (18 to 24-year-olds). This has been identified as a key priority 
for the council with £3.0 million funding being pledged to tackle youth unemployment in the city with partners via Wolves at Work 18-24 
programme.  

The visuals below illustrate the age and sex breakdown of Wolverhampton’s population based on the first release of the 2021 Census data.  

 

 

 

P
age 75



9 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Economic conditions  

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, Brexit and the conflict in Ukraine are significant economic events that have affected the UK economy in 

the past few years.  

In March 2020, COVID-19 was declared a global pandemic. The impact on both the local and national economy was significant as expected. 

According to ONS, the West Midlands economy took the biggest hit with a 21% drop in gross domestic product output in just the first quarter 

alone.  

The UK formally left the European Union on 31 January 2020 with a transition period that lasted until the end of December 2020. It is currently 

difficult to quantify what the impact has been on the council, but the most obvious implications are to importing goods and loss of jobs, especially 

those in the manufacturing sector. 

As well as the humanitarian and political impact of Russia invading Ukraine will have on the world, the ongoing conflict will also have economic 

impact on the UK. After the invasion, gas prices increase in the UK but have now fallen steadily on international markets, whereas oil prices have 

P
age 76



10 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

remained high. In addition, to energy costs, petrol prices in the UK are at a record high which increases residents’ cost of living. This is leading 

to a rise in inflation. Inflation is already at record levels in the UK, 7.9% as of May 2022 which will have negative impacts on the economy. This 

may have knock on effects on the UK housing market, as interest rates increase, mortgages are likely to increase which will make it harder for 

people to buy houses. We cannot say what specific impact this will have on Wolverhampton as a city, but we can assume there will be negative 

economic consequences based on what has already started to happen across the country.  

Such uncertainty about future economic conditions make medium-term financial planning even more challenging for the council. The council will 

continue to monitor the impact and provide updates to Council. 

 

Our City: Our Plan  

Developed in collaboration with partners, the city’s Vision 2030 document sets out the aspirations and priorities for Wolverhampton.  

Our shared vision is that Wolverhampton will be a place where people come from far and wide to work, shop, study and enjoy. Our plans and 

strategies - backed by major public and private investment will continue to transform the city to ensure that it retains attributes that give 

Wolverhampton its unique identify. Together, we will deliver a healthy, thriving, and sustainable international ‘smart city’ – renowned for its 

booming economy and skilled workforce, rich diversity and a commitment to fairness and equality that ensures everyone has the chance to 

benefit from success. 

It is in this context that the City of Wolverhampton Council’s five-year Council Plan was developed. The plan sets out how, by working together 

with partners, the council will deliver on the priorities of the people of our city. Since the launch of the plan the world we live and work in has 

changed significantly.  

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a profound impact on our communities. In response we launched the Relighting Our City Plan in September 

2020. This plan provided a framework to support the city’s transition from the response to the recovery phase of the pandemic and as we know 

now, a new normal.  

To ensure that the council’s resource continues to be aligned to the needs and priorities of local people the plan has been refreshed. Our City: 

Our Plan sets out how the council will continue to work alongside its local, regional, and national partners to improve outcomes for local people. 

Alongside Our City: Our Plan, sits as a suite of performance management indicators that are reviewed operationally and strategically. 

Understanding how we are performing in turn helps evidence the resources needed to make an impact across areas. 

 

P
age 77



11 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

P
age 78



12 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The plan sets our ambition that ‘Wulfrunains will live longer, healthier lives.’ Delivery of this ambition is supported by six overarching priorities: 

• Strong families where children grow up well and achieve their full potential. 

• Fulfilled lives for all with quality care for those that need it. 

• Healthy, inclusive communities. 

• Good homes in well-connected neighbourhoods. 

• More local people into good jobs and training. 

• Thriving economy in all parts of the city.  

 

These priorities together with the associated key outcomes, objectives and activity form a framework to improve outcomes for local people and 

deliver our levelling up ambitions. Supporting the six overarching priorities are three cross cutting principles: 

• Climate Conscious: The plan is aligned to the council’s climate change strategy ‘Future Generations’ and our target to make the council 

net carbon zero by 2028. Reducing carbon emissions will continue to be a local and national priority. 

• Driven by Digital: Wolverhampton is at the forefront of digital infrastructure and innovation, and now more than ever we have seen the 

importance of digital skills and connectivity to social and economic participations for the City’s residents. 

• Fair and Equal: The council will continue to tackle the inequalities in our city which impact on the opportunities of local people. The plan 

is aligned to our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion strategy which is underpinned by directorate level action plans. 

 

The Council Plan does not cover everything that the council does, but it focuses on a combination of those issues that matter most to the local 

people, the national priorities set by central government and the unique challenges arising from the city's changing social, economic, and 

environmental contexts.  

The plan is a key component of the council’s corporate planning and performance management. It links the strategic priorities of the council 

directly to the activities of each individual employee. It includes indicators for improving overall council performance, services, and the way the 

council works.  

 

Our City: Our Plan can be found on the council’s website.  
 

 

P
age 79



13 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

A flexible and committed council workforce 

As at the 31 March 2022, the council employed 4,094 people in 4,323 positions (excluding school-based employees), of which 1,280 (31.3%) 

employees are male and 2,814 (68.7%) are female.  

The age profile of its employees is shown below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The pandemic has had a significant impact on the council’s workforce and how services are delivered to minimise disruption. The majority of staff 

continued to work remotely during 2021-2022 which, has been possible thanks to the council’s significant investment in IT over the last few years.  

A number of health and well-being initiatives have been introduced to support employees during the pandemic, including lunch-time remote social 

interaction activities, chatty cafes, workshops with employees to explore new ideas to promote mental health and well-being, the introduction of 

‘Our People Portal’ housing lots of self-help information, sharing news and best practice on the importance of work life balance, refresh of our 

domestic abuse policy and guide for managers on how to support victims of domestic abuse including roll out of mandatory training. 

The council is committed in creating an inclusive environment that eliminates the risk of bias. To support this, interview panels have a diverse 

panel, made up of different genders and ethnic groups.  

 

 

 

P
age 80



14 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2021-2022 to 2023-2024  

General Fund  

The council’s General Fund Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) has been prepared against a backdrop of change and uncertainty that is 

unprecedented in decades. Several factors have combined to create a very challenging financial situation, which is expected to continue for the 

foreseeable future.  

Ongoing financial impact of COVID-19 

The COVID-19 pandemic continued to affect many areas of the council during 2021-2022. The council played a proactive, leading role in 

responding to COVID-19, focusing our efforts on supporting those in the city that need us most. We looked after our own - especially the most 

vulnerable, supported our NHS colleagues, helped struggling city businesses to survive while constantly adapting to the ever changing operating 

national and local COVID-19 restrictions and measures, supporting our schools and young people and maintaining core, essential council 

services.  

As a result of the additional activity the council incurred additional expenditure. In addition, the council’s income streams have also been adversely 

affected during 2021-2022, particularly the loss of income from fees and charges for services, such as car parking, events, and leisure services. 

Government funding continued in 2021-2022, but at a reduced level than that received in 2020-2021. Local authorities received general 

emergency grant funding, specific funding for adult social care, public health activity and funding to support our most vulnerable residents. The 

council has received partial compensation from government for some income losses during quarter 1 of 2021-2022, but losses were seen across 

some areas for the entirety of 2021-2022 and are expected to continue into 2022-2023. As part of both the 2021-2022 and 2022-2023 budget 

setting process, the council projected these losses and has established corporate contingency budgets to mitigate against them.  

The council anticipates a significant reduction in council tax and business rates income collected during 2021-2022 and over the medium-term, 

which has been factored into the MTFS. The 2021-2022 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2021-2022 to 2023-2024 was reported to 

Full Council in March 2021. It was stated that while it was difficult to project the exact cost implications of the pandemic, however, after taking 

into account COVID-19 grants, it was estimated the net impact of the pandemic in 2021-2022 was in the region of £6.4 million. The 2021-2022 

budget setting identified other efficiencies from across the council to meet this cost pressure.  

The council has managed the use of COVID-19 grants very carefully which enabled some grant to be carried forward into the 2021-2022. In 

March 2022, as part of the Budget Strategy, Council approved the use of £5.0 million of COVID-19 Emergency Grant to be drawn down to support 

the underlying budget pressures in 2021-2022, thereby, releasing General Fund resources to support the budget deficit for 2022-2023.   

The council also continued to administer a number of grants throughout 2021-2022; including mandatory and discretionary business grants, self-

isolation payments for residents required to isolate, and grants to adult social care providers. The council re-prioritised its workforce, re-deploying 

staff where required to ensure that these essential grants could be distributed in a timely manner. Systems were continually reviewed and 

P
age 81



15 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

improved, streamlining wherever possible to ensure these grants reached businesses as quickly as possible. Each scheme adopted has been 

subject to audit and a reconciliation process that ensure that they meet the government’s requirements and satisfy the funding conditions.  Using 

discretionary funding, the council designed and approved grants schemes to support businesses and self-isolating individuals who were in  

financial hardship and who fell outside the mandatory government grant schemes.  

The council acted as an agent for the administration of the mandatory grants. The eligibility criteria and funding levels were set by the government 

and the council had no discretion on how these were administered. Therefore, these grants have been excluded from the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement (CIES). A full list can be found at note 2H Grants.  

Financial position 2021-2022  

In March 2021, the council approved a budget incorporating a budget reduction target of £4.9 million for 2021-2022. The following table provides 

a high-level comparison of the council’s General Fund outturn for 2021-2022 compared with the budget. It details spend by Directorate, which is 

the format used for internal reporting to management. This table is calculated in line with legal requirements. Detailed reports were considered 

by Cabinet in June 2022, analysing the outturn and year end reserves position in more detail. At this stage the outturn was reported as £2.2 

million underspend. As part of the statement of accounts work, the outturn has been finalised at £2.0 million underspend. Further reports will be 

considered by Cabinet in July 2022 which will consider any impact on the budget for 2023-2024 and the medium-term.  

In response to the pandemic, the government awarded local authorities a number of one-off grants, including un-ringfenced general COVID-19 

grants, compensation for loss of sales, fees, and charges income (quarter 1 of 2021-2022), and specific grants to help contain the outbreak. The 

council has carefully managed the use of these grants and used evidence when developing response plans, ensuring the right level of support 

was provided to our residents and businesses. The position reported in the table below is after the cost of COVID-19 have been funded from 

these grants.  

Despite all the uncertainty, the council has once again managed its money well and delivered within budget. Overall, the council has achieved a 

net underspend of £2.0 million at the end of 2021-2022 after taking into account net transfers to and from reserves. This underspend has been 

transferred into a specific reserve to support the budget challenge faced by the council over the medium term. An analysis of the out-turn position 

by directorate is detailed in the table below: 

 

 

P
age 82



16 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Directorate 

2021-2022 

Net Controllable 

Revised Budget 

£m 

2021-2022 

Net Controllable 

Outturn 

£m 

Total Variation 

Over/(Under) 

 

£m 

Adult Services 71.7 71.6 (0.1) 

Children's Services and Education 52.4 49.5 (2.9) 

Public Health & Well Being 5.4 5.2 (0.2) 

Regeneration 3.8 3.7 (0.1) 

City Assets  10.7 9.9 (0.8) 

City Housing and Environment 28.4 28.5 0.1 

Finance 14.6 13.8 (0.8) 

Governance 11.8 11.3 (0.5) 

Strategy 10.8 10.1 (0.7) 

Communications and External Relations  2.3 2.4 0.1 

Corporate Accounts 46.6 50.7 4.1 

Net Budget Requirement 258.5 256.7 (1.8) 

Funding:    

Council Tax (including Adult Social Care Precept) (112.3) (112.3) - 

Enterprise Zone Business Rates (1.5) (1.5) - 

Top Up Grant (26.7) (26.7) - 

Business Rates (net of WMCA growth payment) (67.5) (67.5) - 

Collection Fund Surplus (3.2) (3.2) - 

New Homes Bonus (1.0) (1.0) - 

Section 31 Grant - Business Rates Support (11.5) (11.7) (0.2) 

Improved Better Care Fund and Social Care Grants (25.7) (25.7) - 

P
age 83



17 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

COVID-19 Emergency Grant (8.7) (8.7) - 

Lower Tier Fund (0.4) (0.4) - 

Total Corporate Resources 258.5 258.7 (0.2) 

Net Budget (Surplus)/Deficit - (2.0) (2.0) 

 

Cash flow management  

The council continues to review and forecast its cashflow position to ensure it is able to meet its financial obligations. Based on detailed forecast 

scenarios, the council has sufficient cashflow and funds to meet its obligations and remain within the prudential indicators set out in the approved 

Treasury Management Strategy.  

Due to the receipt of one-off COVID-19 government grants received throughout 2021-2022, there has been no adverse impact on the council’s 
cashflow. However, we will continue to monitor the impact that the pandemic may have on the council’s cashflow going forward, including the 
loss of income across council tax, business rates and sales, fees, and charges. 
 

Performance indicators 2021-2022 
 
In September 2020, the council approved the Relighting Our City recovery framework to guide the council’s approach as we emerge from the 
pandemic. Relighting Our City was launched as a ‘living’ document and a commitment made to regularly review and refresh the plan to ensure 
that it continued to reflect the priorities of local people and respond to the fast-changing nature of the pandemic. The Relighting Our City also 
includes a performance framework, providing high level city data on key priorities and benchmarking city performance against national and 
regional data in order to highlight the impact of targeted interventions, inform strategic decision-making in relation to provision and encourage 
scrutiny.  
 
During 2021-2022, the council reported on performance against the Relighting Our City priorities in a performance and financial integrated report. 
There are 29 indicators across the Relighting Our City priorities of:  
 

• Supporting people who need us most. 

• Create more opportunities for young people. 

• Support our vital local businesses. 

• Generate more jobs and learning opportunities.  

• Stimulate vibrant high streets and communities. 

P
age 84



18 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Of the 29 indicators, the council reported 18 to have showed an improvement, 10 to show similar performance and one indicator to show a 
decrease over the year. It was also reported that of the 29 indicators, 11 were comparable with national averages – of which six indicators 
performance better than national averages and five performed worse than national averages. 
 
Some of the performance indicators reported include: 

• 83.6% of extremely clinically vulnerable residents vaccinated. 

• 853 residents supported to maximise their benefits through the Welfare Rights helpline.  

• 61% of people receiving adult social care do so from home. 

• 14,100 children and young people attending holiday events. 

• 88% of schools are rated ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. 

• 90% of children from ethnic minorities attend ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ schools. 

• Lower number of children and young people open to social care services. 

• 1,456 jobs created / safeguarded in the city through the Investment Team.  

• 683 people supported into work through Black Country Impact and Wolves at Work.  

• 170 Wolverhampton based businesses support through Business Relight Programme.  

• 177 new businesses supported by commissioned service Access to Business. 

• 100% network providers that have 5G capacity in Wolverhampton. 

• 30 rapid charging electric car points in the city. 
 
How we support our most vulnerable residents remains an area of strength in the city with all social care-based indicators improving or above 
national averages. Our education provision is of high quality and is taken up equally from children from all ethnic minorities. 
 
To support those effected by unemployment through the pandemic, we have continued our Wolves at Work programme and are working with city 
businesses to support long term sustainable jobs and enterprise. 
 
Underpinning these indicators are robust performance frameworks which ensure performance is understood by services in real time. Areas of 
concern are quickly identified so that data driven improvement plans produced. Strong performance is recognised allowing best practice to be 
shared with teams. 
 
In March 2022, the council approved Our City: Our Plan, a new Council Plan building on Relighting Our City and providing a strategic framework 
for delivering the ambition that ‘Wulfrunians will live longer, healthier lives.’  Reporting against this framework will take place from 2022-2023 
onwards. 
 
 

P
age 85



19 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2022-2023 to 2025-2026 

The medium-term financial strategy is a critical part of the council’s planning and performance framework and is kept under continuous review. 

The medium-term financial strategy, as approved by Full Council in March 2022 is summarised in the table below: 

  2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 

£m  £m £m  £m  

Net Expenditure Budget 267.159 280.956 294.627 308.750 

     

Cumulative Projected Deficit - 12.630 17.316 25.826 

Annual Projected Deficit - 12.630 4.686 8.510 

 

The council prudently considered the ongoing impact of the pandemic when setting the 2022-2023 budget. In March 2022, the council was able 

to set a balanced budget for 2022-2023 without the use of general reserves. However, as the table above shows, the council forecast that after 

taking into account the forecast impact of COVID-19 on the budget, it will need to save a further £12.6 million in 2023-2024, rising to around 

£25.8 million by 2025-2026.     

The costs of dealing with the pandemic extend over the medium term.  It is not yet known how long the pandemic will last or what the level of 
future support required will be. There is considerable uncertainty on the cost of ‘living with COVID-19’ and the additional demand which will 
continue to be placed on services such as social care, and public health and well-being. In addition to this, the economic costs of the pandemic 
will place additional pressures on the council’s income collected from fees and charges as well as council tax and business rates for years to 
come.  
It is particularly challenging to make financial projections over the medium-term period; however, they have been adjusted based upon information 

currently available and professional judgement. It is important to note that, due to external factors, budget assumptions remain subject to 

significant change, which could, result in alterations to the financial position facing the council.    

In March 2019, the council approved its Five-Year Financial Strategy which is aligned to the Council Plan 2019-2024. This provides the strategic 

framework to address the budget challenge facing the council. The council’s strategic approach to address the deficit remains aligned to the core 

workstreams contained within the Financial Strategy. The workstreams are: 

• Driven by Digital. 

• Reducing demand. 

• Targeted service delivery. 

P
age 86



20 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

• Sustainable business models. 

• Prioritising capital investment. 

• Generating income. 

• Delivering safe efficiencies. 

• Maximising partnerships and external income. 

 
 
Major risks and opportunities to the council 
 
The council played a proactive, leading role in responding to the COVID-19 emergency. During 2021-2022 the council made and continues to 

make a number of decisions which have significant financial implications in order to support its vulnerable residents, as well as complying with 

government requirements.  

Government funding continued in 2021-2022, but at lower levels than that in 2020-2021. Local authorities received general emergency grant 

funding of £8.7 million, income for loss of fees and charges, specific funding for adult social care, public health activity and funding to support our 

most vulnerable residents.  

It is forecast that the cost implications of the pandemic on the council as well as the cost of ‘living with COVID-19’ will extend over the medium 

term. There continues to be a level of uncertainty associated with emergency behavioural and operational changes arising from the pandemic. 

The council is forecasting to continue to see a reduction in income from fees and charges, especially in parking income, and costs pressures in 

adult social care.  

Recovering from the pandemic requires the council to invest significantly, in our city and its people – to help them recover and thrive. Investment 

is needed in supporting vulnerable residents and struggling families; in opportunities for our children and young people, in jobs and employment 

opportunities for our young adults hit disproportionately by unemployment; in support for city businesses, in closing the digital divide and in the 

big switch to a greener economy.   

There is considerable uncertainty around the cost of adult social care over the medium term due to the increase in demand for services, impact 

of a fee uplift, impact of the pandemic, and the delivery of the Government’s ‘Build Back Better: Our Plan for Health and Social Care’ plan. There 

remains considerable uncertainty on the forecast position for adult services in 2022-2023 and over the medium term, as services re-open following 

the pandemic and demand in some areas is back at pre-pandemic levels – although the type of service required may be different. In addition, the 

introduction of the charging reform will increase the number of service users receiving some state support for their care costs. Funding will be 

available to support these additional costs, however, there is still uncertainty over the financial impact of these changes and the level of funding 

P
age 87



21 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

available. As part of the implementation of charging reform the council is required to conduct a fair cost of care exercise to review levels of 

payments to providers, and how the council will move towards it over the medium term, where it is not paid already.   

Inflation in the UK is the highest it has been for four decades, which means as a country we are experiencing cost of living crisis, with food, petrol 

and energy costs all increasing. The most recent statistics from the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (2019) show that 

21.1% of households were already in fuel poverty. In response the council approved its Financial Wellbeing Strategy: Tackling the Cost of Living 

Crisis, in March  2022. This new strategy aims to support a reduction, and future avoidance, of the financial hardship currently being experienced 

by residents in our city and all over the country.  

Data shows Wolverhampton is at 23.9% for economic inactivity, which is 2.6% higher than the average rate for England. The primary reason for 

inactivity being temporary or long-term sickness (33%), which is higher than the national rate of 25.7%. This figure has likely increased as a result 

of the pandemic. Wolverhampton is currently ranked second in the country for youth unemployment (18 to 24-year-olds). Our prudent financial 

management will enable us to move forward with this short-term targeted investment – such as £3.0 million to help tackle youth unemployment. 

The Wolves at Work 18- 24 Programme approved in October 2021, is a programme of interventions which puts our young people at the centre 

of activity and urgently delivers the step change needed in our city to give unemployed young people opportunities for secure, sustainable 

employment, apprenticeships, education, or training.  

The council has committed to being carbon-neutral by 2028 and deliver upon the promises it has made when the council declared a climate 

emergency at Full Council in 2019. To achieve net zero as an organisation, the council will need to make significant investment in its assets, such 

as electric fleet, energy efficiency retrofits, low carbon heating and renewable energy – which could deliver ongoing revenue savings.  

There also continues to be considerable uncertainty with regards to future funding streams for local authorities. The national focus on Brexit and 

then the COVID-19 pandemic has meant the outcome of a Fair Funding Review into local government finances has been delayed, and local 

authorities have only received one-year settlements. This results in significant uncertainty over the level of resources that will be made available 

to local authorities beyond 2022-2023.  Despite this, the council is confident in the robustness of its finances. The council has built up a strong 

track record over many years managing its finances will and consistently setting a balance budget. Our approach to strategic financial 

management, aligning budgets to service priorities and improving services, and investing in transformation priorities, continues to put us in a 

strong financial position.  

 

 

 

 

P
age 88



22 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  

Financial position 2021-2022 

The outturn position for the year was an operating surplus of £13.2 million, compared to a budgeted surplus of £13.2 million. This position is net 

of a revaluation adjustment of £15 million included in the income and expenditure statement but not in the HRA balance. £13.2 million of the 

surplus has been set aside by the council as provision for the redemption of debt.  

The operating surplus compared to the budgeted surplus was primarily due to lower than budgeted expenditure on borrowing and investment. 

  

Budget Outturn Variance 

2021-2022 2021-2022 Over/(Under) 

£m £m £m 

Income (97.8) (96.3) 1.5 

Expenditure 68.5 68.1 (0.4) 

Net Cost of Services (29.3) (28.2) 1.1 

Net Cost of Borrowing and Investments 10.8 10.0 (0.8) 

Revenue to Capital transfer 5.3 5.0 (0.3) 

Surplus for the Year (13.2) (13.2) - 

     

Allocation of Surplus for the Year    

Provision for Redemption of Debt (13.2) (13.2) - 

Total - - - 

 

The council is planning to utilise the freedoms and resources resulting from the introduction of self-financing in April 2012 to continue to develop 

new affordable housing in the city, further helped by the abolition of the HRA borrowing cap in October 2018.  

An updated HRA business plan was approved in January 2022. The HRA is expected to have sufficient resources to fund £2.4 billion of capital 

works over the next 30 years, as well as meeting its management and maintenance obligations over the same period. Capital expenditure includes 

an estate remodelling programme and £104.1 million for new build programmes over the next five years.  

P
age 89



23 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

In terms of 2022-2023, the plan includes an average rent increase of 4.1% in line with the requirements of the Rent Standard 2021. The table 

below shows the approved budget for 2022-2023, along with forecasts for the next two years:  

  Budget Forecast Forecast 

  2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 

  £m £m £m 

Income       

Gross Rents – Dwellings (93.1) (96.5) (102.3) 

Gross Rents - Non-Dwellings (0.6) (0.6) (0.6) 

Charges to Tenants for Services and Facilities (6.1) (6.3) (6.6) 

Total Income (99.8) (103.4) (109.5) 

     

Expenditure    

Management and Maintenance 50.9 50.6 51.2 

Depreciation of Long-Term Assets 19.2 20.4 20.9 

Net Financing Costs 13.2 13.8 13.0 

Provision for Bad Debts 2.0 2.1 2.2 

Total Expenditure 85.3 86.9 87.3 

     

Balance (14.5) (16.5) (22.2) 

 

Capital programme  

In March 2022, the council approved the General Fund capital programme totalling £346.1 million for the period of 2021-2022 to 2026-2027.   

 
The capital programme includes significant investment programmes that endeavour to create an environment where new and existing businesses 

thrive, people can develop the skills they need to secure jobs and create neighbourhoods in which people are proud to live. The capital programme 

reflects the priorities of the Strategic Asset Management Plan.  

P
age 90



24 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Capital expenditure is investment in the council's property, plant, equipment, and other long-life assets. It can also include investment in assets 

owned by other people, in certain circumstances. The council has successfully put together a capital programme that includes major projects 

such as Decent Homes Stock Condition Improvements, New Build Programme, City Learning Quarter and i54 Western Extension Project. The 

medium-term capital programme table in the financial position 2021-2022 section below, shows the council's capital programme for the next five 

years, as approved by Full Council. 

Capital programme - financial position 2021-2022 

The capital programme was prepared during COVID-19 and understandably the pandemic has had an impact on the development of capital 

projects. Given the unprecedented circumstances, there have been delays on some capital schemes. In some instances, cost pressures have 

also been identified associated with ‘social distancing’ operating models, materials and how they are sourced. In addition, there is considerable 

uncertainty and risk of inflationary pressures across the capital programme as the cost of materials continue increase.  The council will continue 

to assess the potential implications on the capital programme. 

  

Capital expenditure by the council during 2021-2022 totalled £138.4 million, as set out in the following table. This was £17.0 million under budget 

primarily due to reprofiling of project costs and cost reductions. Many capital projects span multiple financial years and the council’s Cabinet will 

consider a detailed report on the full capital programme, including the outturn for 2021-2022 in July 2022. 

 

Expenditure Approved budget Outturn Variation 

      Over/(Under) 

  £m £m £m 

General Fund       

Regeneration 40.9 39.9 (1.0) 

City Housing and Environment                   27.6                  21.2  (6.4) 

Finance                   13.3                    5.7  (7.6) 

Education and Skills                     8.4                    6.8  (1.6) 

Strategy                     6.2                    5.7  (0.5) 

City Assets                     3.7                    3.0  (0.7) 

Public Health                     0.3                    0.1  (0.2) 

Adult Services                     0.1                     -    (0.1) 

P
age 91



25 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 Children's Services                      -                      0.1                       0.1  

 Governance                      -                       -                          -    

Total General Fund                 100.5                  82.5  (18.0) 

     

Housing Revenue Account 54.9 55.9 1.0 

     

Total Expenditure 155.4 138.4 (17.0) 

 

The medium-term capital programme was approved by Full Council in March 2022, and is summarised below: 

  
2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 TOTAL               

£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Forecast Expenditure 224.1 148.4 120.6 74.6 81.1 648.8 

 

The following table lists some of the main projects in 2022-2023: 

   
    

Project  
Forecast Expenditure 

2022-2023 

    £m 

City Learning Quarter     18.3 

i54 Western Extension     17.3 

Corporate Provision for Future Programmes     13.6 

WV Living Loans     13.0 

Highway Capital Maintenance     11.5 

Primary School Expansion Programme     11.5 

Secondary School Expansion Programme     10.7 

Black Country Growth Deal     6.5 

P
age 92



26 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Future High Street Fund     5.2 

Schools Modernisation, Suitability and Condition     3.8 

Fleet Services     3.6 

Corporate Initiatives     3.0 

ICTS     2.3 

Wolverhampton Interchange Phase 2     2.1 

Growth Hub Grants     1.8 

Highway Improvements & Active Travel     1.7 

Operational Maintenance – other rolling programmes     1.5 

Corporate Asset Management     1.5 

Parks Strategy & Open Spaces     1.2 

Towns Fund City Environment     0.9 

Blue Network Phase 2     0.6 

Sports Investment Strategy     0.4 

City Centre     0.3 

Southside     0.3 

Smart and Accessible City     0.3 

Scrutiny     0.1 

EZ i54 - Access and Infrastructure     0.1 

     133.1 

      

Housing Private Sector     6.3 

       

Housing Revenue Account      

Decent Homes Stock Condition     33.4 

New Build Programme     32.1 

Estate Remodelling     9.7 

Other Stock Condition Improvements     5.9 

P
age 93



27 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Service and Other Improvements to Public Realm     2.4 

Adaptations for People with Disabilities     1.2 

      84.7 

Grand total     224.1 

    

 

The following table shows how the council is planning to fund the projects listed: 

    

  Forecast Expenditure 

    
2022-2023 

£m 

Borrowing     105.2 

Grants and Contributions     74.1 

Capital Receipts     21.5 

Reserve Funds     20.0 

Capital Expenditure Financed from the Revenue Account   3.3 

Total     224.1 

 

  

P
age 94



28 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

SECTION 2 – STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

The Council’s responsibilities 

The council is required to: 

 

• Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the 

administration of those affairs. In this Council, that officer is the Director of Finance. 

 

• Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient, and effective use of resources and safeguard its assets. 

 

• Approve the Statement of Accounts. 

 

 

The Director of Finance’s responsibilities 

The Director of Finance is responsible for the preparation of the council’s Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out 

in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

 

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Director of Finance has: 

 

• Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently. 

 

• Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent. 

 

• Complied with the Code. 

 

 

The Director of Finance has also: 

 

• Kept proper accounting records which were up to date. 

 

• Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

P
age 95



29 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Certification of the Director of Finance  
 
I certify that the above responsibilities have been complied with and the Statement of Accounts herewith presents a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the council as at 31 March 2022 and its income and expenditure for the year ended on the same date.  
 
 
Claire Nye 
Director of Finance  
 
Date: 15.7.22 
 
 
 
 

P
age 96



30 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

SECTION 3 – INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CITY OF WOLVERHAMPTON COUNCIL   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 97



31 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

SECTION 4 – THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (Council)   

2020-2021 

  

  2021-2022 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Gross Income 
Net 

Expenditure 
Note 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Gross 
Income 

Net 
Expenditure 

£m £m £m   £m £m £m 

165.3 (88.2) 77.1 Adult Services   125.7 (43.8) 81.9 

237.1 (169.5) 67.6 Children's Services and Education   233.7 (188.3) 45.4 

40.5 (30.8) 9.7 Public Health & Wellbeing   44.0 (38.3) 5.7 

11.2 (9.0) 2.2 City Assets  6.8 (10.4) (3.6) 

82.8 (31.3) 51.5 City Housing & Environment  82.3 (32.5) 49.8 

27.8 (10.8) 17.0 Regeneration   16.6 (7.9) 8.7 

89.1 (81.4) 7.7 Finance   83.8 (76.6) 7.1 

5.1 (2.2) 2.9 Governance   8.4 (1.6) 6.8 

6.1 (2.4) 3.7 Strategy   11.7 (3.9) 7.7 

11.9 (0.5) 11.4 Communications and External Relations  2.8 (1.7) 1.1 

4.8 (17.5) (12.7) Corporate Budgets   5.8 (18.2) (12.4) 

3.9 (6.3) (2.4) Corporate Resources  4.5 (13.1) (8.5) 

67.7 (96.8) (29.1) Housing Revenue Account   55.4 (99.3) (43.9) 

753.3 (546.7) 206.6 Net Cost of Services   681.5 (535.7) 145.8 

25.2 (12.3) 12.9 Other operating expenditure  3 27.1 (15.3) 11.8 

P
age 98



32 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

54.8 (5.7) 49.1 
Financing and investment income and 
expenditure  

4 47.2 - 47.2 

- (261.5) (261.5) 
Taxation and non-specific grant income and 
expenditure  

5 - (279.4) (279.4) 

833.3 (826.2) 7.1 Deficit/(Surplus) on Provision of Services   755.8 (830.4) (74.6) 

  11.9 
(Gain)/loss on Revaluation of Non-Current 
Assets 

    (60.0) 

  198.5 
Re-measurement of the net defined benefit 
liability 

    (201.2) 

  - 
Surplus or deficit on revaluation of available 
for sale financial assets 

    - 

  
 0.6 

(Surplus) or deficit from investments in equity 
instruments designated at fair value through 
other comprehensive income  

    (0.3) 

  211.0 
Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

    (261.5) 

  218.1 
Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

    (336.1) 

 

* 2020-2021 has been restated to reflect organisational restructure. Note 1A provides the details of the restatement. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 99



33 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (Group) 

 

    

2020-2021 

  

  2021-2022 

Gross Expenditure 
Gross 

Income 
Net 

Expenditure 
Note 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Gross Income 
Net 

Expenditure 

£m £m £m   £m £m £m 

165.3 (88.2) 77.1 Adult Services   125.7 (43.8) 81.9 

237.1 (169.5) 67.6 Children's Services and Education   233.7 (188.3) 45.4 

40.5 (30.8) 9.7 Public Health & Wellbeing   44.0 (38.3) 5.7 

11.2 (9.0) 2.2 City Assets  6.8 (10.4) (3.6) 

82.8 (31.3) 51.5 City Housing & Environment  82.3 (32.5) 49.8 

27.8 (10.8) 17.0 Regeneration   16.6 (7.9) 8.7 

89.1 (81.4) 7.7 Finance   83.8 (76.6) 7.1 

5.1 (2.2) 2.9 Governance   8.4 (1.6) 6.8 

6.1 (2.4) 3.7 Strategy   11.7 (3.9) 7.7 

11.9 (0.5) 11.4 
Communications and External 
Relations 

 2.8 (1.7) 1.1 

4.8 (17.5) (12.7) Corporate Budgets   5.8 (18.2) (12.4) 

3.9 (6.3) (2.4) Corporate Resources  4.5 (13.1) (8.5) 

79.0 (101.8) (22.8) Housing Services   99.6 (140.1) (40.5) 

764.6 (551.7) 212.9 Net Cost of Services   725.7 (576.5) 149.2 

28.5 (12.3) 16.2 Other operating expenditure  3 29.9 (15.3) 14.6 

54.8 (5.7) 49.1 
Financing and investment income 
and expenditure  

4 47.2 - 47.2 

- (261.5) (261.5) 
Taxation and non-specific grant 
income and expenditure  

5 - (279.4) (279.4) 

857.5 (844.4) 16.7 
Deficit/(Surplus) on Provision of 
Services 

  802.8 (871.2) (68.4) 

    11.9 
(Gain)/loss on Revaluation of Non-
Current Assets 

    (60.0) 

P
age 100



34 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

    231.2 
Re-measurement of the net defined 
benefit liability 

    (233.6) 

    0.6 

(Surplus) or deficit from 
investments in equity instruments 
designated at fair value through 
other comprehensive income  

    (0.3) 

    243.7 
Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 

    (293.8) 

    260.4 
Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 

    (362.3) 

 

* 2020-2021 has been restated to reflect organisational restructure. Note 1A provides the details of the restatement. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 101



35 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Balance Sheet (Council and Group) 

    

31 March 2021     31 March 2022 

Council Group   Note Council Group 

£m £m     £m £m 

1,420.4 1,420.4 Property, Plant & Equipment 8 1,579.4 1,584.4 

11.6 11.6 Heritage assets 8 14.3 14.3 

31.7 33.9 Investment Property  8 50.7 50.7 

3.5 3.5 Intangible assets 8 2.3 2.3 

10.2 10.2 Assets held for sale 8 22.2 22.2 

21.8 14.8 Long-Term Investments   27.8 19.8 

1.3 1.3 Long-Term Debtors   1.3 1.3 

- - Long-Term Loans to External Bodies   - - 

1,500.5 1,495.7 Long-term Assets   1,698.0 1,695.0 

        

8.6 8.6 Short-Term Investments   80.1 80.1 

0.6 33.0 Inventories   0.5 5.2 

123.0 94.3 Short-Term Debtors 6A  86.7 83.8 

2.0 8.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents   2.1 9.9 

134.2 144.0 Current Assets   169.4 178.9 

        

(5.3) (5.3) Short-Term Borrowing   (15.5) (15.5) 

(125.4) (121.0) Short-Term Creditors 6C (173.2) (172.6) 

(11.6) (11.6) Provisions 7A (14.7) (14.8) 

(142.3) (137.9) Current Liabilities   (203.4) (202.9) 

        

(725.8) (725.8) Long-Term Borrowing   (715.5) (715.5) 

(842.8) (913.7) Net Pension Liability 9  (694.3) (741.0) 

(90.5) (97.5) Other Long-Term Liabilities   (86.2) (88.8) 

P
age 102



36 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

 

The notes, Housing Revenue Account Statements and Collection Fund Statement on pages 173 to 185 form part of these financial statements. 

 
 
The unaudited accounts were issued on 15 July 2022.  
 
Signed:  
 
 
 
 
 
Claire Nye 
Director of Finance  
 

Date:   

(4.8) (4.8) Grant Receipts in Advance – Capital   (3.4) (3.4) 

(1,663.9) (1,741.8) Long-Term Liabilities   (1,499.4) (1,548.7) 

        

(171.5) (240.0) Net Assets   164.7 122.3 

        

(160.8) (92.3) Usable Reserves 13A (147.0) (104.6) 

332.3 332.3 Unusable Reserves 13A (17.7) (17.7) 

        

171.5 240.0 Total Reserves   (164.7) (122.3) 

P
age 103



37 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Movement in Reserves Statement 2021-2022  

(For a detailed breakdown of the figures in these Statements, see Note 13A) 

Council 

  
General 

Fund 
balance 

General Fund 
Earmarked 
Reserves 

Total 
General 

Fund 
balance 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

Major 
Repairs 
Reserve 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 
Account 

Total Usable 
Reserves 

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves 

TOTAL 
(Council) 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance Brought Forward (13.7) (121.4) (135.1) (7.1) (1.7) (9.6) (7.5) (161.0) 332.4 171.5 

           

Surplus/(Deficit) on Provision of Services (37.8) - (37.8) (36.9) - - - (74.7) - (74.7) 

            

Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

- - - - - - - - (261.4) (261.4) 

            

Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

(37.8) - (37.8) (36.9) - - - (74.7) (261.4) (336.1) 

            

Net Decrease/(Increase) before Transfers 
& other Movements 

(37.8) - (37.8) (36.9) - - - (74.7) (261.4) (336.1) 

            

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & 
Funding Basis under Regulations 

47.0 - 47.0 36.9 (0.4) (1.2) 6.2 88.6 (88.6) - 

            

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves (9.2) 9.2 - - - - - - - - 

            

(Increase)/decrease for the Year - 9.2 9.2 - (0.4) (1.2) 6.2 13.8 (350.0) (336.1) 

            

Balance Carried Forward (13.7) (112.2) (125.8) (7.1) (2.1) (10.8) (1.3) (147.2) (17.6) (164.7) 

 

 

P
age 104



38 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Group 

  
General 

Fund 
balance 

General 
Fund 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

Total 
General 

Fund 
balance 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

Major 
Repairs 
Reserve 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 
Account 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves 

TOTAL 
(Council) 

Reserves 
of the 

Subsidiary 

TOTAL 
(Group) 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance Brought Forward (13.7) (121.4) (135.1) (7.1) (1.7) (9.6) (7.5) (161.0) 332.4 171.4 68.7 240.1 

             

Surplus/(Deficit) on Provision of 
Services 

22.5 - 22.5 (36.9) - - - (14.4) - (14.4) (54.1) (68.5) 

              

Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

- - - - - - - - (261.4) (261.4) (32.4) (293.8) 

              

Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

22.5 - 22.5 (36.9) - - - (14.4) (261.4) (275.8) (86.5) (362.3) 

              

Net Decrease/(Increase) before 
Transfers & other Movements 

22.5 - 22.5 (36.9) - - - (14.4) (261.4) (275.8) (86.5) (362.3) 

              

Adjustments between Group 
Accounts & Authority Accounts 

(60.3) - (60.3) - - - - (60.3) - (60.3) 60.3 - 

             

Adjustments between Accounting 
Basis & Funding Basis under 
Regulations 

47.0 - 47.0 36.9 (0.4) (1.2) 6.2 88.6 (88.6) - - - 

              

Transfers to/from Earmarked 
Reserves 

(9.2) 9.2 - - - - - - - - - - 

              

(Increase)/decrease for the Year - 9.2 9.2 - (0.4) (1.2) 6.2 14.0 (350.0) (336.0) (26.2) (362.3) 

              

Balance Carried Forward (13.7) (112.2) (125.9) (7.1) (2.1) (10.8) (1.3) (147.0) (17.6) (164.6) 42.5 (122.2) 

 

 

P
age 105



39 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Movement in Reserves Statement 2020-2021  

(For a detailed breakdown of the figures in these Statements, see Note 13A) 

Council 

  
General 

Fund 
balance 

General Fund 
Earmarked 
Reserves 

Total 
General 

Fund 
balance 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

Major 
Repairs 
Reserve 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 
Account 

Total Usable 
Reserves 

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves 

TOTAL 
(Council) 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance Brought Forward (13.0) (64.6) (77.6) (7.1) (1.2) (10.3) (5.2) (101.4) 54.8 (46.6) 

           

Surplus/(Deficit) on Provision of Services 28.3 - 28.3 (21.2) - - - 7.1 - 7.1 

            

Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

- - - - - - - - 211.0 211.0 

            

Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

28.3 - 28.3 (21.2) - - - 7.1 211.0 218.1 

            

Net Decrease/(Increase) before Transfers 
& other Movements 

28.3 - 28.3 (21.2) - - - 7.1 211.0 218.1 

            

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & 
Funding Basis under Regulations 

(85.7) - (85.7) 21.2 (0.5) 0.7 (2.3) (66.6) 66.6 - 

            

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 56.8 (56.8) (0.0) - - - - (0.0) - (0.0) 

            

(Increase)/decrease for the Year (0.6) (56.8) (57.5) - (0.5) 0.7 (2.3) (59.6) 277.6 218.1 

            

Balance Carried Forward (13.7) (121.4) (135.1) (7.1) (1.7) (9.6) (7.5) (161.0) 332.4 171.5 

 

 

P
age 106



40 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Group 

  
General 

Fund 
balance 

General 
Fund 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

Total 
General 

Fund 
balance 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

Major 
Repairs 
Reserve 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 
Account 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves 

TOTAL 
(Council) 

Reserves 
of the 

Subsidiary 

TOTAL 
(Group) 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance Brought Forward (13.0) (64.6) (77.6) (7.1) (1.2) (10.3) (5.2) (101.4) 54.8 (46.6) 26.6 (20.0) 

             

Surplus/(Deficit) on Provision of 
Services 

91.9 - 91.9 (21.2) - - - 70.7 - 70.7 (54.2) 16.5 

              

Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

- - - - - - - - 211.0 211.0 32.7 243.7 

              

Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

91.9 - 91.9 (21.2) - - - 70.7 211.0 281.7 (21.5) 260.2 

              

Net Decrease/(Increase) before 
Transfers & other Movements 

91.9 - 91.9 (21.2) - - - 70.7 211.0 281.7 (21.5) 260.2 

              

Adjustments between Group 
Accounts & Authority Accounts 

(63.6) - (63.6) - - - - (63.6) - (63.6) 63.6 - 

             

Adjustments between Accounting 
Basis & Funding Basis under 
Regulations 

(85.7) - (85.7) 21.2 (0.5) 0.7 (2.3) (66.6) 66.6 - - - 

              

Transfers to/from Earmarked 
Reserves 

56.8 (56.8) (0.0) - - - - (0.0) - (0.0) - (0.0) 

              

(Increase)/decrease for the Year (0.7) (56.8) (57.5) - (0.5) 0.7 (2.3) (59.6) 277.6 218.0 42.1 260.1 

              

Balance Carried Forward (13.7) (121.4) (135.1) (7.1) (1.7) (9.6) (7.5) (161.0) 332.4 171.4 68.7 240.1 

 

 

P
age 107



41 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Cash Flow Statement (Council and Group)  

    

2020-2021     2021-2022 

Council Group   Note Council Group 

£m £m     £m £m 

    Operating Activities       

7.1 16.7 Net deficit on the provision of services   (74.7) (68.5) 

(96.5) (97.8) Adjustment for non-cash movements 14A (126.8) (134.7) 

36.8 36.8 Adjustment for items that are investing and financing activities 14B 69.6 69.6 

(52.6) (44.3) Net cash flows from operating activities 14C (131.9) (133.6) 

  Investing Activities     

87.1 89.5 Purchase of Property, plant and equipment, investment property and Intangible assets   118.5 118.5 

597.7 590.7 Purchase of short-term and long-term investments   516.8 516.8 

(12.3) (12.4) 
Proceeds from the sale of Property, plant, and equipment, Investment property and Intangible 
assets 

  (15.3) (15.3) 

(612.5) (612.5) Receipts from sale of short-term and long-term investments   (439.6) (439.6) 

0.2 0.2 Other receipts from investing activities   1.4 1.4 

(24.5) (24.6) Capital grants received   (54.3) (54.3) 

35.7 30.7 Net cash flows from investing activities   127.5 127.5 

  Financing Activities     

4.6 4.6 
Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding liability relating to finance leases and on-
balance sheet PFI contracts 

  4.3 4.3 

12.5 12.5 Repayments of short-and long-term borrowing   - - 

17.1 17.1 Net cash flows from total financing activities   4.3 4.3 

        

(0.1) 3.2 Net (increase) or decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (0.1) (1.8) 

  Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Start of the Year     

0.7 0.7 Cash held by the council   0.6 0.6 

1.2 10.6 Bank current accounts   1.4 7.5 

1.9 11.3     2.0 8.1 

P
age 108



42 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

  Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year     

0.6 0.6 Cash held by the council   0.6 0.6 

1.4 7.5 Bank current accounts   1.5 9.3 

2.0 8.1     2.1 9.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 109



43 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 1A Prior period restatement of service expenditure and income 2020-2021 

In 2021-2022 a senior management internal restructure resulted in a number of services being reclassified. The CIES and accompanying 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis notes have been restated for comparability. The table below shows the amounts of the reclassifications: 

Net Expenditure 

A
s
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

C
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 

In
c

o
m

e
 &

 

E
x

p
e

n
d

it
u

re
 

S
ta

te
m

e
n

t 
2

0
2
0

-2
0
2

1
 

A
d

u
lt

s
 

C
h

il
d

re
n

’
s

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

 

a
n

d
 E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 

C
it

y
 A

s
s

e
ts

 &
 

H
o

u
s

in
g

 

P
u

b
li

c
 H

e
a

lt
h

 &
 

W
e

ll
b

e
in

g
 

C
it

y
 E

n
v

ir
o

n
m

e
n

t 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 B
u

d
g

e
ts

 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

D
e
p

u
ty

 C
h

ie
f 

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e
 

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s

 &
 

E
x

te
rn

a
l 

R
e
la

ti
o

n
s
 

C
it

y
 A

s
s

e
ts

 

C
it

y
 H

o
u

s
in

g
 &

 

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t 

C
h

ie
f 

E
x

e
c
u

ti
v

e
 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Closing balances  77.4 67.3 9.6 1.1 49.9 (13.1) 1.6 2.3 31.3 (0.1) - - 0.2 

Adult Services 77.4 (0.3) 0.3            

Children's Services and Education 67.3     
 

        

Public Health & Wellbeing 1.1               

City Environment 49.9     (49.9)  0.2   0.7  49.0  

City Assets & Housing 9.6   (9.6) 5.0       2.2 2.4  

Regeneration 31.3     3.7     (14.3) 10.6  
 

 

Finance 7.7               

Governance 2.9               

Strategy 1.6              

Chief Executive 0.2       0.2       (0.2) 

Communications and External 

Relations 
(0.1) 

             

Deputy Chief Executive 2.3      0.4 1.9 (2.3)      

Corporate Accounts (13.1)              

Corporate Resources (2.4)              

Housing Revenue Account (29.1)              

Net Expenditure 2020-2021 as 

Restated in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure 

Statement 2021-2022 

206.6 77.1 67.6 - 9.8 - (12.5) 3.7 - 17.0 11.2 2.2 51.4 

 

 

- 

 

 

P
age 110



44 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 1B - Expenditure and funding analysis 

2021-2022  

Net 
Expenditure 
Reported to 

Cabinet 

Adjustment to 
arrive at the Net 

Amount 
Chargeable to 

the General 
Fund and HRA 

balances 

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 
Fund and 

HRA 
balances 

Adjustments 
between the 
Funding and 
Accounting 

Basis 

Net Expenditure 
in the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 

Adult Services 71.6 7.1 78.7 3.2 81.9 

Children's Services and 
Education 

49.5 
7.2 56.7 

(11.3) 45.4 

Public Health & Wellbeing 5.2 1.2 6.4 (0.7) 5.7 

City Assets 9.9 (9.0) 0.9 (4.5) (3.6) 

Regeneration 3.7 0.5 4.2 4.5 8.7 

Finance 13.8 (8.2) 5.6 1.5 7.1 

Governance 11.3 (6.1) 5.2 1.6 6.8 

Strategy 10.1 (10.3) (0.1) 7.8 7.7 

City Housing and 
Environment  

28.5 
7.3 35.8 

14.0 49.8 

Communications & 
External Relations 

2.4 
0.9 3.3 

(2.1) 1.1 

Corporate Budgets  50.7 (4.2) 46.5 (59.0) (12.5) 

Corporate Resources (258.7)* 250.0 (8.5) - (8.5) 

Housing Revenue Account - (6.3) (6.3) (37.6) (43.9) 

Net Cost of Services (2.0) 230.4 228.3 (82.7) 145.8 

Other Income and 
Expenditure 

- 
(220.7) (220.7) 

- (220.7) 

Surplus or Deficit (2.0) 9.8 7.6 (82.7) (74.8) 

* The actual figure reported to Cabinet for Corporate Resources was £258.9 million. The figure above reflects a final year end 
adjustment of £0.2 million following the completion of the NNDR 3 return. 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

  

P
age 111



45 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Opening General Fund and HRA 
balance 

142.2 

Surplus/deficit for the year (9.8)    

Closing General Fund and HRA 
balance 

132.4 
 

  

 

 

2020-2021  

Net 
Expenditure 
Reported to 

Cabinet 

Adjustment to 
arrive at the Net 

Amount 
Chargeable to 

the General 
Fund and HRA 

balances 

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 
Fund and 

HRA 
balances 

Adjustments 
between the 
Funding and 
Accounting 

Basis 

Net Expenditure 
in the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 

Adult Services 68.9 7.6 76.5 0.6 77.1 

Children's Services and 
Education 

50.5 
11.8 62.3 

5.3 67.6 

Public Health & Wellbeing 4.0 
0.5 4.5 5.2 

 
9.7 

City Housing & 
Environment 

25.8 
9.8 35.6 

15.8 51.4 

City Assets  8.0 (10.0) (2.0) 4.2 2.2 

Regeneration 3.5 1.5 5.0 12.0 17.0 

Finance 13.5 (5.8) 7.7 - 7.7 

Governance 9.3 (6.4) 2.9 - 2.9 

Strategy 8.8 (9.7) (0.9) 4.6 3.7 

Communications & 
External Relations 

2.4 
0.4 2.8 

8.4 11.2 

Corporate Accounts 53.5 (51.2) 2.5 (15.0) (12.5) 

Corporate Resources (247.9) 201.1 (46.8) 44.3 (2.4) 

Housing Revenue Account - (7.9) (7.9) (21.2) (29.1) 

Net Cost of Services - 142.2 142.3 64.4 206.7 

P
age 112



46 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Other Income and 
Expenditure 

- 
(199.5) (199.5) 

- (199.5) 

Surplus or Deficit - (57.3) (57.2) 64.4 7.2 

      

Opening General Fund and HRA 
balance 

84.7 
 

  

Surplus/deficit for the year 57.9    

Closing General Fund and HRA 
balance 

142.2 
 

  

          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 113



47 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 1C – Note to the expenditure and funding analysis 2021-2022 

 

 

2021-2022 

N
e
t 
C

h
a
n
g

e
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
s
 A

d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 

 

A
d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 
fo

r 
C

a
p

it
a

l 

P
u
rp

o
s
e
s
 

O
th

e
r 

O
p
e
ra

ti
n

g
 

E
x
p
e
n

d
it
u
re

 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 

T
a
x
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d
 n

o
n

- 

s
p
e
c
if
ic

 g
ra

n
t 

in
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 

e
x
p
e
n
d

it
u
re

 

F
in

a
n
c
in

g
 a

n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

in
c
o
m

e
 

O
th

e
r 

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e
s
 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

t 
to

 a
rr

iv
e

 a
t 

th
e
 N

e
t 

A
m

o
u

n
t 

C
h

a
rg

e
a
b

le
 t

o
 t

h
e
 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 a

n
d

 H
R

A
 

b
a
la

n
c
e

s
 

F
in

a
n
c
in

g
 a

n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

in
c
o
m

e
 

A
d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 
fo

r 
C

a
p

it
a

l 

P
u
rp

o
s
e
s
  

O
th

e
r 

O
p
e
ra

ti
n

g
 

E
x
p
e
n

d
it
u
re

 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 

T
a
x
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d
 n

o
n

-s
p
e
c
if
ic

 

g
ra

n
t 

in
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 

e
x
p
e
n
d

it
u
re

 

N
e
t 
C

h
a
n
g

e
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
s
 A

d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 

 

T
o

ta
l 
A

d
ju

s
tm

e
n

ts
 

B
e
tw

e
e
n

 F
u

n
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 

A
c
c
o

u
n

ti
n

g
 B

a
s

is
 

Adult Services 0.1 - - (0.9) 0.4 - 7.5 7.1 - 0.8 - - - 2.4 3.2 

Children's 
Services and 
Education 

0.1 1.3 (0.4) (3.6) (0.5) - 10.3 7.2 - (25.8) 0.4 
- 
 - 14.1 (11.3) 

Public Health & 
Wellbeing 

- - - (3.9) 0.7 - 4.4 1.2 - (1.5) - - - 
0.9 

 
(0.7) 

Communications 
& External 
Relations 

- - - - - - 0.9 0.9 - (2.4) - - - 0.3 (2.1) 

Regeneration - (1.9) - 0.4 0.3 - 1.7 0.5 - 3.4 - - - 1.1 4.5 

Finance - - - (1.8) (0.1) - (6.4) (8.2) - - - - - 1.6 1.6 

City Assets - 5.2 (3.9) (0.1)  (0.1) (10.2) (9.0) - (9.6) 3.9 - - 1.3 (4.5) 

Governance -  - 0.3 - - (6.4) (6.1) - - - - - 1.6 1.6 

Strategy - - - - 0.1 - (10.4) (10.3) - 6.6 - - -  1.2 7.8 

City Housing & 
Environment 

- - (0.1) (0.8) - -  8.1 7.3 - 10.7 0.1   3.3 14.0 

Corporate 
Budgets 

5.8 0.8 (10.9) (29.0) 58.7 (16.6) (13.1) (4.2) (1.6) (0.8) (1.7) (46.1) (23.0) 14.2 (59.0) 

P
age 114



48 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Corporate 
Resources 

- - - 16.4 233.6 - - 250.0 - - - - - - - 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

- (12.6) (10.2) 13.2 0.7 - 2.7 (6.3) - (21.9) (1.2) (13.2) (1.4)  (37.6) 

Net Cost of 
Services 

6.0 (7.2) (25.5) (9.8) 293.9 (16.7) (10.9) 230.4 (1.6) (40.3) 1.5 (59.3) (24.4) 42.0 (82.7) 

Other Income 
and 
Expenditure 

- - 11.8 - (279.4) 47.2 - (220.6) - - - - - - - 

Surplus or 
Deficit 

6.0 (7.2) (13.7) (9.8) 14.5 30.5 (10.9) 9.8 (1.6) (40.3) 1.5 (59.3) (24.4) 42.0 (82.7) 

 

 

 

 

2020-2021 

N
e
t 
C

h
a
n
g

e
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
s
 A

d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 

 

A
d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 
fo

r 
C

a
p

it
a

l 

P
u
rp

o
s
e
s
 

O
th

e
r 

O
p
e
ra

ti
n

g
 

E
x
p
e
n

d
it
u
re

 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 

T
a
x
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d
 n

o
n

- 

s
p
e
c
if
ic

 g
ra

n
t 

in
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 

e
x
p
e
n
d

it
u
re

 

F
in

a
n
c
in

g
 a

n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

in
c
o
m

e
 

O
th

e
r 

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e
s
 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

t 
to

 a
rr

iv
e

 a
t 

th
e
 N

e
t 

A
m

o
u

n
t 

C
h

a
rg

e
a
b

le
 t

o
 t

h
e
 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 a

n
d

 H
R

A
 

b
a
la

n
c
e

s
 

F
in

a
n
c
in

g
 a

n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

in
c
o
m

e
 

A
d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 
fo

r 
C

a
p

it
a

l 

P
u
rp

o
s
e
s
  

O
th

e
r 

O
p
e
ra

ti
n

g
 

E
x
p
e
n

d
it
u
re

 

T
a
x
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d
 n

o
n

-s
p
e
c
if
ic

 

g
ra

n
t 

in
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 

e
x
p
e
n
d

it
u
re

 

N
e
t 
C

h
a
n
g

e
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
s
 A

d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 

 

O
th

e
r 

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e
s
  

T
o

ta
l 
A

d
ju

s
tm

e
n

ts
 

B
e
tw

e
e
n

 F
u

n
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 

A
c
c
o

u
n

ti
n

g
 B

a
s

is
 

Adult Services 1.5 - - (0.9) - - 6.9 7.6 - 0.5 - - - 0.1 0.6 

Children's 
Services and 
Education 

9.0 - 0.3 (7.6) - - 10.1 11.8 - 5.3 - - - - 5.3 

Public Health & 
Wellbeing 

0.5 - - (3.5) - - 3.6 0.6 - 5.2 - - -  5.2 

P
age 115



49 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Communications 
& External 
Relations 

0.2 - -  - - 0.4 0.5 - 8.4 - - - - 8.4 

City Housing & 
Environment 

2.1 (0.2) (0.3) 0.2   7.9 9.7 - 11.6 0.3 - - - 11.9 

City Assets 0.7  (1.5) (0.2)   (9.1) (10.1) - 6.4 1.5 - - - 7.9 

Regeneration 0.6 - - (0.7) - - 1.6 1.5 - 12.0 - - - - 12.0 

Finance 1.0 - - (0.6) - - (6.1) (5.8) - - - - - - - 

Governance 0.9 - - (1.1) - - (6.2) (6.4) - - - - - - - 

Strategy 0.7 - -  - - (10.3) (9.6) - 4.6 - - - - 4.6 

Chief Executive - - -  - -  - - - - - - - - 

Corporate 
Accounts 

- - (8.3) (6.2) 23.2 (16.1) (43.8) (51.2) (1.5) 2.6 
(2.0) 

 
(23.2) 31.2 (22.0) (15.0) 

Corporate 
Resources 

- - - (34.6) 237.2  
(1.5) 

 
201.1 - -  44.3 - - 44.3 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

- - 1.1  1.0 (10.1) - (7.9) - (0.9) (1.1) (1.0) - (18.1) (21.2) 

Net Cost of 
Services 

17.2 (0.2) (8.7) (55.2) 261.4 (26.2) (46.4) 141.9 (1.5) 55.8 (1.3) 20.1 31.2 (40.0) 64.4 

Other Income 
and 
Expenditure 

- - 9.3 - (260.9) 52.1 - (199.5) - - - - - - - 

Surplus or 
Deficit 

17.2 (0.2) 0.6 (55.2) 0.5 25.9 (46.4) (57.6) (1.5) 55.8 (1.3) 20.1 31.2 (40.0) 64.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 116



50 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 1D Expenditure and income analysed by nature  

The table below discloses information on the nature of the council’s income and expenditure: 

 

2020-2021 
  

2021-2022 

£m £m 

  Expenditure   

248.2 Employee benefits expenses* 244.9 

465.5 Other service expenses 390.0 

44.8 
Depreciation, amortisation, and 
impairment 

42.9 

12.6 Loss on disposal of non-current assets 14.5 

52.3 Interest payments 53.1 

10.4 Levies 10.4 

833.8   755.8 

    

 Income  

(250.7) 
Fees and charges and other service 
income 

(236.7) 

(138.9) 
Income from council tax and business 
rates 

(170.6) 

(422.7) Government grants and contributions (406.3) 

(12.3) Gain on disposal of non-current assets (15.3) 

(2.2) Interest and investment income (1.5) 

(826.8)   (830.4) 

7.0 
(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of 
Services 

(74.6) 

 

* Employee benefits expenses include direct and indirect employee costs, including employer pensions costs. 

 

P
age 117



51 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 1E Income from contracts with service recipients 

Included within the council’s income from fees and charges of £171.9 million are the following amounts derived from contracts with service 

recipients: 

Category of Income £m 

Housing 6.4 

Car Parks 1.7 

Rents 92.9 

Property Income 5.3 

Cleaning 1.9 

Care 19.6 

Catering 1.9 

Vehicles Hire 0.8 

Cemeteries & Crematoriums 3.6 

Leisure 0.6 

Refuse Collection & Disposal 1.8 

Transport 0.4 

Licensing 4.6 

Other 30.4 

Total Income from Contracts with Service Recipients 171.9 

 

The council does not receive any revenue income from service recipients in respect of constructing, manufacturing or developing an asset on 

behalf of a service recipient. These elements are, therefore, excluded from the detail in this note. 

Services above are either fulfilled when the payment is made (e.g., car parks) or are billed in advance (e.g., trade waste). Where this is not the 

case, income is accrued at year end, so all performance obligations are reflected in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 118



52 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 2 Income and expenditure  

2A Acquired and discontinued operations  

The council has not discontinued any operations during the year under review.  

 

2B Trading operations  

Trading operations are incorporated into the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Some are an integral part of one of the council’s 

services to the public, whilst others are support services to the council’s services to the public (e.g., Schools and Welfare Catering). The 

expenditure of these operations is allocated or recharged to headings within the Net Cost of Services. Expenditure and income attributable to the 

external element of trading operations are disclosed on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

2020-2021 

Trading Operation 

2021-2022 

Turnover 
Deficit/ 
(Surplus) 

Turnover Deficit/ (Surplus) 

£m £m £m £m 

(1.0) 2.0 Markets (2.0) 1.0 

(5.8) 0.2 Cleaning of Buildings (5.9) 0.8 

(2.9) 0.4 Schools and Welfare Catering (3.8) 0.8 

(0.2) 0.1 Civic Centre and Other Catering (0.1) 0.2 

(9.9)  2.7 Total (11.8) 2.8 

 

In 2020-2021 and 2021-2022, the COVID-19 pandemic impacted on the financial position of the traded operations, and as a result the council 

received COVID-19 grant to compensate for the financial impact. This grant is not reflected in the table above. 

  

P
age 119



53 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2C Pooled budgets  

The council takes part in two pooled budget schemes with Black Country & West Birmingham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), (previously 

Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group). The first scheme relates to the integrated service for Child Placements with External Agencies 

for children with social care, education, and health needs. The scheme is administered by the council who incur the expenditure and then receive 

a contribution from CCG according to a funding formula. Contributions are summarised in the following table.  

 

2020-2021 

Scheme 

2021-2022 

Council 
Contribution 

CCG 
Contribution 

Total 
Expenditure 

Council 
Contribution 

CCG 
Contribution 

Total 
Expenditure 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 

3.3 1.6 4.9 Child Placements with External Agencies 2.8 1.4 4.2 

 

The second scheme relates to a pooled budget arrangement with Black Country & West Birmingham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). This 

is a section 75 (NHS Act 2006) partnership agreement relating to the commissioning of health and social care services under the Better Care 

Fund (BCF). The BCF has been established by the government and it is a requirement of the Fund that the CCG and the council establish a 

pooled fund for this purpose. The BCF is made up of CCG funding as well as local government grants, including the Improved Better Care Fund 

(IBCF), which was first announced in the 2015 Spending Review and is a direct grant which must be pooled into the local BCF plan. Revenue 

grants received through the Better Care Fund and Improved Better Care Fund are included within the council’s CIES.  

The Host Partner is the City of Wolverhampton Council. The partners’ contribution to the Fund is outlined below and the share of any over/(under) 

spend is originally allocated according to the Section 75 agreement: 

 

2020-2021 Better Care Fund 2021-2022 

£m   £m 

  Expenditure    

55.7 Adult Community Services 59.7 

3.8 Dementia 3.9 

16.6 Mental Health & CAMHS 16.9 

76.1 Total Expenditure 80.5 

P
age 120



54 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

    

 Gross Funding  

45.5 Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group 49.1 

30.4 City of Wolverhampton Council 32.1 

75.9 Total Funding 81.2 

 

2020-2021 Better Care Fund 2021-2022 

£m   £m 

0.2 Net Over Spend (0.7) 

    

 Allocation of Over/(Under) Spend  

0.1 Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group 0.5 

0.1 City of Wolverhampton Council (1.2) 

0.2 Total Allocation (0.7) 

 

  

2D Councillors’ allowances and expenses  

The council paid £956,000 in councillors’ allowances during 2021-2022 (2020-2021: £922,000).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 121



55 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2E Senior officers’ remuneration  

The following table sets out remuneration disclosures for senior officers (with reference to notes where applicable): 

Post Title 
  

Salary, Fees 
and 

Allowances 

Contractor 
Costs 

Expenses 
Allowances 

Exit Package 
Employers' 

Pension 
Contribution 

TOTAL 
REMUNERATION 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) 1 Tim 
Johnson 2021-2022 168,270 -  -  -  -  168,270  

  2020-2021 163,170 -  -  -  -  163,170  

Deputy Chief Executive  2021-2022 146,087 -  -  -  35,066 181,153 

  2020-2021 142,093 -  -  -  34,203 176,296 

Executive Director of Pensions 2 2021-2022 142,257  -  -  -  37,214 179,471 

  2020-2021 136,746  -  -  -  35,609 172,355 

Executive Director of Families 3 2021-2022 84,127  -  -  -  22,008 106,135 

 2020-2021 -  -  -  -  - - 

Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) 4 2021-2022 120,370 -  -  -  31,489  151,859  

  2020-2021 115,018 -  -  -  29,951  144,969  

Director of Children’s and Adult Services 5 2021-2022 41,095  -  -  -  10,751 51,846 

Director of Children’s Services 2020-2021 120,017  -  -  -  31,252 151,269 

Director of Adult Services 6 2021-2022 10,732  -  -  -  2,808 13,540 

  2020-2021 74,996  -  -  -  19,984 94,980  

Director of Strategy  2021-2022 109,429 -  -  -  28,258 137,687 

  2020-2021 103,375  -  -  -  26,919 130,294  

Director of Public Health  2021-2022 120,368 -  -  -  30,300 150,668 

  2020-2021 118,575 -  -  -  30,877 149,452 

Director of City Housing and Environment – 
Interim 7 2020-2021 117,579  -  -  -  30,904 148,483  

  2020-2021 111,407  -  -  -  29,010  140,417  

Director of Regeneration 2021-2022 120,370  -  -  -  29,829  150,199  

  2020-2021 115,018  -  -  -  29,262  144,280  

P
age 122



56 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Director of Communications and Visitor 
Experience 2021-2022 109,429  -  -  -  28,627  138,056  

  2020-2021 103,904  -  -  -  27,057  130,961  

Chief Operating Officer (Monitoring Officer) 8  
2021-2022 84,127  -  -  -  21,072  105,199  

  2020-2021 -  -  -  -  -  128,147  

Director of Governance 9 2021-2022 37,360 -  -  -  9,306 46,666  

  2020-2021 101,949  -  -  -  26,198  128,147 

Director of Black Country Transport 10 2021-2022 116,760 -  -  -  30,723 147,483  

  2020-2021 111,407  -  -  -  29,180 140,587  

Deputy Director of Children’s Social Care 11 
 2021-2022 91,406  -  -  -  23,912 115,318 

  2020-2021 85,114  -  -  -  22,164  107,278  

 
Deputy Director of Education 12  

2021-2022 
2020-2021 

87,620 
14,385  

-  
- 

- 
-  

- 
-  

22,922 
3,746 

110,542 
18,131  

Deputy Director of Adult Services (Interim) 13 2021-2022 80,958  -  -  -  21,179 102,137  

 2020-2021 28,771  -  -  -  7,492  36,263  

Deputy Director of Assets - Interim 14 2021-2022 21,903  -  -  -  5,862 27,765  

 2020-2021 -  -  -  -  -  -  
       

Deputy Director of People and Change 15  2021-2022 91,406  -  -  -  23,912  115,398  

  2020-2021 43,156 -  -  -  11,238  54,394 

Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 Officer) 
 

2021-2022 
2020-2021 

78,897 
75,176 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

20,639 
19,576 

99,536 
94,752 

Head of Legal Services (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 16 
 

2021-2022 
2020-2021 

75,233 
67,135 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

18,013 
17,619 

93,246 
84,754 

Assistant Director of Investment Strategy 2 & 17 2021-2022 105,478  -  -  -  27,593 133,071  

 2020-2021 57,420  -  -  -  14,952  72,373  

Assistant Director of Pensions 2 & 18  2021-2022 91,406  -  -  -  22,261  113,667  

  2020-2021 57,542 -  -  -  14,984  72,526 

Assistant Director of Investment Management & 
Stewardship 2 & 19 
 

2021-2022 
2020-2021 

31,964 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

8,362 
- 

40,326 
- 

P
age 123



57 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Head of Finance (WMPF, Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 2 & 20 
 

2021-2022 
2020-2021 

58,758 
35,047 

19,756 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

14,251 
9,126 

92,765 
44,174 

 
 
The annual salary reported is reduced due to employee’s receiving a monthly deduction for mandatory unpaid leave.  
 

The City of Wolverhampton Council’s Mandatory Unpaid Leave (MUL) scheme was introduced on the 1 April 2019. Under the scheme, all 

employees including senior managers are required to take three days unpaid leave per year (this is pro-rata for part time employees) that fall 

between Christmas and New Year. Payment for the three days (pro-rata for the part time employees) is deducted from an employee’s salary in 
12 equal amounts, one each month.  
 
 
Note 1: Between April 2021 and March 2022 pay costs of £7,340, included in the table against the Chief Executive, were funded by West Midlands 

Pension Fund, and not from the City of Wolverhampton Council General Fund. This is for the Chief Executive's work as Chief Executive of the 

West Midlands Pension Fund.  

Note 2: The pay costs of these officers were fully funded by West Midlands Pension Fund, and not by the City of Wolverhampton Council.  

Note 3: Following a service review, the post of Executive Director of Families was created on 4 August 2021. The current post holder, with an 

annualised salary of £127,719 for 2021-2022, was appointed on 4 August 2021.  

Note 4: Between April 2020 and March 2021 pay costs of £6,450, included in the table against the Director of Finance, were funded by West 

Midlands Pension Fund, and not from the City of Wolverhampton Council General Fund.  

Note 5: Following a service review, the post of Director of Children's and Adult Services was deleted on 3 August 2021 and had an annualised 

salary of £120,353 for 2021-2022. During 2020-2021, the post holder of the Director of Children's Services picked up senior leadership 

responsibility for Adult Services on a temporary basis from 1 November 2020 whilst the council reviewed existing structures.  

Note 6: Following a service review, the post holder of the Director of Adult Services took up post on 21 February 2022 and had an annual salary 

of £99,912 for 2021-2022. The post of Director of Adult Services had become vacant on 23 November 2020 and £1,748 relates to pay in lieu of 

leave that was reclaimed and had an annualised salary of £120,017 for 2020-2021.  

Note 7: Following a service review, the post of Director of City Housing was deleted and was assimilated with the Director of City Environment 

post during 2021-2022 to the post Director of City Housing and Environment. During 2021-2022 the post of Director of City Housing and 

Environment was held by two post holders. The current post holder holds the post on an interim basis and had an annual salary of £99,912 for 

2021-2022.  

P
age 124



58 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 8: Following a service review, the post of Chief Operating Officer was created on 4 August 2021. The current post holder, with an annualised 

salary of £127,719 for 2021-2022, was appointed on 4 August 2021. 

Note 9: Following a service review, the post of Director of Governance was deleted on 3 August 2021 and had an annualised salary of £109,413 

for 2021-2022.  

Note10: The Director of Black Country Transport post holder is required to report directly to the Chief Executive.  

Note 11: The post holder of Deputy Director of Children's Social Care took up post on 6 April 2020 and had an annual salary of £86,313 for 2020-

2021.  

Note 12: The post holder of Deputy Director of Education took up post on 1 February 2021 and had an annual salary of £86,313 for 2020-2021.  

Note 13: Following a service review, the post of Deputy Director of Adult Services was deleted on 20 February 2022 and had an annualised 

salary of £91,393 for 2021-2022. The post holder of Deputy Director of Adult Services took up post on 1 December 2020 and had an annual 

salary of £86,313 for 2020-2021.  

Note 14: Following a service review, the post of Deputy Director of Assets was created on 1 January 2022. The current post holder, with an 

annualised salary of £87,608 for 2021-2022, was appointed on 1 January 2022.  

Note 15: The post holder of Deputy Director of People and Change took up post on 1 October 2020 and had an annual salary of £86,313 for 

2020-2021. 

Note 16: £6,911 relates to pay in lieu of leave for the Head of Legal Services for 2021-2022.  

Note 17: Following a restructure at the WMPF, the Assistant Director of Investment Strategy post was created on 1 September 2020. The current 

post holder, with an annualised salary of £98,435 for 2020-2021, was appointed on 1 September 2020.  

Note 18: Following a restructure at the WMPF, the Assistant Director of Pensions post was redesignated from the Head of Pensions post and 

the Head of Pensions post holder was assimilated into the role of Assistant Director of Pensions with effect from 1 August 2020 and had an 

annualised salary of £86,313 for 2020-2021.  

Note 19: Following a restructure at the WMPF, the Assistant Director of Investment Management and Stewardship was created on 6 December 

2021. The current post holder, with an annualised salary of £99,912 for 2021-2022, was appointed on 6 December 2021.  

Note 20: The Head of Finance (WMPF) was held by two individuals during 2021-2022. The current post holder was appointed on 28 February 

2022 and was held on an interim basis. The costs shown are the full fees paid to the interim management agency and not the payment to the 

post holder. The previous post holder, with an annualised salary of £71,146 for 2021- 2022, held the post until 31 December 2021; of the salary, 

P
age 125



59 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

£4,280 relates to pay in lieu of leave. Following a restructure at the WMPF in 2020-2021, the Head of Finance posts was created on 1 October 
2020 and assumed the role of Deputy Section 151 Officer. The post holder, during 2020-2021 had an annualised salary of £70,095 and was 

appointed on 1 October 2020.    
 
The following table shows the number of other employees, excluding Senior Officers, whose remuneration for the year (excluding employer's 

pension contributions) exceeded £50,000. During the year, a total of two schools had their payroll prepared by external providers and, as this 

data is owned by the respective schools, it is not reported in the table below: 

 

2021-2022 

                           Number of Employees 

Remuneration Band Schools 
Pension 

Fund 
Rest of 
Council 

Total Number 
of Employees 

in Band 

Employees 
Receiving 

Termination 
Packages 

(included in 
total) 

£50,000 - £54,999 42 1 59 102 1 

£55,000 - £59,999 34 - 75 109 1 

£60,000 - £64,999 23 1 24 48 - 

£65,000 - £69,999 10 2 22 34 1 

£70,000 - £74,999 13 - 4 17 - 

£75,000 - £79,999 11 - - 11 - 

£80,000 - £84,999 6 - 2 8 - 

£85,000 - £89,999 4 - - 4 - 

£90,000 - £94,999 - - 1 1 - 

£95,000 - £99,999 - - - - - 

£100,000 - £104,999 1 - - 1 - 

£105,000 - £109,999 1 - - 1 - 

Total 145 4 187 336 3 

 

P
age 126



60 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

2020-2021 

                         Number of Employees 

Remuneration Band Schools 
Pension 

Fund 
Rest of 
Council 

Total Number 
of Employees 

in Band 

Employees 
Receiving 

Termination 
Packages 

(included in 
total) 

£50,000 - £54,999 46 1 89 136 1 

£55,000 - £59,999 23 1 25 49 2 

£60,000 - £64,999 19 - 21 40 - 

£65,000 - £69,999 14 3 15 32 2 

£70,000 - £74,999 13 - 3 16 1 

£75,000 - £79,999 14 - 2 16 - 

£80,000 - £84,999 3 - 2 5 - 

£85,000 - £89,999 - - 2 2 2 

£90,000 - £94,999 1 - 1 2 1 

£95,000 - £99,999 - - - - - 

£100,000 - £104,999 - - 1 1 1 

£105,000 - £109,999 2 - - 2 - 

Total 135 5 161 301 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 127



61 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

2F Exit packages  

The following table provides information about exit packages payable by the council during the year. This includes both schools and the pension 

fund.  

2020-2021 

Value of Individual 
Package 

 2021-2022 

Compulsory Other Total  Compulsory Other Total 

Number £m Number £m Number £m 

 

Number £m Number £m Number £m 

2.0 0.6 - - 2.0 0.6 £250,001 to £300,000  - - - - - - 

1.0 0.2 - - 1.0 - £200,001 to £250,000  - - - - - - 

1.0 0.2 - - 1.0 0.2 £150,001 to £200,000  - - - - - - 

- - 2.0 0.3 2.0 0.3 £100,001 to £150,000  - - 2.0 0.2 2.0 0.2 

- - - - - - £80,001 to £100,000  1.0 0.1 1.0 0.1 2.0 0.2 

- - 3.0 0.2 3.0 0.2 £60,001 to £80,000  - - - - - - 

- - 3.0 0.1 3.0 0.1 £40,001 to £60,000  - - 3.0 0.1 3.0 0.1 

2.0 0.1 11.0 0.3 13.0 0.4 £20,001 to £40,000  2.0 0.1 9.0 0.1 11.0 0.2 

25.0 0.1 33.0 0.2 58.0 0.3 Less than £20,000  8.0 0.1 37.0 0.3 45.0 0.4 

31.0 1.2 52.0 1.1 83.0 2.1 Total  11.0 0.3 52.0 0.8 63.0 1.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 128



62 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

2G Amounts payable to the auditors  

The table below shows amounts payable to the council’s external auditors during the year: 

2020-2021 
Description 

2021-2022 

£m £m 

0.216 External Audit (Council) 0.225 

0.023 Certification of Grant Claims and Returns 0.053 

 Additional Work:  

0.022 - WV Living Audit Fee 0.027 

0.029 - Wolverhampton Homes Audit Fee 0.028 

0.290 Total 0.333 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 129



63 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2H Grants  

The table below shows the grants and contributions that have been credited to the CIES during the year: 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

£m   £m 

  Credited to Net Cost of Services   

(66.4) Dedicated Schools Grant - Schools Block (73.0) 

(36.2) Dedicated Schools Grant - High Needs Block (40.7) 

(34.7) Mandatory Rent Allowance (32.2) 

(33.6) Mandatory Rent Rebates Subsidy (30.7) 

(21.0) Public Health Grant (21.9) 

(17.9) Dedicated Schools Block - Early Years Block (19.5) 

(9.2) LA Private Finance Initiative Revenue Schools (PFI) (9.2) 

(8.5) Pupil Premium (9.0) 

(3.2) Teachers’ Pension Employer Contributions Grant* (0.3) 

(2.9) WMCA Adult Education Budget (AEB) Funding  (3.0) 

(1.9) Dedicated Schools Grant - Central Services Block (2.1) 

(1.8) Housing & Council Tax Benefit Administration (1.6) 

(1.2) HeadStart Wolverhampton (1.3) 

(1.2) 6th Form Funding (1.3) 

(1.2) Universal Infant Free School Meals (1.1) 

(1.0) Teachers Pay Grant* (0.1) 

(0.9) Independent Living Fund Grant (0.9) 

(0.9) Discretionary Rent Allowances (0.8) 

(0.8) Leisure PFI (0.8) 

(0.8) Syrian Resettlement (0.1) 

(0.7) Impact ESF (0.7) 

(0.7) Primary PE and Sport Premium (0.7) 

P
age 130



64 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

(0.7) Learning Disability and Autism Community Discharge Grant (0.6) 

(0.7) Business Rates Reconciliation Payment - 

(0.5) YOT - Main Grant (0.5) 

(0.5) Asylum Seekers (0.6) 

(0.5) Free School Meals Supplementary - 

(0.5) Transport Additional Services Provision Grant (0.3) 

(0.4) Schools Music Service (0.4) 

(0.4) AIM for GOLD (0.5) 

(0.4) CMF - Rough Sleeping Initiative  (0.5) 

(0.4) Adult Education Budget (AEB) Additional Growth Funding - 

(0.3) Flexible Homelessness Support Grant (1.1) 

(0.3) Homelessness New Burdens Grant - 

(0.2) Troubled Families Grant - 

(0.2) Early Outcomes Fund - 

(0.1) Further Education (0.3) 

(0.1) 16-18 Bursary Fund (0.1) 

- Holiday Activity Fund (1.3) 

- Domestic Abuse Duty (0.7) 

- Lower Tier Services Grant (0.5) 

- Towns Fund Revenue (0.4) 

(0.2) Local Reform & Community Voices (0.2) 

(0.2) EFA 24+ Loans Facility (0.2) 

- Arts Council (0.2) 

(0.2) Staying Put (0.2) 

- WMPC Election (0.2) 

- Rent Rebates (non HRA Properties) (0.3) 

- CMF – ESOL Pathways (0.2) 

- EDRF AIM for GOLD – Child Project (0.2) 

P
age 131



65 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

- Strategic Migration Partnership (0.3) 

- Kickstart - Gateway Work Experience (0.3) 

- United Kingdom’s Afghan Schemes (0.2) 

(0.3) Macmillan Welfare Rights Grant (0.3) 

- One Public Estate  (0.2) 

- Housing First Pilot (0.4) 

- Social Workers in Schools Programme (0.4) 

- Black Country Transport WMCA Revenue Grant (0.3) 

   

 COVID-19 Grants  

(16.2) COVID-19 Emergency Funding - 

(5.6) COVID-19 Sales, Fees and Charges Grant (1.2) 

(5.1) COVID-19 Additional Restrictions Grants (4.2) 

(4.7) COVID-19 Tax Income Guarantee (TIG) Scheme - 

(3.2) COVID-19 Council Tax Hardship Fund - 

(2.3) 
COVID-19 Small Business - Retail, Leisure & Hospitality Grants 
(Discretionary element)  

- 

- COVID-19 Workforce Reform Grant (0.2) 

(1.9) 
COVID-19 Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund Ring-
Fenced Grant 2020 – (Discretionary element) 

(1.0) 

(1.9) COVID-19 Track and Trace Service - 

(1.5) COVID-19 Contained Outbreak Management Fund (6.6) 

(1.1) COVID-19 Winter Grant (2.9) 

(0.7) COVID-19 Catch Up Premium (0.5) 

(0.6) 
COVID-19 Local Restrictions Support Grants Open 
(Discretionary) 

- 

(0.6) COVID-19 Workforce Capacity Fund (2.7) 

(0.4) 
COVID-19 Local Authority Emergency Assistance Grant for 
Food & Essential Supplies 

- 

(0.3) COVID-19 Clinically Extremely Vulnerable Support Grant  (0.5) 

P
age 132



66 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

(0.3) COVID-19 Community Testing Programme (1.8) 

(0.2) COVID-19 Reopening High Streets Safely Fund - 

(0.2) COVID-19 Financial Support for Schools - 

(0.2) COVID-19 Local Authority Compliance and Enforcement - 

(0.2) COVID-19 Next Steps Accommodation Programme - 

(0.2) COVID-19 Adult Social Care Rapid Testing (0.9) 

(0.1) COVID-19 Test and Trace Support Payments - Self Isolation 
Payments (Discretionary) 

(0.2) 

(0.1) COVID-19 Community Champions Fund (0.3) 

(0.1) COVID-19 National Leisure Recovery Fund (0.1) 

(0.1) COVID-19 Mass Testing for Schools (0.2) 

(0.1) COVID-19 Business Grants (Administration) (0.5) 

- COVID-19 Local Council Tax Support Schemes Grant (3.3) 

- COVID-19 Schools Recovery Premium (0.5) 

- COVID-19 National Tutoring Programme (0.5) 

   

(4.6) Other Grants (8.2) 

(301.6) Total Credited to Net Cost of Services (296.0) 

  

P
age 133



67 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

  Credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income   

      

  Non Ring-Fenced Government Grants   

(30.7) COVID-19 Business Rates S31 Reliefs (11.1) 

(4.7) COVID-19 Tax Income Guarantee (TIG) Scheme (0.8) 

(26.6) Local Business Rates Top Up Grant (26.7) 

(14.3) DCLG – Improved Better Care Fund  (14.3) 

(11.9) Business Rates Autumn Statement Compensation (11.7) 

(8.7) DCLG – Social Care Grant (Adults and Children’s) (11.4) 

(1.6) New Homes Bonus (including adjustment grant) (1.0) 

- COVID-19 Emergency Funding (8.7) 

(98.5) Total of Non Ring-Fenced Government Grants (85.8) 

    

 Capital Grants and Contributions  

(3.6) Disabled Facilities Grant (2.8) 

(2.7) 
Highway Maintenance Challenge Fund Schemes 2020-2021 – 
Carriageways 

- 

(2.3) Local Growth Fund i54 Western Extension Plot Development (0.2) 

(0.8) Schools Basic Needs Grant (1.7) 

(0.2) S31 Transport Pothole Action Fund (1.2) 

- MRN Corridors 20-21 WMCA (0.8) 

- LPIF i54 Western Extension Plot Development (0.6) 

(1.8) S31 Transport Highway Maintenance Fund  (1.2) 

(1.2) S31 Transport Integrated Transport Block (1.2) 

(1.2) Local Full Fibre Network (3.7) 

(1.1) Schools Condition Allocation (2.3) 

(0.4) Devolved Formula Funding (0.4) 

(0.4) Homes England Development Grant (0.2) 

P
age 134



68 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

(0.2) Local Growth Fund - Access to Growth  - 

(0.2) Local Growth Fund i54 Western Extension - 

(0.1) Autism Innovation - 

- Land Property Investment Fund - 

(0.7) Smart Infrastructure (I3) ERDF (Capital) (0.7) 

- Future High Streets Fund (FHSF) (4.5) 

- SEND Special Provision Capital Fund (0.7) 

   

 COVID-19 Grants  

(1.0) COVID-19 £1m Towns Fund Grant (0.6) 

(0.3) COVID-19 Emergency Active Travel Fund - 

   

(6.1) Other Grants and Contributions (0.9) 

(24.3) Total of Capital Grants and Contributions (23.7) 

(424.4) Total Grants Credited to the CIES (405.5) 

 

* The Teachers’ Pension Employer Contribution Grant & Teachers Pay Grant is now included as part of the DSG Grant, whereas prior to 2021-2022 it was a 

separate grant. The smaller amounts applied in 2021-2022 will relate to academies where their financial year is different to the Council’s. 

The following grants have been removed from income and expenditure on the CIES, as the council acts as an agent, for the purposes of 

distributing these grants. The council was required by central government to distribute the grants below in line with their criteria and funding 

levels, the council had no discretion on the allocation of amount of grant that was awarded to businesses, individuals or care provides.  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 135



69 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Grants where the council is acting as agent 2021-2022           
£m 

COVID-19 Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund Ring-Fenced Grant 2020 2.3 

COVID-19 Test and Trace Support Payments - Self Isolation Payments 

(Mandatory) 

0.4 

COVID-19 Local Restrictions Support Grants Closed (Mandatory) -* 

COVID-19 Christmas Support Payment Wet-Led Pubs (Mandatory) -* 

COVID-19 Local Restrictions Support Grants Closed Addendum (Mandatory) 0.4 

COVID-19 Closed Business Lockdown Payments (Mandatory) 0.6 

COVID-19 Adult Social Care Rapid Testing 1.2 

COVID-19 Workforce Capacity Fund -* 

COVID-19 Small Business - Retail, Leisure & Hospitality Grants (Mandatory) -* 

COVID-19 Omicron Hospitality and Leisure Grants (Mandatory) 0.8 

COVID-19 Restart Grants (Mandatory) 7.6 

Total 13.3 

 

* These amounts are less than £1 million, and are therefore not captured when rounding to £1 million 

  

P
age 136



70 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2I Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

The council’s expenditure on schools is funded primarily by grant monies provided by the Department for Education: the Dedicated Schools Grant 

(DSG). The DSG is ring-fenced and can only be applied to meet expenditure properly included in the Schools’ Budget, as defined in the Schools 

and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2015. The Schools’ Budget includes elements for a restricted range of educational services 

provided on a council-wide basis and for the Individual Schools Budget (ISB), which is divided into a budget share for each maintained school. 

Over and underspends on the two elements are required to be accounted for separately. The table below shows how the council applied its DSG: 

 

  2020-2021       2021-2022   

Central 
Expenditure 

Individual 
Schools 
Budget 

Total   
Central 

Expenditure 

Individual 
Schools 
Budget 

Total 

£m £m £m   £m £m £m 

(5.6) (262.9) (268.5) Final DSG for the year before academy recoupment (6.0) (284.1) (290.0) 

- 143.9 143.9 Academy figure recouped - 158.7 158.7 

(5.6) (118.9) (124.5) Total DSG after academy recoupment for the year (6.0) (125.4) (131.3) 

        

(0.6) (1.5) (2.1) Brought forward from previous year (0.6) (3.4) (4.0) 

- - - Carry-forward to following year agreed in advance - - - 

(6.2) (120.4) (126.6) Agreed initial budgeted distribution in the year (6.6) (128.8) (135.4) 

        

(6.2) (120.4) (126.6) Final budgeted distribution for the year (6.6) (128.8) (135.4) 

        

5.6 - 5.6 Less actual central expenditure 5.9 - 5.9 

- 117.0 117.0 Less actual ISB deployed to schools - 127.0 127.0 

(0.6) (3.4) (4.0) 
(Under) Overspend carried forward to following 
year 

(0.7) (1.8) (2.5) 

 

 

P
age 137



71 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 2J Exceptional items  

None 

  

Note 2K Events after the reporting period  

 

On 12 May, CIPFA launched a consultation that highlighted a potential issue in relation to Infrastructure assets. This issue is described as: 
‘Accounting for subsequent expenditure on Infrastructure assets, and specifically whether local authorities should be assessing if there is any 
undepreciated cost remaining in the balance sheet for the replaced components that needs to be derecognised, has recently been subject to 
heightened audit focus. This may also lead to issues relating to the reporting of gross historical cost and accumulated depreciation (depreciated 
historical cost).’ 
 

For 2021-2022, the council’s draft accounts have been authorised for issue prior to the outcome of the consultation, therefore it is necessary to 

base the valuation of Infrastructure assets on the same method used to close the 2020-2021 accounts.  

The proposed change to the Code would strengthen the council’s Accounting Policy that assumes any Infrastructure assets that have been 

replaced have been done so with a carrying value already depreciated to nil. 

Depending on the outcome of the consultation, the 2021-2022 accounts may need to be amended ahead of final issue to adopt any revisions to 

the existing Code. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 138



72 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 3 Other operating expenditure 

   

2020-2021   2021-2022 

  Net    Net 

Expenditure  
£m  

Income 
£m 

Expenditure 
£m 

 Expenditure  
£m 

Income 
£m 

Expenditure 
£m 

10.4 - 10.4 Levies 10.4 - 10.4 

2.2 - 2.2 Payments to the Housing Capital Receipts Pool 2.2 - 2.2 

12.6 (12.3) 0.3 Losses/(gains) on the Disposal of Non-Current Assets 14.5 (15.3) (0.8) 

25.2 (12.3) 12.9   27.1 (15.3) 11.8 

 

Note 4 Financing and investment income and expenditure 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

Gross  Gross Net 

  

Gross  Gross Net 

Expenditure  Income Expenditure Expenditure  Income Expenditure 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 

0.9 - 0.9 External Trading Organisations 0.8 - 0.8 

36.7 - 36.7 Interest Payable 35.9 - 35.9 

15.6 - 15.6 Net Interest Expense-Pensions 17.2 - 17.2 

- (2.2) (2.2) Interest Receivable - (1.5) (1.5) 

1.6 (3.5) (1.9) 
Income and Expenditure in Relation to Investment properties 
and Changes in their Fair Value 

- (5.2) (5.2) 

- - - Other Investment Income - - - 

54.8 (5.7) 49.1 Total 53.9 (6.7) 47.2 

 

 

 

 

P
age 139



73 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 5 Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure 

2020-2021  2021-2022 

Gross  Gross Net  Gross  Gross Net 

Expenditure  Income Expenditure  Expenditure  Income Expenditure 

£m £m £m  £m £m £m 

- (34.8) (34.8) Business Rates - (68.2) (68.2) 

- (104.0) (104.0) Council Tax - (102.5) (102.5) 

- (98.4) (98.4) Non Ring-Fenced Revenue Grants Receivable - (64.9) (64.9) 

- (24.3) (24.3) Capital Grants Receivable - (43.6) (43.6) 

- (261.5) (261.5) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure - (279.2) (279.2) 

 

 

Note 6 Current receivables and payables  

The tables below show amounts owed to the council (receivables), and amounts owed by the council (payables) at the end of the year, split by 

type of organisation:  

 

6A Current receivables (short-term debtors) 

31 March 2021   
Type of Organisation 

31 March 2022  

Council Group Council Group 

£m £m £m £m 

24.1 24.1 Central Government Bodies 17.9 18.0 

8.0 8.0 Other Local Authorities 4.8 4.8 

6.9 6.9 NHS Bodies 9.5 9.5 

84.0 55.3 Bodies External to General Government  54.5 51.5 

123.0 94.3 Total 86.7 83.8 

P
age 140



74 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

6B Current receivables for local taxation  

The past due but not impaired amount for local taxation (council tax and business rates) can be analysed by age as follows:  

 

Council tax  

31 March 

2021 
Type of Organisation 

31 March 
2022 

Council Council 

£m £m 

3.6 Less than one year 4.2 

2.1 1-2 years 2.7 

- 2-6 years - 

- More than 6 years - 

5.7 Total 6.9 

 

 

Business rates 

31 March 
2021 

Type of Organisation 

31 March 
2022 

Council Council 

£m £m 

0.6  Less than one year (0.8) 

-  1-2 years - 

-  2-6 years - 

-  More than 6 years - 

0.6  Total (0.8) 

P
age 141



75 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

6C Current payables (short-term creditors) 

 
31 March 2021    

Type of Organisation 

31 March 2022 

Council Group Council Group 

£m £m £m £m 
(58.0) (60.2) Central Government Bodies (102.3) (104.2) 

(5.4) (5.4) Other Local Authorities (5.9) (5.9) 

- - NHS Bodies (2.5) (2.5) 

(62.0) (55.4) Bodies External to General Government  (62.5) (60.0) 

(125.4) (121.0) Total (173.2) (172.6) 

 

6D Inventories 

 Council Group 

 
Consumable Stores 

Property Constructed for 
Sale and Consumable 

Stores 

2021-2022 2020-2021 2021-2022 2020-2021 

£m £m £m £m 

Balance outstanding at start of year  0.4  26.4 

Purchases  1.3  25.3 

Recognised as an expense in the year  (1.1)  (18.7) 

Transferred to investment property  -  - 

Balance outstanding at year end  0.6  33.0 

 

 

 

P
age 142



76 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 7 Provisions, contingent liabilities and guarantees  

7A Provisions 

Balance at 
31 March 2021 

£m 
Provision Name Provision Details 

Amounts 
Used in 

£m 

Contributions 
to/from 

Provision 
2021-2022 

£m 

Balance at 
31 March 

2022 
£m 

(0.3) Capitalisation Risks 
This provision is in respect of potential claims under equal pay legislation. It is 
currently uncertain when payments might need to be made, and the value of 
any such payments.  

- - (0.3) 

(2.3) Insurance 

The council self-insures risks to property and assets up to a total aggregate 
limit of £1.0 million and its liability exposures up to a limit of £250,000 on any 
one occurrence above which limits the external insurance cover operates. The 
insurance provision of £2.3 million is in respect of the outstanding claims under 
the self-insurance programme covering the current and past years. 

- - (2.3) 

(0.1) Termination Benefits 

During 2021-2022, the council continued to accept applications for voluntary 
redundancy. As a result of this initiative, there were a number of employees 
and former employees to whom termination benefits were due, but had not yet 
been made, at the end of the year. 

- - (0.1) 

(8.0) 
Outstanding NNDR 
Appeals 

The Collection Fund account requires a provision for appeals against the 
rateable valuation set by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) not settled as at 
31 March 2022.  

1.7 (4.0) (10.3) 

(0.1) Other 

These are small amounts relating to ex-members of the pension fund and 
refunds of aftercare payments made by residents subsequently falling within 
Section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 and from whom charges are not 
due. 
 
A provision has been created for Leisure PFI Facilities. The impact of COVID-
19 and government guidance issued, meant the interim closure of the Leisure 
PFI facilities and suspension of the operating services. This was seen as a 
qualifying change in law in the leisure PFI agreement. In line with the PFI 
agreement negotiations were held with the provider and a Deed of Variation 
was formalised which included payments to the provider. 

- (0.3) (0.4) 

(0.9) 
BCLEP EZ provision 
for Wolverhampton 
(North) 

Provision for the retention and distribution of the uplift in business rates for City 

of Wolverhampton Enterprise Zone sites in the Black country area. 

 

2.3 (2.7) (1.3) 

(11.7)  Total 4.0 (7.0) (14.7) 

 

P
age 143



77 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

7B Contingent liabilities        

At 31 March 2022, the council had the following contingent liabilities:               

• The council entered into a waste disposal contract on 8 February 1996. Under the contract, the waste disposal contractor has constructed a 

waste energy plant at an estimated cost of £26.6 million and the plant became operational in February 1998. This contract is going to finish by 

February 2023. If the contract is terminated by the council for any reason, the council becomes liable to pay to the contractor a sum, (the 

termination sum), equal to 90% of £26.6 million, written down to zero on a straight-line depreciation basis over 25 years commencing from the 

date the plant became operational. The unexpired value of the termination sum at 31 March 2022 is £1.1 million (31 March 2021: £2.1 million).  

• A contingent liability exists for the costs of Equal Pay compensation. The council has established a provision for £300,000 (31 March 2021: 

£300,000). The potential costs of any further cases not addressed by this provision cannot be reliably quantified at this stage.  

• There are several instances where the council has acquired title to assets of land and buildings due to the use of compulsory purchase orders 

or an interest in land and buildings subject to blight notices. In these situations, there has been no transfer of economic benefits due to difficulties 

in either establishing the original owner or in reaching an agreement to the level of compensation to be transferred. The existence of a 

recognisable liability can only be confirmed at the point that the owner comes forward to claim reimbursement or the formal acknowledgment of 

blight has been established. The total value of these cases as at 31 March 2022 is estimated at £800,000 (31 March 2021: £467,005).  

• During 2021-2022, the council continued to accept applications for voluntary redundancy. There were a number of applications for voluntary 

redundancy that were approved prior to the balance sheet date for payment during 2021-2022 for which a provision of £44,000 (31 March 2021: 

£55,000) has been raised. There are, however, a number of applications for voluntary redundancy in progress which had not received sufficient 

approvals as at the Balance Sheet date to make it reasonably certain that a redundancy would ultimately result. It is not possible to place a 

reliable estimate on the number of such applications that will ultimately result in redundancy, and therefore the value of any resulting liability.  

• The Council was previously insured by Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI). MMI is subject to a contingent Scheme of Arrangement, the terms of 

which were triggered in November 2012. As a result, there is the possibility that the council may be subject to clawback of both previous and 

future paid claims linked to the council and a proportional amount on claims made linked to the West Midlands County Councils. 

 

7C Contingent assets  

None 

 

 

P
age 144



78 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

7D Guarantees   

The council has provided guarantees to twenty-five organisations at the point they were admitted to West Midlands Pension Fund, to fund any 

potential pension liability. Of the existing ones, as at the last triennial valuation (31 March 2019), none of these organisations had a pension 

liability in excess of £100,000 (which the council considers to be material for these purposes), and the three new ones for 2021-2022 were fully 

funded upon commencement.  

The council has applied the liability adequacy test to determine whether recognition is appropriate. The council has considered various factors in 

determining the probability of the guarantees being called, including risk of failure of the business as informed by Creditsafe Business Failure 

Scores and membership profile. As a result, the council is satisfied that the guarantees do not represent a significant potential liability for the 

council and therefore there is no recognition in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

During 2018-2019 the council provided a guarantee in respect to Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council for the University of Wolverhampton. The 

guarantee relates to grant funding through the Black Country Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEP) – Growth Deal totalling £7.8 million. The council 

has considered the probability of the guarantee being called and the likely amount payable under the guarantee. The probability of the guarantee 

being called is not considered to be significant and as a result the fair value is not considered material. Therefore, the guarantee is not recognised 

in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

  

7E Financial guarantee contract  

The council has provided a guarantee to the City of Wolverhampton College in respect of bank loans. In accordance with IFRS9, the fair value of 

the guarantee has been estimated by considering the probability of the guarantee being called and the likely amount payable under the guarantee. 

The probability of the guarantee being called is not considered to be significant and as a result the fair value is not considered material. Therefore, 

the guarantee is not recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 145



79 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 8 Non-current assets  

Non-current assets 2021-2022 

  C
o

u
n

c
il
 d

w
e
ll
in

g
s
 

O
th

e
r 

la
n

d
 a

n
d

 
b

u
il
d

in
g

s
 

V
e
h

ic
le

s
, 
p

la
n

t,
 

fu
rn

it
u

re
, 
a
n

d
 

e
q

u
ip

m
e
n

t 

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

a
s
s
e
ts

 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

a
s
s
e
ts

 

S
u

rp
lu

s
 a

s
s
e
ts

 

P
ro

p
e

rt
y
 P

la
n

t 
a
n

d
 E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 

S
u

b
to

ta
l 

In
v

e
s
tm

e
n

t 
p

ro
p

e
rt

ie
s
 

In
ta

n
g

ib
le

 a
s
s
e
ts

 

H
e
ri

ta
g

e
 a

s
s
e
ts

 

A
s
s
e
ts

 h
e

ld
 f

o
r 

s
a
le

 

A
s
s
e
ts

 u
n

d
e

r 
c
o

n
s

tr
u

c
ti

o
n

 

T
o

ta
l 

  
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

 
£m 

                          

At 31 March 2021 844.3  402.8  101.7  333.1  13.5  6.0 1,701.4  31.8  17.2  11.6  10.1  6.8 1,778.9  

                           

Additions 55.9  39.6  4.7  14.5  0.7  -  115.4  0.6  0.4  -  2.4  - 118.8  

Disposals  (9.4) (5.3) -  -  - - (14.7) - -  -  -  - (14.7) 

Revaluations / Fair Value Gains/(Losses)             -           -  

  - Recognised in Revaluation reserve (0.5)  41.4 -  -  1.0  1.3 43.2 - -  2.7 7.6  - 53.5 

  - Recognised in surplus/(deficit) on 
provision of services (4.0) 48.5 -  -  0.2  (0.8) 43.9 5.2  -  -  (0.5)  

- 
48.6 

Impairments -  (0.4)  -  -  -  -  (0.4)  -  -  -  -  - (0.4)  

Other Changes - Gross Value 4.3  (15.5)  -  (0.2)  (1.8) 1.3 (11.9)  13.2  -  -  2.5  (3.8) -  

Gross Value as at 31 March 2022 890.6  511.1  106.4 347.4  13.6  7.8  1,876.9 50.8  17.6  14.3  22.1  3.0 1,984.7 

                           

Accumulated Depreciation/Impairment                           

  At 31 March 2021 -  1.1  84.7  201.1  0.8  0.2  287.9  -  13.7  -  -  - 301.6  

                           

Disposals  -  (0.2) -  -  -  -  (0.2) -  -  -  -  - (0.2) 

Depreciation/amortisation 19.1  9.5  3.8  8.7 -  0.1  41.2  -  1.6  -  -  - 42.8 

Depreciation writeback on revaluation                          

  - Recognised in the Revaluation reserve -  (6.4) -  -  -  - (6.4) -  -  -  -  - (6.4) 

  - Recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services (19.1) (2.7) -  -  (0.1) (0.1)  (22.0) -  -  -  -  

- 
(22.0) 

Other Changes  -  (0.1)  -  -  0.1  -  -  -  -  -  -  - -  

Accumulated Depreciation/Impairment 
at 31 March 2022 - 1.2  88.5  209.8  0.8  0.2  300.5  -  15.3  -  -  - 315.8 

                           

Net Book Value As at 31 March 2022 890.6  509.9  17.9  137.6  12.8  7.6  1,576.4  50.8  2.3  14.3  22.1  3.0 1,668.9 

                           

Net Book Value As at 31 March 2021 844.3  401.7  17.0  132.0  12.7  5.8  1,413.5 31.8 3.5 11.6  10.1  6.8 1,477.3 

P
age 146



80 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Non-current assets 2020-2021 

  

C
o

u
n

c
il

 

d
w

e
ll

in
g

s
 

O
th

e
r 

la
n

d
 a

n
d

 

b
u

il
d

in
g

s
 

V
e

h
ic

le
s

, 
p

la
n

t,
 

fu
rn

it
u

re
, 

a
n

d
 

e
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t 

In
fr

a
s

tr
u

c
tu

re
 

a
s

s
e

ts
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

a
s

s
e

ts
 

S
u

rp
lu

s
 a

s
s

e
ts

 

P
ro

p
e

rt
y

 P
la

n
t 

a
n

d
 E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 

S
u

b
to

ta
l 

In
v

e
s

tm
e

n
t 

p
ro

p
e

rt
ie

s
 

In
ta

n
g

ib
le

 

a
s

s
e

ts
 

H
e
ri

ta
g

e
 a

s
s

e
ts

 

A
s
s

e
ts

 h
e

ld
 f

o
r 

s
a

le
 

A
s
s

e
t 

U
n

d
e

r 

C
o

n
s

tr
u

c
ti

o
n

 

T
o

ta
l 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m  £m 
                          

 At 31 March 2020 828.7  435.7  96.3  322.1  12.6  7.8  1,703.2 33.8  16.6  11.6  1.6 
- 

1,766.8  

                           

Additions 40.0 22.1 5.1 11.0 1.2 - 79.4 0.1 0.6 - - 6.8 86.9 

Disposals  (6.7) (10.2) - - - (1.6) (18.5) - - - (1.6) - (20.1) 

Revaluations / Fair Value Gains/(Losses)              

  - Recognised in Revaluation reserve (1.2) (15.9) - - - (0.3) (17.4) - - - - - (17.4) 

  - Recognised in surplus/(deficit) on provision of services (17.7) (18.4) - - - 0.4 (35.7) (1.6) - - - - (37.3) 

Impairments - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Other Changes - Gross Value 1.2 (10.5) 0.3 - (0.3) (0.3) (9.6) (0.5) - - 10.1 - - 

Gross Value as at 31 March 2021 844.3 402.8 101.7 333.1 13.5 6.0 1,701.4 31.8 17.2 11.6 10.1 6.8 1,778.9 

                           

Accumulated Depreciation/Impairment                           

  - At 31 March 2020 -  7.6  81.6  189.9  0.8  1.6  281.5  -  11.5 -  -   293.0 

                           

Disposals  - (6.0) - - - (1.5) (7.5) - - - - - (7.5) 

Depreciation/amortisation 18.5 9.7 3.1 11.2 - 0.1 42.6 - 2.2 - - - 44.8 

Depreciation writeback on revaluation              

  - Recognised in the Revaluation reserve - (5.4) - - - - (5.4) - - - - - (5.4) 

  - Recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services (18.5) (4.8) - - - - (23.3) - - - - 

- 
(23.3) 

Other Changes  - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Accumulated Depreciation/Impairment at 31 March 2021 - 1.1 84.7 201.1 0.8 0.2 287.9 - 13.7 - - 
 
- 301.6 

                           

Net Book Value As at 31 March 2021 844.3 401.7 17.0 132.0 12.7 5.8 1,413.5 31.8 3.5 11.6 10.1 6.8 1,477.3 

                           

Net Book Value As at 31 March 2020 828.7  428.1  14.8  132.2  11.5  6.5  1,421.8  33.8  5.1  11.6  1.6  - 1,473.9  

 

 

P
age 147



81 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Asset disposals 

The total net book value of assets disposed of in year was £14.7 million (2020-2021: £20.1 million). No assets were derecognised in respect of 

schools that have converted to academies in 2021-2022 (2020-2021: £0 million).  

 

Depreciation/amortisation  

Property, plant, and equipment assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic life of the asset. Council 

dwellings are depreciated according to the useful economic life of their major components. Intangible assets are amortised on the straight-line 

basis over the estimated useful economic life of the asset. No depreciation is charged on Investment properties, Heritage assets or land. The 

following asset lives are used to determine the depreciation charge:  

Council dwellings     Up to 45 years  

Infrastructure assets    1-50 years  

Surplus assets     1-42 years  

Other buildings     1-154 years  

Plant and equipment   1-30 years  

Vehicles       1-7   years  

Intangible assets     1-5   years  

  

Revaluations  

The council has all Property, plant and equipment assets required to be valued at current value and with a current net book value in excess of 

£1.0 million valued annually and carries out a rolling programme that ensures the remainder are revalued at least every five years. The council 

seeks assurance for the assets not valued that there is no material change to their value. These valuations are accurate as of 31 March 2022. 

The valuations were carried out by external valuers. The housing stock valuation was carried out by the Jones Lang Lasalle while the other 

valuations were carried out by Wilkes Head and Eve, registered Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) valuers, using the guidance and 

methodology set out in the following paragraphs.   

P
age 148



82 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The external valuers have based the school valuations on the Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) basis. This is a method of valuation which provides 

the current cost of replacing an asset with its modern equivalent asset.  

The following table shows the gross book value of assets that have been revalued in the financial years 2017-2018 to 2021-2022.  

 

  

C
o

u
n

c
il

 d
w

e
ll
in

g
s

 

O
th

e
r 

la
n

d
 a

n
d

 

b
u

il
d

in
g

s
 

V
e

h
ic

le
s

, 
p

la
n

t,
 

fu
rn

it
u

re
, 

a
n

d
 

e
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t 

In
fr

a
s

tr
u

c
tu

re
 a

s
s
e

ts
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 a

s
s
e

ts
 

S
u

rp
lu

s
 a

s
s

e
ts

 

P
ro

p
e

rt
y

 P
la

n
t 

a
n

d
 

E
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t 

S
u

b
to

ta
l 

In
v

e
s

tm
e

n
t 

p
ro

p
e

rt
ie

s
 

In
ta

n
g

ib
le

 a
s

s
e

ts
 

H
e
ri

ta
g

e
 a

s
s

e
ts

 

A
s
s

e
ts

 h
e

ld
 f

o
r 

s
a

le
 

A
s
s

e
ts

 u
n

d
e

r 

c
o

n
s

tr
u

c
ti

o
n

 

T
o

ta
l 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Carried at Historical Costs -  0.2 106.4  347.4  13.6  -  467.6 -  17.6 14.3  -  3.0 502.5 

Valued at fair or Current value as at: -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

31 March 2018 -  0.4  -  -  -  - 0.4  -  -  -  -  -  0.4 

31 March 2019 -  1.8  -  -  -  -  1.8 -  -  -  -  -  1.8 

31 March 2020 -  4.5  -  -  -  0.6 5.1 -  -  -  -  -  5.1 

31 March 2021 -  10.0  -  -  -  0.1  10.1 -  -  -  -  -  10.1 

Valued @ 31 March 2022 890.6  494.2  -  -  - 7.1 1,391.9 50.8 -  -  22.1   1,464.8 

Total Cost or Valuation  890.6  511.1  106.4  347.4  13.6  7.8  1,876.9 50.8  17.6 14.3  22.1 3.0 1,984.7  

 

In 2021-2022, a full desktop review was completed for the council dwellings via a beacon valuation approach. This was completed by Jones Lang 

LaSalle (JLL).  

In addition, an impairment review is carried out by the council’s external valuers Wilkes Head and Eve of the remaining assets not revalued in 

2021-2022 to test for any material movement in market value.  

 

 

P
age 149



83 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Legislation and guidance  

Valuations are carried out as required by Sections 41 to 42 of The Local Government Housing Act 1989 and in accordance with CIPFA/IFRS 

guidance and the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation Standards (Red Book). The valuations are subject to any limitations, 

caveats and assumptions as agreed between the Section 151 Officer and the Head of Assets.  

 

Basis of valuation  

In accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2021-2022, infrastructure, Community assets, and Assets under 

construction are valued at depreciated historical cost. All other classes of asset are measured at current value. For Vehicles, plant, furniture, and 

equipment current value is determined by depreciated historical cost due to the short useful life of these assets. The current value of Council 

dwellings is measured using existing use value (social housing). For all other asset classes, where there is no market-based evidence of current 

value, the council estimates current value using the depreciated replacement cost approach. The following table describes the measurement 

basis used to determine the gross carrying value of each of the council’s classes of non-current assets. 

 

Asset Class Measurement Base 

Council dwellings Current value based on existing use value (social housing) (EUV-SH). 

Other land and buildings Current value based on existing use value (EUV) or depreciated replacement cost (DRC) using the “instant build” 

approach if EUV cannot be determined. 

Vehicles, plant, furniture, and 

equipment 

Current value based on depreciated historical cost due to the short useful life of the asset. 

Infrastructure assets Depreciated historical cost. 

Community assets Depreciated historical cost and valuation. 

Surplus assets Fair value estimated at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective using level 2 inputs. 

Assets under construction Depreciated historical cost. 

Assets held for sale Valued at the lower of their carrying amount and the fair value as appropriate to the measurement requirements of 

the code. 

Investment properties Initially measured at cost (defined as the purchase price plus any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset 

for its intended use) and subsequently measured at fair value. Fair values have been determined by multiplying 

estimated net income by an appropriate investment yield or by reference to the value of similar assets. All 

Investment properties have been valued using level 2 inputs.  

Intangible assets Amortised cost. 

Heritage assets Where the council has information on the cost or value of the asset, the asset is recognised at this amount. 

P
age 150



84 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Inspection  

A valuation exercise is carried out using information from the land registry. It is assumed that any building is constructed in accordance with 

Building Regulations and does not contain any deleterious or hazardous substances. Detailed building surveys are not requisitioned unless there 

are obvious areas of concern which are likely to affect the valuation.  

 

Key assumptions  

•  Planning - Planning consideration is, in the first instance, by reference to the Local Development Framework to ensure the use of the 
property to be valued is in accordance with the council's stated policies.  

• Ground Conditions - no reference is made to ground conditions unless it is evident upon inspection that a particular property has been 
affected by exceptional external influences greater than would be anticipated for its locality.  

• Contamination - no reference is made to contamination unless, upon inspection, it is evident that a particular property has been affected 
by external influences greater than would be anticipated for its locality.   

 

Capital commitments  

At 31 March 2022, the council had entered into a number of contracts for the construction or enhancement of Property, plant and equipment in 

2021-2022 and future years with an estimated total value of £68.9 million (31 March 2021: £74.4 million). The major commitments are:  Heath 

Town Regeneration (£24.0 million), High Rise Works M&E Infrastructure Refurbishment (£16.7 million), Heath Town New Build Phase 1 (£7.5 

million), Development Agreement with WV Living for Affordable Housing (£5.0 million) Civic and Wulfrun Halls (£4.1 million), Commercial 

Conversions (£3.0 million), Fire Safety Improvements (£2.7 million) and Decent Homes (£1.7 million). 

Investment properties  

During the year, the council had £3.6 million of income receivable from Investment properties (2020-2021: £3.8 million) and spent £0.5 million on 

managing and maintaining those properties (2020-2021: £0.5 million). There are no restrictions on the council’s ability to realise the value of its 

investment property, the remittance of income or the proceeds of disposal. The council has no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or 

develop investment property, or for it to carry out repairs, maintenance, or enhancements.  

Impairment  

Impairments to non-current assets totalling £0.4 million were recognised in year. 

 

P
age 151



85 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Capital financing requirement  

The council’s capital financing requirement, which represents the underlying need to borrow to pay for past capital expenditure, was £956.6 

million at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: £942.1 million).  

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below (including the value of assets acquired under finance 

leases and PFI contracts), together with the resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future 

years by charges to revenue as assets are used by the council, the expenditure results in an increase in the capital financing requirement (CFR), 

a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the council that has yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed in the second part of 

this note. 

 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

£m   £m 

926.2 Opening Capital Financing Requirement 942.1 

    

 Capital Investment  

86.3 Property, plant, and equipment 117.8 

0.1 Investment properties 0.6 

0.6 Intangible assets 0.4 

12.3 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 14.2 

7.0 Acquisition of WV Living Shares 5.7 

13.4 WV Living Loans - 

    

 Sources of Finance  

(22.0) Capital Receipts (35.8) 

(22.0) Government Grants and other Contributions (29.9) 

- Sums Set Aside from Revenue: - 

(26.5) Direct Revenue Contributions (26.2) 

(33.3) MRP/Loans Fund Principal (34.4) 

    

P
age 152



86 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

942.1  Closing Capital Financing Requirement 
954.5 

 

     

  Explanation of Movements in Year    

15.8 
Increase in underlying need to borrow (unsupported by government financial 
assistance) 

12.1 

- Assets acquired under finance leases - 

0.1 Assets acquired under PFI contracts 0.3 

    

15.9 Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement 12.4 

 

  

P
age 153



87 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 9 Employee pensions  

Participation in pension schemes  

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the council makes contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits. 

Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, the council has a commitment to make the payments, which needs to 

be disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement.  

The council participates in three post-employment schemes and provides a further local discretionary scheme:  

• The Local Government Pension Scheme is administered locally by the West Midlands Pension Fund. From 1 April 2014 the LGPS moved 

from a defined benefit final salary scheme to a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme. The council and employees pay 

contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions’ liabilities with investment assets. The benefits a member 

builds up from 1 April 2014 will be based on the CARE scheme calculation; the benefits built up to 31 March 2014 will be protected under 

the Final Salary calculation.  

 

• Teachers employed by the council are members of the Teachers' Pension Scheme, administered by the Teachers' Pension Agency 

(TPA). It provides teachers with defined benefits upon their retirement and the council contributes towards the costs by making 

contributions based on a percentage of members' pensionable salaries. During the year, the council contributed £8.9 million which was 

a contribution rate of 23.68% from April 2021 to March 2022 (2020-2021: £8.5 million; 23.68%). 

 

• There are a three employees transferred from the NHS, when certain public health services were transferred to the council 4 years ago, 

who are members of the NHS pension scheme. During the year, the council contributed £25,670 which was a contribution rate of 14.38% 

(2020-2021: £28,047; 14.38%).  

 

 

• In addition, the council is responsible for all non-funded pension payments relating to added years’ enhancements it has awarded outside 

the terms of the teachers' scheme together with related increases.  

  

Both the Teachers’ and NHS pension schemes are unfunded, and it is not possible to identify the council’s share of the liabilities. As a result, 

these schemes are accounted for as defined contribution schemes.      

P
age 154



88 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

From April 2014, pensions are worked out in a different way as the scheme became a career average scheme. Benefits built up from April 2014 

are worked out using actual pay each scheme year rather than final salary when an employee leaves. Protections are in place for all the benefits 

built up in the final salary scheme.  

 

Transactions relating to post-employment benefits  

The council recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the cost of services when they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits 

are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge the council is required to make against council tax is based on the cash payable in the 

year, so the real cost of post-employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement. The 

following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the Movement in Reserves Statement 

during the year:   

2020-2021   2021-2022 

Council Subsidiary   Council Subsidiary 

LGPS Teachers     LGPS Teachers   

£m £m £m   £m £m £m 

      COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT       

      Cost of Services:       

(52.6) - (6.7)   - Current Service Cost (63.1) - (10.1) 

- - -   - Past Service Costs - - - 

(1.4) - (0.1)   - Settlements and Curtailments (0.3) - - 

(0.8) - (0.1)   - Administration Expenses (0.6) - (0.1) 

      Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure:       

(14.3) (1.1) (0.8)   - Net Interest Cost (16.1) (1.0) (1.5) 

(69.1) (1.1) (7.7) 
Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services 

(80.1) (1.0) (11.7) 

        

   Other Post Employment Benefit Charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement: 

   

(195.1) (3.4) (32.7)   - Remeasurements (Liabilities and Assets)  200.6 0.6 31.4 

(264.2) (4.5) (40.4) 
Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

120.5 (0.4) 19.7 

P
age 155



89 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

           

      MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT    

(69.1) (1.1) - 
  - Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit for the Provision of Services 
for post-employment benefits in accordance with the Code 

(80.1) (1.0) - 

        

   Actual amount charged against the General Fund balance for pensions in the year:    

35.0  3.8   - Employer's contributions payable to scheme 25.1  3.6 

 4.2    - Retirement benefits payable to pensioners  4.2  

(34.1) 3.1  3.8  Total Movement in Reserves (55.0) 3.2  3.6 

 

Please note the subsidiary referred to in the tables above and below is Wolverhampton Homes. The council’s other subsidiary, WV Living is not 

included as no employees were employed by the company during the year or the prior year. 

 

Assets and liabilities in relation to post-employment benefits  

The following tables show how the present values of the scheme assets and liabilities have changed over the course of the year: 

2020-2021 Assets 2021-2022 

Council Subsidiary   Council Subsidiary 

£m £m   £m £m 

1,093.5 161.7 Opening balance at 1 April 1,303.8 194.3 

20.6 3.8 Interest oncome 25.9 3.9 

190.2 27.5 Remeasurement gain/(loss) 87.1 12.1 

35.0 3.8 Employer contributions 23.6 3.6 

7.4 1.3 Contributions by scheme participants 7.8 1.3 

(52.3) (3.7) Benefits paid (50.2) (4.3) 

(1.2) - Settlements (0.1) - 

(0.8) (0.1) Admin expenses (0.6) (0.1) 

1,303.8 194.3 Closing balance at 31 March 1,397.3 210.8 

P
age 156



90 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets underlying the current 

investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the Balance Sheet date.  

Expected returns on equity investments reflect long term real rates of return experienced in the respective markets. The actual return on scheme 

assets in the year was a gain of £113.0 million (2020-2021: Gain £210.7 million). 

The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the council has in the long run to pay post-employment (retirement) benefits. The total 

liability of £696.0 million has a substantial impact on the net worth of the council as recorded in the Balance Sheet. However, statutory 

arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the council remains healthy, because:   

• The deficit on the local government scheme will be made good by increased contributions over the remaining working life of employees 

(i.e., before payments fall due), as assessed by the scheme’s actuary.  

• Finance is only required to be raised to cover discretionary benefits when the pensions are paid.  

• The council works with the West Midlands Pension Fund to ensure that employer contributions are at a rate which is affordable, given 

current economic pressures which are being experienced by many local authorities. The council has agreed a strategy with the Fund and 

its actuaries whereby the Future Services Contribution is determined based upon a percentage of the monthly payroll payment and the 

Past Service Deficit totalling £21.2 million (based on the 2019 triennial valuation) will be recovered over the period from 2020-2021 to 

2022-2023.  

• The total contributions expected to be made to the Local Government Pension Scheme by the council in the year to 31 March 2023 are 

£23.7 million. Expected contributions for the Discretionary Benefits scheme in the year to 31 March 2023 are £0.5 million.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 157



91 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The Discretionary Benefits arrangements have no assets to cover their liabilities. The Local Government Pension Scheme’s assets are set out in 

the table below. It is estimated that the council has 7% of the share of the assets of the fund and that Wolverhampton Homes Limited has 1%.  

All scheme assets have quoted prices in active markets, except UK unquoted and global unquoted.  

2020-2021   2021-2022 

Council Subsidiary   Council Subsidiary 

Funded: 
LGPS 

Unfunded: 
LGPS 

Unfunded: 
Teachers 

Funded: 
LGPS 

Liabilities 
Funded: 

LGPS 
Unfunded: 

LGPS 
Unfunded: 
Teachers 

Funded: 
LGPS 

          

£m £m £m £m   £m £m £m   

(1,646.9) (21.8) (50.3) (196.1) 
Opening balance at 1 
April 

(2,075.4) (21.6) (50.5) (265.3) 

(52.6) - - (6.7) Current service cost (63.1) - - (10.1) 

(34.7) (0.3) (1.1) (4.6) Interest cost (41.8) (0.3) (1.0) (5.4) 

(7.4) - - (1.3) 
Contributions - 
participants 

(7.8) - - (1.3) 

(383.9) (1.4) (3.4) (60.2) 
Remeasurement 
Gain/(Loss) 

113.1 0.3 0.6 19.3 

50.4 1.9 4.3 3.7 Benefits paid 50.2 1.5 4.3 4.3 

- - - - Past service costs - - - - 

(3.1) - - (0.1) Curtailments (0.4) - - - 

2.8 - - - Settlements 0.2 - - - 

- - - - Admin expenses (0.6) - - (0.1) 

(2,075.4) (21.6) (50.5) (265.3) 
Closing balance at 31 
March 

(2,025.6) (20.1) (46.6) (258.6) 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 158



92 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Obtaining timely valuation is a perennial issue with Private Equity where the valuation of investment vehicles often has to be ‘stale’ or ‘lagged’ 

due to the unavailability of pricing information as at the Fund’s year end date (by the time the Statement of Accounts has been prepared and 

audited). Valuations are by necessity estimated and may not fully reflect the performance of the vehicles underlying portfolio of investments. 

 

Basis for estimating assets and liabilities  

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future 

years’ dependent on assumptions about variables such as mortality rates and salary levels. Both the Teachers' Discretionary Pension Scheme 

and the West Midlands Pension Fund liabilities have been assessed by Hymans Robertson LLP, an independent firm of actuaries. Estimates for 

the West Midlands Pension Fund are based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2019. The principal assumptions used by 

the actuary are set out in the following table.  

 

 

 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

LGPS Asset Category LGPS 

Council Subsidiary   Council Subsidiary 

£m £m   £m £m 

785.3 116.9 Equities 753.8 113.7 

108.5 16.2 Government Bonds 86.5 13.0 

82.7 12.3 Other Bonds 227.4 12.3 

97.8 14.6 Property 100.3 15.1 

63.7 9.5 Cash/Liquidity 54.9 8.3 

165.7 24.7 Other   174.9 48.4 

1,303.8 194.2 Total 1,397.8 210.8 

P
age 159



93 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

Council Subsidiary   Council Subsidiary 

LGPS Teachers     LGPS Teachers   

      Mortality assumptions:       

              

      Longevity at 65 for current pensioners (years):       

21.6 21.6 21.6   - Men 21.2 21.2 21.2 

23.9 23.9 23.9   - Women 23.6 23.6 23.6 

        

   Longevity at 65 for future pensioners (years):    

23.4 N/A 23.4   - Men 22.9 22.9 22.9 

25.8 N/A 25.8   - Women 25.4 25.4 25.4 

        

2.8 2.9 2.9 Rate of inflation 3.2 3.2 3.2 

3.8 N/A 3.9 Rate of increase in salaries 4.2 4.2 4.2 

2.8 2.9 2.9 Rate of increase in pensions 3.2 3.2 3.2 

2.0 1.8 2.0 Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.7 2.7 2.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 160



94 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Analysis of group net pension liability  

The following table analyses the net liability for the group:  

 

31 March 2021   31 March 2022 

Local 
Government 

Pension Scheme 

Discretionary 
Pension 
Scheme 

  
Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme 

Discretionary 
Pension 
Scheme 

  

  

  

£m £m   £m £m 

    Estimated Liabilities in Scheme     

(2,097.0) (50.5) City of Wolverhampton Council (2,045.7) (46.6) 

(265.1) - Wolverhampton Homes Limited (258.4) - 

(2,362.1) (50.5) Total Liabilities (2,304.1) (46.6) 

      

  Estimated Assets in Scheme   

1,303.8 - City of Wolverhampton Council 1,397.3 - 

194.2 - Wolverhampton Homes Limited 210.8 - 

1,498.0 - Total Assets 1,608.1 - 

      

(864.1) (50.5) Net Liabilities (696.1) (46.6) 

 

Impact on the council’s future cash flows  

The council’s arrangements with the West Midlands Pension Fund was subject to a triennial review in 2019 and covered pension payments for 

the period from 2020-2021 to 2022-2023; the agreed payments have been built into the budget and the council’s medium-term financial plans. In 

2021-2022, the council made a £22.8m advance payment of pension contributions to the Fund, in order to reduce total costs. Accounting 

regulations require that the actual amount due in relation to 2021-2022, of £32.5 million, is recognised as a cost in the Comprehensive Income 

Statement in 2020-2021. This cost is also shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement (Note 13A) and in the Employee Pensions note (Note 

P
age 161



95 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

9) for 2021-2022. The £9.7m variance is netted against the £11.4m advance payment left over from 2020-2021 and is held against the net pension 

liability on the Balance Sheet and will be drawn down against the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it is used in the future. 

The council will continue to explore options to accelerate contribution payments to secure additional savings. The total contributions expected to 

be made to the Local Government Pension Scheme by the council in the year to 31 March 2023 are £23.7 million. Expected contributions for the 

Discretionary Benefits scheme in the year to 31 March 2023 are £0.5 million.  

 

Note 10 Financial instruments  

The following table shows the financial instruments at their carrying value in the Balance Sheet: 

  Council 

31 March 2021   31 March 2022 

Long-Term Current   Long-Term Current 

£m £m   £m £m 

    Financial Assets Held at FVOCI     

13.8 - Equity instruments – Birmingham Airport Shareholding 14.1 - 

- - Equity instruments – Help to Own 5.7 - 

8.0 - Equity instruments – WV Living Shareholding 8.0 - 

21.8 - Total Financial Assets Held at FVOCI 27.8 - 

  Financial Assets Held at Amortised Cost   

1.3 - Finance Leases 1.3 - 

- 8.6 Investments - 80.1 

- 2.0 Cash and Cash Equivalents - 2.1 

- 74.4 Current Receivables - 44.8 

1.3 85.0 Total Financial Assets Held at Amortised Cost 1.3 127.0 
  Financial Liabilities Held at Amortised Cost   

(725.8) (5.3) Borrowings (715.6) (15.5) 

- (93.8) Current Payables - (140.8) 

(9.7) - Debt arising from the County Council Reorganisation (8.2) - 

(80.9) (2.9) PFIs (78.1) (3.0) 

P
age 162



96 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

(816.4) (102.0) Total Financial Liabilities Held at Amortised Cost (801.9) (159.3) 

  Other Financial Liabilities that are not Financial 
Instruments 

  

(4.8) - Grant Receipts in Advance - Capital (3.4) - 

- (28.8) Current Payables - (27.7) 

- (11.6) Provisions - (11.6) 

(4.8) (40.4) Total Other Financial Liabilities (3.4) (39.3) 

  Other Financial Assets that are not Financial 
Instruments 

  

- 48.5 Current Receivables - 41.9 

- 48.5 Total Other Financial Assets - 41.9 

 

10A Financial assets held at amortised cost - investments  

As at 31 March 2022, the council was holding £79.6 million in money market funds and £0.5 million in a deposit account. The fair value of these 

investments is valued by calculating the net present value of cash flows that are expected to take place over the remaining life of the investments.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 163



97 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

10B Lender option borrower option loans (LOBOs)  

The council held the below LOBOs as at 31 March 2022: 

    

Date raised Lender 
Original 
Principal 

Rate Maturity date  Step up details Next Two 
Step-up Dates 

    £m %     

Loans with No Step-Ups Remaining 

23/05/2002 Commerzbank AG 4.0 4.95 23/05/2066     

24/01/2003 Dexia Credit Local 5.0 4.26 26/07/2066     

30/01/2003 Dexia Credit Local 5.0 4.29 29/01/2066     

04/07/2003 Just Retirement Ltd 3.0 4.40 04/07/2066     

30/06/2004 Danske Bank 5.0 4.63 30/06/2066     

01/12/2004 Danske 5.0 4.81 01/12/2066     

08/10/2004 Commerzbank AG 7.0 4.60 10/04/2066     

Loans Still Subject to Step-Ups 

31/05/2006 Commerzbank AG 7.0 3.60 31/05/2066 31 May 2009 and each period of 5 years thereafter 31/05/2024 

            31/05/2029  

31/07/2006 Commerzbank AG 7.0 3.60 31/07/2066 31 July 2010 and each period of 5 years thereafter 31/07/2025 

            31/07/2030 

Loans Converted to Fixed Rate with effect from 30 June 2016 

30/03/2004 Barclays Bank 2.3 4.58 30/03/2066     

30/04/2004 Barclays Bank 2.5 4.58 28/04/2066     

31/08/2004 Barclays Bank 5.0 4.58 28/02/2066     

29/10/2004 Barclays Bank 5.0 4.58 28/04/2066     

13/10/2004 Barclays Bank 7.0 4.58 13/04/2066     

03/12/2004 Barclays Bank 2.0 4.39 05/06/2066     

23/05/2005 Barclays Bank 5.0 4.78 23/05/2066     

15/06/2005 Barclays Bank 5.0 4.78 15/06/2066     

04/07/2005 Barclays Bank 5.0 4.78 04/07/2066     

P
age 164



98 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

15/08/2005 Barclays Bank 5.0 4.39 15/02/2066     

15/09/2005 Barclays Bank 5.0 4.39 15/03/2066     

31/10/2006 Barclays Bank 7.0 3.60 31/10/2066   

 

During 2004 to 2006 the council entered into £55.8 million LOBOs with Barclays Bank Plc, repayable in 2066. In June 2016, Barclays decided to 

waive its right permanently under the lenders option of the LOBO feature to change interest rates in the future and converted them into fixed rate 

loans. No other terms or conditions of the loans were amended, and the loans will still mature in 2066.  

LOBOs are valued by calculating the net present value of cash flows that are expected to take place over the remaining life of the loan. The key 

inputs for this valuation model are contractual future cash flows which are discounted using a discount rate. The discount rate used for LOBOs 

range from 1.48% to 2.29%.  

LOBOs carry the risk that the lender can change certain conditions of the loan such as the dates and the interest rate. If this occurs, the council 

then has the option of either continuing with the loan or redeeming it in full without a penalty, so long as this is done within the allowed timescale. 

  

P
age 165



99 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

10C Leases and lease-type arrangements  

The council has a significant number of properties including car parking facilities, shops and offices, industrial units, sport and recreational facilities 

and community centres which are leased out for the following purposes:  

• The provision of community services such as sport and recreation facilities and community centres.  

• For economic development purposes to provide suitable accommodation for local businesses.  

The table below summarises the amounts payable and receivable by the council under lease agreements during the year, and the amounts that 

it expects to be payable or receivable under non-cancellable lease agreements in future years:  

 

2020-2021    
 

  
  

2021-2022  
Amounts Payable Amounts Receivable Amounts Payable Amounts Receivable 

Finance 
Leases 

Operating 
Leases 

Finance 
Leases 

Operating 
Leases 

Finance 
Leases 

Operating 
Leases 

Finance 
Leases 

Operating 
Leases 

£m £m £m £m   £m £m £m £m 

-  1.6 -  3.2 Payable/receivable in the year -  1.4 - 3.6 

-  1.6 -  3.1 Due within one year -  1.8 - 3.9 

-  2.0 -  9.2 Due in one to five years -  2.2 - 10.5 

-  .7 5.9 13.7 Due after five years -  0.6 5.9 18.3 

-  4.3 5.9  26.0 Total due in future years -  4.6 5.9 32.7 
  

 

  

P
age 166



100 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

10D Equity instruments designated as fair value through other comprehensive income - Birmingham Airport and WV Living 

shareholdings 

Birmingham Airport  

West Midlands Local Authorities collectively own 49% of Birmingham Airport Holdings Limited. The council holds 4.7% of the total ordinary shares 

and 9.58% of the preference shares of the company. The shares are not quoted on a stock exchange. On behalf of the West Midlands Authorities, 

Solihull Council undertakes a valuation review using Level 3 Inputs using an Earnings Based Approach. Earnings multiples are based on an 

average of the lower-quartile earnings and transaction multiples for the industry. The valuation review resulted in an increase of £0.3 million in 

the shareholding of the council.   

WV Living 

The council holds £8.0 million of ordinary shares in WV Living. 

Help to Own 

The council holds a £5.7 million equity investment in Help to Own. 

No active market (valuation): 

  
Input Level in Fair Value Hierarchy Valuation Technique Used to Measure Fair Value 

31 March 
2021 

31 March 
2022 

  £m £m 

Birmingham Airport Holdings Ltd 

  Ordinary Shares 
Level 3 Earning based valuation 

12.4  12.6 

  Preference Shares 1.5  1.5 

WV Living 

Ordinary Shares Level 3 Historic cost 8.0 8.0 

Help to Own     

Equity investment Level 3 Historic cost - 5.7 

Total 
  

  21.9  27.8 

 

 

P
age 167



101 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Reconciliation of fair value measurements for financial assets carried at fair value categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 

for financial assets: 

2020-2021 

Unquoted 
Shares 

Other Total 

£m £m £m 

Opening balance at 1 April 2021 21.9 - 21.9 

Transfers into Level 3 - - - 

Total gains or (losses) for the period included in Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 0.2 - 0.2 

Additions 5.7 - 5.7 

Disposals - - - 

Closing Balance 31 March 2022 27.8 - 27.8 

 

Investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income: 

2021-2022 Fair value 

Change in 
fair value 

during 

Dividends 
received 
during  

2021-2022 2021-2022 

    

  £m £m £m 

Birmingham Airport Holdings Ltd 14.1 0.3 - 

WV Living 8.0 - - 

Help to Own 5.7 - - 

 

 

 

P
age 168



102 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Quantitative information about fair value measurement of equity instruments using significant unobservable inputs – level 3: 

 As at 31/3/2022 
£m 

Valuation 
technique used to 
measure fair value  

Unobservable inputs  

 

Sensitivity Range 

 

   

Birmingham Airport Holdings Ltd 14.1 

Earning based 
valuation  

 

(Value is based on 
profitability of the 
company to arrive at 
a view of 
“maintainable” or 
“prospective” 
earnings. An 
EBITDA multiple is 
applied to 
maintainable or 
prospective 
earnings. The 
multiple draws on 
data from 
comparable quoted 
companies and 
comparable 
transactions of 
companies 
operating in the 
sector.) 

Earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation, and 
amortisation (EBITDA) 
multiple 

The valuation 
reduced by 42% 
from £23.7m in 
2018-2019, to 
£13.8m in 2020-
2021, due to the 
effect of the 
pandemic and 
associated 
restrictions on 
foreign travel. The 
valuation to 31 
March 2022 has 
increased by 2.2% 
to £13.8m. The 
timing of the 
recovery from the 
Covid-19 pandemic 
is still unclear and 
the aviation market 
is not expected to 
fully recover until at 
least 2023. 

Significant 
changes in foreign 
travel restrictions 
and take-up of 
foreign travel 
going forwards 
could result in a 
significantly lower 
or higher fair 
value.  

 

WV Living 8.0 

Historic cost 
 
An impairment 
review is also 
undertaken annually 

Not applicable 

Not applicable Not applicable 

P
age 169



103 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

taking into account 
the business plan. 

Help to Own 5.7 

Historic cost 
 
An impairment 
review is also 
undertaken annually 
taking into account 
the business plan. 

Not applicable 

Not applicable Not applicable 

 

10E Expected credit loss provision  

It is determined that the carrying amount for short-term investments, cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables is a reasonable 

approximation of fair value. Further information on accounts receivable can be found in Note 6.  

An allowance is made for expected credit losses within the balance reported on the Balance Sheet. The following provides a summary of the 

changes in allowance made: 

 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

£m   £m 

9.5 Allowance for Expected Credit Losses Brought Forward 11.7 

- Amounts Written-off During the Year 0.2 

2.2 Increase in Allowance During the Year - 

11.7 Allowance for Expected Credit Losses Carried Forward 11.9 

 

 

  

P
age 170



104 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

10F Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) and similar contracts  

The council has three contracts which are PFIs or similar in nature and which are accounted for as ‘on balance sheet’: the Bentley Bridge Leisure 

Centre, Highfields and Penn Fields Schools, St. Matthias School and Heath Park Academy. In each of these contracts the council pays an annual 

unitary charge over the life of the contract which is allocated between the fair value of the services provided by the operator, interest on the lease 

liability and repayment of the lease liability which increases annually in line with inflation based on the Retail Price Index. These allocations are 

determined using an accounting model which is derived from the operators’ financial close models which includes estimates of the impact of 

inflation on the unitary charge.  

 

Bentley Bridge Leisure Centre: In 2006-2007 the council signed a thirty-year contract for a new leisure facility. The scheme was for the design, 

build, funding and operation of a major new regional leisure facility. The facility includes a leisure pool with a river run, wave pool and flumes, a 

25 metre 6 lane traditional pool, a studio pool, a 140-station fitness suite, a dance/aerobics suite, children’s play feature and a café. The facility 

cost £13.3 million and opened on 12 December 2006. The facility is operated by Places for People Leisure Limited on behalf of the council. The 

contract period is for 30 years, with an end date of 31 October 2036. The total amount payable by the council over the life of the contract is £55.2 

million. Over the remaining life of the project the commitments are: 

 

  

Payment for 
Services 

Interest 

Capital 
Expenditure/

Capital 
Redemption 

Total 

£m £m £m £m 

Payable within one year 0.7  1.0  0.2  1.9  

Payable within two to five years 2.8  3.8  0.9  7.5  

Payable within six to ten years 3.3  4.6 2.2  10.1  

Payable within eleven to fifteen years 2.6  3.5  4.0  10.1  

Payable within sixteen to twenty years  - -  -  -  

Total 9.4  12.9  7.3  29.6  

P
age 171



105 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The following tables below shows the movements on the balances for Property, plant and equipment and the liability over the current and 

previous year:  

The currently liability for the Bentley Bridge PFI in 2021-2022 was £0.2m.  

  

Property, plant, and 
equipment 

Liability Total 

£m £m £m 

Balance at 31 March 2021 9.7  (7.3) 2.4 

Depreciation/Revaluation 2.3 - 2.3 

Capital Expenditure/Principal Redemption  0.2 0.2 

Balance at 31 March 2022 12.0 (7.1) 4.9 

 

 

  

Property, plant, and 
equipment 

Liability Total 

£m £m £m 

Balance at 31 March 2020 10.1  (7.6) 2.5 

Depreciation/Revaluation (0.4) - (0.4) 

Capital Expenditure/Principal Redemption - 0.3 0.3 

Balance at 31 March 2021 9.7 (7.3) 2.4 

 

 

 

P
age 172



106 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Highfields and Penn Fields School: As part of the Building Schools for the Future Programme the council entered into a PFI contract for the 

construction and management of a new building for the Highfields School and Penn Fields Special School. The construction of the new building 

cost £46.1 million. The total amount payable by the council over the life of the contract is estimated to be £199.1 million. Over the remaining life 

of the contract the estimated payments are: 

 

The tables below shows the movements on the balances for property, plant and equipment and the liability over the current and previous year: 

  

Payment 
for 

Services 
Interest 

Capital 
Expenditure

/Capital 
Redemption 

Total 

£m £m £m £m 

Payable within one year 2.4  4.2  1.2  7.8  

Payable within two to five years 9.1  15.9  6.7  31.7  

Payable within six to ten years 13.6  14.9  12.7  41.2  

Payable within eleven to fifteen years 17.5  6.8  19.0  43.3  

Payable within sixteen to twenty years 1.5  0.2  2.1  3.8  

Total 44.1  42.0  41.7  127.8  

 

The current liability for Highfields and Penn Fields PFI in 2021-2022 was £1.2m.  

 

 

 

 

P
age 173



107 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

  

Property, plant, and 
equipment 

Long-Term 
Liability 

Total 

£m £m £m 

Balance at 31 March 2021 9.9  (38.1) (28.3) 

Depreciation/ Revaluation 1.9 -  1.9 

Capital Expenditure/Principal Redemption -  0.9  0.9  

Balance at 31 March 2022 11.8  (37.2) (25.4) 

 

 

  

Property, plant, and 
equipment 

Liability Total 

£m £m £m 

Balance at 31 March 2020 7.8  (39.3) (31.5) 

Depreciation/ Revaluation  2.2 - 2.2 

Capital Expenditure/Principal Redemption - 1.0 1.0 

Balance at 31 March 2021 10.0 (38.3) (28.3) 

 

 

P
age 174



108 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

During 2015-2016 Highfields School converted to an academy and entered a 125-year lease with the council. This lease has been recognised 

as a finance lease and, accordingly, the Highfields School has been derecognised as an asset of the council. The remaining carrying asset value 

relates to Penn Fields Special School which has not converted to an academy.  

The terms of the PFI contract and level of unitary payment remains unchanged, however during 2021-2022 the council received a contribution of 

£2.4 million from the academy representing the balance of the unitary payment not funded by capital grants from central government. 

 

St. Matthias School and Heath Park Academy: As part of the Building Schools for the Future Programme the council entered into a new PFI 

contract for the construction and management of new buildings for St. Matthias School and Heath Park Academy. The construction costs of the 

new buildings were £19.7 million for St. Matthias and £24.3 million for Heath Park Academy. As Heath Park is an academy and has entered a 

long-term finance lease with the council the amount capitalised has been derecognised as a disposal. The total amount payable by the council 

over the life of the contract is estimated to be £156.8 million. Over the remaining life of the contract the estimated payments are:  

The table below shows the movements on the balances for property, plant and equipment and the liability over the current year: 

 

  

Payment 
for 

Services 
Interest 

Capital 
Expenditure/Capital 

Redemption 
Total 

£m £m £m £m 

Payable within one year 1.6 2.6 1.7 5.9 

Payable within two to five years 8.2 9.8 6.2 24.3 

Payable within six to ten years 11.2 10.4 10.0 31.6 

Payable within eleven to fifteen years 16.2 7.3 9.7 33.2 

Payable within sixteen to twenty years 12.5 3.6 7.7 23.8 

Total 49.7 33.7 35.4 118.8 

 

P
age 175



109 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The currently liability for St Matthias and Heath Park PFI in 2021-2022 was £1.7m.  

 

  

Property, plant, and 

equipment 
 Liability Total 

£m £m £m 

Balance at 31 March 2021 11.8  (36.9) (24.9) 

Depreciation/ Revaluation 9.7 -  9.7 

Capital Expenditure/Principal Redemption -  0.7  0.7  

Balance at 31 March 2022 21.6  (36.1) (14.5) 

 

 

  

Property, plant, and 
equipment 

Liability Total 

£m £m £m 

Balance at 31 March 2020 11.9  (38.3) (26.4) 

Depreciation/ Revaluation (0.1) - (0.1) 

Capital Expenditure/Principal Redemption - 1.4 1.4 

Balance at 31 March 2021 11.8 (36.9) (25.1) 

 

P
age 176



110 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Heath Park Academy is an existing academy and had previously entered into a 125-year lease with the council which has been classified as a 

finance lease and, on commencement of the PFI an amended agreement has been entered. As this is a similar agreement the asset has been 

derecognised as an asset of the council and treated as a disposal. The remaining carrying asset value relates to St. Matthias School which has 

not converted to an academy.  

The terms of the PFI contract and level of unitary payment remains unchanged, however, during 2021-2022 the council received a contribution 

of £1.4 million from Heath Park Academy representing the balance of the unitary payment not funded by capital grants from central government. 

 

10G Financial liabilities at amortised cost   

The table below shows the carrying values and fair values of loans held by the council at the year-end: 

31 March 2021 

  

31 March 2022 

Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value 

Long-Term Current Long-Term Current Long-Term Current Long-Term Current 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

(725.8) (5.3) (967.7) (5.3) Borrowings (715.6) (15.5) (888.4) (15.5) 

(9.7) - (9.7) - 
Debts Arising from the 
County Council 
Reorganisation 

(8.2) - (8.2) - 

(80.9) (2.9) (137.2) (4.9) PFIs (78.3) (3.0) (121.8) (4.7) 

 

Basis of fair value valuation  

The fair values of the loans and PFIs have been assessed by calculating the net present value of cash flows that are expected to take place over 

the remaining life of the loan. The assessment of loans uses Level 2 Inputs - inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial 

instrument.  

For PWLB (Public Works Loan Board) loans fair value has been calculated using new loan rates. The Debt Management Office provides a 

transparent approach to allow the exit cost of PWLB loans to be calculated.  

For non-PWLB loans, PWLB new loan rates have been applied. 

For PFIs, PWLB new loan rates have been applied. 

P
age 177



111 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

10H Debt arising from the West Midlands County Council reorganisation  

The council recognises debt arising from residual liabilities of the West Midlands County Council. The debt is managed by Dudley Metropolitan 

Borough Council and will mature by 31 March 2026.  

10I Gains and losses the gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in relation to financial 

instruments are shown in the following table: 

 

2020-2021 

  

2021-2022 

Financial 
Assets: 

Loans and 
Receivables 

Financial 
Assets 

Measured 
at FVOCI: 

Equity 
Instruments 

Financial 
Liabilities 
Measured 

at 
Amortised 

Cost 

Total 

Financial 
Assets: 

Loans and 
Receivables 

Financial 
Assets 

Measured 
at FVOCI: 

Equity 
instruments 

Financial 
Liabilities 

Measured at 
Amortised 

Cost 

Total 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

- - 36.8 36.8 Interest Expense - - 35.9 35.9 

(2.2) - - (2.2) Interest Income (1.3) - - (1.3) 

- 0.6 - 0.6 
(Gain) or Loss on Valuation of 
Unquoted Equity Investment 

- (0.2) - (0.2) 

(2.2) 0.6 36.8 35.2 Net (Income)/Expense (1.3) (0.2) 35.9 34.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 178



112 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

10J Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: 

  

31 March 2021 
Financing 

Cash Flows 
Non-Cash Changes 31 March 2022 

      Other Non-
Cash 

Changes 

  

    Acquisition   

        

£m £m £m £m £m 

Long-Term Borrowings (725.8) - - - (725.8) 

Short-Term Borrowings (5.3) (9.9) - - (15.2) 

On Balance Sheet PFI Liabilities (83.8) 2.5   (81.3) 

Total Liabilities from Financing Activities (814.9) (7.4) - - (822.3) 

 

 

  

31 March 2020 
Financing 

Cash Flows 
Non-Cash Changes 31 March 2021 

      Other Non-
Cash 

Changes 

  

    Acquisition   

        

£m £m £m £m £m 

Long-Term Borrowings (725.8) - - - (725.8) 

Short-Term Borrowings (17.8) 12.5 - - (5.3) 

On Balance Sheet PFI Liabilities (86.5) 2.7 - - (83.8) 

Total Liabilities from Financing Activities (830.1) 15.2 - - (814.9) 

 

P
age 179



113 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

10K Risks arising from financial instruments  

There are a number of risks associated with the council's financial instruments, which the council seeks to actively identify and manage. A key 

part of this is the preparation of the following documents on an annual basis, in accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and the 

Prudential Code:  

• Treasury Management Strategy.  

• Annual Investment Strategy.  

• Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators.  

These strategies and indicators set out the council's approach to the key risks arising from financial instruments and how it will monitor and 

manage those risks. These are reflected in the following paragraphs.  

  

Amounts arising from expected credit losses  

The changes in the loss allowance for each class of financial asset during the year are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 180



114 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

  

Short-Term 
Investments 

- Loans 

Short-Term 
Investments 

- Loans 

Financial 
Guarantee 

Trade 
Receivables 
and Lease 

Receivables 

Total 

12 Month 
Expected 

Credit 
Losses 

Lifetime 
Expected 

Credit 
Losses 
(Credit 

Impaired) 

Lifetime 
Expected 

Credit 
Losses (Not 

Credit 
Impaired) 

Lifetime 
Expected 

Credit 
Losses 

(Simplified 
Approach) 

£m £m £m £m £m 

Opening balance as at 1 April 2021 1.3  0.1  0.2  10.8  12.4  

Transfers:      

  - Individual financial assets transferred to 12-month expected credit losses - - - - - 

  - Individual financial assets transferred to lifetime expected credit losses - - - - - 

  - Individual financial assets transferred to lifetime expected credit losses credit impaired - - - - - 

New financial assets originated or purchased  - - - - - 

Amounts written-off - - - - - 

Financial assets that have been derecognised - - - - - 

Changes due to modifications that did not result in derecognition - - - - - 

Changes in models/risk parameters - - - - - 

Other changes - - - - - 

Closing Balance as at 31 March 2022 1.3 0.1 0.2 10.8 12.4 

 

P
age 181



115 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Credit and counterparty risk management  

The security of principal sums invested is the council's top priority when making investment decisions: accordingly, it only places sums with 

institutions for whom credit risk is assessed as very low. To form this assessment, the council applies a creditworthiness model supplied by its 

external treasury advisors Link Group, which takes into account credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies, credit default 

swap spreads, and sovereign ratings. The council also uses market data and market information, information on government support for banks 

and the credit ratings of the government in question. The council has combined these factors to develop a range of creditworthiness criteria which 

it applies strictly when making investment decisions.          

The council's maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 March 2022 was £167.6 million (31 March 2021: £125.5 million). This relates entirely to 

loans and receivables. The council does not hold any collateral in respect of these amounts.      

  

Collateral and other credit enhancements obtained  

The council did not obtain any collateral or other credit enhancements during 2021-2022 or 2020-2021.    

    

Liquidity risk management  

The council ensures it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing arrangements, overdraft, or standby facilities to enable it 

at all times to have the level of funds available which are necessary for the achievement of its business/service objectives. The council actively 

manages its cash balances on a daily basis, and forecasts cash requirements several months in advance. In its investment activities, the council 

places strong emphasis on liquidity (second only to security, as discussed under credit risk). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 182



116 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Analysis of external borrowing financial liabilities by maturity date: 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

£m Time until Repayment £m 

- Payable next year 10.2 

35.6 Payable within two to five years 31.6 

75.1 Payable within six to ten years 78.8 

60.0 Payable within eleven to fifteen years 50.0 

51.0 Payable within sixteen to twenty years 51.0 

82.3 Payable within twenty-one to twenty-five years 82.3 

50.5 Payable within twenty-six to thirty years 50.5 

117.5 Payable within thirty-one to thirty-five years 132.5 

81.6 Payable within thirty-six to forty years 66.6 

85.3 Payable within forty-one to forty-five years 166.8 

81.5 Payable within forty-six to fifty years - 

- Payable within fifty-one to sixty years - 

720.4 Total 720.3 

 

 

Interest rate risk management  

The council manages its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing its net interest costs or securing its interest revenues. 

It achieves this by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments, methods, and techniques, primarily to create stability 

and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially 

advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. These are subject at all times to the consideration and, if required, approval of 

any policy or budgetary implications.       

If interest rates had been 1% higher during 2021-2022, the council's interest payable would have increased by £7.2 million, and its interest 

receivable would have increased by £617,000, resulting in an increase in net expenditure of £6.6 million. Had interest rates been 1% lower, 

equivalent decreases would have occurred, leading to a decrease in net expenditure of £6.6 million.        

  

P
age 183



117 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Inflation risk management  

The effects of varying levels of inflation, insofar as they can be identified as impacting directly on the council's treasury management activities, 

are controlled as an integral part of the council's strategy for managing its overall exposure to inflation.  

The council achieves this objective by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments, methods, and techniques, primarily 

to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of 

unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. These are subject at all times to the consideration and, 

if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications.    

 

Price risk  

The council does not generally invest in equity shares but does have shareholdings to the value of £14.1 million in Birmingham Airport Holdings 

Ltd and £8.0 million in WV Living. The council is consequently exposed to losses arising from movements in the prices of the shares. As the 

shareholdings, have arisen in the acquisition of specific interests, the council is not in a position to limit its exposure to price movements by 

diversifying its portfolio. The shares are all classified as 'unquoted equity investment at cost', meaning that all movements in price will impact on 

gains and losses recognised in 'Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure'.       

 

Refinancing risk management  

The council ensures that its borrowing, private financing, and partnership arrangements are negotiated, structured, and documented, and the 

maturity profile of the monies so raised is managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which are 

competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of market conditions prevailing at the time. It actively 

manages its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a manner as to secure this objective and avoids over-reliance on 

any one source of funding if this might jeopardise achievement of the above.  

  

Legal and regulatory risk management  

The council ensures that all of its treasury management activities comply with its statutory powers and regulatory requirements. It is able to 

demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to all parties with whom it deals in such activities. The council ensures that there is evidence 

of counterparties' powers, authority, and compliance in respect of the transactions they may carry out with the organisations, particularly with 

regard to duty of care and fees charged.       

P
age 184



118 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its treasury management activities and, so far as it is 

reasonably able to do so, seeks to minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the organisation.  

 

Fraud, error and corruption risk, and contingency management  

The council ensures that it has identified the circumstances that may expose it to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption, or other 

eventualities in its treasury management dealings. Accordingly, it employs suitable systems and procedures, and maintains effective contingency 

management arrangements to these ends.  

  

10L Financial instruments for the group 

This note sets out the differences from the information contained in Note 10 of the council entity accounts to enable the reader to determine, 

more clearly, the impact of group company transactions.  

Debtors and cash  

Short-term debtors and cash consolidated as part of the group financial statements are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. Further 

information on Group debtors is provided in Note 6A.  

Creditors  

Short-term creditors consolidated as part of the group financial statements are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost. Further 

information on group creditors is provided in Note 6C.  

Other long-term liabilities consolidated as part of the group financial statements are classified as financial assets at amortised cost and relate to 

loans to WV Living. The loans are secured by floating charges over assets of the company and interest rates on these loans range between 

4.08% to 10.51%.  

Long-term investments 

The reduction in long-term investments at 31 March 2022 between the council entity accounts, £27.8m and the group accounts, £20.8m, is 

represented by the acquisition of shares in group entity, WV Living, recognised by the council. These transactions are eliminated on consolidation.  

 

P
age 185



119 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Income, expense, gains and losses  

The increase in Income and Expenditure at 31 March 2022 between the council entity accounts and the group accounts is due to the sale, during 

the year, of WV Living property which was in the development stage as at 31 March 2021.  

Fair values of assets and liabilities  

The amounts consolidated as part of the group financial statements are not considered significantly different from the carrying amounts.  

Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

The nature and extent of risks from financial instruments arising in the group financial statements are not considered materially different from 

those in the council entity accounts. 

  

P
age 186



120 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 11 Members of the City of Wolverhampton Council Group and other related parties subsidiaries  

The council has three subsidiary entities: Wolverhampton Homes Limited, Yoo Recruit Ltd and WV Living (City of Wolverhampton Housing 

Company Limited).  

Wolverhampton Homes Limited is an arm’s length management organisation (ALMO) which was established in 2005 to manage and maintain 

most of the council’s housing stock. It is wholly owned by the council. The company’s accounts have been wholly consolidated into the group 

elements of the financial statements.  

Wolverhampton Homes Limited’s main income stream comes from the council, in the form of a management fee for housing management and 

maintenance which amounted to £39.4 million in 2021-2022 (£38.8 million in 2020-2021). There are a number of other transaction streams 

between the two entities, including capital works carried out by Wolverhampton Homes Limited for the council, support services provided by the 

council, and premises leases payable by Wolverhampton Homes Limited. Payments by the council to Wolverhampton Homes Limited amounted 

to £52.6 million in 2021-2022 (2020-2021: £50.5 million), whilst payments by Wolverhampton Homes Limited to the council totalled £4.6 million 

(2020-2021: £5.2 million). At the year end, Wolverhampton Homes Limited owed the council £2.0 million (2020-2021: £2.4 million), and the council 

owed Wolverhampton Homes Limited £7.7 million (2020-2021: £7.4 million).  

Yoo Recruit Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary which was formed in 2014. The council does not consider the transactions and balances of this 

company to be material, so they have not been consolidated into the Group Accounts. Payments by the council to Yoo Recruit Ltd amounted to 

£14.7 million (2020-2021: £11.2 million) while payments by Yoo Recruit Ltd to the council totalled £111,596 (2020-2021: £110,296).  

At 31 March 2022, the amount owing to Yoo Recruit Ltd, included in current payables, was £1,190,035 (2020-2021: £693,837) while an amount, 

included in current receivables, of £109,020 (2020-2021: £107,720) was owed to the council.  

In 2021, the council entered a joint venture with the West Midlands Combined Authority to pilot an affordable housing project; Help to Own. Help 

to Own helps to address the issue that many potential buyers in work have when looking to buy a home; in raising the deposit to secure a 

mortgage. Help to Own has not been consolidated into the group accounts as the impact is not considered to be material. As at 31 March 2022, 

the council held a £5.7 million equity investment in the venture. 

WV Living was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of the council in 2016-2017. During 2021-2022 the company has incurred expenditure of 

£2.6 million, of which £1.2 million was borrowing costs (2020-2021: £2.0 million) and has stock assets of £4.6 million as at 31 March 2022 (£32.4 

million at 31 March 2021). £0.4 million of expenditure (excluding interest) relates to transactions with the council (2020-2021: £1.1 million). 

Turnover in 2021-2022 was £46.2 million (2020-2021: £16.0 million), £2.7 million of this being transactions with the council (2020-2021: £6.8 

million). At the year-end WV Living owed the council £5.1 million of which £5.0 million was loan financing and £0.1 million for services provided. 

(31 March 2021: £30.8 million of which £28.8 million was loan financing and £2.0 million for services provided). The council owed WV Living £0.0 

million (31 March 2021: £0.2 million). The company’s accounts have been wholly consolidated into the group elements of the financial statements.  

P
age 187



121 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

LGPS Central Limited has been established to manage investment assets on behalf of nine Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) funds 

across the Midlands. It is jointly owned in equal shares by the eight administering authorities participating in the LGPS Central Pool, of which 

Wolverhampton City Council, as the administering authority for West Midlands Pension Fund, is one of the shareholders. Each authority has one 

Class A voting share in LGPS Central Limited.  

The Fund has agreed a number of advisory agreements covering a range of asset classes within the fixed income portfolio and wider illiquid 

portfolios. LGPS Central Limited has also provided the Fund with execution only services in the management of forward currency hedging 

positions. The charges in respect of these services totalled £2.085 million in 2021-2022 (2020-2021: £2.112 million). The amount outstanding in 

respect of these services at 31 March 2022 was £0.958 million (31 March 2021: £0.516 million). 

The Pension Fund was invoiced £2.017 million in respect of Governance, Operator Running and Product Development costs by LGPS Central 

Limited for 2021-2022 (2020-2021: £2.706 million). The amount outstanding in respect of these services at 31 March 2022 was £0.633m (31 

March 2021: £0.643m).  

LGPS Central Limited has let office space from City of Wolverhampton Council since 1 April 2018 on a sub leasing arrangement. The rental 

income and rates receivable by City of Wolverhampton Council from LGPS Central Limited in 2021-2022 totalled £68,549 (2020-2021: £102,595) 

and the reimbursement of associated utilities and maintenance charges for 2021-2022 totalled £13,455 (2020-2021: £16,078).  

LGPS Central Limited is an admitted body and employs staff that are active members of the West Midlands Pension Fund. Normal contributions 

receivable from LGPS Central Limited for the year to 31 March 2022 were £519,800 (2020-2021: £518,500). 

City of Wolverhampton Council (via the Pension Fund) has invested £1.315 million in LGPS Central Limited class B shares and £0.685m in class 

C shares in 2017-2018 and these are both carried as balances in net investment assets at this year-end. 

The council let office space (‘i9’) to LGPS Central Limited from 27 October 2021. 

Other related parties 

The council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties. These are bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or 

influence the council or to be controlled or influenced by the council. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which 

the council might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party's ability to 

bargain freely with the council.  The table below discloses the transactions of other related parties: 

 

 

 

P
age 188



122 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

Expenditure Income   Expenditure Income 

£m £m   £m £m 

- - Members - - 

- - Senior officers - - 

          

Other Public Bodies (subject to control by Central Government) 

11.5  (0.8)  West Midlands Combined Authority 12.8  (0.6)  

          

Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the council 

1.9  (0.4)  Bushbury Hill EMB Ltd 1.8  (0.5)  

1.1  -  Dovecotes Pendeford TMO 1.1  - 

0.4  -  New Park Village TMC 0.5  - 

0.1  -  Springfield Horseshoe Co-op/Burton Rd (0.1)  -  

          

Other Entities in which the council has an Interest 

0.1  -  Bilston Business Improvement District (BID) 0.2  -  

-  (0.1)  Birmingham Airport Holdings Ltd -  (0.1) 

0.1  -  Black Country Consortium Ltd 0.1  -  

0.7  (0.1)  City of Wolverhampton College 0.7  -  

0.7  (0.4)  ConnectEd Partnership Ltd 0.6  (0.4)  

-  -  Help to Own 5.7  -  

3.9  (5.0)  i54 3.3  (4.4)  

13.9  -  Inspired Spaces Wolverhampton Ltd 13.7  -  

0.3  -  The Way Wolverhampton Youth Zone 0.3  -  

0.1  -  West Midlands Growth Company Ltd -  -  

0.3  - Wolverhampton Bid Company Ltd 0.5  (0.1)  

          

35.1  (6.8)  Total 41.2  (6.1)  

 

 

 

P
age 189



123 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Central government  

Central government has effective control over the general operations of the council. It is responsible for providing the statutory framework within 

which the council operates, provides the majority of its funding in the form of grants, and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that 

the council has with other parties. Grants received from government departments are part of Note 1D - Expenditure and Income Analysed by 

Nature and the table in Note 2H – Grants details grants and contributions that have been credited to the CIES during the year. 

In addition, in response to the pandemic, Central Government has required the Council to distribute mandatory grants to local businesses, Adult 

Social Care providers and individuals required to self-isolate. In the administration of these grants, the Council has acted as an Agent. 

West Midlands Pension Fund (WMPF) 

The City of Wolverhampton Council administers the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) on behalf of all public body employers throughout 

the West Midlands, including the 7 local authorities and trades as the West Midlands Pension Fund administering the Local Government Pension 

Benefits of over 300,000 members. The WMPF statements of account are included within this document under in Section 7. The council let office 

space (‘i9’) to West Midlands Pension Fund from 13 December 2021. 

Members/councillors 

Councillors have direct control over the council’s financial and operating policies. The total of councillors’ allowances paid during the year is 

shown in Note 2D. A register of councillors’ interests is available on the council’s website. There were no significant transactions between the 

council and any organisation in which the council's members have an interest. 

Senior officers 

Senior officers’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 2E. Council officers are required to declare any interests under Section 117 of the Local 

Government Act 1972. There were no significant transactions between the council and any organisation in which the council's senior officers 

have an interest. 

Other public bodies (subject to common control by central government) 

The council has two pooled budget arrangements with Black Country & West Birmingham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) these relate to 

child placements with external agencies and health and social care services under the Better Care Fund (BCF). Further information on both 

schemes can be found in Note 2C – Pooled Budgets. 

The council is a constituent member of the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA). The WMCA consists of seven constituent members. 

These members have the right to vote on council activities, but no member has a controlling interest in the WMCA. The council does receive 

grants from the WMCA so that it can deliver services to fulfil WMCA objectives. These grants are included in Note 2H – Grants. 

P
age 190



124 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 12 Trust funds  

The City of Wolverhampton Council acts as a trustee for a number of trust funds. The funds are not assets of the council and therefore they have 

not been included in the council’s balance sheet. The table below provides an overview of the funds and their finances over the last two years: 

2020-2021 

Fund Name and Purpose 

2021-2022 

Income Expenditure 

Fund 
Value at 
31 March 

2021 

Income Expenditure 

Fund 
Value at 
31 March 

2022 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

-  -  (44) 
Springfield Reading Room - in its capacity as trustee, the 
council is authorised to apply income in various ways 

- - (44) 

-  -  (30) 
Greenway Benefaction - established for the convalescence, 
enjoyment, pleasure, and amusement of poor children of Bradley 

- - (30) 

-  -  (17) 
Butler Bequest Music in the Parks - to provide music in the 
parks 

- - (17) 

- -  (14) Monica Lloyd - to provide assistance with further education (1) - (15) 

-  -  (27) Other smaller funds - - (27) 

- -  (132) Total (1) - (133) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 191



125 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 13 Reserves  

13A Detailed analysis of Movement in Reserves Statement:  

   

2021-2022 Part 1 – Usable reserves:  

  

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 b

a
la

n
c

e
 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 E

a
rm

a
rk

e
d

 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

T
o

ta
l 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

b
a

la
n

c
e
 

H
R

A
 b

a
la

n
c
e
 

M
a

jo
r 

R
e
p

a
ir

s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
 

U
s
a
b

le
 C

a
p

it
a
l 

R
e
c
e
ip

ts
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

G
ra

n
ts

 U
n

a
p

p
li

e
d

 

A
c
c
o

u
n

t 

T
o

ta
l 

U
s
a
b

le
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance Brought Forward (13.7) (121.4) (135.1) (6.9) (1.6) (9.7) (7.5) (160.8) 

          

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services (37.7) - (37.7) (36.9) - - - (74.6) 

          

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure         

Revaluations - Gains and losses - - - - - - - - 

Gains on Available-for-Sale Financial Assets - - - - - - - - 

Amounts recycled (AFS Reserve) to the I&E Account after impairment or 
derecognition 

- - - - - - - - 

Re-measurements in the pensions reserve - - - - - - - - 

Share of other CI&E of Associates & Joint Ventures (Group a/cs only) - - - - - - - - 

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (37.7) - (37.7) (36.9) - - - (74.6) 

          

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers & Other Movements (37.7) - (37.7) (36.9) - - - (74.6) 

          

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations         

P
age 192



126 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment, and revaluation of non-current assets 26.7 - 26.7 15.0 (19.5) - - 22.2 

Difference between HRA depreciation and Major Repairs Allowance - - - - - - - - 

HRA Share of Contribution to Pension Reserve - - - - - - - - 

Movement in the market value of Investment properties & Council dwellings 3.2 - 3.2 1.9 - - - 5.1 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (14.2) - (14.2) - - - - (14.2) 

Net (Gain)/Loss on sale of non-current assets (net book value of assets) (4.2) - (4.2) (10.2) - - - (14.4) 

Net (Gain)/Loss on sale of non-current assets (disposal proceeds) 3.9 - 3.9 11.4 - (15.3) - - 

Difference between statutory debit/credit and amount recognised as income and 
expenditure in respect of financial instruments 

- - - - - - - - 

Difference between amounts credited to the CIES and amounts to be recognised 
under statutory provisions relating to council tax 

27.0 
- 

27.0 
- - - - 

27.0 

Net Charges made for retirement benefits in accordance with IAS 19 (81.2) - (81.2) - - - - (81.2) 

Capital Expenditure charged in the year to the General Fund 2.1 - 2.1 5.0 - - - 7.1 

Transfer from Usable Capital Receipts to meet payments to Housing Capital 
Receipts Pool 

(2.2) 
- 

(2.2) 
- - 

2.2 
- 

- 

Employer's contributions payable to the Pension Fund and retirement benefits paid 
directly to pensioners 

38.3 - 38.3 - - - - 38.3 

Transfers of HRA balance  - - - - - - - - 

Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to CIES 23.0 - 23.0 0.7 - - (23.7) - 

Application of Capital Grants and Contributions to capital financing transferred to the 
Capital adjustment account 

- 
- 

- - 
- 

- 29.9 29.9 

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the CIES on an accruals basis is 
different from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements 

1.8 
- 

1.8 
- - 

- 
- 

1.8 

Capital Expenditure Financed from Usable Capital Receipts - - - - - 35.8  35.8 

Other income that cannot be credited to the General Fund - - - - - - - - 

Revenue provision for the repayment of debt  22.9 - 22.9 13.2 - - - 36.1 

Transfer of HRA Settlement Receipts to UCR - - - - - - - - 

Use of Major Repairs Allowance to Finance Capital Spend - - - - 19.1 - - 19.1 

Capitalisation under Section 16(2)(b) directive - - - - - - - - 

Loan receipts transferred to Capital adjustment account - - - - - (23.8) - (23.8) 

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations 47.0 - 47.0 36.9 (0.4) (1.2) 6.2 88.6 

          

P
age 193



127 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Group contributions to/from Reserves (Group a/cs only) - - - - - - - - 

Transfers to/from other Earmarked Reserves (9.3) 9.3 - - - - - - 

          

Balance Carried Forward (13.7) (112.1) (125.8) (6.9) (2.0) (10.8) (1.3) (146.9) 

 

2021-2022 Part 2 – Unusable reserves: 

  

S
h

o
rt

-t
e
rm

 A
c
c
u

m
u

la
ti

n
g

 

C
o

m
p

e
n

s
a
te

d
 A

b
s

e
n

c
e
s
 

A
c
c
o

u
n

t 

A
v
a
il

a
b

le
-f

o
r-

s
a
le

 

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
In

s
tr

u
m

e
n

ts
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

a
d

ju
s

tm
e
n

t 

a
c
c
o

u
n

t 

C
o

ll
e
c
ti

o
n

 F
u

n
d

 

A
d

ju
s

tm
e
n

t 
A

c
c
o

u
n

t 

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
In

s
tr

u
m

e
n

ts
 

A
d

ju
s

tm
e
n

t 
A

c
c
o

u
n

t 

P
e
n

s
io

n
s

 R
e
s
e
rv

e
 

R
e
v
a
lu

a
ti

o
n

 r
e
s
e
rv

e
 

T
o

ta
l 

U
n

u
s

a
b

le
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

T
O

T
A

L
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

S
 

(C
o

u
n

c
il

) 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance Brought Forward 5.6 (7.4) (437.4) 45.5 5.2 854.1 (133.4) 332.3 171.5 

           

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of 
Services 

- - - - - - - - (74.6) 

           

Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

         

Revaluations - Gains and losses - - - - - - (60.0) (60.0) (60.0) 

Gains on Available-for-Sale Financial 
Assets 

- 
- - 

- - - - 
- - 

Amounts recycled (AFS Reserve) to the 
I&E Account after impairment or 
derecognition 

- - - - - - - - - 

Re-measurements in the pensions reserve - - - - - (201.2) - (201.2) (201.2) 

Share of other CI&E of Associates & Joint 
Ventures (Group a/cs only) 

- - - - - - - - - 

Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

- - - - - (201.2) (60.0) (261.2) (335.8) 

           

P
age 194



128 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers 
& Other Movements 

- - - - - (201.2) (60.0) (261.2) (335.8) 

           

Adjustments between Accounting Basis 
& Funding Basis under Regulations 

         

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment, and 
revaluation of non-current assets 

- - 
(24.3) 

- - - 
2.2 (22.1) - 

Difference between HRA depreciation and 
Major Repairs Allowance 

- - - - - - - - - 

HRA Share of Contribution to Pension 
Reserve 

- - - - - - - - - 

Movement in the market value of 
Investment properties & Council dwellings 

- - (5.2) - - - - (5.2) - 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital 
under Statute 

- - 
14.2 

- - - - 
14.2 - 

Net (Gain)/Loss on sale of non-current 
assets (net book value of assets) 

- - 13.8 - - - 0.8 14.6 - 

Net (Gain)/Loss on sale of non-current 
assets (disposal proceeds) 

- - 
- 

- - - 
- - - 

Difference between statutory debit/credit 
and amount recognised as income and 
expenditure in respect of financial 
instruments 

- - - - - - - - - 

Difference between amounts credited to 
the CIES and amounts to be recognised 
under statutory provisions relating to 
council tax 

- - - 

(27.0) - 

- - 

(27.0) - 

Net Charges made for retirement benefits 
in accordance with IAS 19 

- - - - - 81.2 - 81.2 - 

Capital Expenditure charged in the year to 
the General Fund 

- - 
(7.1) 

- - - - 
(7.1) - 

Transfer from Usable Capital Receipts to 
meet payments to Housing Capital 
Receipts Pool 

- - - - - - - - - 

Employer's contributions payable to the 
Pension Fund and retirement benefits paid 
directly to pensioners 

- - - - - (38.3) - (38.3) - 

Transfers of HRA balance  - - - - - - - - - 

Capital grants and contributions unapplied 
credited to CIES 

- - - - - - - - - 

Application of Capital Grants and 
Contributions to capital financing 
transferred to the Capital adjustment 
account 

- - 

(29.9) 

- - - - 

(29.9) - 

P
age 195



129 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Amount by which officer remuneration 
charged to the CIES on an accruals basis 
is different from remuneration chargeable in 
the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements 

(1.8) - - - - - - (1.8) - 

Capital Expenditure Financed from Usable 
Capital Receipts 

- - (35.8) - - - - (35.8) - 

Other income that cannot be credited to the 
General Fund 

- - - - - - - - - 

Revenue provision for the repayment of 
debt  

- - 
(36.0) 

- - - - 
(36.0) - 

Transfer of HRA Settlement Receipts to 
UCR 

- - - 
 

- - - - 
- - 

Use of Major Repairs Allowance to Finance 
Capital Spend 

- - 
(19.1) 

- - - - 
(19.1) - 

Capitalisation under Section 16(2)(b) 
directive 

- - 
- 

- - - - 
- - 

Loan receipts transferred to Capital 
adjustment account 

- - 
23.8 

- - - - 
23.8 - 

Adjustments between Accounting Basis 
& Funding Basis under Regulations 

(1.8) - (105.6) (27.0) - 42.9 2.9 (88.6) - 

           

Group contributions to/from Reserves 
(Group a/cs only) 

- - - - - - - - - 

Transfers to/from other Earmarked 
Reserves 

- - - - - - - - - 

           

Balance Carried Forward 3.8 (7.4) (543.0) 18.5 5.2 695.8 (190.5) (17.6) (164.5) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 196



130 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2020-2021 Part 1 – Usable reserves:  

  

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 b

a
la

n
c

e
 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 E

a
rm

a
rk

e
d

 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

T
o

ta
l 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

b
a

la
n

c
e
 

H
R

A
 b

a
la

n
c
e
 

M
a

jo
r 

R
e
p

a
ir

s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
 

U
s
a
b

le
 C

a
p

it
a
l 

R
e
c
e
ip

ts
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

G
ra

n
ts

 U
n

a
p

p
li

e
d

 

A
c
c
o

u
n

t 

T
o

ta
l 

U
s
a
b

le
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance Brought Forward (13.0) (64.6) (77.6) (6.9) (1.1) (10.4) (5.2) (101.3) 

          

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 28.3 - 28.3 (21.2) - - - 7.1 

          

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure         

Revaluations - Gains and losses - - - - - - - - 

Gains on Available-for-Sale Financial Assets - - - - - - - - 

Amounts recycled (AFS Reserve) to the I&E Account after impairment or 
derecognition 

- - - - - - - - 

Re-measurements in the pensions reserve - - - - - - - - 

Share of other CI&E of Associates & Joint Ventures (Group a/cs only) - - - - - - - - 

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 28.3 - 28.3 (21.2) - - - 7.1 

          

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers & Other Movements 28.3 - 28.3 (21.2) - - - 7.1 

                  

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations                 

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment, and revaluation of non-current assets (38.3)  (38.3) 0.9 (19.0)   (56.4) 

Difference between HRA depreciation and Major Repairs Allowance - - - - - - - - 

HRA Share of Contribution to Pension Reserve - - - - - - - - 

Movement in the market value of Investment properties & Council dwellings (2.6) - (2.6) - - - - (2.6) 

P
age 197



131 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (12.3) - (12.3) - - - - (12.3) 

Net (Gain)/Loss on sale of non-current assets (net book value of assets) (5.6) - (5.6) (7.0) - - - (12.6) 

Net (Gain)/Loss on sale of non-current assets (disposal proceeds) 4.2 - 4.2 8.1 - (12.2) - 0.1 

Difference between statutory debit/credit and amount recognised as income and 
expenditure in respect of financial instruments 

0.1 
- 

0.1 
- - - - 

0.1 

Difference between amounts credited to the CIES and amounts to be recognised 
under statutory provisions relating to council tax 

(44.3) 
- 

(44.3) 
- - - - 

(44.3) 

Net Charges made for retirement benefits in accordance with IAS 19 (70.4) - (70.4) - - - - (70.4) 

Capital Expenditure charged in the year to the General Fund 1.7 - 1.7 6.3 - - - 8.0 

Transfer from Usable Capital Receipts to meet payments to Housing Capital 
Receipts Pool 

(2.2) 
- 

(2.2) 
- - 

2.2 
- 

- 

Employer's contributions payable to the Pension Fund and retirement benefits paid 
directly to pensioners 

39.2 
- 

39.2 
- - - - 

39.2 

Transfers of HRA balance   - - - - - -  

Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to CIES 23.7 - 23.7 0.5 - - (23.9) 0.3 

Application of Capital Grants and Contributions to capital financing transferred to the 
Capital adjustment account 

(0.5) 
- 

(0.5) 0.5 
- 

- 21.6 21.6 

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the CIES on an accruals basis is 
different from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements 

(1.6) 
- 

(1.6) 
- - 

- 
- 

(1.6) 

Capital Expenditure Financed from Usable Capital Receipts - - - - - 22.0 - 22.0 

Other income that cannot be credited to the General Fund 0.3 - 0.3 - - - - 0.3 

Revenue provision for the repayment of debt  22.9 - 22.9 11.9 - - - 34.8 

Transfer of HRA Settlement Receipts to UCR - - - - - - - - 

Use of Major Repairs Allowance to Finance Capital Spend - - - - 18.5 - - 18.5 

Capitalisation under Section 16(2)(b) directive - - - -  - - - 

Loan receipts transferred to Capital adjustment account - - - - - (11.2) - (11.2) 

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations (85.7) - (85.7) 21.2 (0.5) 0.8 (2.3) (66.5) 

          

Group contributions to/from Reserves (Group a/cs only) - - - - - - - - 

Transfers to/from other Earmarked Reserves 56.8 (56.8) (0.0) - - - - (0.0) 

          

Balance Carried Forward (13.7) (121.4) (135.1) (6.9) (1.6) (9.7) (7.5) (160.8) 

P
age 198



132 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2020-2021 Part 2 – Unusable reserves: 

  

S
h

o
rt

-t
e
rm

 A
c
c
u

m
u

la
ti

n
g

 

C
o

m
p

e
n

s
a
te

d
 A

b
s

e
n

c
e
s
 

A
c
c
o

u
n

t 

A
v
a
il

a
b

le
-f

o
r-

s
a
le

 

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
In

s
tr

u
m

e
n

ts
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

a
d

ju
s

tm
e
n

t 

a
c
c
o

u
n

t 

C
o

ll
e
c
ti

o
n

 F
u

n
d

 

A
d

ju
s

tm
e
n

t 
A

c
c
o

u
n

t 

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
In

s
tr

u
m

e
n

ts
 

A
d

ju
s

tm
e
n

t 
A

c
c
o

u
n

t 

P
e
n

s
io

n
s

 R
e
s
e
rv

e
 

R
e
v
a
lu

a
ti

o
n

 r
e
s
e
rv

e
 

T
o

ta
l 

U
n

u
s

a
b

le
 R

e
s
e
rv

e
s

 

T
O

T
A

L
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

S
 

(C
o

u
n

c
il

) 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance Brought Forward 4.0  (8.0) (431.6) 1.1  5.3  624.4  (140.5) 54.6 (46.6) 

           

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of 
Services 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

7.1 

           

Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

         

Revaluations - Gains and losses - - - - - - 11.9 11.9 11.9 

Gains on Available-for-Sale Financial 
Assets 

- 
0.6 - 

- - - - 
0.6 0.6 

Amounts recycled (AFS Reserve) to the 
I&E Account after impairment or 
derecognition 

- - - - - - - - - 

Re-measurements in the pensions reserve - - - - - 198.5 - 198.5 198.5 

Share of other CI&E of Associates & Joint 
Ventures (Group a/cs only) 

- - - - - - - - - 

Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

- 0.6 - - - 198.5 11.9 211.0 218.1 

           

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers 
& Other Movements 

- 0.6 - - - 198.5 11.9 211.0 218.1 

           

Adjustments between Accounting Basis 
& Funding Basis under Regulations 

         

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment, and 
revaluation of non-current assets 

- - 
61.8 

- - - 
(5.3) 56.4 - 

Difference between HRA depreciation and 
Major Repairs Allowance 

- - 
 

- - - - 
 - 

P
age 199



133 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

HRA Share of Contribution to Pension 
Reserve 

- - 
 

- - - - 
 - 

Movement in the market value of 
Investment properties & Council dwellings 

- - 
2.5 

- - - - 
2.5 - 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital 
under Statute 

- - 
12.3 

- - - - 
12.3 - 

Net (Gain)/Loss on sale of non-current 
assets (net book value of assets) 

- - 
12.0 

- - - 
0.6 12.6 - 

Net (Gain)/Loss on sale of non-current 
assets (disposal proceeds) 

- - 
 

- - - 
- - - 

Difference between statutory debit/credit 
and amount recognised as income and 
expenditure in respect of financial 
instruments 

- - - - 

(0.1) 

- - 

(0.1) - 

Difference between amounts credited to 
the CIES and amounts to be recognised 
under statutory provisions relating to 
council tax 

- - - 

44.3  

- - 

44.3 - 

Net Charges made for retirement benefits 
in accordance with IAS 19 

- - - - - 
70.4  70.4 - 

Capital Expenditure charged in the year to 
the General Fund 

- - 
(8.0) 

- - - - 
(8.0) - 

Transfer from Usable Capital Receipts to 
meet payments to Housing Capital 
Receipts Pool 

- - - - - - 
-  - 

Employer's contributions payable to the 
Pension Fund and retirement benefits paid 
directly to pensioners 

- - - - -  
(39.2) - (39.2) - 

Transfers of HRA balance  - - - - - - -  - 

Capital grants and contributions unapplied 
credited to CIES 

- - 
(0.3) 

- - - - 
(0.3) - 

Application of Capital Grants and 
Contributions to capital financing 
transferred to the Capital adjustment 
account 

- - 

(21.6) 

- - - - 

(21.6) - 

Amount by which officer remuneration 
charged to the CIES on an accruals basis 
is different from remuneration chargeable in 
the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements 

1.6 

- - - - - - 

1.6 - 

Capital Expenditure Financed from Usable 
Capital Receipts 

- - 
(22.0) 

- - - - 
(22.0) - 

Other income that cannot be credited to the 
General Fund 

- - 
(0.3) 

- - - - 
(0.3) - 

Revenue provision for the repayment of 
debt  

- - 
(34.8) 

- - - - 
(34.8) - 

P
age 200



134 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Transfer of HRA Settlement Receipts to 
UCR 

- - 
 

- - - - 
 - 

Use of Major Repairs Allowance to Finance 
Capital Spend 

- - 
(18.5) 

- - - - 
(18.5) - 

Capitalisation under Section 16(2)(b) 
directive 

- - 
- 

- - - - 
 - 

Loan receipts transferred to Capital 
adjustment account 

- - 
11.2 

- - - - 
11.2 - 

Adjustments between Accounting Basis 
& Funding Basis under Regulations 

1.6 - (5.7) 44.3 (0.1) 31.2 (4.7) 66.6 - 

           

Group contributions to/from Reserves 
(Group a/cs only) 

- - - - - - - - - 

Transfers to/from other Earmarked 
Reserves 

- - - - - - - - - 

           

Balance Carried Forward 5.6 (7.4) (437.4) 45.5 5.2 854.1 (133.4) 332.3 171.5 

 

The usable General Fund earmarked reserves as at 31 March 2021 include government grants in relation to collection fund deficits that were 

realised in 2021-2022. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there was an extensive business rates relief scheme, meaning that the collection fund 

deficit was higher when compared to previous years. The government provided Section 31 grants to cover the cost of COVID-19 business rates 

reliefs. 

 

 

P
age 201



135 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Adjustments between group accounts and council accounts 

The following adjustments are made in the group’s Movement in Reserves Statement in order to reconcile the General Fund balance back to its 

council position prior to funding adjustments being made. 

 

 2020-2021 

£m 

2021-2022 

£m 

Provision of goods and 

services to subsidiaries 

6.3 5.0 

Provision of goods and 

services from subsidiaries 

57.3 55.3 

 63.6 60.3 

 P
age 202



136 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

13B Description of reserves 

Usable Reserves 

Revenue  

General Fund balance The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of the council are required to be 

paid, and out of which all liabilities of the council are to be met, except to the extent that statutory 

rules might provide otherwise. These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and 

payments should impact on the General Fund balance, which is not necessarily in accordance with 

proper accounting practice. The General Fund balance therefore summarises the resources that the 

council is statutorily empowered to spend on its services or on capital investment (or the deficit of 

resources that the council is required to recover) at the end of the financial year (however, the 

balance is not available to be applied to funding HRA services: see Housing Revenue Account 

balance below). 

Housing Revenue Account balance The Housing Revenue Account balance reflects the statutory obligation to maintain a revenue 

account for local authority council housing provision in accordance with Part VI of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989. It contains the balance of income and expenditure as defined 

by the 1989 Act that is available to fund future expenditure in connection with the council’s landlord 

function or (where in deficit) that is required to be recovered from tenants in future years. 

General Fund earmarked reserves General Fund earmarked reserves represent amounts that the council has chosen to set aside to 
fund specific items of expenditure in the future. Some of those reserves are held due to either 
specific criteria associated with funding, legal requirements, or accounting practice. The overall 
balance of £112.2 million earmarked reserves include: specific reserves for section 31 grant 
funding for business rates reliefs, including those granted to support businesses during the 
COVID-19 pandemic, which was received during 2020-2021 and 2021-2022 but will in part offset 
the deficit from the Collection Fund that will be charged in future years, Schools Reserves (£15.2 
million), the Budget Strategy Reserve (£7.6 million), Future Years Budget Strategy Reserve (£13.3 
million), the Efficiency Reserve (£5.4 million) and the Budget Contingency Reserve (£7.1 million).  

 

 

 

 

P
age 203



137 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Capital  

Major repairs reserve The council is required to maintain the major repairs reserve, which controls the application of the 

Major Repairs Allowance (MRA). The MRA is restricted to being applied to new capital investment 

in HRA assets or the financing of historical capital expenditure by the HRA. The balance shows the 

MRA that has yet to be applied at the year end. 

Capital receipts reserve The capital receipts reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, which are 

restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital expenditure or to be set aside to 

finance historical capital expenditure. The balance on the reserve shows the resources that have yet 

to be applied for these purposes at the year end. 

Capital grants unapplied account The capital grants unapplied account (reserve) holds the grants and contributions received towards 

capital projects for which the council has met the conditions that would otherwise require repayment 

of the monies, but which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure. The balance is restricted by 

grant terms as to the capital expenditure against which it can be applied and/or the financial year in 

which this can take place. 

 

 

Unusable Reserves 

Revaluation reserve The revaluation reserve contains the gains made by the council arising from increases in the value 

of its property, plant, and equipment. The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains 

are revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost, used in the provision of services and 

the gains are consumed through depreciation, or disposed of and the gains are realised. The reserve 

only contains revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the reserve was 

created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the capital 

adjustment account. 

Available-for-sale financial instruments 

reserve 

The available-for-sale financial instruments reserve contains the gains made by the council arising 

from increases in the value of its investments that have quoted market prices or otherwise do not 

have fixed or determinable payments. The balance is reduced when investments with accumulated 

gains are revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost or disposed of, and the gains are 

realised. 

Capital adjustment account The capital adjustment account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 

arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 

P
age 204



138 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

acquisition, construction, or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The account 

is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment 

losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

(with reconciling postings from the revaluation reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost 

basis). The account is credited with the amounts set aside by the council as finance for the costs of 

acquisition, construction, and enhancement. The account contains accumulated gains and losses 

on Investment properties. It also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, plant and 

equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the revaluation reserve was created to hold such gains. 

Financial instruments adjustment 

account 

The financial instruments adjustment account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 

different arrangements for accounting for income and expenses relating to certain financial 

instruments and for bearing losses or benefiting from gains per statutory provisions. 

Pensions reserve The pensions reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 

accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 

provisions. The council accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating 

the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any 

resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to 

be financed as the council makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any 

pensions for which it is directly responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore 

shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources 

the council has set aside to meet them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have 

been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 

Collection Fund adjustment account The Collection Fund adjustment account manages the differences arising from the recognition of 

council tax and business rates income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as 

it falls due from council tax and business rates payers compared with the statutory arrangements for 

paying across amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund 

. 

Short-term accumulating compensated 

absences account 

The short-term accumulating compensated absences account absorbs the differences that would 

otherwise arise on the General Fund balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but 

not taken in the year, for example annual leave entitlement not yet used at 31 March. Statutory 

arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund balance is neutralised by transfers to or 

from the account. 

 

P
age 205



139 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

13C Movement in specific earmarked reserves  

The table below analyses the council’s earmarked reserves, in the format reported to the Cabinet: 

Restated*      

Balance at Transfers  Transfers  Balance at   Balance at Transfers  Transfers  Balance at 

31 March 

2019 Out To 31 March 2020   

31 March 

2020 Out To 

31 March 

2021 

£m £m £m £m   £m £m £m £m 

        Specific Earmarked Reserves     

(5.4) - - (5.4) Efficiency Reserve (Corporate) (5.4) 0.1 (0.1) (5.4) 

(3.6) - (1.4) (5.0) Budget Contingency Reserve (Corporate) (5.0) 0.1 (2.2) (7.1) 

(2.3) - (5.2) (7.5) Future Years Budget Strategy Reserve (Corporate) (7.5) 5.4 (11.2) (13.3) 

(7.6) - - (7.6) Budget Strategy Reserve (Corporate) (7.6) - - (7.6) 

    

Other Earmarked Reserves     

(1.2) - (1.4) (2.6) Adult Services (2.6) 0.1 (1.0) (3.5) 

(1.2) 0.2 (0.9) (1.9) Children's and Education (1.9) 0.1 (1.2) (3.0) 

(0.1) - - (0.1) City Assets  (0.1) - - (0.1) 

(4.3) 1.0 (0.5) (3.8) City Housing and Environment (3.8) 0.1 (0.4) (4.1) 

(25.5) 1.3 (38.6) (62.8) Corporate (62.8) 59.8 (32.7) (35.7) 

(5.1) - - (5.1) Finance (5.1) 0.1 (1.6) (6.6) 

- - (0.3) (0.3) Governance (0.3) - - (0.3) 

(0.6) - (3.5) (4.1) Public Health (4.1) - (3.9) (8.0) 

(1.6) - (0.7) (2.3) Regeneration (2.3) 0.5 (0.5) (2.3) 

    Strategy - - (0.1) (0.1) 

(6.1) 1.1 (7.9) (12.9) Schools (12.9) 2.1 (4.4) (15.2) 

(64.6) 3.6 (60.4) (121.4) Total Earmarked Reserve (121.4) 68.4 (59.3) (112.3) 

P
age 206



140 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

* 2020-2021 has been restated to reflect organisational restructure. 

 

Note 14 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement (council and group)  

14A Adjustment for non-cash movements: 

2020-2021   2021-2022  

Council Group   Council Group 

     

£m £m   £m £m 

0.2 7.0 (Decrease)/Increase in Inventories (0.1) (27.9) 

12.4 10.6 (Decrease)/Increase in Current Receivables (36.5) (35.0) 

(16.6) (18.5) Decrease/(Increase) in Current Payables (57.5) (30.9) 

- (0.5) Decrease in taxation - - 

(45.0) (45.0) Depreciation, Amortisation, and Impairment of Non-Current Assets (42.9) (42.9) 

(14.2) (14.2) Revaluations of Non-Current Assets 70.1 70.1 

(12.3) (12.3) 
Net Book Value on Disposal of Property, plant and equipment, Investment Property and 
Intangible assets 

(14.3) (14.3) 

(70.4) (78.1) Net Charges made for retirement benefits in accordance with IAS 19 (81.2) (92.9) 

39.2 43.0 
Employer's contributions payable to the Pension Fund and retirement benefits paid directly to 
pensioners 

15.5 19.1 

11.7 11.7 Employer's contributions upfront payments to the Pension Fund  22.8 22.8 

(1.5) (1.5) Net Movement in Provisions (3.0) (3.0) 

(96.5) (97.8)   (127.1) (134.8) 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 207



141 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

14B Adjustment for items that are investing and financing activities: 

2020-2021   2021-2022  

Council Group   Council Group 

£m £m   £m £m 

12.3 12.3 Proceeds from the sale of Property, plant and equipment, Investment Property and Intangible assets 15.3 15.3 

24.5 24.5 Capital grants received 54.3 54.3 

36.8 36.8   69.6 69.6 

 

14C Net cash flows from operating activities  

The cash flows from operating activities include the following items: 

2020-2021   2021-2022  

Council Group   Council Group 

£m £m   £m £m 

36.8 38.7 Interest paid 35.9 36.1 

(2.2) (3.0) Interest received (1.5) (1.5) 

- - Dividends received - - 

34.6 35.8   34.4 34.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 208



142 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note 15 Accounting policies  

1. General principles   

The Statement of Accounts summarises the council's transactions for the 2021-2022 financial year and its position at 31 March 2022. The council 

is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, in accordance with proper accounting 

practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021-2022 and the 

Service Reporting Code of Practice 2021-2022, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories 

of non-current assets and financial instruments.  

 

2. Group accounts  

The group accounts combine the accounts of the council, Wolverhampton Homes Limited and WV Living (City of Wolverhampton Housing 

Company Limited) and shows them as if they were one. Throughout the financial statements (Section 4) the numbers in italics relate to the group. 

Non-italic numbers relate to the council only. These figures are usually combined in the same table, but occasionally owing to space, they are 

shown in separate tables. Where there is only one figure given, this means that the figure is the same for the group and the council. 

 

3. Recognition of income and expenditure   

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In particular:   

• Revenue from the contracts with service recipients whether for the provision of goods or services is recognised when the goods or services 

are transferred to the service recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in the contract.  

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Where there is a gap between the date supplies are received and their 

consumption they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet. 

• Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are 

received rather than when payments are made. 

• Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of 

the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. 

• Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant 

amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to 

revenue in financing and investment income and expenditure for the income that might not be collected. 

P
age 209



143 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

• Manual accruals are only processed for amounts of £10,000 or more except where the expenditure is by schools or funded directly from 

external grants. 

The above is in accordance with IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ which became effective in 2018-2019. IFRS 15 applies to all 

contracts with customers (apart from some exceptions which fall under the scope of other accounting standards e.g., leases, financial instruments, 

insurance contracts). The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services 

to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. IFRS 

15 focuses on the satisfaction of performance obligations; IFRS 15 provides a standardised five-step model to recognise all types of revenue 

earned from customer contracts. The council has considered all of its revenue streams (including any potential staged receipts and receipts 

spanning financial years) across the group.  

 

4. Accounting for council tax   

• While the council tax income for the year credited to the Collection Fund is the accrued income for the year, regulations determine when 

it should be released from the Collection Fund and transferred to the authority's General Fund or paid out from the Collection Fund to the 

major preceptors. The amount credited to the General Fund under statute is an authority's precept or demand for the year, plus or minus 

the authority’s share of the surplus/deficit on the Collection Fund for the previous year. 

• The council tax income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the council’s share of the Collection Fund’s 

accrued income for the year. The difference between this value and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund 

is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement. Revenue relating to council tax shall be 

measured at the full amount receivable (net of any impairment losses) as they are non-contractual, non-exchange transactions and there 

can be no difference between the delivery and payment dates. 

• The cash collected by the authority from council taxpayers belongs proportionately to all the major preceptors. The difference between 

the amounts collected on behalf of the other major preceptors and the payments made to them is reflected as a debtor or creditor balance 

as appropriate.  

 

5. Accounting for business rates (national non-domestic rates – NNDR) 

• The business rates income for the year credited to the Collection Fund is the accrued income for the year, regulations determine when it 

should be released from the Collection Fund and paid out to major preceptors (excluding police bodies) and the government. The amount 

credited to the General Fund under statute is the authority’s estimated share of business rates for the year from the national non-domestic 

rates (NNDR) 1 return.  

P
age 210



144 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

• The business rates income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the authority’s share of the Collection 

Fund’s accrued income for the year from the NNDR 3 return. The difference between this value and the amount required by regulation to 

be credited to the General Fund is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement. Revenue 

relating to business rates shall be measured at the full amount receivable (net of any impairment losses) as they are non-contractual, 

non-exchange transactions and there can be no difference between the delivery and payment dates. 

• The cash collected by the authority from business rates payers belongs proportionately to all the major preceptors (excluding police 

bodies) and government. The difference between the amounts collected on behalf of the other major preceptors, government and the 

payments made to them is reflected as a debtor or creditor balance as appropriate.  

  

6. Cash and cash equivalents   

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions, repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash 

equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  

 

7. Exceptional items   

When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately, either on the face of the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of the council's 

financial performance.  

 

8. Prior period adjustments, changes in accounting policies and estimates and errors   

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error. Changes in accounting estimates 

are accounted for prospectively, i.e., in the current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.  

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant 

information about the effect of transactions, other events, and conditions on the council's financial position or financial performance. Where a 

change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior 

period as if the new policy had always been applied.  

P
age 211



145 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the 

prior period.  

  

9. Charges to revenue for non-current assets   

Services, support services and trading accounts are charged with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets during 

the year:   

• Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service. 

• Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation reserve 

against which the losses can be written off. 

• Amortisation of Intangible assets attributable to the service.  

The council is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or amortisations, however, it is required 

to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement (calculated on a prudent basis determined 

by the council in accordance with statutory guidance). Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisations are therefore replaced 

by the contribution in the General Fund balance, known as Minimum Revenue Provision, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital 

adjustment account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  

10. Employee benefits   

Benefits payable during employment - Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled in their entirety within 12 months of the year 

end. They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current 

employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the council. An accrual is made for 

the cost of holiday entitlements (and any other form of leave) earned by employees but not taken before the year end, and which employees can 

carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being the period in 

which the employee takes the benefit. The accrual is charged to surplus or deficit on the provision of services, but then reversed out through the 

Movement in Reserves Statement to the accumulated absences account so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in 

which the holiday absence occurs.  

Termination benefits - Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the council to terminate an officer's employment 

before the normal retirement date or an officer's decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits, and are charged on an 

accruals basis in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of the point at which the authority can no longer withdraw 

the offer of those benefits or when the authority recognises the costs of the restructure.  

P
age 212



146 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged with the 

amount payable by the council to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting 

standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the pensions reserve to remove the notional debits 

and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and 

any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year end.  

Post-employment benefits - Employees of the council are members of three separate pension schemes:   

• The Teachers’ Pension Scheme, administered by Capita Teachers' Pensions on behalf of the Department for Education; 

• The NHS Pension Scheme administered by EA Finance NHS Pensions; and 

• The Local Government Pensions Scheme administered by West Midlands Pension Fund.  

These schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees working for the council. The 

arrangements, however, for the teachers' scheme and NHS schemes mean that liabilities for these benefits cannot ordinarily be identified 

specifically to the council. The schemes are therefore accounted for as if they were defined contribution schemes and no liability for future 

payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance Sheet. The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is charged with the employer's 

contributions payable to Teachers' Pension Scheme and NHS Pension Scheme in the year respectively.  

The Local Government Pension Scheme   

The Local Government Pension Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme. The liabilities of the West Midlands Pension Fund 

attributable to the council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method i.e., an assessment of the 

future payments that will be made in relation to the retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, 

employee turnover rates, etc and projections of earnings for current employees.  

Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on the redemption yields on AA-rated corporate bonds with 

a term corresponding to the term of the liabilities. The assets of West Midlands Pension Fund attributable to the council are included in the 

Balance Sheet at their fair value, which varies depending on the type of asset:   

• Quoted securities – current bid price. 

• Unquoted securities – professional estimate. 

• Unitised securities – current bid price. 

• Property – market value.  

The change in the net pensions’ liability is analysed into the following components:   

Service cost comprising:   

P
age 213



147 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

• Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – allocated in the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked. 

• Past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier 

years – debited to the surplus or deficit on the provisions of services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

• Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset, i.e. net interest expense for the council – the change during the period in the net 

defined benefit liability / asset that arises from the passage of time charged to the financing and investment income and expenditure line 

of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 

benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability/asset at the beginning of the period – taking into account 

any changes in the net defined benefit liability/asset during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. 

Changes in valuations comprising:   

• The return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset – charged to the pensions 

reserve as other comprehensive income and expenditure.   

• Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with assumptions made 

at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to the pensions reserve and recognised 

as other comprehensive income and expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

• Contributions paid to the West Midlands Pension Fund – cash paid as the employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of 

liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.  

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the council to 

the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement 

in Reserves Statement, this means that there are transfers to and from the pensions reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for 

retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners, and any such amounts payable but unpaid 

at the year end. The negative balance that arises on the pensions reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being 

required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.  

Discretionary benefits - The council has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early retirements. 

Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff (including teachers) are accrued in the year of the decision to 

make the award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.  

 

 

 

P
age 214



148 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

11. Events after the reporting period  

Events after the Balance Sheet reporting period are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the Balance Sheet date, 

31 March 2021, and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 

• Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period - the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect 

such events. 

• Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period - the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such 

events, but where a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their 

estimated financial effect.           

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 

 

12. Financial instruments   

Financial liabilities - Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 

a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and 

Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying 

amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.  

For most of the borrowing that the council has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable 

(plus accrued interest), and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year 

according to the loan agreement. Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to the financing 

and investment income and expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase/settlement.  

Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on 

the General Fund balance to be spread over future years. The council has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was remaining 

on the loan against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid. The reconciliation of amounts charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net charge required against the General Fund balance is managed by a transfer to or 

from the financial instruments adjustment account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  

Financial assets - Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the business model for 

holding the financial assets and their cashflow characteristics.  

P
age 215



149 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

There are two main classes of financial assets measured at: 

• Amortised costs. 

• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  

The council’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost, 

except for those whose contractual payments are not solely payment of principal and interest (i.e., where the cash flows do not take the form of 

a basic debt instrument). 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost   

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the council becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are 

based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For loans the council has made, the 

amount presented in the Balance Sheet is most of the financial assets held by the authority, this means that the amount presented in the Balance 

Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are 

credited or debited to the financing and investment income and expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

Expected credit loss model   

The council recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets (except where the counterparty is central government or a local 

authority) held at amortised cost or FVOCI, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. A simplified approach has been applied to trade receivables, 

finance lease receivables and operating lease receivables, whereby impairment losses are automatically based on lifetime expected credit losses. 

Impairment losses on loans and financial guarantees are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not take place 

because the borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part in assessing losses. Where risk has increased significantly 

since an instrument was initially recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased significantly or remains low, 

losses are assessed on the basis of 12-month expected losses.  

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  

Financial assets that are measured at FVOCI are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the council becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of a financial instrument and are initially measured and carried at fair value. Fair value gains and losses are recognised as they arrive in other 

comprehensive income and expenditure (and taken to the financial instruments revaluation reserve), except for impairment gains or losses, until 

the financial asset is derecognised. The fair value measurements of the financial assets are based on the following techniques: 

P
age 216



150 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

• Instruments with quoted market prices – the market price 

• Other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow analysis 

• Equity shares with no quoted market prices – independent appraisal of company valuations  

The inputs to the measurement techniques are categorised in accordance with the following three levels: 

• Level 1 inputs – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that the authority can access at the measurement date. 

• Level 2 inputs – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 inputs – unobservable inputs for the asset.  

When the financial asset is derecognised the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 

reserves to surplus or deficit on the provision of services as a reclassification adjustment.  

Under accounting standard IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, all assets previously held within the Available for Sale Financial Instruments reserve 

have been elected as fair value through other comprehensive income. As a result of this all balances held within the reserve have been transferred 

into the newly created financial instruments revaluation reserve.  

 

13. Government grants and contributions   

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third-party contributions and donations are recognised as due to 

the council when there is reasonable assurance that the council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and the grants or 

contributions will be received.  

Amounts recognised as due to the council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached 

to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 

embodied in the asset received in the form of the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future 

economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the grant issuing body.  

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When 

conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line, attributable Revenue Grants and Contributions, or Taxation 

and non-specific grant income and expenditure (non ring-fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement.  

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund balance 

in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the capital grants 

P
age 217



151 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

unapplied reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the capital adjustment account. Amounts in the capital grants unapplied reserve are 

transferred to the capital adjustment account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure.  

 

14. Intangible assets   

Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the council as a result of past events (e.g., 

software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the 

council. Expenditure on the development of websites is not capitalised if the websites are solely or primarily intended to promote or advertise the 

council's goods or services.  

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair value of the assets held by the council can be determined 

by reference to an active market. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant service line(s) in 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset might 

be impaired - any losses recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Any 

gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the other operating expenditure line in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement.  

Where expenditure on Intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, amortisation, impairment losses and disposal 

gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact on the General Fund balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the 

General Fund balance in the Movement in Reverses Statement and posted to the capital adjustment account and, for any sale proceeds greater 

than £10,000, the capital receipts reserve.  

  

15. Interests in companies and other entities   

The council has three subsidiary entities: Wolverhampton Homes Limited, Yoo Recruit Ltd and WV Living (City of Wolverhampton Housing 

Company Limited). Due to materiality only, Wolverhampton Homes Limited and WV Living are required to be consolidated in the group accounts 

statements. The council has no other material interests in companies or other entities that have the nature of a subsidiary, associate, or jointly 

controlled entity.  

Investments in limited by guarantee companies - The council has investments in companies limited by guarantee, for example ConnectEd 

Partnership, Black Country Consortium, Wolverhampton Grand Theatre, Wolverhampton Homes. These investments are valued at cost in the 

council’s accounts. Income and expenditure transactions are recognised in the council’s financial statements.  

P
age 218



152 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Schools - The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom confirms that the balance of control for local authority-

maintained schools (i.e., those categories of school identified in the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, as amended) lies with the 

council. The Code also stipulates that those schools’ assets, liabilities, reserves, and cash flows are recognised in the council financial statements 

(and not the group accounts). 

Therefore, schools’ transactions, cash flows and balances are recognised in each of the financial statements of the council as if they were the 

transactions, cash flows and balances of the council.  

  

16. Inventories   

Inventories held by the council relate to consumables and are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The 

cost of inventories is determined using the weighted average costing formula. Long-term contracts are accounted for on the basis of charging the 

surplus or deficit on the provision of services with the consideration allocated to the performance obligations satisfied based on the goods or 

services transferred to the service recipient during the financial year.  

The inventories held by the group predominantly relate to properties in development stage and are stated at the lower of cost and estimated 

selling price less costs to complete and sell which is equivalent to the net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, 

directly attributable expenditure in relation to the acquisition and development of the properties. At each reporting date, an assessment is made 

for impairment. Any excess of the carrying amount of stocks over its estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell is recognised as an 

impairment loss in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses are also recognised in profit or loss. 

  

17. Investment property   

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used 

in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale.  

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell such an asset 

in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As a non-financial asset, investment properties are measured at 

highest and best use. Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year-end. Gains and losses 

on revaluation are posted to the financing and investment income and expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

The same treatment is applied to gains and losses on disposal.  

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the financing and investment income and expenditure line and result in a 

gain for the General Fund balance. However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an 

P
age 219



153 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

impact on the General Fund balance. The gains and losses are, therefore, reversed out of the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves 

Statement and transferred to the capital adjustment account and, for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000, the capital receipts reserve.  

 

18. Jointly controlled arrangements   

Joint operations are arrangements where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the 

liabilities relating to the arrangement. The activities undertaken by the council in conjunction with other joint operators involve the use of the 

assets and resources of those joint operators. In relation to its interest in a joint operation the council, as a joint operator, recognises:   

• its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly 

• its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly 

• its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation 

• its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation 

• its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.   

 

19. Leases   

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 

property, plant, or equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Where a lease covers both land 

and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately for classification.  

Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return for payment are accounted for under this 

policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets.  

The council as lessee: finance leases - Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 

commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease's inception or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower. The 

asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the council are added to the carrying amount 

of the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the 

periods in which they are incurred.  

Lease payments are apportioned between a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant, or equipment, applied to write down 

the lease liability, and a finance charge which is charged to the financing and investment income and expenditure line in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement.  

P
age 220



154 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Property, plant, and equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies applied generally to such assets, subject to 

depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is shorter than the asset's estimated useful life where ownership of the asset does not 

transfer to the council at the end of the lease period.  

The council is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and impairment losses arising on leased assets. Instead, a 

prudent annual contribution is made from revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory requirements. 

Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by a revenue contribution in the General Fund balance, by way of 

an adjusting transaction with the capital adjustment account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two. 

The council as lessee: operating leases - Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant, or equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line 

basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments e.g., there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the 

lease.  

The council as lessor: finance leases - Where the council grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the relevant 

asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet 

(whether property, plant and equipment, or assets held for sale) is written off to the other operating expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain representing the council's net investment in the lease is credited to the 

same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e., netted off against the carrying 

value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long-term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet.  

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property - applied to write down the lease 

debtor (together with any premiums received) – and finance income (credited to the financing and investment income and expenditure line in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).  

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund 

balance and is required to be treated as a capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is transferred out of the General Fund balance 

to the capital receipts reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the amount due in relation to the lease asset is to be settled by 

the payment of rentals in future financial years, this is transferred out of the General Fund balance to the deferred capital receipts reserve in the 

Movement in Reserves Statement. When the future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used 

to write down the lease debtor. At this point, the deferred capital receipts are transferred to the capital receipts reserve.  

The write-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current asset is fully provided for under separate 

arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are therefore appropriated to the capital adjustment account from the General Fund balance in the 

Movement in Reserves Statement.  

P
age 221



155 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The council as lessor: operating leases - Where the council grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 

asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the other operating expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement. Credits are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments 

(e.g., there is a premium paid at the commencement of the lease).  

 

20. Overheads and support services   

The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit from the supply or service. The total absorption costing principle 

is used - the full cost of overheads and support services are shared between users in proportion to the benefits received. 

 

21. Property, plant, and equipment   

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative 

purposes, and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as property, plant, and equipment.  

Recognition - Expenditure on the acquisition, creation, or enhancement of property, plant and equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, 

provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the council and the cost of 

the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset's potential to deliver future economic benefits or 

service potential (i.e., repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred.  

Measurement - Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the purchase price and any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location 

and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management, subject to a de-minimis value of £100,000 for 

land and property and heritage assets and £10,000 for new vehicles, plant, and equipment. The council does not capitalise borrowing costs 

incurred whilst assets are under construction.  

The cost of an asset acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value unless the acquisition does not have commercial substance 

(i.e., it will not lead to a variation in the cash flows of the council). In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of the 

acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the council.  

Donated assets are measured initially at fair value. The difference between fair value and any consideration paid is credited to the taxation and 

non-specific grant income line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement unless the donation has been made conditionally. Until 

conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in the donated assets account. Where gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund balance to the capital adjustment account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  

P
age 222



156 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 

• Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction - depreciated historical cost. 

• Dwellings – current value, determined using the basis of existing use value for social housing (EUV-SH). 

• Council offices – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV), 

except for a few offices that are situated close to the council’s housing properties, where there is no market for office accommodation, 

and that are measured at depreciated replacement cost (instant build) as an estimate of current value. 

• School buildings – current value, but because of their specialist nature, are measured at depreciated replacement cost which is used as 

an estimate of current value. 

• Surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated at highest and best use from a market participant’s 

perspective. 

• All other assets - current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value - EUV).  

Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is 

used as an estimate of current value. Where non-property assets have short useful lives or low values (or both), the depreciated historical cost 

basis is used as a proxy for current value.  

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially 

different from their current value at the year end. Assets with a net book value over £1 million are valued annually and other assets at least every 

five years. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the revaluation reserve to recognise unrealised gains. Gains are credited to the 

surplus or deficit on the provision of services where they arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a service.  

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:   

• Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down 

against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains). 

• Where there is no balance in the revaluation reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against 

the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

The revaluation reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal implementation. Gains arising before 

that date have been consolidated into the capital adjustment account.  

Impairment - Assets are assessed at each year end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where indications exist, 

and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the 

carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.  

P
age 223



157 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:   

• Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down 

against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains). 

• Where there is no balance in the revaluation reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against 

the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been 

recognised.  

Depreciation - Depreciation is provided for, on all property, plant, and equipment assets, by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts 

over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e., freehold land and certain community assets) 

and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e., assets under construction). Depreciation is charged on surplus assets.  

Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:   

• Dwellings and other buildings - straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property or component as estimated by the valuer.   

• Vehicles, plant, furniture, and equipment - straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset. 

• Infrastructure - straight-line allocation over 50 years.  

Where an item of property, plant and equipment has major components whose cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the 

components are depreciated separately. Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value 

depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year 

from the revaluation reserve to the capital adjustment account.  

Disposals and non-current assets held for sale   

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether property, plant and equipment 

or assets held for sale) is written off to the other operating expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, as part of 

the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals, if any, are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e., netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation 

gains accumulated for the asset in the revaluation reserve are transferred to the capital adjustment account.  

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. A proportion of receipts relating to housing disposals 

is payable to the government. The balance of receipts is required to be credited to the capital receipts reserve and can then only be used for new 

P
age 224



158 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

capital investment (or set aside to reduce the council’s underlying need to borrow (the capital financing requirement)). Receipts are appropriated 

to the capital receipts reserve from the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of property, plant and equipment is fully provided for under 

separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the capital adjustment account from the General Fund balance in the 

Movement in Reserves Statement. 

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through its 

continuing use, it is reclassified as an asset held for sale. The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower 

of this amount and current value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the 

other operating expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in current value are recognised only up to the 

amount of any previous losses recognised in the surplus or deficit on provision of services. Depreciation is not charged on assets held for sale.  

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as assets held for sale, they are reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the 

lower of their carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have 

been recognised had they not been classified as held for sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.  

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as assets held for sale.  

22. Private finance initiatives (PFI) and similar contracts   

PFI and similar contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making available the property, plant and equipment 

needed to provide the services passes to the PFI contractor. As the council is deemed to control the services that are provided under PFI 

schemes, and as ownership of the property, plant and equipment will pass to the council at the end of the contracts for no additional charge, the 

council carries the assets used under the contracts on its Balance Sheet as part of property, plant and equipment.  

The original recognition of these assets at fair value, based on the cost to purchase the property, plant, and equipment, was balanced by the 

recognition of a liability for amounts due to the scheme operator, from the council and third parties where relevant, to pay for the capital investment. 

Non-current assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and depreciated in the same way as property, plant and equipment owned by 

the council.  

The amounts payable to the PFI operators each year are analysed into five elements: 

• Fair value of the services received during the year - charged to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement.  

• Finance cost - an interest charge on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability, charged to the financing and investment income and 

expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

P
age 225



159 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

• Contingent rent - increases in the amount to be paid for the property arising during the contract, charged to the financing and investment 

income and expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

• Payment towards liability - applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability to the PFI operator (the profile of write-downs is calculated 

using the same principles as for a finance lease). 

• Lifecycle replacement costs - a proportion of the amount’s payable is posted to the Balance Sheet as a prepayment and then recognised 

as additions to property, plant, and equipment when the relevant works are eventually carried out. 

Third party income is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, reflecting the extent to which the asset and the 

service are financed by third party income. 

 

23. Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets   

Provisions - Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the council a legal or constructive obligation that probably requires 

settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. For 

instance, the council may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation.  

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that 

the council becomes aware of the obligation and are measured at the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the expenditure required to 

settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties. When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision 

carried in the Balance Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year - where it becomes less than probable that a 

transfer of economic benefits will now be required, or a lower settlement than anticipated is made, the provision is reversed and credited back to 

the relevant service.  

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from another party e.g., from an insurance claim, 

this is only recognised as income for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the council settles the 

obligation.  

Contingent liabilities - A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the council a possible obligation whose existence 

will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the council. Contingent liabilities 

also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required, 

or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note 

to the accounts.  

Contingent assets - A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the council a possible asset whose existence will only 

be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the council.   

P
age 226



160 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow 

of economic benefits or service potential.  

 

24. Reserves   

The council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created by transferring 

amounts out of the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure, to be financed from a reserve is incurred, 

it is charged to the appropriate service in that year against the surplus or deficit on the provision of services in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that 

there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure.  

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments, local taxation, retirement, and 

employee benefits, and do not represent usable resources for the council – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies.  

 

25. Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute   

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not result in the creation or enhancement of a 

non-current asset is charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year. Where 

the council determines to meet the cost of this expenditure from capital resources, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the 

General Fund balance to the capital adjustment account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact on the level of council 

tax.  

 

26. Value added tax (VAT)   

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is 

excluded from income. 

 

 

 

P
age 227



161 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

27. Pension fund accounts   

As a result of Local Government Reorganisation on 1 April 1986, the council assumed responsibility for administering the West Midlands Pension 

Fund. The fund's accounts are separately prepared and are included within these accounts. The accounting policies for the pension fund can be 

found at note P3 in the accounts.  

Copies of the fund's accounts and annual report are available on request from the Director of Finance, Civic Centre, Wolverhampton, WV1 1RL.  

  

28. Heritage assets   

Heritage assets are recognised and measured (including the treatment of revaluation gains and losses) in accordance with the council’s 

accounting policies on property, plant, and equipment, with the following exceptions:   

• Where there is no market-based evidence of fair value, insurance valuation is used as an estimate of current value. 

• There is no cyclical revaluation of heritage assets, which instead are kept under review for impairment on an annual basis. 

• The groupings used to classify property, plant and equipment assets are not used for heritage assets.  

 

29. Pension guarantees  

The council has provided guarantees to a number of organisations at the point they were admitted to West Midlands Pension Fund, to fund any 

potential pension liability. These guarantees are treated as Insurance Contracts in accordance with IFRS 4, rather than financial guarantees 

under IFRS 9, as the council considers that the non-financial risks covered by the guarantees (for example regarding mortality rates and 

demographics) are more significant than the financial risks. Each year, the council assesses the probability of the guarantees being called using 

various factors: the pension liability is derived from the triennial valuation or the IAS19 statement (if available) and risk of failure of the business 

is derived from Creditsafe Business Failure Scores. If, by multiplying the pension liability by the risk of failure, a significant potential liability arises, 

it is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 

30. Pooled budgets  

The council takes part in two pooled budget schemes with Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The first scheme relates to the 

integrated service for child placements with external agencies for children with social care, education, and health needs. The council incurs the 

expenditure and receives a contribution from CCG towards the costs. The second scheme relates to the commissioning of health and social care 

P
age 228



162 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

services under the Better Care Fund (BCF). Again, the council incurs the expenditure and receives funding through a contribution from CCG and 

local government grants. All income and expenditure are recorded in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 

31. Trust funds  

The council acts as trustee for a number of historic trust funds. These funds are not recorded on the balance sheet as they are not owned by the 

council. At the end of each financial year, the trust funds on the ledger are reviewed and appropriate accounting entries are made. A separate 

note (Note 12) is included within the financial statements showing the income, expenditure, and balances of the trust funds for this financial year 

and the prior financial year. 

A number of the funds are held in the council’s bank account and each year the interest is calculated and applied to the account.  Any external 

interest received by the council is added to the individual funds on the ledger. 

 

Note 15A Changes in accounting policies and accounting estimates from previous year  

None 

 

Note 15B Critical judgements made when applying the accounting policies   

In applying the accounting policies set out in this note, the council has made judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty 

about future events. The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are as follows:   

  

Group accounts   

The council is the sole shareholder of Wolverhampton Homes Limited, an arm's length management organisation that provides housing 

management services to the council in respect of its HRA dwellings. It has been determined that the council is able to control Wolverhampton 

Homes Limited, and it has therefore been consolidated within the group accounts.  

WV Living was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of the council in 2016-2017. As the impact on the group accounts are considered by the 
council, to be material they have been consolidated in the group accounts. During 2021-2022 the company has incurred expenditure of £2.6 
million, of which £1.2 million was borrowing costs (2020-2021: £2.0 million) and has stock assets of £4.6 million as at 31 March 2022 (£32.4 

P
age 229



163 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

million at 31 March 2021). £0.4 million of expenditure relates to transactions with the council (2020-2021: £1.1 million). Turnover in 2021-2022 
was £46.2 million (2020-2021: £16.0 million), £2.7 million of this being transactions with the council (2020-2021: £6.8 million).  

Yoo Recruit Ltd was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of the council in 2013-2014. The turnover of this company for 2021-2022 was 

approximately £15.2 million, of which £14.7 million was derived from the council, with a net income after tax of £162,168. As the impact on the 

group accounts are considered, by the council, to be not material they have not been consolidated in the group accounts.  

The Wolverhampton Grand Theatre has a close relationship with the council. The council assists via the provision of the leasehold premises in 

which the theatre is based. The transactions and balances of this company are considered, by the council, to not be material, they have not been 

consolidated in the group accounts.  

During 2012-2013, ConnectEd Partnership Limited (previously Wolverhampton Schools’ Improvement Partnership) was established.  The 

company is limited by guarantee and was set-up to advance educational opportunities and outcomes for children/young people of 

Wolverhampton.  The board of directors comprises of representative from each school cluster.  Whilst in this way the council exerts significant 

influence over the activities of the company, it has been determined that the transactions and balances of the company are not material to the 

council's accounts, and it has therefore not been consolidated in the group accounts.  

The council, along with the other six West Midlands district councils, holds shares in Birmingham Airport Holdings Limited. As the council is of 

the view that it does not have the power to influence or control the airport it has not been consolidated in the group accounts.  

 

Private finance initiatives (PFI) contracts   

The council provides services, via private sector partners, under a PFI or PFI-type contracts in four areas: The Bentley Bridge Leisure Centre, 

the Highfields and Penn Fields School contract and the St. Matthias School and Heath Park Academy contract. In the Bentley Bridge Leisure 

Centre and the Highfields and Penn Fields Schools contracts, it has been determined that the council controls the use of the relevant non-current 

assets and, as a result the relevant assets and corresponding liabilities were recognised in the council’s balance sheet. Subsequent to the 

commencement of the Highfields and Penn Fields schools’ contract, Highfields School converted to an academy, in the 2014-2015 financial year, 

and as the council no longer has control over the asset and the services to be provided, it was determined by the council that the asset for 

Highfields School should be de-recognised. The contract for St. Matthias School and Heath Park Academy commenced during 2015-2016. Both 

assets have been initially recognised in the council’s Balance Sheet, however, as Heath Park Academy is an existing academy and the council 

has no control over the asset and services to be provided, the asset for this school has subsequently been de-recognised in the council’s Balance 

Sheet. St. Matthias School is still under the control of the council and, accordingly, this asset remains on the council’s Balance Sheet. In the 

cases of both academies de-recognised, the PFI liabilities remain on the council’s balance sheet, being funded by capital grants from central 

government and contributions from the academies as detailed in note 10F.   

P
age 230



164 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Business rates     

Following the changes to business rates retention, which commenced on 1 April 2014, Councils have assumed the liability for refunding rate 

payers who successfully appeal against the rateable value of their properties, including amounts that were paid to the government in 2012-2013 

and earlier. The council has set aside a provision for these refunds, calculated using the Valuation Office list of ratings appeals data. 

The outcome of the appeals is determined solely by the Valuation Office, therefore at year end, in order to make a provision, the council makes 

a judgement about the appeals likely to be successful, based upon historical and current information available at that point in time. The final 

outcome of the appeals could differ to the judgement made and could impact on future years accounts. 

Schools   

Schools within Wolverhampton are managed in a variety of ways including council community schools, voluntary aided schools, voluntary 

controlled schools and academies. The council has reviewed each school on a case-by-case basis and considered the extent to which the council 

has control over the school in respect to the employment of staff, governance arrangements, maintenance of the land and buildings and 

admissions, in order to assign them to one of the categories below:  

• Academy schools – Academies are entirely separate entities to the council and therefore the council has no control over the operation 

of the school. Land and buildings are transferred to the academies through a standard 125 year lease. It is anticipated that these 

arrangements will continue and, therefore, substantially all associated risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. For academy 

schools the assets and liabilities are not consolidated into the council's balance sheet and the non-current assets are derecognised.   

• Voluntary aided-schools – A separate trustee has substantial influence and control over the voluntary aided school. A governing body 

is appointed by the trustee to manage the school’s operation and maintenance. In Wolverhampton, the relevant trustees are The 

Archdiocese of Birmingham and the Diocese of Lichfield. Since the council does not have substantial control over these schools the 

related assets are not consolidated in the balance sheet.  

• Voluntary controlled schools – It is determined that the council has substantial control over these schools since the council determines 

the admission criteria and maintains the land and buildings. The assets relating to voluntary controlled schools are, therefore, consolidated 

in the balance sheet of the council.  

 

COVID-19 Grants 

• Sales, fees and Charges Grant  
 

This grant was claimed by the council for loss of income. No restrictions were given as to how the grant could be spent, therefore the 
grant would ordinarily be shown under taxation and non-specific grant income, however as the council has been able to identify which 

P
age 231



165 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

service the equivalent expenditure has been incurred against, the council has made the judgement to show it against those service lines, 
for consistency and comparability. 

  

• Emergency Funding Grant  
 

This grant was to offset where pressures in services existed. No restrictions were given as to how the grant could be spent, therefore the 
2021-2022 grant has been shown under taxation and non-specific grant income. For the grant brought forward from 2020-2021 the council 
has been able to identify the pressured services and has therefore made the judgement to show it against those service lines, for 
consistency and comparability. 

  

  

Note 15C Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the council about the future or that are otherwise 

uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends, and other relevant factors. Because balances, however, 

cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates.  

The items in the council’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2022 for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial 

year are as follows:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 232



166 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Pensions net liability  

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which 

salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets. A firm of consulting 

actuaries is engaged to provide the council with expert advice about the assumptions to be applied. The table below sets out the impact on the 

net pension liability if different assumptions had been made in certain key areas. Further sensitivity analysis can be found on page 87. 

 

Variation to Assumptions Impact on Net Liability 

  Council Group 

Discount Rate 0.1% higher  Decrease of £68.3 million  Increase of £73.3 million  

Rate of Inflation 0.1% p.a. higher  Increase of £61.3 million  Increase of £65.4 million  

Rate of increase in salaries 0.1% p.a. higher  Increase of £54.6 million  Increase of £55.5 million  

Life expectancy of scheme members 1 year higher  Increase of £167.4 million  Increase of £177.7 million  

 

Pensions assets       

Certain types of investments are not publicly listed and, as such, there is a degree of estimation involved in their valuation.         

 

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions   

The use of estimates for investment values is greatest for those assets classified at Level 3 which means there is a risk that these investments 

may be over/under stated in the accounts. The total value of Level 3 investments for the pension fund is £4,082.2m at 31 March 2022, therefore 

£285.8 million for the council (7% share).  

 

Property, plant, and equipment   

Brexit 

The UK has now officially left the EU and the transition period has come to an end as of 31 December 2020. 

P
age 233



167 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Whilst the deal provides a more certain position in relation to the UK’s future relationship with the EU the full implications of the deal will take 
some time to realise.  
Therefore, we remain in a period of uncertainly in relation to many factors that impact the construction markets and costs associated with this 
market.  
We are now in a period of uncertainty in relation to many factors that impact the property and investment and letting markets. 
 

Conflict in Ukraine  

On 24th February 2022, Russian forces entered Ukraine and conflict ensued.  

The impact on the property market outside of the immediate area affected by the conflict is as yet unknown and, at this stage, there is no evidence 

that the transaction activity and the sentiment of buyers or sellers has changed.  

The valuations are not reported as being subject to ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as defined by VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) valuation – global standards.  
 
Outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (COVID –19)  
 
The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared by the World Health Organisation as a ‘Global Pandemic’ on the 11 March 2020, 
has and continues to impact many aspects of daily life and the global economy - with some real estate markets having experienced lower levels 
of transactional activity and liquidity. Travel restrictions have been implemented by many countries and ‘lockdowns’ applied to varying degrees. 
 
The pandemic and the measures taken to tackle COVID-19 continues to affect economies and real estate markets globally.  
 
Nevertheless, as at the valuation date some property markets have started to function again, with transaction volumes and other relevant evidence 
returning to levels where an adequate quantum of market evidence exists upon which to base opinions of value. 
The valuations are not reported as being subject to ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as defined by VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) valuation – global standards.  
 
 
The valuers for the council’s property assets have not issued any material uncertainty statements with regards to the valuations carried out for 
2021-2022. However, as with all valuations there is an element of uncertainty as all valuations are an estimate of value which cannot be fully 
demonstrated unless a property is sold.   
 

P
age 234



168 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Therefore, the council has carried out a sensitivity analysis on all property values to determine the potential impact if there were variations in 
asset values based on a global 1% or 5% or 10% change in value with summary shown in table below: 
 
 

  
Assets value 

as at 31 
March 2022 

Change in 
Valuation 

 
    1% 5% 

10% 

  £m £m £m £m 

Council dwellings 890.6 8.9 44.5 89.1 

Other land and buildings 509.9 5.1 25.5 51.0 

Surplus assets 7.5 0.1 0.4 0.8 

Investment properties 50.8 0.5 2.5 5.1 

  1458.8 14.6 72.9 146.0 

 

1% fluctuation in council dwellings and Other land and buildings values would amount to a £14.6m movement in property plant and equipment 

balance shown on the Balance Sheet. 

The valuations are heavily sensitive to assumptions and can be influenced by economic circumstances which can change from year to year.  
 
Assets valued on a depreciated replacement cost (DRC) basis are depreciated over useful lives that are dependent on assumptions about the 
level of repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in relation to individual assets. If the useful life of assets is reduced, depreciation increases 
and the carrying amount of the assets falls. It is estimated that the annual depreciation charge for buildings would increase in these circumstances. 
 
Of the council’s total operational land and buildings approximately 77% are valued on a DRC basis. These are calculated using the Building Cost 
Information Service (BCIS) index which are based on the construction costs for a modern equivalent asset (MEA). The types of assets valued at 
MEA DRC include schools.  
  

P
age 235



169 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

After initial recognition Investment properties would be measured at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
between market participants at the measurement date. Investment properties held at fair value are not depreciated.   
 

Fair value of assets and liabilities 

The council has an investment in Birmingham Airport Holdings Ltd whose valuation has increased in the Balance Sheet as at 31 March (£14.1 

million in 2021-2022, £13.9 million in 2020-2021, £14.5 million in 2019-2020). The valuation is based on an earnings approach, by reference to 

EBITDA*. The timing of the recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic is still unclear and the aviation market is not expected to fully recover until at 

least 2023. 

* EBITDA: earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (used as an indicator of the overall profitability of a business) 

 

Provisions  

The council holds £14.7 million of provisions on its Balance Sheet, of which £10.3 million relates to business rates appeals. There is a degree of 

uncertainty inherent in estimating the potential expenditure required to settle business rates appeals. This is because the outcome of the appeals 

is determined solely by the Valuation Office, therefore at year end the council makes assumptions on the provision required for potential refunds 

to rate payers based upon historical and current information available at that point in time. Sensitivity analysis shows that the final outcome of 

the appeals could materially differ to the assumptions made and could impact on future years accounts.  

 

Note 15D Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted 

At the balance sheet date, the following new standards and amendments to existing standards have been published but not yet adopted by the 

Code of Practice of Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom:  

 

• Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018-2020 

The annual IFRS improvement programme notes four changed standards: 

 

- IFRS 1 (First-time adoption) – amendment related to foreign operations of acquired subsidiaries transitioning to IFRS. 

- IAS 37 (Onerous contracts) – clarifies the intention of the standard. 

- IFRS 16 (Leases) – amendment removes a misleading example that is not referenced in the Code material. 

P
age 236



170 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

- IAS 41 (Agriculture) – one of a small number of IFRSs that are only expected to apply to local authorities in limited circumstances. 

 

None of the matters covered in the annual improvements are dealt with in the 2022-2023 Code. During the consultation process on the 

2022-2023 Code, CIPFA/LASAAC did not envisage them having a significant effect on local authority financial statements. 

 

• Property, plant, and equipment: proceeds before intended use (Amendments to IAS 16) 

A minor clarification in the intention of the Standard and does not affect valuations of PPE. 

 
The council will continue to monitor these during 2022-2023 and implement any necessary changes. 

 

Note 15E Deferral of the implementation of IFRS 16 – leases 

The IASB published IFRS 16 Leases in January 2016 with an effective date of 1 January 2019. CIPFA/LASAAC has deferred the implementation 

of IFRS 16 leases in the public sector until the 2024-2025 financial year, with an effective date of 1 April 2024. This will require lessees to 

recognise assets subject to leases as right-of-use assets on their balance sheet, along with corresponding lease liabilities (there are exceptions 

for low-value and short-term leases). The council has already undertaken extensive work in preparation for this change and estimates that assets 

and liabilities on the balance sheet will increase by c.£3.6 million.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 237



171 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Section 5 - Housing Revenue Account Statements 

Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement 

2020-2021   
Note 

2021-2022 

£m   £m 

(88.6) Gross Rents – Dwellings   (89.7) 

(0.5) Gross Rents - Non-Dwellings   (0.7) 

(6.0) Charges to Tenants for Services and Facilities   (6.0) 

(1.6) Contributions to Expenditure  (0.7) 

(96.7) Total Income   (97.0) 

26.8 Repairs and Maintenance   26.7 

19.8 Supervision and Management   20.3 

0.6 Rents, Rates and Taxes   0.7 

1.0 Increase in Allowance for Bad Debts   0.6 

- Contribution to Capital Financing   - 

19.0 Depreciation of Property, plant, and equipment H1 19.5 

(0.9) Revaluation/impairment of Property, plant, and equipment H2 (15.0) 

66.3 Total Expenditure   52.9 

(30.4) 
Net Cost of HRA Services as included in Council Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement   

(44.1) 

0.2 HRA Share of Corporate and Democratic Core   0.2 

(30.2) Net Cost of HRA Services   (43.9) 

- 
Sums Directed by the Secretary of State that are Expenditure in Accordance with the 
Code 

  - 

(1.1) (Gain) on Sale of Property, plant, and equipment   (1.2) 

- (Gain) on the Fair Value of Investment Assets   (1.9) 

10.1 Interest Payable   10.1 

- Interest and Investment Income   - 

(21.2) (Surplus)/Deficit for the Year   (36.9) 

 

P
age 238



172 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Movement on the Housing Revenue Account Statement 

2020-2021 
  Note 

2021-2022 

£m £m 

(7.0) Opening HRA balance   (7.0) 

       

  (Increase)/Decrease in the HRA balance for the year analysed between:    

(21.2) - (Surplus)/Deficit for the year on the Income and Expenditure Account   (36.9) 

21.2  
- Net additional amount required by statute and non-statutory proper practices to be debited or credited to the 
HRA balance for the year 

H3 36.9 

- (Increase)/Decrease in the HRA balance for the year   - 

       

(7.0) Closing HRA balance   (7.0) 

 

 

Notes to the Housing Revenue Account Statements  

Note H1 – Depreciation  

2020-2021 

  

2021-2022 

£m £m 

18.5  Council dwellings 19.1 

0.4   Other land and buildings 0.4 

-   Vehicles, plant, furniture, and equipment - 

18.9 Total Depreciation Charge for the Year 19.5 

 

Under the Housing Revenue Account regulations, depreciation and impairment charges are reversed out and replaced with a provision for the 

repayment of debt. 

 

 

P
age 239



173 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note H2 – Revaluation 

2020-2021 

  

2021-2021 

  

£m £m 

(0.9)   Council dwellings (15.0) 

-   Other land and buildings - 

(0.9)  Total Revaluation/Impairment Charge for the Year (15.0) 

 

The revaluation results from the five yearly stock valuation exercise which reflects changes in value due to local market conditions and is adjusted 

for the existing use value (social housing). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 240



174 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note H3 – Analysis of the movement on the HRA balance statement 

2020-2021 
  Note 

2021-2022 

£m £m 

21.2 Net additional amount required to be debited or credited to the HRA balance   36.9 
 Comprising:    
 Amounts included in the Income and Expenditure Account but not in the HRA balance    

8.0   Proceeds of Sale of Property, plant, and equipment   11.4 

0.9   Impairment/revaluation of Property, plant, and equipment H2 16.9 

6.3   Capital Expenditure Funded by the HRA    5.0 

(6.9)   Net Book Value of Assets Sold   (10.2) 

8.3 Sub Total   23.1 
 Amounts not in the Income and Expenditure Account but included in the HRA balance    

   HRA Share of Contribution to Pension Reserve H4  

-   Adjustment for Premiums and Discounts   - 

11.9   Amount Set Aside for the Repayment of Debt   13.1 

1.1 Capital Grants and Contributions  0.7 

-   Transfer to/(from) Earmarked Reserves    - 

13.0 Sub Total   13.8 

21.3 Total   36.9 

 

 

Note H4 – Contribution to the pension reserve  

Retirement benefits are offered to employees by the council as part of the terms and conditions of employment. Although these benefits will not 

actually be payable until employees retire, the council has a commitment to make the payments. This commitment needs to be disclosed at the 

time that employees earn their future entitlement. The pension reserve reflects the projected shortfall in the amount which may need to be 

provided in the future to current employees of the Housing Revenue Account. Further details on this may be found in Note 9 to the core financial 

statements.  

 

P
age 241



175 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note H5 – Housing stock  

The number of dwellings held or leased by the council on the below dates (excluding properties earmarked for demolition or sale) are shown in 

the following table. In addition, the council holds 39 properties for shared ownership: 

31 March   31 March 

2021   2022 

4,794 Low Rise Flats 4,775 

2,574 Medium Rise Flats 2,591 

2,451 High Rise Flats 2,455 

11,989 Houses and Bungalows 11,859 

21,808 Total Dwellings Owned by the council 21,680 

- Homeless Dwellings (Leased) - 

21,808   21,680 

 

Note H6 – Housing Revenue Account property, plant, and equipment  

The following table shows the total Balance Sheet values of the land, houses and other property within the Housing Revenue Account at the end 

of the year: 

31 March   31 March 

2021   2022 

£m   £m 

844.3 Council dwellings 890.6 

14.8 Other land and buildings 13.1 

6.8 Assets under construction 3.0 

- Vehicles, plant, furniture, and equipment - 

- Intangible assets - 

865.9 Total Property, plant, and equipment 906.7 

 

 

P
age 242



176 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note H7 – Vacant possession value of dwellings  

The vacant possession value of the stock of dwellings at 31 March 2022 amounted to £2,226.5 million (31 March 2021: £2,110.8 million). The 

value of dwellings shown on the Balance Sheet is the existing use value (social housing), which is 40% of the vacant possession value (this ratio 

is set by the government). The difference between the two values demonstrates the economic cost to the government of providing council housing 

at less than open market rents.  

  

Note H8 – Capital  

Capital expenditure on land, houses and other property within the HRA during the year and how it was paid for is shown in the following table: 

2020-2021 
  

2021-2022 

£m £m 

  Sources of Funding   

(15.9) Borrowing (22.7) 

(6.1) Usable Capital Receipts (7.7) 

(18.5) Major Repairs Reserve (19.1) 

(0.5) Government and EU Grants (0.6) 

(5.7) Financed from revenue account (5.0) 

(0.1) Other Contributions (0.7) 

(46.8) Total Capital Expenditure (55.8) 

 

 

Capital receipts generated during 2021-2022 from the disposal of HRA assets are detailed in the following table: 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

£m   £m 

(7.5) Sale of Council Houses (including Right-to-Buy) (10.4) 

(0.5) Sale of Other land and buildings (0.9) 

- Repaid Discounts (0.1) 

(8.0) Total Capital Receipts (11.4) 

P
age 243



177 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

These receipts were split between the council and the government, as shown in the table below: 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

£m   £m 

2.2  Paid over to Government 2.2 

(10.2) Available to Finance Capital Expenditure (13.6) 

(8.0) Total Capital Receipts (11.4) 

 

 

Note H9 – Rent arrears  

During 2021-2022, there was an increase in total rent arrears of £0.1 million. Within total rent arrears, current tenants' arrears as a proportion of 

net rental income was 2.7%, 1% higher than in 2021-2022. The comparative total figures are shown in the following table: 

31 March   31 March 

2020   2021 

£m   £m 

2.3  Current Tenants 2.6 

0.9  Former Tenants 1.0 

3.2  Total Arrears 3.6 

 

An allowance is maintained for these credit losses which also includes tenant recharges. The table below details the movement in the year: 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

£m   £m 

3.2 Allowance for expected credit losses 2.8 

(1.4) Amounts Written Off during the Year (0.4) 

1.0 Increase in Allowance Charged to the HRA during the Year 0.6 

2.8 Allowance for expected credit losses carried forward 3.0 

 

 

P
age 244



178 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note H10 – Major repairs reserve  

This is a discretionary reserve to which the council's major repairs allowance (MRA) is transferred, and that is used to finance major repairs to 

HRA property. The MRA was determined by the government as part of the final HRA subsidy determination. Where total HRA depreciation 

charges are greater than the MRA it is a requirement that an amount equal to the difference is transferred to the HRA from the major repairs 

reserve.  

 

2020-2021   2021-2022 

£m   £m 

(0.2) Balance Brought Forward (0.2) 

(18.5) Transfer of MRA from the Capital adjustment account (19.1) 

18.5 Capital Expenditure on Land and Property in the HRA 19.1 

(0.2) Balance Carried Forward (0.2) 

 

  

P
age 245



179 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Section 6 - The Collection Fund Statement 

The Collection Fund statements show how much council tax was raised in Wolverhampton during the year, and how it was allocated between 

the council, fire and police authorities. It also shows details of business rates collected by the council on behalf of central government and the 

amount retained by the council and allocated to the fire authority. 

During 2020-2021 and 2021-2022, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant international, national, and regional impact and will continue to 

do so over the short and medium term. The economic costs of the pandemic will place additional pressures on the council’s income collected 

from council tax and business rates for years to come. The council has seen a decline in the collection rate during 2020-2021 due to the pandemic 

however collection performance for 2021-2022 is now improving when compared to 2020-2021. 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been an extensive business rates relief scheme in both 2020-2021 and 2021-2022, meaning that the 

collection fund deficit is higher when compared to previous years. The government have provided Section 31 grants to cover the cost of COVID-

19 business rates reliefs.  

Due to Collection Fund accounting treatment, the deficit on the fund will not be passed to the council’s General Fund until 2022-2023 and later 

years. The government have confirmed that the in-year deficit on the Collection Fund in 2020-2021 can be spread over 3 years from 2021-2022 

to 2023-2024, and this is included in the deficit carried forward. 

In addition to this, the government announced that funding would be provided to compensate local authorities for 75% of irrecoverable losses 

from council tax and business rates revenues in 2020-2021, that would otherwise need to be funded through local authority budgets in 2021-

2022 and later years. 

The usable reserve balance as at 31 March 2022 includes those government grants received in relation to collection fund deficits that will be 

realised in 2022-2023 and 2023-2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 246



180 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2020-2021   Note 
2021-2022 

Council Tax 
2021-2022 

NNDR 
2021-2022 

£m     £m £m £m 

  Deficit/(surplus) brought forward       

1.1 City of Wolverhampton Council   5.8 39.6 45.4 

- West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner    0.6   - 0.6  

- West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority   0.2  0.4  0.6  

0.3 Central Government    - 0.3  0.3  

1.4     6.6  40.3  46.9  
 Income      

(121.9) Council tax C1 (133.2)  - (133.2) 

(42.6) Business rates C2  - (60.4) (60.4) 

0.4 Transitional protection payments – business rates    - 0.5  0.5  

(3.1) Council Tax Hardship Fund relief/discretionary relief reimbursement   (0.2)  - (0.2) 

(167.2) Total Income   (133.4) (59.9) (193.3) 
 Expenditure      

 Precepts and demands      

108.9 - City of Wolverhampton Council   112.3   - 112.3  

10.5 - West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner    11.3   - 11.3  

4.0 - West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority   4.0   - 4.0  

123.4     127.6   - 127.6  
 Business rates      

- Central government    -  -  - 

0.7 West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority    - 0.7  0.7  

74.0 City of Wolverhampton Council    - 68.7  68.7  

0.3 Cost of collection allowance    - 0.3  0.3  

75.0      - 69.7  69.7  
 Distribution of council tax surplus/ (payment of deficit)      

0.5 City of Wolverhampton Council   (2.9)  - (2.9) 

P
age 247



181 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

- West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner    (0.3)  - (0.3) 

- West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority   (0.1)  - (0.1) 

0.5     (3.3) - (3.3) 
 Distribution of business rates surplus/ (payment of deficit)      

0.2 City of Wolverhampton Council   - (33.9) (33.9) 

(0.3) Central government   -  -  - 

- West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority   - (0.3) (0.3) 

(0.1)     - (34.2) (34.2) 
 Allowance for bad and doubtful debts      

7,2 Council tax   3.8   - 3.8  

5.3 Business rates   - (0.5) (0.5) 

12.5     3.8  (0.5) 3.3  
        

1.4 Provision for appeals   - 2.4 2.4 

        

212.7 Total expenditure   128.1 37.4 162.2 

        

45.5 Deficit/(surplus) for the year   (5.3) (22.5) (31.1) 

      

46.9 Deficit/(surplus) carried forward    1.3  17.8  15.8  

45.4 City of Wolverhampton Council   1.1  17.3  18.4  

0.6 West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner    0.1   - 0.1  

0.6 West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority   0.0  0.2  0.2  

0.3 Central government   - 0.3  0.3  

46.9     1.3 17.8 19.1 

 

 

 

P
age 248



182 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Notes to the Collection Fund Statement  

Note C1 The council tax base  

Council tax income derives from charges raised according to the residential properties, which have been classified into eight valuation bands. 

Individual charges are calculated by estimating the amount of income required to be taken from the collection fund for the forthcoming year and 

dividing this by the tax base. The council's tax base is the number of chargeable dwellings in each valuation band (adjusted for dwellings where 

discounts apply) converted to an equivalent number of band D dwellings. Council tax bills were based on the following proportions for bands A 

to H.  

Band 

Total Number of 
Chargeable 

Dwellings after 
Effect of Discount 

Ratio 
Band D Equivalent Dwellings 
(after allowance for council 

tax support) 

Council Tax including Adult 
Social Care precept 

 (Single Person Household) 

Council Tax including Adult 
Social Care precept 

(Multiple Occupancy) 

    £ £ 

A Disabled 92.50 5/9 51.39 835.87   1,114.49  

A  34,391.60 6/9 22,927.73 1,003.04   1,337.39  

B 18,756.36 7/9 14,588.28 1,170.21   1,560.28  

C 14,215.98 8/9 12,636.42 1,337.38   1,783.18  

D 6,138.71 9/9 6,138.71 1,504.56   2,006.08  

E 2,725.77 11/9 3,331.49 1,838.90   2,451.87  

F 1,546.84 13/9 2,234.33 2,173.24   2,897.66  

G 892.77 15/9 1,487.95 2,507.60   3,343.47  

H 92.13 18/9 184.25 3,009.11   4,012.15  

 78,852.66  63,580.55   

 

 

 

 

P
age 249



183 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note C2  Business rates (national non-domestic rates – NNDR) 

The council collects business rates for its area based on local rateable values provided by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) multiplied by a 

uniform business rate set by central government.  

Local authorities retain a proportion of the total collectable rates due. In Wolverhampton, the council retains 99% and the remaining 1% is paid 

to West Midlands Fire Service.  

The total non-domestic rateable value was £195.9 million as at 31 March 2022 (£196.4 million as at 31 March 2021). The national multipliers for 

2021-2022 were 49.9p for qualifying small businesses, and the standard multiplier was 51.2p for all other businesses (49.9p and 51.2p 

respectively in 2020-2021). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 250



184 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Section 7 - West Midlands Pension Fund Statement 

 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of City of Wolverhampton Council on the pension fund financial statements of West Midlands Pension 

Fund 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 251



185 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Fund Account 

2020-2021   Note 2021-2022 

£m     £m 

  Contributions & Benefits     

(1,184.8) Contributions Receivable P8 (420.1) 

(22.3)  Transfers In P9 (19.1) 

(13.9) Other Income P10 (13.2) 

(1,221.0)  Total Contributions & Other Income   
(452.4) 

 

646.8  Benefits Payable P11 673.4 

31.0  Payments To & On Account of Leavers P12 34.8 

0.4  Other Payments   0.3 

678.2  Total Benefits & Other Expenditure   708.5 

(542.8) Net additions from dealings with members  256.1 

110.2  Management Expenses P13 117.8 

  Returns on Investments    

(84.8) Investment Income P14 (84.4) 

-  Taxes on Income   - 

(3,123.8)  Changes in Value of Investments P16 (1719.6) 

14.1 Revaluation of bulk annuity insurance buy-in contract P17 11.0 

(3,194.5) Net Return on Investments    (1793.0) 

(3,627.1) Net Increase in the Fund During the Year   (1,419.1) 

(15,288.1)  Net Assets of the Fund at the Beginning of the Year   (18,915.2) 

(18,915.2)  Net Assets of the Fund at the End of the Year   (20,334.4) 

    

  

 

 

 

 

    

    
Net Assets Statement 

P
age 252



186 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

31 March 2021   Note 31 March 2022 

£m     £m 

  Investment Assets (at Market Value) P15   

508.4 Bonds   563.6 

27  UK Equities   57.2 

2,567.5  Overseas Equities   2,539.7 

13,640.8  Pooled Investment Vehicles   15,049.1 

1,014.0  Property   1,142.8 

-  Derivatives - Futures   12.3 

- Derivatives - Swaps  2.6 

3.1  Derivatives - Forward Foreign Exchange   - 

399.6  Foreign Currency Holdings   617.0 

498.2  Cash Deposits   136.4 

19.2  Other Investment Assets   16.6 

7.5  Outstanding Dividend Entitlement & Recoverable With-Holding Tax   6.4 

18,685.3  Investment Assets   20,143.8 

  Investment Liabilities (at Market Value) P15  

(-) Derivatives - Forward Foreign Exchange   (7.4) 

(2.3) Derivatives - Futures  - 

(2.3) Investment Liabilities   (7.4) 

18,683.0  Net Investment Assets   20,136.4 

200.0 Bulk annuity insurance buy-in contract  P17 174.0 

10.2  Long-Term Debtors P19 11.4 

42.5  Current Assets P20 45.0 

(20.5) Current Liabilities P21 (32.5) 

18,915.2  Net Assets of the Fund at the End of the Year   20,334.4 

    

    

P
age 253



187 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The accounts summarise the transactions of the Fund and deal with the net assets at its disposal. They do not take account of obligations to pay 
pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the financial year. The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is disclosed 
at note 6. 
 
The notes form part of these financial statements. 
 
Notes to the Pension Fund Statements      

Note P1 - General      

The description in this note is a high-level summary of the Fund's activities and more detail is available in the Fund's Annual Report which can 

be found on its website.       

West Midlands Pension Fund is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme and is administered by the City of Wolverhampton Council on 

behalf of all local authorities in the West Midlands and other employers who have members in the Fund. Membership of the Fund is available to 

all local government employees including non-teaching staff of schools and further and higher education corporations in the West Midlands region 

together with employees of scheduled and admitted bodies. At 31 March 2022, the Fund had 859 actively participating employers and 338,591 

members as set out in the following table. A full list of participating employers can be found in the Fund's Annual Report.    

 

31 March 2021   31 March 2022 

No.   No. 

113,644  Active Members 112,431  

106,899  Pensioner Members 114,897  

114,558  Deferred Members 111,263 

335,101  Total 338,591  

 

The responsibility for administering the Fund is delegated to the council's Pensions Committee. It meets at approximately quarterly intervals and 

has members from each of the seven metropolitan district councils in the West Midlands. A Pensions Board was also in operation during 2021/22. 

Membership of the Committee and Board can be found on the City of Wolverhampton Council website: 

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1       

The scheme is governed by the Public Services Pensions Act 2013. The Fund is administered in accordance with the following secondary 

legislation:        

P
age 254



188 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

(i) The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) 

(ii) (ii) The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Saving and Amendments) Regulations 2014 (as amended) 

(iii) (iii) The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 

The scheme is a contributory defined benefit pension scheme. Benefits are funded by contributions and investment earnings. Contributions are 

made by active members of the Fund in accordance with the LGPS Regulations 2013 and range from 5.5% to 12.5% of pensionable pay for the 

financial year ending 31 March 2022. In addition to employee contributions, employers' contributions are paid as set based on triennial actuarial 

funding valuations. The valuation in relation to 2021/22 contribution rates was conducted at 31 March 2019. Employer contribution rates during 

2021/22 ranged from 15.5% to 38.6% of pensionable pay. 

Major changes were introduced to the LGPS from 1 April 2014, in particular, the move from basing pensions on final salaries to career-average 

revalued earnings (CARE) with an accrual rate of 1/49th and pensions uprated annually in line with the Consumer Price Index. Pension 

entitlements accrued prior to this date continue to be based on final salary. 

Further to direction from government, local authority investment pools have been created to bring together the investment assets of LGPS pension 

funds into eight Investment Pools. LGPS Central Limited (LGPSC), the company established to manage investments on behalf of eight LGPS 

funds including West Midlands Pension Fund (WMPF), received authorisation from the Financial Conduct Authority in 2018 and the LGPS Central 

regional investment asset pool went live on 1 April 2018. 

As at 31 March 2022, WMPF had assets of £8,735m managed in LGPSC sub-funds comprising £8,453m managed through Authorised 

Contractual Scheme (ACS) sub-funds and a further £283m managed through vehicles.  

Work is underway to develop further LGPS Central Limited sub-funds in collaboration with LGPS Central investment asset pool Partner Funds 

and WMPF will continue to review the decision to transition assets on a case-by-case basis dependent on the sub-fund meeting the strategic 

requirements of WMPF. The transition of the Fund’s remaining assets into products offered by LGPS Central Limited is expected to take several 

years.  

WMPF has a number of advisory arrangements in place with LGPSC to support with advice and sometimes to facilitate execution on the 

underlying assets of legacy portfolios managed directly by the Fund. It is likely that some of these advisory and execution mandates will remain 

in place for some time to come due to the illiquid nature of the investments and the cost effectiveness of transition. 

 

 

Note P2 - Basis of Preparation 

P
age 255



189 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Fund's transactions for the 2021/22 financial year and its financial position as at 31 March 2022. The 

accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 (the Code) 

which is based upon International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as amended for the UK public sector.   

The accounts summarise the transactions of the Fund and report on the net assets available to pay pension benefits. The accounts do not take 

account of obligations to pay pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the financial year. The actuarial present value of promised 

retirement benefits, valued on an International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 basis, is disclosed at Note P6 of these accounts.  

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

 

Note P3 - Statement of Accounting Policies        

A. Fund account         

In the Fund Account, income and expenditure are accounted for in the year in which they accrue by the creation of payables and receivables at 

the year-end where necessary.      

B. Contribution income         

Normal contributions, both from the members and from the employers, are accounted for on an accruals basis. Member contributions are made 

in accordance with the LGPS (Amendment) Regulations 2018 using common percentage rates for all schemes which rise according to 

pensionable pay. Employer contributions are set at the percentage rate recommended by the Actuary, in the payroll period to which they relate. 

Additional contributions (including past service deficit contributions and excluding additional voluntary contributions) as notified by employers 

for the period have also been included. Past service deficit contributions are accounted for in the year in which they are payable under the 

schedule of contributions set by the scheme actuary.        

Employers' augmentation contributions and pensions strain contributions are accounted for in the period in which the liability arises. Any 

amount due in year but unpaid is classed as a current financial asset with amounts due after the following year classed as long-term financial 

assets.     

Where employing organisations have not submitted all of the certified returns of contributions payable by the due date for preparation of these 

accounts, an estimate has been made based on the monthly returns actually received from these bodies.  

 

C. Transfers to and from other schemes         

P
age 256



190 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Transfer values represent the amounts received and paid during the year for members who had either transferred benefits in or out of the 

scheme as at 31 March 2022, calculated in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations (see notes to the accounts). 

Transfers in respect of individuals are accounted for when received or paid which is normally when the member liability is accepted or 

discharged. Bulk transfers in and out, where the receiving scheme has agreed to accept the liability prior to receipt and the necessary 

employee consents have been obtained, are accounted for in accordance with the bulk transfer terms signed by qualified actuaries appointed 

by the two pension schemes involved in the bulk transfer.        

Transfers in from members wishing to use the proceeds of their additional voluntary contributions to purchase scheme benefits are accounted 

for on a receipts basis and are reported within transfers in. 

 

D. Investment Income         

i) Interest Income         

Interest income is recognised in the Fund Account as it accrues using the effective interest rate of the financial instrument as at the date of 

acquisition or origination.       

ii) Dividend Income         

Dividend income is recognised on the date the shares are quoted ex-dividend. Any amount not received by the end of the reporting period is 

disclosed in the Net Assets Statement as a current financial asset.  

iii) Distributions from Pooled Funds         

Distributions (income) from pooled funds are recognised at the date of issue.  

Investment income arising from the underlying investments of pooled investment vehicles is distributed back into the pooled investment 

vehicles throughout the year.       

iv) Property-Related Income         

Property-related income (consisting primarily of rental income from operating leases) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

lease. Any lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease. Contingent rents 

based on the future amount of a factor that changes other than with the passage of time, such as turnover rents, are only recognised when 

contractually due.       

P
age 257



191 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

v) Changes in the Value of Investments         

Changes in the net market value of investments (including Investment properties) are recognised as income and comprise all realised and 

unrealised profits/losses during the year.     

vi) Stock lending income         

Stock lending income is accounted for on a cash basis.       

E. Taxation         

The Fund is a registered public service scheme under section 1(1) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004 and as such is exempt from UK 

income tax on interest received and from capital gains tax on the proceeds of investments sold. Income from overseas investments suffers 

withholding tax in the country of origin unless exemption is permitted. Irrecoverable tax is accounted for as an expense as it arises.   

F. Benefits payable 

Pensions and lump sum benefits payable include all amounts known to be due as at 31 March 2022. Any amounts due but unpaid are 

disclosed in the Net Assets Statement as current liabilities.   

G. Financial assets         

Financial assets are included in the Net Assets Statement on a fair value basis as at the reporting date. A financial asset is recognised in the 

Net Assets Statement on the date the Fund becomes party to the contractual acquisition of the asset. From this date, any gains or losses 

arising from changes in the fair value of the asset are recognised in the Fund Account.        

The fair value is established in accordance with IFRS 13 for each category of investment by obtaining sufficient data as follows: 

I. Market-quoted investments are valued on the basis of the bid price (or, if unavailable, most recent transaction) on the relevant stock 

market. Fixed interest securities are recorded at net market value based on their current yields; 

II. Unquoted securities are valued by the fund managers at the year-end in accordance with generally accepted guidelines. Unquoted 

private equities are valued by the investment managers in accordance with International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 

Guidelines (2012) using guidelines of the British Venture Capital Association. This includes the use of discounted cash flow models 

which are independently valued; and 

III. Pooled investment vehicles are valued at the closing price under single pricing system, or bid price under dual pricing system, as 

advised by the respective fund manager.       

Investment assets are allocated and disclosed within the fair value hierarchy, being within Levels 1, 2 or 3. 

P
age 258



192 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The LGPS Central pool trading company, LGPS Central Limited, only became licensed to trade on 1 April 2018. The Pension Fund's view is 

that for 31 March 2022, cost is still an appropriate estimate of the fair value of shares held in this company.      

H. Freehold and leasehold properties         

Properties including farmlands and commercial properties are valued annually by independent valuers on a fair value basis in accordance with 

Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) valuation standards.  

I. Foreign currencies         

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are expressed in sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the year-end. Foreign currency 

transactions are translated into sterling at the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Gains and losses arising on conversion or 

translation are accounted for as part of the change in market value.      

J. Derivatives         

The Fund uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to specific risks arising from its investment activities. The Fund does not 

hold derivatives for speculative purposes.   

Purchases and sales of derivatives are recognised as follows: Futures – on close out or expiry the variation margins are recognised as cash 

receipts or payments depending on whether there is a gain or loss. Forward currency contracts settlements are reported as gross receipts and 

payments.    

K. Movement in the net market value of investments 

Any gains or losses arising on translation of investments into sterling are accounted for as a change in the market value of investments.  

L. Cash and cash equivalents         

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 

known amounts of cash and that are subject to minimal risk of changes in value.     

 

M. Financial liabilities         

P
age 259



193 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Financial liabilities are included in the Fund Account at fair value if they exist at the reporting date. A financial liability is recognised in the Net 

Assets Statement on the date the Fund becomes party to the liability. From this date, any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value 

of the liability are recognised by the Fund.       

N. Management expenses         

The Fund discloses its management expenses in accordance with the CIPFA guidance Accounting for Local Government Pension Scheme 

Management Expenses 2016. 

All administrative expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. The costs of Fund officers are recharged to the Fund along with all other 

costs incurred directly on Fund activities for corporate support services provided by the administering authority.     

All investment management expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. External investment management and custodian fees are 

agreed in management or custody agreements governing the administration of the individual mandates. Fees are generally based on the 

valuation of the underlying investments either being managed or in safe custody. In addition, performance-related fees are negotiated with a 

number of managers and the amounts of such fees are provided in a note to the accounts.  

O. Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits  

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is assessed on a triennial basis by the scheme actuary in accordance with the 

requirements of IAS 19 and relevant actuarial standards. As permitted under the Code, the Fund has opted to disclose the actuarial present 

value of promised retirement benefits by way of a note to the Net Assets Statement (see note P5). 

P. Additional voluntary contributions         

The Fund provides an additional voluntary contributions (AVC) scheme for its members the assets of which are invested separately from those 

of the Fund. The Fund has appointed Prudential Assurance Company Limited and Utmost Life and Pensions as its AVC providers. AVCs are 

paid to the provider by employers and are specifically for providing additional benefits for individual contributors. Each contributor receives an 

annual statement showing the amount held in their account and the movements in the year. AVCs are not included in the accounts in 

accordance with section 4(1)(b) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 but are 

disclosed as a note only (see note P22). 

 

 

Note P4 - Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

P
age 260



194 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

It has not been necessary to make any material critical judgements in applying the accounting policies in 2021-2022. 

 

Note P5 - Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty 

Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits      

Uncertainties         

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which 

salaries and pensions are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets. 

Hymans Robertson, the Fund's consulting Actuaries, are engaged to provide expert advice about the assumptions to be applied.  

 

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions 

The effects on the net pension liability of changes in individual assumptions can be measured. For instance, an increase in the discount rate 

assumption would result in a decrease in the pension liability; however, an increase in assumed earnings inflation or assumed life expectancy 

would significantly increase the pension liability as detailed by the Fund's consulting Actuary below:      

Change in assumptions - year ended 31 March 2022  Approx. % increase 
in liabilities 

 Approx. monetary 
value  

£m 

0.1% p.a. decrease in discount rate 
2% 526.0 

1 year increase in member life expectancy 
4% 1,136.0 

0.1% p.a. increase in salary increase rate 
0% 55.0 

0.1% p.a. increase in CPI inflation 
2% 467.0 

 

 

 

Fair value of investments 

P
age 261



195 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Uncertainties         

Certain types of investments are not publicly listed and, as such, there is a degree of estimation involved in their valuation.   

     

COVID-19 valuation uncertainty         

During the year to 31 March 2021, the impact of COVID-19 led to valuation challenges regarding certain illiquid assets. On 17 March 2020, the 

Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) recommended that surveyors use a material valuation uncertainty clause in property valuations 

due to the unprecedented circumstances caused by the pandemic and the corresponding absence of market evidence on which to base 

judgements. Throughout the year, such clauses applied to fewer and fewer assets as market uncertainty gradually receded and on 9 

September 2020, the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) formally lifted its recommendation.  

Obtaining timely valuation is a perennial issue with Private Equity and level 3 assets where the valuation of investment vehicles often has to be 

'stale' or 'lagged' due to the unavailability of pricing information as at the Fund's year end date (by the time the Statement of Accounts has been 

prepared and audited). Valuations are by necessity estimated and may not fully reflect the performance of the vehicles underlying portfolio of 

investments.   

 

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions 

The use of estimates for investment values is greatest for those assets classified at Level 3 which means there is a risk that these investments 

may be over/under stated in the accounts. The total value of Level 3 investments is £3,920.7m at 31 March 2021 (£3,806.1m at 31 March 

2020). The assets classified as Level 3 and the sensitivity of the valuation methods employed is described in note 17. 

 

Note P6 - Actuarial valuation of the Fund       

The contribution rates applicable to the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023 were determined by the Fund's Actuary, G Muir of Barnett 

Waddingham LLP as part of the full actuarial valuation of the Fund made as at 31 March 2019.  

On the basis of the assumptions adopted, the 2019 valuation revealed that the value of the Fund’s assets of £15,634 million represented 94% of 

the funding target of £16,648 million at the valuation date. The valuation also showed that a primary rate of contribution of 20.4% of pensionable 

pay per annum was required from employers. The common rate is calculated as being sufficient, together with contributions paid by members, 

to meet all liabilities arising in respect of service after the valuation date. 

P
age 262



196 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

In general, the Fund applies a maximum deficit recovery period of 17 years. The aim is to achieve 100% solvency over the period and to provide 

stability in employer contribution rates. 

In practice, each individual employer’s position is assessed separately, and the contributions required are set out in the report dated 31 March 

2020. In addition to the certified contribution rates, payments to cover additional liabilities arising from early retirements (other than ill-health 

retirements) will be made to the Fund by the employers.  

The funding plan adopted in assessing the contributions for each individual employer is in accordance with the Funding Strategy Statement 

(FSS). Different approaches adopted in implementing contribution increases and deficit recovery periods are as determined through the FSS 

consultation process. 

As a result of the valuation, a revised Rates and Adjustments certificate was prepared for the three years commencing 1 April 2020. For 

comparison purposes, the figures for the two preceding years are also shown. The minimum payable by the seven councils was certified as 

follows: 

 

Future Service Rate (% of pay) plus lump sum (£) 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Birmingham City Council  16.8% plus 
£61.8m 

(£124.0m)  

 18.3% plus 
£61.5m 

(£124.2m)  

21.3% plus 
£48.2m 

(£124.2m) 

21.3% plus 
£49.9m 
(£123m) 

21.3% plus 
£51.8m 

(£121.9m) 

Coventry City Council  16.8% plus 
£12m   

(£31.1m)  

 16.8% plus 
£12m   

(£31.1m)  

20.4% plus 
£3.6m 

(£32.9m) 

20.4% plus 
£3.7m 

(£32.6m) 

20.4% plus 
£3.9m 

(£32.3m) 

Dudley MBC 
  

 17.0% plus 
£9.7m 

(£31.3m)  

 18.6% plus 
£9.6m 

(£32.3m)  

20.7% plus 
£3.0m 

(£31.5m) 

20.7% plus 
£3.1m 

(£30.6m) 

20.7% plus 
£3.2m 

(£29.9m) 

Sandwell MBC 
  

 16.2% plus 
£17m   

(£17.0m)  

 17.7% plus 
£16.9m 

(£16.9m)  

20.5% plus 
£10.5m 

(£10.3m) 

20.5% plus 
£10.9m 

(£10.2m) 

20.5% plus 
£11.3m 

(£10.1m) 

Solihull MBC 
  

16.5% plus 
£5.1m 

(£16.6m) 

18.4% plus 
£5.1m 

(£17.4m) 

20.7% plus 
£2.9m 

(£19.9m) 

20.7% plus 
£3.0m 

(£19.4m) 

20.7% plus 
£3.1m 

(£19.0m) 

P
age 263



197 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Walsall MBC 
  

 16.9% plus 
£14.8m 

(£30.2m)  

 18.3% plus 
£15m   

(£31.5m)  

20.3% plus 
£9.8m 

(£30.2m) 

20.3% plus 
£10.1m 

(£30.0m) 

20.3% plus 
£10.5m 

(£29.7m) 

City of Wolverhampton Council  16.8% plus 
£14m  

 18.1% plus 
£14.6m  

20.0% plus 
£6.8m 

(£28.8m) 

20.0% plus 
£7.1m 

20.0% plus 
£7.3m 

 

The amounts shown in brackets are due in the year where the council has opted to make a cash payment in advance. These amounts were 

received by the Fund in April 2020. The valuation was carried out using the projected unit actuarial method and the main actuarial assumptions 

used for assessing the Funding Target and the common contribution rate were as follows: 

 

  
  

2019  2016  

Rate of return on investments:  4.6% per annum   4.7% per annum  

Rate of pay increases:  3.6% per annum   3.9% per annum  

Rate of increases in pensions in payment (in excess of 
Guaranteed Minimum Pension): 

 2.6% per annum   2.4% per annum  

 

The assets were assessed at market value. 

The 31 March 2019 Actuarial Valuation report can be found on the Fund's website. 

 

 

 

 

Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits for the purposes of IAS 26 

IAS 26 requires the present value of the Fund’s promised retirement benefits to be disclosed and for this purpose, the actuarial assumptions and 

methodology used should be based on IAS 19 rather than the assumptions and methodology used for funding purposes. 

P
age 264



198 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

To assess the value of the benefits on this basis, the following financial assumptions have been used: 

  31 March 2021 31 March 2022 

Rate of return on investments (discount rate)  2.00% per annum   2.70% per annum  

Rate of pay increases  3.85% per annum   4.20% per annum  

Rate of increases in pensions in payment (in excess of 
Guaranteed Minimum Pension) 

 2.85% per annum   3.20% per annum  

 

The total value of the Fund's promised retirement benefits for the purposes of IAS 26 as at 31 March 2021 was estimated as £29,968.5 million. 

The impact of the changes in actuarial financial assumptions between 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 as described above is to decrease the 

liabilities by £2,080 million. The impact of the change in demographic assumptions between 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 is to decrease 

the actuarial present value by £167 million. 

The net effect of all the above is that the estimated total value of the Fund's promised retirement benefits as at 31 March 2022 is therefore 

£28,386 million. 

 

Note P7 – Taxation 

1. Value added tax (VAT) 

 

The Fund (as part of the City of Wolverhampton Council) pays VAT collected on income in excess of VAT payable on expenditure to 

HMRC. The accounts are shown exclusive of VAT. 

 

2. Taxation of overseas investment income 

 

The Fund receives interest on its overseas bonds gross, but a variety of arrangements apply for the taxation of dividends on overseas 

equities in the various markets. 

 

In some markets, a lower-than-standard tax rate is available, either as a result of a double tax treaty in place between the UK and the 

investment country (e.g., Poland, Canada, Italy, Sweden) or based on favourable domestic legislation (e.g., Australia, Czech Republic, 

Singapore). Where this is the case, relief may be granted at source based on documentation already on file (e.g., USA, Belgium, 

P
age 265



199 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Australia, Finland, France, and Norway), or ex post via reclaim forms submitted to the local tax authorities (e.g., Austria, Denmark, 

Germany, Netherlands, Switzerland, and Spain). 

 

There are also markets where relief is not possible - either no double taxation agreement exists (e.g., Brazil, Colombia, Lebanon), or a 

'subject to tax' clause prevents UK pension funds from benefiting from treaty rates (e.g., Israel, Malaysia, Portugal). In such cases, the 

full amount of tax is withheld and is final. 

 

 

Note P8 - Contributions receivable 

Contributions receivable by type 

2020/21   2021/22 

£m   £m 

  From employers   

 744.2  Contributions  228.1  

303.9  Past service deficit 43.3  

10.9  Additional cost of early retirement 15.8  

 1,059.0    287.2  

  From members   

125.3  Basic contributions 132.3  

0.5  Additional contributions 0.6  

125.8    132.9  

      

1,184.8  Total contributions 420.1  

 

Following the actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2019, some employers chose to pay their full three-year future service and past service deficit 

contributions in advance as a lump sum in 2020/21. The lump sums paid by the seven councils have been accounted for fully in 2020/21 and 

are listed in the table in note 6. The additional contributions above represent the purchase of added membership or additional benefits under 

the pension scheme.    

P
age 266



200 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

   

Contributions receivable by type of employer 

2020/21   2021/22 

£m    £m  

            51.3  Administering authority                 32.3  

       1,089.1  Other scheduled employers               344.4  

            44.4  Admitted employers                 43.4  

       1,184.8  Total               420.1  

 

Note P9 - Transfers in  

2020/21   2021/22 

£m   £m 

            22.3  Individual transfers                 19.1  

            22.3  Total                 19.1  

 

Note P10 - Other income 

2020/21   2021/22 

£m   £m 

  Benefits recharged to employers 
 

              7.1  Compensatory added years 6.9  

              6.8  Pensions increases 6.3  

            13.9  Total 13.2  

 

 

 

Note P11 - Benefits payable 

Benefits payable by type 

P
age 267



201 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2020/21   2021/22 

£m    £m  

  Pensions   

          499.1  Retirement pensions                       510.3  

            33.8  Widows’ pensions                 34.8  

              1.1  Children’s’ pensions                   1.1  

              6.7  Widowers’ pensions                   7.2  

              0.2  Ex-spouses' pensions                   0.2  

              0.2  Equivalent pension benefits                   0.2  

              0.3  Co-habiting partners' pensions                   0.4  

              0.1  Civil Partnership                   0.1  

              0.1  Amounts due to Estate                   0.1  

          541.6  Total pensions               554.4  

      

  Lump sum benefits   

            87.5  Retiring allowances               102.9  

            17.7  Death grants                 16.1  

          105.2  Total lump sum benefits               119.0  

      

          646.8  Total benefits payable               673.4  

 

Benefits payable by type of employer 

 2020/21   2021/22 

£m   £m 

            50.4  Administering authority 52.4  

          543.2  Other scheduled employers 564.4  

            53.2  Admitted employers 56.6  

          646.8  Total 673.4  

 

Note P12 - Payments to and on account of leavers 
 

2020/21  
 

 2021/22  

P
age 268



202 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 £m  
 

 £m  

            29.2  Individual transfers                 32.7 

              1.8  Refunds of contributions                   2.1  

            31.0  Total                 34.8  

 
 
Note P13 - Management expenses 
 

2020/21  
 

 2021/22  

 £m     £m  

              6.3  Administrative costs 7.3  

          100.8  Investment management expenses 106.7  

              3.1  Oversight and governance costs 3.8  

    
 

          110.2  Total  117.8  

 
Included in administrative costs of £6.3m above are external audit fees of £73,486 (2020/21: £70,386). The charge for 2021/22 comprises the 
current year audit fee of £68,486 and a provision of £5,000 for additional costs arising from the impact of the remote working on Grant 
Thornton's work in completing the 2021/22 audit. 
 
The guidance requires that external investment management fees that are deducted from asset values (rather than invoiced and paid directly) 
are shown gross. Wherever possible, the figures are based on actual costs disclosed by the manager; where actual costs were not available, 
best estimates have been made using other available information. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note P13 i) - Investment management expenses 
 

P
age 269



203 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

2021/22  Total 
 Management 

fees  
 Performance 
related fees  

 Transaction 
costs  

   £m   £m   £m   £m  

Equities 25.3  16.9  -  8.4  

Fixed interest 0.4  0.4  -  -  

Pooled investments  24.5  14.7  -  9.8  

Pooled property investments -  -  - -  

Private equity 40.5  14.3  26.0  0.2  

Property 5.7  4.7  0.3  0.7  

Infrastructure 9.5  7.2  2.3  -  

Absolute return 0.1  0.1  -  -  

Derivatives 0.4  0.2   - 0.2  

Cash, cash equivalents & fx contracts 0.1  0.1   - -  

  106.5  58.4  28.7  19.4  

Custody fees 0.2        

Total 106.7        

 
 
 

2020/21  Total 
 Management 

fees  
 Performance 
related fees  

 Transaction 
costs  

   £m   £m   £m   £m  

Equities 11.9  7.9  -  4.0  

Fixed interest 0.5  0.5  -  -  

Pooled investments * 24.6  10.0  -  14.6  

Pooled property 
investments 8.2  7.2  (0.8) 1.8  

Private equity 38.8  23.2  15.6  -  

Property 2.6  1.6  -  1.0  

Infrastructure 6.1  4.2  0.7  1.2  

Absolute return 6.7  6.6  0.1  -  

P
age 270



204 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Derivatives 0.7  0.7    -  

Cash, cash equivalents & 
fx contracts 0.3  

0.3  
  -  

  100.4  62.2  15.6  22.6  

Custody fees 0.4        

Total 100.8        

 
 
Note P14 - Investment Income 
 

2020/21   2021/22 

£m   £m 

  Dividends and Interest   

  Bonds   

              7.9  UK private sector – quoted                   9.2  

  Equities   

                -    UK private sector – quoted                   0.6  

            23.2  Overseas                 20.8  

  Pooled Investment Vehicles   

              1.0  UK private sector – quoted                   0.7 

              4.7  Overseas equities                   6.3  

              1.7  Interest on cash deposits                     -    

              0.8  Stock lending                   0.7  

              5.6  Other investment income                     -    

            44.9  Total dividends and interest                 38.3  

      

            48.5  Property management income                 60.2  

             (8.6) Property management expenses                (14.1) 

            39.9  Total property management                 46.1 

      

            84.8  Total investment income                 84.4  

 
Stock lending         
 

P
age 271



205 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

As at 31 March 2022, £583.1 million of stock was on loan to an agreed list of approved borrowers through the Fund’s custodian in its capacity 
as agent lender (31 March 2021: £482.6 million). The loans were covered by non-cash collateral in the form of equities, gilts, Delivery by Values 
DBVs and G10 sovereign debt totalling £631.5 million and giving a margin of 8.0% (31 March 2021, £521 million, margin of 8.0%).  
       
Collateral is marked to market, adjusted daily, and held by a third-party agent on behalf of the Fund. Net income from stock lending amounted 
to £0.7 million during the year (2020/21: £0.8 million). The Fund retains its economic interest in stocks on loan and their value is included in the 
Fund valuation. There is, however, an obligation to return collateral to the borrowers and its value is therefore excluded from the Fund 
valuation. The securities lending programme is indemnified to give the Fund further protection against losses.     
    
         
There are no liabilities associated with the loaned assets.         
Other investment income         
 
"Other investment income includes the following: Class action income, liquidation proceeds and tax refunds."     
    
 
 
Note P15 - Net investment assets  
 

31 March 2021   31 March 2022 

£m   £m 

     

  Bonds   

          222.4  UK companies – segregated (external)               235.4  

          286.0  Overseas sovereign - index linked               328.2  

          508.4                  563.6  

  UK equities   

            25.0  Quoted                 55.2  

              2.0  Unquoted                   2.0  

            27.0                    57.2  

  Overseas equities   

          181.1  Quoted               155.4  

P
age 272



206 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

       2,386.4  Quoted – segregated (external)            2,384.3  

       2,567.5               2,539.7  

  Pooled investment vehicles   

  Managed funds   

          659.8  UK fixed interest               668.9  

       1,876.7  Other fixed interest            2,167.3  

          961.9  UK quoted, index linked            1,011.2  

       1,081.7  UK quoted equities (pooled assets)            1,349.4  

       6,093.1  Overseas quoted equities (pooled assets)            6,801.8  

          819.7  Infrastructure               830.3  

       1,315.5  Private equity            1,439.2  

          356.6  UK absolute returns               257.7  

            54.1  Overseas absolute returns                 82.6  

                -    Multi asset credit                     -    

          188.3  UK property               208.4  

          122.0  Overseas property               117.2  

      

  Unit trusts   

          111.4  UK property               115.1  

     13,640.8             15,049.1  

  Property   

          969.4  UK freehold            1,096.5  

            44.6  UK leasehold*                 46.3  

       1,014.0               1,142.8  

      

  Derivative contracts   

                -    Futures                 12.3  

  Swaps                   2.6  

              3.1  Forward currency contracts                     -    

P
age 273



207 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

              3.1                    15.0  

      

  Foreign currency holdings   

              0.5  Australian dollars                   0.5  

              0.6  Canadian Dollars                    0.6  

              1.3  Czech Koruna                   1.5  

              0.6  Danish Kroner                   0.6  

            73.6  Euro               133.8  

            31.3  Hong Kong Dollars                 33.8  

              0.6  Hungarian Forints                   0.7  

              5.2  Japanese Yen                   4.9  

              2.2  Mexican Peso                   2.6  

              0.5  New Zealand Dollars                    0.5  

              0.5  Norwegian Kroner                   0.5  

              0.5  Polish Zloty                   0.5  

              1.4  Singapore Dollars                   1.5  

              2.9  Swedish Kroner                   2.9  

              4.8  Swiss Francs                   5.2  

              0.7  Turkish Lira                   0.4  

          272.4  United States Dollars               426.5  

          399.6                  617.0  

  Cash deposits   

          491.0  UK                128.8  

              7.2  US                   7.6  

          498.2                  136.3  

  Other investments   

            19.2  Broker balances                 16.6  

              7.5  
Outstanding dividend entitlement and recoverable with-holding 
tax                   6.4  

            26.7                    23.0  

P
age 274



208 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

      

      

     18,685.3  Total investment assets          20,143.7  

      

  Investment liabilities   

      

  Derivative contracts   

                -    Forward currency contracts                  (7.4) 

             (2.3) Futures   

             (2.3)                    (7.4) 

      

             (2.3) Total investment liabilities                  (7.4) 

      

     18,683.0  Net investment assets          20,136.4  

* All leasehold properties are held on long leases         
         
Segregated accounts are held separately from the main account by the global custodian and contain assets managed by some of the Fund's 
external managers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         
The following investments represent more than 5% of the net assets of the Fund. All of these companies are registered in the UK.    

P
age 275



209 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

31 March 2021 

  

31 March 2022 

Market value  % of total 
market value  

 Market value  
 % of total 

market value  

 £m       £m      

   Security     

          

2,532.6  13.6  
LGPS Central Global Ex UK 
Passive Equity Fund 2,754.3  13.7  

1,862.7  10.0  
LGPS Central All World Equity 
Climate Multi Factor Fund 2,140.4  10.6  

1,075.4  5.8  
LGPS Central UK Passive 
Equity Fund 1,210.7  6.0  

1,057.0  5.7  
LGPS Central Global Equity 
Active Multi-Manager Fund 1,195.6  5.9  

961.9  5.1  
Legal & General - All Stocks 
Index-Linked Gilts Fund 1,011.2  5.0  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 276



210 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The proportion of the market value of investment assets managed in the regional asset pool and by each external manager at the year-end is 
set out below.  
 

31 March 2021   31 March 2022 

Market value  % of total 
market value  

  
Market value  % of total 

market value  

 £m         £m      

 Investments managed by LGPS Central Limited regional asset pool:      

6,010.1  
 

32.2  
Authorised Contractual Schemes (ACS) - global equities 

6,712.4  
 

33.9  

1,075.4  
              

 5.8  
Authorised Contractual Schemes (ACS) - UK equities 

1,210.7  
 

6.1  

584.8  
 

3.1 
Authorised Contractual Schemes (ACS) - Fixed interest 

811.4  
 

4.1  

198.9                1.1  Non-ACS private equity 283.2  1.4  

7,869.2              42.1    9,017.7  45.5  

          

 Investments managed outside of LGPS Central Limited regional asset pool:      

          

2,120.7  11.4  In-house 2,120.7  10.7  

117.7                0.6  Managers: UK quoted 117.7  0.6  

1,448.3                7.8  Managers: emerging markets 1,448.3  7.3  

1,021.1                5.5  Managers: global equities 1,021.1  5.1  

3,422.0  18.3  Managers: fixed interest 3,422.0  17.3  

310.3                1.7  Managers: indirect property 310.3  1.6  

819.7                4.4  Managers: infrastructure funds 819.7  4.1  

410.7   2.2  Managers: absolute return 410.7  2.1  

1,116.6  6.0  Managers: private equity 1,116.6  5.6  

10,787.1              57.7    10,787.1  54.4  

26.7  
  Outstanding dividend entitlement and recoverable withholding 

tax 23.0  
  

18,683.0    Net investment assets 19,827.8    

 

P
age 277



211 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

ANALYSIS OF DERIVATIVES         
         
Objectives and policies for holding derivatives         
         
The Fund utilises derivative instruments in line with investment policy and investment management agreements in place with third party 
investment managers.        
         
a) Futures          
         
In 2018/19, the Fund made a decision to transition assets out of an internal global equity portfolio and into a new sustainable global equities 
mandate. Recognising that there would be some lead time in implementing this strategy, as and when the existing portfolio was realised, 
proceeds were invested in global equity futures pending transition to the sustainables mandate. During 2020/21, the Fund made a significant 
transition into the sustainables mandate and has reduced its exposure to futures accordingly.        
  
The Fund has also invested in gilt futures to help align the weighting in this area with its strategic target and as a tool for risk management. The 
economic exposure represents the notional value of stock purchased under futures contracts and is therefore subject to market movements. 
        
         
b) Forward foreign currency          
         
To reduce the volatility associated with fluctuating currency rates, the Fund has a passive currency programme in place. The Fund commenced 
its currency hedging programme in September 2017 following approval by Committee to amend the Strategic Investment Allocation Benchmark 
to reflect the passive currency management programme. The Fund's hedging programme aims to protect returns in sterling terms and reduce 
currency risk. The neutral hedge ratio is considered to be 50% based on the strategic weight of each region but actual hedge ratios applied will 
vary from time to time with a rebalancing taking place on a monthly basis to reflect changing market values. 
 
       
c) Open forward currency contracts 
 

Settlement Currency Local  Currency Local      Asset  Liability  

  Bought value Sold value     value value 

    m   m     £m £m 

One to six months GBP 429.5 EUR 515.7   (7.5) 

One to six months EUR 28.5 GBP   24     0.1 

Open forward currency contracts at 31 March 2022           (7.4) 

P
age 278



212 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Net forward currency contracts at 31 March 2022   (7.4) 

 
Prior year comparative: 

Open forward currency contracts at 31 March 2021 3.1   

Net forward currency contracts at 31 March 2021 3.1   

 
 
d) Open exchange traded futures contracts 
 
      

Type Expires Economic Market value   Economic Market value 

   exposure 31 March 2021   exposure 31 March 2022 

    £m £m   £m £m 

Assets 

UK equity Under one year 55.5                (0.4)   55.5                   3.6  

Overseas 
equity Under one year 141.4                (0.1)   141.4                 10.0  

UK bond Under one year 148.3                (1.8)   148.3                  (1.3) 

Total assets 
  
                   (2.3)                     12.3  

             

Note P16 - Investment market value movements analysis       

 
  

Value as 
at 31 

March 
2021 

 Purchases 
at cost and 
derivative 
payments  

 Sales 
proceeds 

and 
derivative 
receipts  

 Investment 
Management 

Fees 
Deducted at 

Source  

 
Change 

in 
Market 
Value  

Value as 
at 31 

March 
2022 

  £m   £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  

Bonds 508.4  124.1  (88.6)   19.8  563.6  

UK equities 27.0    (32.2)   62.4  57.2  

Overseas equities 2,567.5        (27.8) 2,539.7  

P
age 279



213 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Pooled investment vehicles 13,640.8  643.3  (614.8) (87.6) 1,467.5  15,049.1  

Property  1,014.0  -  (62.3) -  191.1  1,142.8   
17,757.7  767.4  (797.9) (87.6) 1,712.9  19,352.5  

              

Derivative contracts             

Swaps         2.6  2.6  

Futures (2.3)       14.6  12.3  

Forward foreign exchange 3.1        (10.5) (7.4)  
17,758.5  767.4  (797.9) (87.6) 1,719.6  19,360.0   

            

Broker balances  19.2          16.6  

Outstanding dividend 
entitlement and recoverable 
withholding tax 7.5  

  

      6.4  

Foreign currency holdings 399.6          617.0  

Cash deposits 498.2          136.4  

Total Investments 18,683.0          20,136.4  

 

The change in market value of investments comprises both increases and decreases in the market value of investments held at any time during 

the year and profits and losses realised on the sales of investments during the year.     

Purchases also include transfers in of investments, take-over of shares etc and invested income. Sales proceeds include all receipts from sales 

of investments, transfers out of investments, take-over proceeds etc and reductions in cash deposits including profits or losses realised on the 

sale. 

Transaction costs are included in the cost of purchases and sale proceeds. Transaction costs include costs charged directly to the Fund such 

as fees, commissions, stamp duty and other fees. Transaction costs during the year amounted to £18.9 million (2020/21: £22.6 million). In 

addition to the transaction costs disclosed below, indirect costs are incurred through the bid-offer spread of investments within pooled 

investment vehicles. The amount of indirect costs is not separately provided to the Fund.    

The volatility of investment markets is an ever-present and longstanding feature of pension fund management and valuations may vary, either 

up or down, throughout each day when exchanges are open. 

P
age 280



214 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The change in the value of investments during 2020/21 is set out below:    

Value as at 31 March 2021 

Transfer 
of assets 

from 
WMITA 

fund 

 Purchases 
at cost and 
derivative 
payments  

 Sales 
proceeds 

and 
derivative 
receipts  

 Investment 
management 

fees 
deducted at 

source  

 Change 
in 

market 
value  

 Value as 
at 31 

March 
2022  

 £m  £m   £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  

Bonds 494.0  28.6      (14.2) 508.4  

UK equities 28.9        (1.9) 27.0  

Overseas equities 1,408.8  450.0      708.7  2,567.5  

Pooled investment vehicles 10,869.9  1,314.9  (839.0) (80.6) 2,375.6  13,640.8  

Property 965.1  63.0  (18.3) -  4.2  1,014.0  

  13,766.7  1,856.5  (857.3) (80.6) 3,072.4  17,757.7  

              

Derivative contracts             

Futures 11.7  -  (23.1) -  9.1  (2.3) 

Forward foreign exchange (76.8) -  37.6  -  42.3  3.1  

  13,701.6  1,856.5  (842.8) (80.6) 3,123.8  17,758.5  

              

Broker balances 75.8          19.2  

Outstanding dividend 
entitlement and recoverable 
withholding tax 7.0  

  

      7.5  

Foreign currency holdings 582.5          399.6  

Cash deposits 569.6          498.2  

Total Investments 14,936.5          18,683.0  

 

 

 

P
age 281



215 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

16 i) Property Holdings       

The Fund's investment property portfolio comprises a number of directly owned properties which are leased commercially to various tenants. 

Details of these directly owned properties are as follows:   

2020/21   2021/22 

£m   £m 

          965.1  Opening balance            1,014.0  

            63.0  Additions   

           (18.3) Disposals                (62.3) 

              4.2  Net change in market value               191.1  

       1,014.0  Closing balance            1,142.8  

 

There are no restrictions on the realisability of the property or the remittance of income or proceeds on disposal and the Fund is not under any 

contractual obligation to purchase, construct or develop any of these properties nor does it have any responsibility for any repairs, 

maintenance, or enhancements.  

The future minimum lease payments receivable by the Fund are as follows:     

31 March 2021   31 March 2022 

£000    £000  

43,892 Within one year 40,028 

152,740 Between one and five years 140,018 

179,918 Later than five years 182,744 

376,550 Total future lease payments due under existing contracts 362,790 

 

The receivables above have been reduced by a credit loss allowance of 1% per annum reflecting the Fund's expected loss from late or non-

recovery of rents from tenants. This deduction is based on advice from the Fund's property letting agents.     

    

 

 

P
age 282



216 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note P17 - Fair value - basis of valuation         

The basis of the valuation of each class of investment assets is detailed below. There has not been any change in the valuation techniques 

used during the year. All assets have been valued using fair value techniques which represent the highest and best price available at the 

reporting date. 

Asset type 
   

Valuation 
level 

 Basis of 
valuation  

 Observable and 
unobservable inputs  

 Key 
sensitivity  

Market quoted investments 
  

1 

Published bid 
market price 
ruling on 31 
March 2022. n/a n/a 

Quoted bonds 
  
  

1 
Market bid price 
based on 
current yields. n/a n/a 

Futures 
  

1 

Published 
exchange prices 
at 31 March 
2022. n/a n/a 

Unquoted bonds 
  
  

2 Average of 
broker prices. Evaluated price feeds. n/a 

Pooled Investment vehicles- unit trusts and property 
funds 

2 

PIV are stated 
at the bid price 
quoted or the 
closing single 
market prices. 

Net asset value (NAV) 
based pricing set on a 
forward pricing basis. 

n/a 

Forward foreign exchange derivatives 2 

Market forward 
exchange rates 
at 31 March 
2022. 

Exchange rate risk. 

n/a 

P
age 283



217 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Freehold and leasehold properties 3 

Valued at fair 
value at the 
year-end using 
the investment 
valuation 
reports of 
Savills Plc. One 
third of the 
commercial 
property 
portfolio is 
valued fully in 
March each 
year, with the 
remaining two 
thirds being a 
'desktop' 
valuation. 
Agricultural 
properties are 
valued by 
Browns at the 
year end. 

Existing lease terms and 
rentals, independent 
market research, tenant 
covenant strength, 
estimated vacancy 
levels, estimated rental 
growth, discount rate. 

Significant 
changes in 
rental growth, 
vacancy levels 
or discount rate 
could affect 
valuations 

P
age 284



218 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Unquoted equity (includes Private Equity, 
Infrastructure and Absolute Return/Diversified 
Growth Funds) 

3 

Value is based 
on the latest 
investor reports 
and financial 
statements 
provided by the 
fund managers 
of the 
underlying 
funds, adjusted 
for transactions 
arising after the 
date of such 
reports. 

Earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation, and 
amortisation (EBITDA) 
multiple, revenue 
multiple, discount for 
lack of marketability. 

Could be 
affected by 
material events 
occurring 
between the 
date of the 
financial 
statements 
provided and 
the Fund's own 
reporting date, 
by changes to 
expected 
cashflows, and 
by any 
differences 
between 
audited and 
unaudited 
accounts.  

Bulk annuity insurance buy-in 
  

3 

Provided by the 
Fund's Actuary 
based on a roll-
forward of the 
value placed on 
the buy-in as 
part of the 
WMITA Fund 
2019 triennial 
actuarial 
valuation, 
allowing for 
estimated level 
pensions paid 
and the change 

Key underlying inputs for 
the valuation are the 
discount rate and life 
expectancy.  Discount 
rate has been set at 
1.68% with reference to 
the 11-year point of the 
Bank of England nominal 
gilt yield curve, 
consistent with the 2019 
valuation of the WMITA 
Fund. 

Adjustments to 
discount rate 
and life 
expectancy. 

P
age 285



219 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

in the discount 
rate used to 
value the buy-in. 

 

 

Sensitivity of assets valued at level 3         

The table below details the Fund's review of financial information as provided by independent advisors. The valuation methods detailed above 

are likely to be accurate to within the ranges and, as set out below, the consequent potential impact on the closing value of investments at 31 

March 2022 and 31 March 2021.  

 

Level 3 assets 
  

Valuation 
range 

 Valuation at 31 
March 2022  

 Valuation 
Increase  

 
Valuation 
Decrease  

 
% (+/-)  £m   £m   £m  

Freehold and Leasehold Property 11.8 1,142.8   1,277.7 1,088.1 

Private Equity 31.2 1,439.2   1,888.3 990.0 

Infrastructure 13.3 734.4   836.7 637.0 

Absolute Return/Diversified Growth 14.0 414.0   471.9 356.1 

Unit Trusts - UK Property 11.8 145.3   162.5 128.2 

Fixed Interest 12.1 206.5   231.5 181.5 

Total   4,082.2   4,863.6 3,300.8 

P
age 286



220 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

Level 3 assets 
  

Valuation 
range 

 Valuation at 31 
March 2021  

 Valuation 
Increase  

 
Valuation 
Decrease  

 
% (+/-)  £m   £m   £m  

Freehold and Leasehold Property 11.8 1,014.0   1,134.0 894.1 

Private Equity 31.7 1,269.8   1,672.6 867.0 

Infrastructure 13.2 819.8   928.3 711.1 

Absolute Return/Diversified Growth 14.1 410.8   468.6 353.0 

Unit Trusts - UK Property 11.8 140.5   157.2 123.9 

Fixed Interest  9.8 65.8   72.3 59.4 

Total   3,720.7   4,433.0 3,008.5 

 

The key underlying inputs for the annuity insurance buy-in level 3 valuation are the discount rate and life expectancy. The impact of changes as 

calculated by the Fund's Actuary is shown below:         

Change in assumptions - year ended 31 March 
2022 

Adjustment 
 Valuation at 31 

March 2022  
Valuation 
Increase  

Valuation 
Decrease  

    £m   £m   £m  

Adjustment to discount rate (-/+) 1% 174.0 181.0 167.0 

Adjustment to life expectancy assumptions (+/-) 1 year 174.0 197.0 151.0 

 

 

Change in assumptions - year ended 31 March 
2021 

Adjustment 
 Valuation at 31 

March 2021  
 Valuation 
Increase  

Valuation 
Decrease  

    £m   £m   £m  

Adjustment to discount rate (-/+) 0.5% 200.0 209.9 190.4 

Adjustment to life expectancy assumptions (+/-) 1 year 200.0 214.6 186.2 

 

 

P
age 287



221 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17 i) Fair value hierarchy         

The valuation of financial instruments has been classified into three levels according to the quality and reliability of information used to 

determine fair values. Criteria utilised in the instrument classifications are detailed below:       

Level 1 

Financial instruments at Level 1 are those where the fair values are derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities. Products classified as level 1 comprise quoted equities, quoted fixed interest securities, quoted index linked securities and unit 

trusts. Listed investments are shown at bid prices. The bid value of the investment is based on the bid market quotation of the relevant stock 

exchange.        

Level 2 

Financial instruments at Level 2 are those where quoted market prices are not available; for example, where an instrument is traded in a 

market that is not considered to be active, or where valuation techniques are used to determine fair value and where these techniques use 

inputs that are based significantly on observable market data. 

Level 3 

P
age 288



222 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Financial instruments at Level 3 are those where at least one input that could have a significant effect on the instrument's valuation is not based 

on observable market data. Such instruments would include unquoted equity investments and hedge fund of funds, which are valued using 

various valuation techniques that require significant judgement in the determining appropriate assumptions.    

The values of the investments in private equity, infrastructure and absolute return/diversified growth funds are based on the latest investor 

reports and financial statements provided by the fund managers of the underlying funds. Valuations are undertaken quarterly, and an 

adjustment is made to roll forward the latest available valuation to 31 March as appropriate.        

The values of the investments in hedge funds are based on the net asset value provided by the fund manager. Fund valuations are obtained 

through external experts with assurance provided via the audit opinion. The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets and 

liabilities of the pension fund grouped into levels 1 to 3, based on the level at which fair value is observable.  

    

Value at 31 March 2022 
  

  

Quoted 
market 
price 

 Using 
observable 

inputs  

 With significant 
unobservable 

inputs   Total  

 Level 1  Level 2   Level 3    

   £m   £m   £m   £m  

Financial assets         

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 10,589.6  4,695.7  2,939.4  18,224.6  

Non- financial assets at fair value through profit and loss     1,142.8  1,142.8  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss   (7.4)   (7.4) 

  10,589.6  4,688.2  4,082.2  19,360.0  

Bulk annuity insurance buy-in at fair value through profit and loss     174.0  174.0  

Net financial assets 10,589.6  4,688.2  4,256.2  19,534.0  

 

     

Value at 31 March 2021 
  

  

Quoted 
market 
price 

 Using 
observable 

inputs  

 With significant 
unobservable 

inputs   Total  

P
age 289



223 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 Level 1  Level 2   Level 3    

  £m   £m   £m   £m  

Financial assets         

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 9,755.7  4,284.4  2,706.7  16,746.8  

Non- financial assets at fair value through profit and loss     1,014.0  1,014.0  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (2.3)     (2.3) 

  9,753.4  4,284.4  3,720.7  17,758.5  

Bulk annuity insurance buy-in at fair value through profit and loss     200.0  200.0  

Net financial assets 9,753.4  4,284.4  3,920.7  17,958.5  

 

 

 

Note 17 ii) - Reconciliation of fair value measurements within level 3 
 

  
  
  

Market 
value 31 
March 
2021             

Purchases 
during the 

year             

Sales 
during 

the 
year         

Unrealised 
gains / 
losses   

Realised 
gains/losses  

Market 
value 31 
March 
2022             

 £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Freehold and Leasehold 
Property 1,014  -  62  66  -  1,143  

Private Equity 1,270  106  382  (366) 48  1,439  

Infrastructure  820  22  81  (200) 11  734  

Absolute Return/Diversified 
Growth 411  54  62  (123) 10  414  

Unit Trusts - UK Property  141  -  11  (6) -  145  

Bonds 66  131  5  4  -  206  

Total 3,721  314  603  (625) 69  4,082  

 

P
age 290



224 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

Bulk annuity insurance buy-in contract      

"The transfer of assets from the former WMITA Fund included a bulk annuity insurance buy-in contract with Prudential Retirement Income 

Limited. The insurance cover provides that the insurer underwrites the risk for meeting the liabilities of a specified group of pensioners on the 

former West Midlands Travel Limited pensions payroll as at 11 August 2011. The insurance provider will pay the cost of the monthly pension 

payments for this group whilst they or their dependants are entitled to a pension. 

Benefits recharged to Prudential during the year have been credited to the Fund account and the value of the buy-in recalculated at year end 

by the Fund Actuary and recognised in the Net Assets Statement as follows:"         

 

 

31 March 2021   31 March 2022 

£m   £m 

          229.4  Bulk annuity insurance buy-in contract value at start of year 200.0  

      

  Actuarial revaluation of insurance contract:   

              1.0  Interest on buy-in 2.0  

             (3.3) Change in demographic assumptions (2.0) 

                -    Actuarial experience -    

           (14.1)   (11.0) 

      

           (15.3) Level pensions paid by insurer (15.0) 

      

          200.0  Bulk annuity insurance buy-in contract value at end of year 174.0  

 

The change in demographic assumptions results from updating mortality assumptions to use the latest CMI_2021 Model. The change in 

actuarial assumptions is a result of increasing the discount rate from 1.02% at 31 March 2021 to 1.62% at 31 March 2022 consistent with the 

rate used in the 2019 valuation of the former WMITA Fund.          

         

P
age 291



225 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note P18 - Investment capital commitments             

  

Investment commitments at the end of the financial year in respect of future payments were:  

31 March 2021   31 March 2022 

£m  £m  

          948.8  Non-publicly quoted equities and infrastructure            1,469.6  

            58.5  Property                 55.4  

       1,007.3  Total            1,525.0  

 

These amounts relate to outstanding commitments due on funds held in the private equity, fixed interest, absolute return, and alternative 

investment portfolios.         

Note P19 – Long-term debtors         

31 March 2021  31 March 2022 

£m  £m 

              6.4  Early retirement costs                   6.4  

              3.8  Reimbursement of lifetime tax allowances                   5.0  

            10.2  Total                 11.4  

 

The Fund has agreed for certain employers to defer payment of amounts due to meet early retirement costs and £6.4m is due after the 

following financial year (2020/21: £6.4m). The instalments due in 2021/22 are reported in Current Assets. 

      

Note P20 - Current Assets         

31 March 2021  31 March 2022 

£m 
 

£m 

  Receivables and prepayments   

  Contributions Receivable   

P
age 292



226 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

            15.4  - Employers' future service                  20.7  

              4.9  - Employers' past service deficit                   3.7  

            10.0  - Members                  12.5  

            10.3  Other Receivables                   8.1  

            40.6  Total Receivables and Prepayments                 45.0  

              1.9  Cash at bank                     -    

            42.5  Total Current Assets                  45.0  

 

 

 

 

 

Note P21 - Current liabilities 
 

31 March 2021  31 March 2022 

£m 

 

£m 

  Payables and receipts in advance   

             (4.3) Pensions and lump sum benefits                  (3.5) 

             (0.7) Receipts in advance                  (0.7) 

           (15.5) Other payables                (23.9) 

                -    Cash at bank                  (4.4) 

           (20.5) Total                 (32.5) 

 

        

Note P22 - Additional voluntary contributions         

As well as joining the Fund, scheme members can pay into an additional voluntary contribution (AVC) scheme run by two AVC providers. 

Contributions are paid directly from scheme members to the AVC providers.         

P
age 293



227 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The contributions are not included within the Fund accounts, in line with regulation 4 (2) (b) of the Pension Scheme (Management and 

Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009. The table below shows the activity for each AVC provider in the year. 

31 March 2021   31 March 2022 

 Utmost Life   Prudential     Utmost Life    Prudential *  

 £m   £m  
 

 £m   £m  

1.8              37.6  Opening value of the fund 1.7  37.2  

0.1  6.0  Income 0.1  6.0  

(0.2) (6.6) Expenditure (0.3) (6.1) 

-    0.2  Change in market value -    (0.5) 

1.7  37.2  Closing value of the fund 1.5  36.6  

 

* At the time of publishing this Statement of Accounts in [Draft - May 2022], Prudential Assurance Company was experiencing delays resulting 

from its ongoing migration to a new administration platform and was not able to provide annual AVC financial statements for 2021/22. The table 

above therefore contains estimates for movements in Prudential AVCs for the year to 31 March 2022.    

         

Note P23 Financial instruments   

Net gains and losses on financial instruments         

31 March 2021 
  

31 March 2022 

£m   £m 

  Financial assets   

3,110.5  Fair value through profit and loss 1,731.3  

  Financial liabilities   

9.1  Fair value through profit and loss (10.5) 

3,119.6  Total 1,720.8  

  

 

 

P
age 294



228 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Classification of financial instruments         

The following table analyses the carrying amounts of financial instruments by category. No financial instruments were reclassified during the 

accounting period. 

31 March 2021   31 March 2022 

Fair value 
through profit 
and loss £m 

Assets at 
amortised 
cost £m 

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised cost 
£m   

Fair value 
through 
profit and 
loss £m 

Assets at 
amortised 
cost £m 

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 
cost £m 

      Financial assets     

508.4   Bonds 563.6    

27   UK equities 57.2    

2,567.5   

Overseas equities 
2,539.7    

13,640.8   

Pooled investment vehicles 

15,049.1    

P
age 295



229 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

3.1   

Derivative contracts 
15.0    

200   

Bulk annuity Insurance 
buy-in 174.0    

  899.7  Cash  753.3    

  26.7  
Other investment balances 

 23.0    

  50.8   Debtors   45.8    

16,946.8 977.2     18,398.6 822.1   

      Financial liabilities 

(2.3)   Derivative contracts (7.4)   

   

                                              
-    Other investment balances   -  

   (20.5) Creditors   (31.0) 

16,944.5 977.2                  (20.5)  18,391.2 822.1  (31.0) 

17,901.2   19,182.3  

 

Note P24 - The nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments         

   

Risk management         

The main investment objective of the Fund is to optimise return whilst managing market risk exposure within an acceptable tolerance. This is 

achieved by investing assets across a diversified portfolio. The Fund also manages its liquidity risk to ensure there is sufficient liquidity to meet 

forecasted cash flows.  

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including: 

• Investment risk - the possibility that the Fund will not receive the expected returns. 

• Counterparty and credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Fund. 

• Liquidity risk - the possibility that the Fund might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make payments as they fall due.  

P
age 296



230 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

• Valuation risk – the possibility that the value of an illiquid asset, when realised upon sale, differs from the valuation placed on it based 

on a valuer’s opinion. 

• Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of market movements. This is split into the following subsections: 

o Currency risk – the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

foreign exchange rates. 

o Interest Rate risk - the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

o Other Price risk - the risk that the value of a financial asset will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those 

arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial 

instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. 

 

 

Investment risk 

To achieve its statutory obligations to pay pensions, the Fund invests its assets, including employer and employee contributions, in a way that 

allows it to meet its liabilities as they fall due for payment. It does this by investing with regard to its liabilities assessed through the triennial 

actuarial valuation followed by an appropriate asset allocation, which is monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure it remains appropriate.  

Counterparty risk 

In deciding to affect any transaction for the Fund, steps are taken to ensure that the respective counterparty is suitable and reliable, that the 

transaction is in line with the Fund’s strategy and that the terms and circumstances of the transaction are the best available in the relevant 

market at the time. Comprehensive due diligence processes are in place to ensure that any potential counterparty is authorised and regulated, 

competent to deal in investments of the type and size contemplated and has appropriate administration arrangements with regard to 

independent auditors, robust administration, and accounting, relevant legal structure, and experienced staff. 

 

Credit risk          

P
age 297



231 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The Fund’s credit risk is largely associated with its Fixed Income investments. This risk stems from third parties potentially failing to meet 

interest payments or failing to return the Fund’s principal at the end of the investment period. There is also credit/counterparty risk associated 

with derivative instruments within the Fund’s Alternatives investments and those used to hedge certain risks, such as foreign currency 

exposures as well as with rental income earned within the Fund’s property portfolios.  

The Fund’s surplus cash may be placed with an approved financial institution on a short-term basis and in accordance with the cash 

management policy and restrictions set out in the Treasury Policy. The policy specifies the cash deposit limit with each approved counterparty, 

as determined by a comprehensive scoring exercise undertaken by Fund officers using specialist rating and market research data, which is 

reviewed on a regular basis. Due diligence is conducted on potential money market funds with criteria such as AAA rating, same-day access 

and minimum assets under management being prerequisite. 

 

 

  

The tables below outline the Fund’s money market and bank deposit holdings, by long-term Fitch rating, as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 

2022:   

Credit rating sensitivity analysis 

Fund/Account Long-term 
Fitch rating1 

 Value at 31 
March 2021  

Value at 31 March 
2022 

   £m2  £m3 

Money market funds       

HSBC GBP Liquidity Fund Class H Aaa-mf               106.5                5.8 

HSBC USD Liquidity Fund Class H Aaa-mf                   7.2                7.6  

LGIM GBP Liquidity Fund AAAmmf               134.7                4.0  

Insight GBP Liquidity Fund AAAmmf               142.5                8.0   

Invesco GBP Liquidity Fund AAAmmf                   2.3                2.4  

        

Custody and deposit accounts       

P
age 298



232 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

CBRE Client Account West 
Midlands Met Authority                   21.1              21.2  

HSBC GBP Cash AA-                 83.9              87.3  

HSBC Non-GBP Cash4 AA-               399.6            493.4  

Total                 897.8            629.7  
1 Moody’s rating used if no Fitch rating available. Sourced as at 31 March 2022. 
2 Sourced from the West Midlands Pension Fund’s and Integrated Transport Authority’s Q4 2020/2021 Net Asset Statements. 
3 Sourced from the West Midlands Pension Fund’s and Integrated Transport Authority’s Q4 2021/2022 Net Asset Statements. 
4 Includes USD, EUR and HKD balances. Total value expressed in GBP. 

  

 

 

 

 

      

Liquidity risk         

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due, especially pension payments to 

its members. The Fund therefore takes steps to ensure that it has adequate cash resources to meet its commitments. The appropriate strategic 

level of cash balances to be held forms part of the Fund’s investment strategy and the Fund carries out cash flow planning in respect of 

contributions, benefit payments, investment income and capital calls/distributions on an ongoing basis.  

The risk that the Fund will be unable to raise cash to meet its liabilities is considered low. Due to having cashflow management procedures in 

place, the Fund is able to invest in illiquid asset classes and take advantage of the illiquidity premium that can be found in these investments 

where appropriate.     

 

Valuation risk         

P
age 299



233 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Valuation risk represents the risk that the value of an illiquid asset, when realised upon sale, differs from the valuation placed on it based on a 

valuer’s opinion. The valuation of assets, and thus the management of valuation risk, is delegated to the Fund’s appointed investment 

managers.  

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, seeks to increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements through a ‘fair value hierarchy’, 

which categorises the inputs used in valuation techniques into three levels. Level 1 assets are those for which fair value can be measured via 

quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (such as those traded on stock exchanges). Level 2 assets require inputs other than quoted 

market prices falling under level 1 for fair value assessment (such as prices quoted in inactive markets, interest rates or credit spreads, for 

example). Level 3 assets require unobservable (non-public) inputs for fair value assessment and in practical terms, are those considered to be 

the most illiquid and difficult to value. 

The majority of the Fund’s underlying investments are in liquid quoted assets, representing minimal valuation risk (falling under level 1 and 2 of 

IFRS 13’s fair value hierarchy). The Fund has investments in Property, Infrastructure and certain other illiquid assets that are classified as level 

3 assets with a fair value of £4,082.2m as at 31 March 2022 (2021: £3,720.7m), which represents 21% of total assets (2021: 21%). The 

guidance of IFRS 13 includes additional disclosures for level 3 measurements that include the reconciliation of opening and closing balances 

and quantitative information about unobservable inputs and assumptions used. Valuation of the Fund’s investments falling under the scope of 

this guidance is conducted by their respective appointed investment managers. 

             

Market risk - currency risk         

Currency risk represents the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 

exchange rates. The Fund is exposed to currency risk on any financial instruments not denominated in GBP sterling, the functional currency of 

the Fund. The Fund holds both monetary and non-monetary assets denominated in currencies other than GBP. The table below indicates a 

measure of the sensitivity of the investment assets and cash balances within each asset class to currency market movements, based on the 

expected 1-year standard deviations of each of the underlying foreign currency exposures within the respective asset classes. 

The calculations behind these potential market movements account for the diversification effects between currencies within each holding. 

However, the calculations do not account for the Fund’s use of foreign currency forwards and exchange traded futures contracts, which are 

held to hedge certain currency exposures for the purpose of risk reduction. The extent of this hedging activity is subject to change over time. 

 

P
age 300



234 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Currency risk sensitivity analysis         

 

Asset Type 
Asset value as at 

31 March 2022 
Potential market 

movement 
Value on 
Increase 

Value on 
Decrease 

 £m1 £m2 £m £m 

Equities3 10,679.2  715.9 11,395.1  9,963.3  

Property    1,520.8  10.8 1,531.6  1,510.0  

Fixed Interest4 4,469.0  100.2 4,569.2  4,368.8  

Private Equity 1,439.2  76.8 1,516.0  1,362.3  

Alternatives5 1,244.3  38.4 1,282.7  1,205.9  

Liquid Assets 776.2  52.7 828.9  723.6  

Total6 20,128.7    21,123.6  19,133.9  
1 Sourced from the West Midlands Pension Fund’s and Integrated Transport Authority’s Q4 2021/2022 Net Asset Statements. 
2 Accounts for diversification between currencies but not currency hedging via derivatives.  
3 Currency exposures of the overseas equity holdings have been calculated using generic indices.  
4 Includes exposure to fixed interest gilts, index-linked gilts, overseas government bonds, US TIPS, corporate bonds, emerging market debt, multi-asset credit and private credit.  
5 Includes exposure to absolute return and infrastructure investments.  
6  Excludes exposure to futures and forwards. 

 

Asset Type 

  
Asset value as at 

31 March 2021 
Potential market 

movement 
 Value on 
Increase  

 Value on 
Decrease  

 £m £m £m £m 

Equities* 9,828.5  686.1 10,514.6  9,142.4  

Property    1,376.5  11.3 1,387.8  1,365.2  

Fixed Interest** 4,006.8  90.7 4,097.5  3,916.1  

Private Equity 1,315.5  72.4 1,387.9  1,243.1  

Alternatives*** 1,230.4  41.7 1,272.1  1,188.7  

Liquid Assets 924.5  35.6 960.1  888.9  

Total**** 18,682.2    19,620.0  17,744.4  

* Currency exposures of the overseas equity holdings have been calculated using generic indices.   

P
age 301



235 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

** Includes exposure to fixed interest gilts, index-linked gilts, overseas government bonds, US TIPS, corporate bonds, emerging market debt, 

multi-asset credit and private credit.  

***Includes exposure to absolute return and infrastructure investments.  

****Excludes exposure to futures and forwards.         

         

Market risk - interest rate risk          

The Fund recognises that movements in interest rates can affect both income to the Fund and the value of the Fund’s assets, both of which 

affect the value of the assets available to pay benefits. The tables below estimate the impact of a 100 basis points (bps) interest rate movement 

on the value of the Fund’s Fixed Income assets, using the duration of the underlying positions in each asset class which have been obtained 

from the fund managers, to approximate the sensitivity to interest rate movements. This analysis assumes that all other variables (such as 

exchange rate movements) are constant, assessing only the impact of interest rate movements in isolation.     

   

 

 

 

Interest rate risk - sensitivity analysis          

 

Asset Type 

Carrying amount as 
at 31 March 2022 

 Change in year in the net 
assets available to pay 

benefits  

    +100BPS   -100BPS  

   £m   £m   £m  

Index-linked Gilts 1,034.5  (210.1) 210.1 

Gilts* 206.2  (28.5) 28.5 

Gilt Future (1.3) (11.7) 11.7 

Overseas Government Bonds 99.6  (7.6) 7.6 

P
age 302



236 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

US TIPS 328.2  (36.9) 36.9 

Corporate Bonds 1,129.1  (70.8) 70.8 

Emerging Market Debt 717.2  (43.4) 43.4 

Mulit-Asset Credit 683.3  (24.2) 24.2 

Private Credit** 206.5  (0.2) 0.2 

Swaps 2.6   

Total 4,405.9  (433.3) 433.3 

* The impact of a 100bps increase/decrease has been calculated using the exposure provided by the Future (£140.9m). 

** Excludes legacy and immaterial positions (total: £6.4m).  

Note: Durations are as at 31 March 2022. 

 

 

 

 

Asset Type 

Carrying amount as at 
31 March 2021 

 Change in year in the net 
assets available to pay 

benefits  

    +100BPS   -100BPS  

  
 £m   £m   £m  

Index-linked Gilts 994.0  (214.7) 214.7  

Gilts* 179.4  (21.3) 21.3  

Gilt Future (1.8) (11.9) 11.9  

Overseas Government Bonds 101.9  (8.1) 8.1  

US TIPS 286.0  (33.3) 33.3  

Corporate Bonds 1,179.6  (80.2) 80.2  

Emerging Market Debt 750.1  (52.0) 52.0  

P
age 303



237 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Mulit-Asset Credit 443.6  (6.5) 6.5  

Private Credit** 65.8  (0.8) 0.8  

Total 3,998.6  (428.8) 428.8  

* The impact of a 100bps increase/decrease has been calculated using the exposure provided by the Future (£148.3m). 

** Excludes legacy and immaterial positions (total: £6.3m).  

Note: Durations are as at 31 March 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Market risk - other price risk       

The Fund is exposed to other market risks, such as share and derivative price risks, which arises from investments held by the Fund of which 

the future price is uncertain. The Fund aims to reduce the exposure to this price risk by ensuring appropriate levels of diversification in its asset 

allocation. The asset allocation is monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure it remains in line with the limits specified in the Fund’s investment 

strategy. 

The tables below indicate a measure of sensitivity of the returns of each major asset class in which the Fund is invested, based on the 1-year 

standard deviation of returns within the respective asset classes, excluding the effects of interest rate risk and currency risk which are disclosed 

separately above. The tables also show an estimate of the impact of this potential volatility on asset values. 

Other price risk - sensitivity analysis          

P
age 304



238 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Asset Type 
Value as at 31 

March 2022 

Assumed 1 
Year Volatility 
of Asset Class 

 Value on 
increase  

 Value on 
decrease  

 £m   £m £m 

UK equities 1,337.6 19.0% 1,591.9  1,083.4  

Global equities (ex UK) 9,341.5  16.2% 10,851.7  7,831.3  

Property 1,520.8  11.8% 1,700.3  1,341.3  

Fixed interest* 4,469.0  5.1% 4,696.9  4,241.1  

Private equity 1,439.2  31.2% 1,888.3  990.0  

Alternatives** 1,244.3  12.8% 1,403.7  1,084.9  

Total Fund *** (See note below) 19,352.5    21,752.2  16,952.8  

*includes exposure to fixed interest gilts, index-linked gilts, overseas government bonds, US TIPS, corporate bonds, emerging market debt, 

multi-asset credit and private credit.    

**includes exposure to absolute return and infrastructure investments. 

***excludes futures, forwards, cash deposits, foreign currency holdings, broker balances and the outstanding dividend entitlement. 

 

      

The total Fund volatility taking into account the expected interactions between the different asset classes shown, based on the underlying 

volatilities and correlations of the assets, in line with mean variance portfolio theory is 12.4%. On this basis, the total value on increase is 

£21,752.2 million and the total value on decrease is £16,952.8 million. Due to the approach taken to determine the total Fund volatility (in which 

the beneficial impact of diversification is recognised), the monetary impact on the total Fund assets is determined using the total Fund volatility, 

which is lower than the sum of the monetary impact for each asset class. 

     

Asset Type 

Value as at 
31 March 

2021 

Assumed 1 
Year Volatility 
of Asset Class 

 Value on 
increase  

 Value on 
decrease  

 £m   £m £m 

UK equities 1,167.9  18.8% 1,387.5  948.3  

Global equities (ex UK) 8,660.6  16.3% 10,072.3  7,248.9  

P
age 305



239 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Property 1,376.5  11.8% 1,538.9  1,214.1  

Fixed interest* 4,006.8  4.2% 4,175.1  3,838.5  

Private equity 1,315.5  31.7% 1,732.5  898.5  

Alternatives** 1,230.4  13.1% 1,391.6  1,069.2  

Total Fund *** (See note below) 17,757.7    20,297.9  15,217.5  

*includes exposure to fixed interest gilts, index-linked gilts, overseas government bonds, US TIPS, corporate bonds, emerging market debt, 

multi-asset credit and private credit.   

**includes exposure to absolute return and infrastructure investments.     

***excludes futures, forwards, cash deposits, foreign currency holdings, broker balances and the outstanding dividend entitlement. 

      

The total Fund volatility taking into account the expected interactions between the different asset classes shown, based on the underlying 

volatilities and correlations of the assets, in line with mean variance portfolio theory is 12.4%. On this basis, the total value on increase is 

£19,959.6 million and the total value on decrease is £15,555.7 million. Due to the approach taken to determine the total Fund volatility (in which 

the beneficial impact of diversification is recognised), the monetary impact on the total Fund assets is determined using the total Fund volatility, 

which is lower than the sum of the monetary impact for each asset class. 

       

         

Reputational risk         

The Fund’s prudent approach to the collective risks listed above and compliance with best practice in corporate governance ensures that 

reputational risk is kept to a minimum.      

Note P25 - Impairment for bad and doubtful debts        

The following additions and write offs of pension payments were reported in this financial year, in line with the Fund’s policy:   

      

Additions analysis 2021/22 

Individual Value Number Total £ 

Less than £100 40 1,456 

£100 - £500 5 937 

P
age 306



240 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Over £500 1 1,592 

TOTAL 46 3,985 

 

Write off analysis 2021/22 

Individual Value Number Total £ 

Less than £100 1 58 

£100 - £500 83 14,158 

Over £500 27 89,913 

TOTAL 111 104,129 

 

  P
age 307



241 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Note P26 - Related parties        

Pensions administration and certain investment functions are performed by the City of Wolverhampton Council and the costs shown in Note 

P13 above are recharged to the Fund. Contributions of £32.8 million were receivable from the City of Wolverhampton Council for 2021/22 

(2020/21: £49.8 million) - City of Wolverhampton Council had paid its 2020/21 future service contributions in advance as part of a lump sum 

payment of £57.3m on 30 April 2018, a revaluation balance of £0.3m in respect of future service contributions 2020/21 was paid on 21 

September 2021. Balances owed by and to the council at the year-end are shown in Notes P19, P20 and P21.     

    

Pensions Committee 

Nine members of the Pensions Committee are also members of the Fund as set out below: 

Pensioner: Councillors: K Inston, M Jaspal, P Page, P Davis, and T Singh.        

Trade Union Representatives:  M Clift and M Cantello     

 Deferred: Councillor: S Simkins        

 Active:  Trade Union Representative: J Wadrup       

 

Each member of the Pensions Committee is required to declare any interests relevant to the matters being discussed at each meeting. 

        

There are four employing bodies of the Fund in which a member of the Committee has declared an interest for 2021/22. Contributions from 

each of these employers are set out below:       

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 308



242 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Contributions receivable 
2020/21 

  Contributions receivable 
2021/22 

£000   £000 

    

345  Birmingham Museums Trust -  

534  Heath Park Academy - Central Learning 
Partnership Trust 

-  

17  Kingswood Trust 27 

-  Sandwell Children's Trust 4,624 

12,672 University of Wolverhampton -  

11,727  West Midlands Combined Authority 2,239 

5,102  Wolverhampton Homes 4,953 

 

 

LGPS Central Limited 

LGPS Central Limited has been established to manage investment assets on behalf of nine Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) funds 

across the Midlands. It is jointly owned in equal shares by the eight administering authorities participating in the LGPS Central Pool, of which 

City of Wolverhampton Council, as the administering authority for West Midlands Pension Fund, is one of the shareholders. Each authority has 

one Class A voting share in LGPS Central Limited.  

The Fund has agreed a number of advisory agreements covering a range of asset classes within the fixed income portfolio and wider illiquid 

portfolios. LGPS Central Limited has also provided the Fund with execution only services in the management of forward currency hedging 

positions. The charges in respect of these services totalled £2.085m in 2021/22 (2020/21: £2.112m). The amount outstanding in respect of 

these services at 31 March 2022 was £0.958m (31 March 2021: £0.516m). 

The Pension Fund was invoiced £2.017m in respect of Governance, Operator Running and Product Development costs by LGPS Central 

Limited for 2021/22 (2020/21: £2.706m). The amount outstanding in respect of these services at 31 March 2022 was £0.633m (31 March 2021: 

£0.643m).  

P
age 309



243 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

LGPS Central Limited has let office space from City of Wolverhampton Council since 1 April 2018 on a sub leasing arrangement. The rental 

income and rates receivable by City of Wolverhampton Council from LGPS Central Limited in 2021/22 totalled £68,548.67 (2020/21: £102,595) 

and the reimbursement of associated utilities and maintenance charges for 2021/22 totalled £13,454.87 (2020/21: £16,078). 

LGPS Central Limited is an admitted body and employs staff that are active members of the West Midlands Pension Fund. Normal 

contributions receivable from LGPS Central Limited for the year to 31 March 2022 were £519,800 (2020/21: £518,500).  

City of Wolverhampton Council (via the Pension Fund) has invested £1.315m in LGPS Central Limited class B shares and £0.685m in class C 

shares in 2017/18 and these are both carried as balances in net investment assets at this yearend.      

  

         

Key management personnel 

The Fund has identified the Director of Pensions, West Midlands Pension Fund and the Chief Executive, City of Wolverhampton Council as key 

management personnel with the authority and responsibility to control or exercise significant influence over the financial and reporting decisions 

of the Fund. The combined compensation for these officers attributable to West Midlands Pension Fund is shown in the table below: 

2020/21   2021/22 

 £000   £000  

143  Short-term benefits 146  

30  Post-employment benefits 35  

173    181  

 

 

Note P27 - Events after the reporting date       

No post balance sheet events have occurred which impact upon the balances and transactions reported for the year. 

The Fund remains alert to potential challenges from ongoing developments in relation to the Russian invasion of Ukraine. This has not 

impacted the underlying assumptions on which the Statement of Accounts is based nor the recognition or measurement of balances and 

transactions therein. No adjustments in respect of post balance sheet events have therefore been made. 

P
age 310



244 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The “McCloud” Court Judgement will have significant impact for all public sector pension schemes. When reforms were introduced in 2014 and 

2015, protections were put in place for older scheme members. In December 2018, the Court of Appeal ruled that younger members of the 

Judges and Firefighters Pension schemes were discriminated against because the protections did not apply to them also. In July 2020, the 

government published a consultation on draft regulations to remove this age discrimination. The consultation closed on 8 October 2020 and 

government’s decision is to implement the recommendations in two phases. Phase one involves moving all remaining active members of legacy 

schemes (members with protection) into the new schemes on 1 April 2022 so that, going forward, all accruals will be in the new schemes (and 

so all active members will be treated equally). Phase two is implementation of the deferred choice underpin. That is, giving eligible members a 

choice between legacy scheme and new scheme benefits for service between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2022. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 311



245 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Section 8 - Annual Governance Statement 

 

 

Scope of Responsibility  

The City of Wolverhampton Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, 

and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently, and effectively. The Council also has a 

duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are 

exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency, and effectiveness.  

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, 

facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk.  

The Council has a Local Code of Corporate Governance, which is currently under revision in line with the latest principles of the 

CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local Government. The latest principles have been adopted in this statement. 

The Council is also responsible for the strategic management and administration of the West Midlands Pension Fund with the Council’s Chief 

Executive, Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer holding specific responsibilities for supporting both the members of the Pensions Committee 

and the Local Pension Board in their role. 

The Council has a number of bodies that it either owns or has a potential liability for. This statement also covers the approach taken in relation 

to these and specifically covers how the Council ensures that there is good governance in respect of these other bodies – the most relevant 

bodies are listed below: 

• Wolverhampton Homes is the Council’s Arm’s Length (Housing) Management Organisation (ALMO) and is a company wholly owned 
by the Council. The control of the ALMO is through the Board which has representatives drawn from 1/3 council, 1/3 tenants and 1/3 
independent. There is a Management Agreement between the Council and Wolverhampton Homes which sets out the contractual and 
governance arrangements between the parties, performance of the agreement with Wolverhampton Homes is regularly monitored. The 
agreement with Wolverhampton Homes is due to expire in 2028 and the agreement and compliance with it is subject to a detailed 
review by the Council in 2022 to ensure that it remains fit for purpose as there is a break clause in the agreement in 2023.  

 

• City of Wolverhampton Housing Company Limited – this is a wholly owned trading company set up under the powers in the Local 
Government Act 2003 and is known as WV Living focused on developing properties within the City to meet the Council’s aspirations in 

P
age 312



246 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

terms of available housing. There is a shareholder agreement in place between the Council and WV Living with WV Living’s Business 
Plan having to be approved by the Council and compliance with that business plan being monitored by the Council. The approach to 
WVL Living was reviewed in 2020 and changes made as a result, the effectiveness of the governance arrangements continues to be 
closely monitored by the Council.       
 

• Yoo Recruit Limited – this is a wholly owned trading company set up under the powers in the Local Government Act 2003 and provides 
staffing to the Council and other bodies. There is a shareholder agreement in place between the Council and Yoo Recruit and the 
Business Plan has to be approved by the Council and compliance with that business plan being monitored by the Council. As detailed 
below the operation of Yoo Recruit is being reviewed and a report will be brought to the relevant Committees shortly.   
 

• Help 2 Own – this is a limited liability partnership that was jointly established with the West Midlands Combined Authority in 2021 to 
pilot an affordable housing product that helps to address the issue that many potential buyers who are in work have in raising the 
deposit to secure a mortgage. This is the subject of a number of legal agreements which sets up the contractual and governance 
arrangements between the relevant parties.   
 

The Purpose of the Governance Framework 

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by which the Council is directed and controlled 

and its activities through which it accounts to, engages with, and leads the community. It enables the council to monitor the achievements of 

its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services.  

Risk management and internal control are a significant part of the governance framework and are designed to manage risk to a reasonable 
level. They cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The systems of risk management and internal control are based on an on-going process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Council’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively, and economically.  

 
The governance framework has been in place at the Council for the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of approval of the annual 

report and statement of accounts. 

 

Our City Our Plan 

The Council’s Our City Our Plan is structured around six priorities which are supported by three cross cutting principles as follows: 

P
age 313



247 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

 

 

These priorities and principles are underpinned by the governance environment. This environment is consistent with the core principles of the 

latest CIPFA/SOLACE framework. In reviewing the council’s priorities and the implications for its governance arrangements, the council carries 

out an annual review of the elements that make up the governance framework to ensure it remains effective. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 314



248 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The key elements of the systems and processes that comprise the council’s governance framework, and where assurance against these is 

required, are described below. 

Core principles of the 

CIPFA/ SOLACE framework 

Assurances required Governance framework providing 

assurance 

Review of Effectiveness Issues identified 

• Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong 
commitment to ethical 
values, and respecting 
the rule of law. 

• Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive 
stakeholder 
engagement. 

• Defining outcomes in 
terms of sustainable 
economic, social, and 
environmental benefits. 

• Determining the 
interventions necessary 
to optimise the 
achievement of the 
intended outcomes. 

• Developing the entity’s 
capacity, including the 
capability of its 
leadership and the 
individuals within it. 

• Managing risks and 
performance through 
robust internal control 
and strong public 
financial management. 

• Implementing good 
practices in 

 

• Delivery and 
communication of an 
agreed corporate plan 

• Quality services are 
delivered efficiently 
and effectively 

• Clearly defined roles 
and functions 

• Management of risk 

• Effectiveness of 
internal controls 

• Compliance with laws, 
regulation, internal 
policies, and 
procedures 

• Value for money and 
efficient management 
of resources 

• High standards of 
conduct and behaviour 

• Public accountability 

• Published information 
is accurate and 
reliable 

• The Constitution 

• Statutory Chief Officers (Head 
of Paid Service, Chief 
Financial Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) 

• Council, Cabinet and 
Committees 

• Audit and Risk Committee 

• Scrutiny function including use 
of Select Committee where 
appropriate for a detailed look 
at an area of importance  

• Governance and Ethics 
Committee 

• Internal and External Audit  

• Strategic Executive Board 

• Directors Assurance 
Statements 

• Corporate and Business plans 

• Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy 

• Strategic Risk Register  

• Codes of Conduct 

• Whistleblowing and other anti-
fraud related policies 

• External Audit 
Report to Those 
Charged with 
Governance (ISA 
260) Report – 
unqualified opinion 

• Annual Internal Audit 
Report - unqualified 
opinion 

• Annual Audit and 
Risk Committee 
Report to  Council 

• Annual Statement of 
Accounts  

• Local Government 
Ombudsman Report  

• Scrutiny reviews 

• Annual Governance 
Statement – 
including the follow 
up of previous year 
issues 

• Reports from 
regulatory bodies 
including Ofsted  

 

• Effectiveness of the area 

in implementing the 

disability and special 

educational needs 

(SEND) reforms as set 

out in the Children and 

Families Act 2014  - 

through Ofsted report 

from November 2021 – 

this is being tackled 

through a written 

statement of actions that 

is being carefully 

monitored by the Council    

• Individual occasions of 
non-compliance with 
rules – including: 
i) Some issues 

regarding 
information 
governance due 
to individual 
error 

ii) Some issues 
regarding 
publication of 
certain Council 
decisions again 

P
age 315



249 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

transparency, reporting, 
and audit to deliver 
effective accountability. 

• Implementation of 
previous governance 
issues 

 

• Financial and Contract 
Procedure Rules  

• Our People Strategy  

• HR policies and procedures 

• modern.gov (the council’s 
committee management 
information system) 

due to individual 
error 

• Review of Linked 
Bodies Governance 
– there have been a 
number of 
examples nationally 
of bodies linked to 
authorities failing 
and therefore we 
will review the 
Council’s 
governance of all 
linked bodies and 
report back on this 
to the relevant 
committees to 
ensure that we 
continue to have 
good governance in 
place.  

• Adult services - A 
planned redesign of 
Adult Services is 
underway, and the 
vision and direction 
has been agreed 
and incorporates 
the legislative 
change outlined in 
the Health and 
Social Care White 
Paper which 
requires the local 
authority to broker 
all care for those 
with an assessed 
need if requested 

P
age 316



250 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

i.e., any self funders 
who want the LA to 
source their care at 
the fair cost of care 
rate.  A new 
operating model 
and improved 
methods for 
managing demand 
and front door 
contact will be 
implemented. 

 

The Financial Management Code  
 

 
The council has self-assessed itself against the new Financial Management Code, which includes the following core principles by which local 
authorities should be guided in managing their finances: 
 

• Organisational leadership – demonstrating a clear strategic direction based on a vision in which financial management is embedded into 
organisational culture. 

• Accountability – financial management is based on medium-term financial planning, which drives the annual budget process supported 
by effective risk management, quality supporting data and whole life costs.  

• Financial management is undertaken with transparency at its core using consistent, meaningful, and understandable data, reported with 
appropriate frequency and with evidence of periodic officer action and elected member decision making.  

• Adherence to professional standards is promoted by the leadership team and is evidenced.  

• Sources of assurance are recognised as an effective tool mainstreamed into financial management and include political scrutiny and the 
results of external audit, internal audit, and inspection.  

• The long term sustainability of local services is at the heart of all financial management processes and is evidenced by prudent use of 
public resources.  

 

P
age 317



251 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

The self-assessment found the council to be in compliance with the Code. However, there were a limited number of matters where areas for 
improvement were identified. As a result of this, an action plan has been prepared and its implementation is being monitored. The results of the 
ongoing exercise will be reported to the Audit and Risk Committee as appropriate. 
 

COVID-19 Considerations 

“In 2021-2022 the Council, as with all other local authorities, continued to adapt the ways in which it worked to address Covid-19 not only in terms 

of ensuring that the City’s vulnerable residents have been supported alongside its businesses, but also in the way it operates, including its 

governance arrangements.  

 

The Coronavirus Act 2020 and associated regulations permitted the Council to hold its meetings remotely, which it did until early May 2021 when 

the law changed.  From that point meetings returned to the Council’s usual “in person” arrangements, with social distancing measures in place 

when necessary and in accordance with Government Guidance and careful consideration of appropriate Health and Safety measures.  Both 

types of meeting enabled the Council to make effective and transparent decisions on delivery of its services and ensured that democracy 

continued to thrive whilst keeping Councillors, staff, and members of the public safe.  

There was no interruption to the decision-making process and the emergency powers provisions of the Constitution (which were relied on heavily 

the previous year) were used only twice. 

 

At all times the approach of the Council has been informed and shaped by advice from the Director of Public Health and key partners to ensure 

that the Council as had the most effective response possible to the pandemic. As part of the governance process key areas of concern have 

been able to be fed up through the mechanisms set out in the Governance Structure to a regional and national level.  

 

The Review of Effectiveness  

The Council has a responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system 

of internal control. This review is informed by the work of councillors and senior officers within the Council who have responsibility for the 

development and maintenance of the governance framework including Internal Audit’s annual report, the Scrutiny function and also by reports 

made by the Council’s external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates. The above table helps illustrate this framework, where 

assurance is provided and the processes through which the effectiveness of these arrangements are reviewed.  

P
age 318



252 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Opinion for 2021-2022 

The review of effectiveness has found the arrangements for the governance framework to be fit for purpose.  

A key component of the review of effectiveness is through the work of the Council’s Audit and Risk Committee and during the year the 

Committee continued helping to ensure that the Council had a modern, effective and risk focussed Committee. During the year they: 

• Maintained the focus of the Committee on the Council’s risk management arrangements (including during the Covid-19 pandemic),    

gaining an increased assurance that the Council was managing its risks well.  

• Maintained a strong working relationship, through regular progress meetings, with the Council’s External Auditors Grant Thornton, the 

Internal Auditors and Senior Officers. There was also further engagement with Grant Thornton, through regular consideration of their 

informative Audit Committee Update publications at Committee meetings.  

 

 

Internal Audit 

Internal Audit has reviewed itself against the governance arrangements set out in the CIPFA Statement on the Role of Head of Internal Audit and 

the Council is able to confirm that the arrangements conform to these requirements. The Council is also able to confirm compliance with the 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.  

Internal Audit has concluded that based on the work undertaken during the year on areas of key risk, including the implementation by management 

of the recommendations made and the assurance made available to the Council by other providers as well as directly by Internal Audit, it can 

provide reasonable assurance that the Council has adequate and effective governance, risk management and internal control processes.  

 

Managing the risk of Fraud and Corruption 

With regards to the latest CIPFA Code of practice on managing the risk of fraud and corruption - having considered all the principles, the Council 

is satisfied that it has adopted a response that is appropriate for its fraud and corruption risks and commits to maintain its vigilance to tackle fraud. 

The activities undertaken in this area were primarily led during the year by the Audit and Risk Committee. 

 

 

 

P
age 319



253 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Opportunities for concerns to be raised 

The Council is committed to upholding the highest standards of conduct and ethics, alongside its own Whistleblowing Policy, it has entered into 

the following arrangements in order to help enhance the opportunities available for anyone wishing to raise any concerns with the Council:  

• A safe space run by SeeHearSpeakUp who provide an external and independent confidential reporting service for employees to report 
any serious concerns about any aspects of the Council's work. The site can be accessed at any time via a link on the City People 
homepage. Employees who have serious concerns about any aspect of the Council’s work, can choose to come forward and voice 
those concerns in a safe and secure environment, in the knowledge that they will be taken seriously, and concerns will be investigated 
appropriately. Senior council officers who have been trained by SeeHearSpeakUp consider the concerns and identify any potential 
investigation and provide governance and assurance on all safe space matters disclosed with a view to safeguarding, consistency, 
equality, and fairness. 
 

• The Council also has a support arrangement with Protect (formerly Public Concern at Work), the whistleblowing charity and leading 
authority on whistleblowing in the UK. This arrangement gives access to Protect’s Whistleblowing benchmark and diagnostic tools 
across key areas including governance, staff engagement and operations.  

 

CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government  

The role of the Council’s Section 151 Officer has been assessed against the CIPFA Statement and found to be compliant.  

West Midlands Pension Fund 

The West Midlands Pension Fund has completed its own “Assurance Framework – Supporting the Annual Governance Statement” which 

identified that there had been no adverse matters arising from the work behind their assurance framework.   

 

Wolverhampton Homes 

The Council’s internal auditors also provide the internal audit service for Wolverhampton Homes. They were able to provide reasonable assurance 

that the Company had adequate and effective governance, risk management and internal control processes, and this was reported through their 

Audit and Business Assurance Committee. As detailed above  the agreement with Wolverhampton Homes is due to expire in 2028 and the 

agreement and compliance with it is subject to a detailed review by the Council in 2022 to ensure that it remains fit for purpose as there is a break 

clause in the agreement in 2023. 

 

P
age 320



254 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

WV Living  

WV Living’s accounts are audited separately by external auditors and an unqualified opinion was provided on the accounts for 2020-2021, a copy 

of which will be published on the Council’s website. .  

 

Following on from the review of WV Living in 2020-2021 a number of changes that were made to the way in which the Council and WV Living 

interacted with during 2020-21 the way in which the Council and WV Living interact has been carefully considered by the Council and as a result 

a number of changes have been/are being made, these include: 

 

• Appointment of non-executive director to the board of WV Living with considerable Housing experience 

• Production and approval of a new business plan for WV Living and regular reviews and reports on the compliance with that business 
plan taken both to the Council’s political and officer leadership and also to the Council’s Shareholder Board for WV Living  

• Strengthening of the Council’s Shareholder board –ensuring that clear objective advice is provided to the Shareholder Board by Council 
officers including the S.151 officer and the Monitoring Officer 

 

It is the Council’s clear view that there is an appropriate level of oversight on WV Living and the Council notes that it remains a going concern 

and the substantial reduction in the level of borrowing that WV Living has with the Council, which at the time of the writing of the statement was 

approximately £5 million, importantly the level of assets that WV Living holds are substantially in excess of its liabilities to the Council.  

 

Yoo Recruit 

Yoo Recruit’s accounts are audited separately by external auditors and an unqualified opinion was provided on the accounts for 2020-2021, a 

copy of which will be published on the Council’s website .  

An internal review of the Council’s approach and need for Yoo Recruit has been carried out and will be reported to Cabinet and the relevant 

Scrutiny Panel, namely Resources and Equalities Panel, later in 2022, subject to the decisions made by Councillors Yoo Recruit will update their 

business plan and additional formal governance measures will be agreed. Currently Yoo Recruit’s performance is reviewed by officers and 

reported to cabinet members and the leader of the opposition through the regular monitoring of linked bodies.  

 

P
age 321



255 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Help 2 Own 

Help 2 Own was only established in 2021. The Council and the WMCA instructed and obtained detailed external advice in order to ensure that 

the arrangements are fit for purpose and will protect the interests of each body and deliver the proposed outcomes. The partnership is subject to 

external audit. This will provide assurance that the partnership has adequate and effective governance, risk management and internal control 

processes. A review of the  way governance works for all linked bodies including Help 2 Own will be carried out  in 2022/23 and will be reported 

to the relevant Committees including Audit and Risk Committee.  

The operation and governance of Help 2 Own continues to be reported on regularly to Cabinet members and the Leader of the Opposition.  

   

Key changes to the governance framework during the year   

During 2020-21 a full review was carried out of the Council’s constitution and decision making in the Council. As a result, a number of changes 

were developed and recommended to be made at the annual general meeting in May 2021 and May 2022.  Throughout the year futher work has 

been undertaken to update and improve key parts, and to create related documents which aim to provide further clarity to Councillors and officers.  

This includes the following changes adopted by Council: 

• Revisions to the Scrutiny Approach to ensure that Scrutiny is more focused on the Council’s performance against its Our City Our Plan 
adopted in March 2022 and that there is greater focus on strategic matters by the Council’s primary Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(the Scrutiny Board) – with regular performance/financial updates being provided to the Scrutiny Board and more detailed consideration 
by the relevant Scrutiny Panel, on a “hub and spoke” approach   

• Revisions to Council Procedure Rules 

• Updated Employee procedure rules  

• Adoption of the LGA Model  Code of Conduct  

 

Further changes continue to be worked on as the constitution is a living document and should be changed whenever necessary this includes an 

updated scheme of officer delegation that will be brought forward shortly, these updates will be proposed to the Council in 2022/23.. 

 

 

P
age 322



256 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Work continues in relation to supporting Councillors through to the Councillor Induction and Development programme (introduced last year) which 

has been updated and expanded to include additional support on key issues affecting the Councillor role, as well as guidance on leading within 

the rules and clarification around expected standards of behaviour. 

 

Regular briefings continue to take place of all cabinet members, opposition leader/deputy leader and chairs of panels ensuring that there is 

proactive information provided and discussion on key issues, risks and matters. As part of this regular  briefings are given on the risks and issues 

in relation to the Council owned bodies and the steps taken to address any risks. As part of this work a review has also taken place of the lessons 

learned in other authorities in governance terms following a number of Public Interest/Best Value Reports. This has led to additional assurance 

work being carried out that has provided re-assurance that governance arrangements are fit for purpose in the Council. Indeed, the relevant 

Scrutiny Panels will be receiving reports on the governance arrangements in place for specific Council owned bodies/those that the Council has 

potential liability for, for example through guarantees or other arrangements as well as reports on the overall approach to monitoring arrangements 

for such bodies.   

 

  

P
age 323



257 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Progress on the Governance Issues from 2020-2021 

The table below describes the governance issues identified during 2020-2021 and the progress made against these during 2021-2022.  

2021-2022 - Key areas and actions for implementation Mid -year update to Audit and Risk Committee – December 

2021 

Latest update as at June 2022 

Savings Targets  

In March 2021 the Council approved a balanced budget for 

2021-2022 without the use of general reserves. 

It is important to note that the financial implications of the 

pandemic have significantly distorted the budget and Medium-

Term Financial Strategy.  Current projections indicate that 

having taken into account additional government grant, there 

is a net cost pressure of over £6 million in 2021-2022 as a 

result of Covid.  In order to set a balanced budget, this cost 

pressure has been met from other efficiencies identified across 

the Council. During 2021-2022 work will continue to monitor 

the financial impact of Covid to both inform the in-year budget 

position and to inform medium term forecasts.  

Looking forward it is estimated that further savings of £25.4 

million are required in 2022-2023 rising to £29.6 million in 

2023-2024 in order to set balanced budgets. These forecasts 

take into account the potential ongoing impact of Covid in 

addition to the underlying budget pressures that face the 

Council.  

In addition to the impact of Covid, there continues to be 

significant uncertainty about future funding streams for local 

authorities. At the time of writing, it is unclear when the 

Government will undertake the Comprehensive Spending 

Review, Fair Funding Review, Business Rates Reset and 

Business Rates Retention Review.  

Cabinet in October 2021 received the proposed approach to 

the MTFS and budget for 2022-23, it is anticipated that the 

Council will be able to set a balanced budget for 2022-23. 

Work continues towards ensuring that the Council addresses 

the budget deficit over the medium term. 

In March 2022 the Council approved a 

balanced budget for 2022-2023 without the 

use of general reserves.  

 

The report to Council noted that the 

Council is now faced with finding further 

projected budget reductions estimated at 

£12.6 million in 2023-2024, rising to £25.8 

million over the medium-term period to 

2025-2026.  

 

The level of uncertainty over future funding 

levels continues to be a significant risk. A 

prudent approach has been taken to 

forecasting resources over the MTFS 

period and all assumptions were detailed 

in the report to Council.  

 

There are also a number of significant risks 

and uncertainties in relation to the cost of 

services including rising inflation, the 

impact of the cost of living on residents and 

adult social care reform. 

 

P
age 324



258 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Work has started to address the budget deficit over the 

medium term and updates will be brought to Cabinet 

throughout the year. 

 

Work to develop budget reduction and 

income generation proposals for 2023-

2024 onwards in line with the Five-Year 

Financial Strategy has started with an 

update on progress will be brought to 

Cabinet throughout the year. 

 

Procurement 

In December 2020 the Government published a Green Paper 

on ‘Transforming public procurement’ which proposes a 

number of changes which would impact on the Council. Work 

will be undertaken to monitor the progress of this paper and to 

respond appropriately to any resulting changes in legislation.” 

 

A significant amount of work is taking place to ensure that 

the Council is ready for changes to the procurement rules 

and the Council is also working to ensure that it takes the 

opportunities that are presented to ensure that as much of its 

spend, and that of other key partners, is spent within the city, 

as part of the Council’s key work on Wolverhampton Pound 

– which is currently being examined by the Council Select 

Committee. 

 

The Council has published its procurement 

pipeline in accordance with the statutory 

requirements. The pipeline will be updated 

regularly.  

 

An action plan has been developed to 

respond to the recommendations of the 

Select Committee on Wolverhampton 

Pound. 

 

Procurement Bill is currently progressing 

through the House of Lords.  

We understand that it could become law 

early 2023 with 6 months for us to 

implement.  

 

The Head of Procurement has started work 

to map across the old to new requirements 

to enable us to be as prepared as possible 

for the changes to come. 

  

Contract Management 

Contract management practises across the Council have been 

found to be inconsistent. The Council also utilises a contract 

management system which is a central repository database 

Contract management training is already underway as is the 

other work described above. A detailed paper was taken to 

the Our Council Scrutiny Panel in September 2021. 

 

The Contract Framework and Toolkit has 

been established to enable a consistent 

approach to contract management across 

the organisation.  

P
age 325



259 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

that has a record of those contracts that have been procured, 

but not those that have been commissioned locally. 

Consequently, the Council has decided to transform how 

contract management is delivered and contracting process are 

measured to generate economic and efficiency benefits 

aligned to the Council Plan and other relevant strategies, such 

as Wolverhampton Pound and Relighting Our City.”   

The Council plans to have a one council approach to contract 

management. The intention is to develop a contract 

management framework, establish external contract 

management training for officers and procure a contract 

management software system. The system will provide 

greater visibility of contract performance and a strategic 

oversight of contracts.  These identified areas will provide a 

consistent and efficient method where possible and contribute 

to continuous improvement whilst obtaining value for money. 

These improvements will also prepare the Council in good 

stead for the forthcoming new procurement regulations as the 

Government’s green paper, ‘Transforming Public 

Procurement’, identified contract management and 

commercial life cycle as key areas which will form part of the 

new procurement regulations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contract management training has been 

rolled out with monitoring provided through 

the LGA and feedback being gathered to 

help us to ensure that the training is 

relevant and helpful.  

 

The procurement of a new system is 

currently underway. 

Strategic Asset Plan 

We have made progress on reviewing and challenging the 

Council’s asset portfolio as part of the Our Assets Programme 

(formally referred to as Our Space programme), particularly in 

light of how services will operate moving forward as part of 

Relighting our City. This has included developing six 

workstreams Asset Data, Asset Review, Retained Estate, 

Civic Centre, Surplus Assets and Asset Disposals. The 

Strategic Asset Plan and Action Plan will be updated following 

completion of this programme. 

 

Work continues in relation to strategic asset plan. A detailed 

paper was taken to the Our Council Scrutiny Panel in 

September 2021 on Our Assets programme and an update 

on Relighting Our Council in November 2021. 

City Assets are currently undertaking a full 

review of the Strategic Asset Plan over the 

course of 2022/23 financial year to allow 

for this to be reviewed and adopted in 

advance of the current plan expiring in 

2023. 

 

Following the Covid pandemic, several 

workstreams have been undertaken and 

now concluded (including Relighting Our 

Council) and the new plan will reflect the 

updated approach to asset management 

as required to meet the ongoing and future 

P
age 326



260 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 needs of the Council and the City in line 

with the Council plan. 

Civic Halls  

Delivery of the Civic Halls in accordance with any set budget 

and in line with the set timeline will continue to be closely 

monitored by the Council throughout, and the Council will 

ensure that the contracts in place are complied with.   

 

A detailed update on the Civic Halls project was provided to 

the Audit and Risk Committee in December 2021. 

As the project nears completion a 

significant amount of work is taking place 

to ensure that the contracts that the 

Council has in place with its contractors are 

being met and appropriate advice has and 

continues to be taken on those contracts.  

 

Officers are working closely with advisors 

to ensure that any budget set is complied 

with and that regular updates on progress 

are provided to appropriate persons 

including the Audit and Risk Committee. 

 

A further detailed report will be brought to 

Audit and Risk Committee shortly and a 

site visit of the project has been arranged 

for the Committee in June 2022.  

 

 

Constitution Review Conclusion  

Completion of the review of the constitution including revision 

of financial procedure rules, employment procedure rules, 

officer delegation and adoption of a new Corporate Code of 

Governance. 

A number of revisions were taken to the Governance and 

Ethics Committee and to Council in early 2021.Work has 

continued preparing further updates and improvements to 

key parts as noted previously, and additional related 

documents (such as procedures and guidance which sit 

outside the Constitution).  Regular updates should be 

expected throughout 2022/23 to make the Constitution, and 

the Council’s procedures, more concise so that the decision-

making processes can be understood by all. 

Further revisions have been taken to the 

Governance and Ethics Committee and 

Council in 2022.These include revisions to 

the employment procedure rules and a 

number of other amendments to the 

constitution including a re-focusing of the 

role of scrutiny to more clearly focus on 

performance and our City our Plan. 

 

The new Corporate Code of Governance is 

due to go to the meeting of the Governance 

and Ethics Committee on 7 July 2022.  

P
age 327



261 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

A new scheme of delegations has now 

been drafted and is being checked to 

ensure that it is appropriate and will be 

brought to a meeting of the Council in the 

autumn.   

 

 

Action Plan for the Significant Governance Issues identified during 2021-2022 which will need addressing in 2022-2023 

Based on the council’s established risk management approach, the following issues have been assessed as being key for the purpose of the 

2021-2022 annual governance statement. Over the coming year appropriate actions to address these matters and further enhance governance 

arrangements will be taken.  

 

2021-2022 Key areas and actions for implementation Responsibility and 

expected implementation 

date 

MTFS – In March 2022 the council approved a balanced budget for 2022-2023 without the use of general reserves.  

The report to Council noted that the council is now faced with finding further projected budget reductions estimated 

at £12.6 million in 2023-2024, rising to £25.8 million over the medium-term period to 2025-2026.  

The level of uncertainty over future funding levels continues to be a significant risk. A prudent approach has been 

taken to forecasting resources over the MTFS period and all assumptions were detailed in the report to Council.  

There are also a number of significant risks and uncertainties in relation to the cost of services including rising 

inflation, the impact of the cost of living on residents and adult social care reform. 

Work to develop budget reduction and income generation proposals for 2023-2024 onwards in line with the Five-

Year Financial Strategy has started with an update on progress will be brought to Cabinet throughout the year. 

March 2023 - Director of 

Finance 

 

P
age 328



262 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Work will also be undertaken to update the council’s Capital strategy including our proposed approach to the use of 

capital resources and other financial solutions and a framework of delivery models that the council will 

consider/favour 

 

– do we also cover including regular reporting back on critical asset projects and methods for doing that?]    

Procurement and Contract Monitoring 

The Select Committee on Wolverhampton Pound made a number of recommendations these will be considered by 

Council in July 2022 and will need to be implemented by Council. 

 

The new Procurement Bill is currently going through the House of Lords. We understand that it could become law 

in early 2023. There could be significant changes for the authority, and we will continue to prepare in order that we 

can have a smooth transition.  

March 2023 - Director of 

Finance   

 

Adult services - A planned redesign of Adult Services is underway, and the vision and direction has been agreed 

and incorporates the legislative change outlined in the Health and Social Care White Paper which requires the local 

authority to broker all care for those with an assessed need if requested i.e. any self-funders who want the LA to 

source their care at the fair cost of care rate. A new operating model and improved methods for managing demand 

and front door contact will be implemented. 

 

March 2023 - Director of 

Adult Services 

Review of Linked Bodies Governance – we will review the council’s governance of all linked bodies and report 

back on this to the relevant committees to ensure that we continue to have good governance in place.  

December 2022 – 

Monitoring Officer 

Civic Halls - Delivery of the Civic Halls in accordance with any set budget and in line with the set timeline will 

continue to be closely monitored by the council throughout, and the council will ensure that the contracts in place 

are complied with.  

 

March 2023 – Director of 

Regeneration  

P
age 329



263 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Compliance with Information Governance/Transparency requirements – ensuring that all relevant staff 

complete information governance/governance training to provide confidence that the council will meet all of its legal 

duties.  

December 2022 – 

Monitoring Officer 

SEND – implementation of written statement of actions following on from SEND inspection by Ofsted, detailed in 

the Ofsted report from November 2021  
March 2023 – Executive 

Director of Families  

  

 

Future Assurance 

Where appropriate, a progress report on the implementation of the above actions from the key areas will be reported to the Audit and Risk 

Committee during 2022-2023.  

 

 

 

 

Certification 

 

To the best of our knowledge, the governance arrangements, as outlined above have been effectively operating during the year with the 

exception of those areas identified as requiring improvement. We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to 

further enhance our governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that were identified 

during the review of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our annual review. 

 

P
age 330



264 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

 

Ian Brookfield, Leader of the Council 

 

Date: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Tim Johnson, Chief Executive 

 

Date: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 331



265 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Section 9 - Glossary 

 

Academy 

A school which chooses to opt out of a local authority's control and maintain its own funding. 

 

Accruals (Accrual Accounting) 

Refers to the fundamental accounting principle that income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not as money is 

received or paid. 

See Receivables, Payables 

 

Actuarial/Actuary 

The science and profession of using mathematical techniques to model and quantify the financial effects of uncertain future events. For the 

council, this is relevant in the context of accounting for the Pension Fund, where future transactions of the fund will occur so far into the future 

that they cannot yet be known with certainty. 

 

Arm’s Length Management Organisation 

An organisation which is, according to legislation, controlled by (i.e., a subsidiary of) a parent organisation, but whose management structures 

mean that control is loose and rarely manifests it directly on day-to-day operations of the subsidiary. 

 

Amortisation 

The way in which an asset or liability is accounted for over more than one period (other than Property, plant, and equipment, for which depreciation 

applies). 

See Depreciation 

P
age 332



266 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Asset 

An item that is owned by and can be used by the council. 

See Non-Current Asset 

 

Bad Debt Provision 

Bad debts are amounts owed to the council which it does not believe will be repaid. The council makes a provision for the amount of bad debt it 

expects to incur. 

 

Budget 

A budget is a plan of approved spending during a financial year. 

 

Business Rates or National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 

Businesses across the country have to pay business rates. The government decides how much they should pay, and local authorities collect the 

money. In Wolverhampton, the amount collected is shared on the following basis: 

• City of Wolverhampton Council 99% 

• West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority 1% 

 

Capital adjustment account 

An account whose purpose is to serve as a balancing mechanism between the different rates at which assets are depreciated in line with the 

Code of Practice and are financed under the capital controls regime. It is shown in the Balance Sheet as a reserve, although it does not represent 

funds available for future expenditure. 

See Capital Financing Requirement 

 

P
age 333



267 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Capital Expenditure 

Expenditure on the acquisition of Property, plant and equipment, or expenditure which adds to, and not merely maintains, the value of an existing 

asset. 

See Deferred Charge, Property, plant, and equipment 

 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 

An amount calculated as Non-Current Assets less the balances on the Capital adjustment account. 

See Minimum Revenue Provision 

 

Capital Programme 

The plan of approved spending on fixed assets (which includes assets that do not belong to the council, under certain circumstances). 

 

Capital Receipt 

Money received from the disposal of land and other assets, and from the repayment of grants and loans made by the council. 

 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 

CIPFA is a UK accountancy body, specialising in the finances of the public sector. CIPFA is responsible for determining the accounting rules and 

procedures that apply to local authorities. 

See Statement of Recommended Practice, Code of Practice 

 

 

 

P
age 334



268 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 

The set of accounting principles and practices developed by the CIPFA/LASAAC Code Board under the oversight of the Financial Reporting 

Advisory Board. The Code is based on approved accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and 

interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, except where these are inconsistent with specific statutory 

requirements. The Code also draws on approved accounting standards issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board 

and the UK Accounting Standards Board where these provide additional guidance. 

See International Financial Reporting Standards, Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 

 

Collection Fund 

A fund administered by the council recording receipts from council tax and payments to the General Fund and other public authorities. It also 

records receipts of business rates collected and payments to the General Fund and other public bodies. 

 

Community assets 

Assets that the council intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable useful life and that may have restrictions on their disposal. 

Examples of Community assets are parks and historic buildings. 

 

Consistency 

The concept that the accounting treatment of like items within an accounting period and from one period to the next is the same. 

 

Contingent Asset 

A contingent asset is a possible asset arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain 

future events not wholly within the council’s control. 

 

 

P
age 335



269 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Contingent Liability 

A contingent liability is either: 

• A possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future 

events not wholly within the council’s control, or  

• A present obligation arising from past events where it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 

of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 

 

Corporate and Democratic Core 

The corporate and democratic core comprises all activities which local authorities engage in specifically because they are elected, multi-purpose 

authorities. The costs of these activities are over and above those which would be incurred by a series of independent, single purpose, nominated 

bodies managing the same services. There is therefore no logical basis for apportioning these costs to services. 

 

Council Tax 

A tax paid by residents of the authority to the council, based on the value of their property, to be spent on local services. 

 

Current Asset 

An asset held for a short period of time, for example cash in the bank, stocks, and receivables. 

 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

Schools are funded separately from other Council services. The council receives a Dedicated Schools Grant direct from the government, which 

is paid over to schools. 

 

 

P
age 336



270 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Deficit 

This occurs when spending exceeds income (opposite of surplus). 

Defined Benefit Scheme 

A pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than a defined contribution scheme. Usually, the scheme rules define the benefits 

independently of the contributions payable, and the benefits are not directly related to the investments of the scheme. The scheme may be funded 

or unfunded (including notionally funded). 

 

Defined Contribution Scheme 

A pension or other retirement benefit scheme into which an employer pays regular contributions fixed as an amount or as a percentage of pay 

and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the scheme does not have sufficient assets to pay all employee 

benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. 

 

De Minimis 

The minimum value below which expenditure and income in respect of assets is not capitalised but is charged or credited to revenue in full in the 

period it was incurred or earned. 

See Capital Expenditure 

 

Depreciation 

The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful economic life of Property, plant, and equipment. 

See Impairment 

 

 

 

P
age 337



271 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Disclosure 

Additional information required by the Code of Practice if a set of conditions are met. If the council judges that the conditions have not been met 

in its case, they will make no disclosure. 

See Code of Practice 

 

Discount 

A reduction given by a lender in the amount to be repaid on early redemption of a loan. This is generally where the terms of the loan (relative to 

current market conditions) are favourable to the borrower. 

See Premium 

 

Dividend 

A payment made by a company out of profits to its shareholders. 

 

Earmarked Reserve 

A sum set aside for a specific purpose. 

See Usable and Unusable Reserves 

 

Events after the Reporting Period 

Those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the balance sheet date and the date on which the statement of accounts is 

signed by the responsible officer. 

 

 

P
age 338



272 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Exceptional Items 

Material items which derive from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the council and which need to be disclosed 

separately by virtue of their size or incidence to give fair presentation of the accounts. 

 

Existing Use Value (Social Housing) 

The value of a dwelling, given that, were it to be sold, the new purchaser must rent out the property, and set rents at social housing (i.e., below 

open market) levels. 

See Vacant Possession Value 

 

Fair Value 

The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction less, where applicable, any grants receivable 

towards the purchase or use of the asset. 

 

Fees and Charges 

Income arising from the provision of services, for example the use of leisure facilities. 

 

Finance Lease 

A lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of Property, plant, and equipment to the lessee. The payments 

usually cover the full cost of the asset together with a return for the cost of finance. 

See Operating Lease 

 

Financial Instrument 

Any contract that gives to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

P
age 339



273 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Financial Year 

This runs from 1 April to 31 March. 

 

General Fund 

The fund to which the cost of all services of the council (except for Housing Revenue Account services) is charged. The net cost of the General 

Fund is met by council tax, business rates and governments grants. 

 

Going Concern 

The concept that the local authority will remain in operational existence for the foreseeable future, in particular that the revenue accounts and 

balance sheet assume no intention to significantly curtail the scale of operations. 

 

Government Grants 

Assistance by government and inter-governmental agencies and similar bodies, whether local, national, or international, in the form of cash or 

transfers of assets to an authority, in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the activities of the council. 

 

Heritage assets 

Assets that the council intends to hold for the purpose of informing or educating the public about their heritage, and which are not held for their 

investment value. Examples include collections of antiques in museums. 

 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

A ring-fenced account detailing the expenditure and income arising from the provision of council housing, as required by the Local Government 

and Housing Act 1989. 

 

P
age 340



274 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Impairment 

A diminution in value of a Property, plant and equipment resulting from amongst other things, obsolescence, or physical damage. To comply with 

accounting standards the council undertakes annual reviews of its assets to identify any assets which have been impaired. 

See Property, plant, and equipment 

 

Income and Expenditure Account/Statement 

This describes the expenditure made in a single year by an entity, in accordance with the accounting standards that apply at that time to that 

body in order to generate a view of its year end position in relation to its profit or usable reserves. The following terms are synonymous: "The 

Income and Expenditure Account", "Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement", "Income and Expenditure Statement". 

 

Infrastructure assets 

These are inalienable assets, expenditure on which is recoverable only by continued use of the asset created. Examples of such assets are 

highways and footpaths. 

 

Intangible assets 

An item which does not have physical substance (for example, software licenses) but can be identified and used by the council over a number of 

years. 

 

International Accounting Standards (IAS) 

These standards were issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) - founded in 1973 as a private enterprise initiated by 

national accounting companies. This committee issued International Accounting Standards for private companies to follow. These standards 

have now largely been replaced by International Financial Reporting Standards. 

See International Financial Reporting Standards 

 

P
age 341



275 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

These standards are issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), established on 1 April 2001 with EU support to be the 

successor to the IASC. The IASB adopted the International Accounting Standards and then began issuing its own International Financial 

Reporting Standards. These became mandatory for all private companies quoted on the Stock Exchange in 2004. 

 

Inventories 

Goods owned by the council which have not been used by the end of the financial year. 

 

Investments 

A long-term investment is an investment that is intended to be held for use on a continuing basis in the activities of the council. Investments 

should be so classified only where an intention to hold the investment for the long term can clearly be demonstrated or where there are restrictions 

as to the investor’s ability to dispose of the investment. 

 

Investment properties 

Interest in land and/or buildings: 

• In respect of which construction work and development have been completed. 

• Is held for its investment potential, any rental income being negotiated at arm’s length. 

 

Levy 

A payment made by the council to another local service, for example, local transport and the Environment Agency. 

 

 

 

P
age 342



276 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Liabilities 

Amounts due to individuals or organisations which will have to be paid at some time in the future. Current liabilities are usually payable within 

one year of the balance sheet date. 

See Accruals, Payables 

 

Major Repairs Reserve 

A reserve to pay for large scale repairs to council houses. 

 

Materiality 

An item is material if its omission, non-disclosure, or misstatement in financial statements could be expected to lead to a distortion of the view 

given by the financial statements. 

 

Provision for the Redemption of Debt (MRP) 

A minimum amount determined according to a formula approved by the council, which must be charged to the revenue account, for debt 

redemption or for the discharge of other credit liabilities. 

See Capital Financing Requirement 

 

National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 

Rates which are levied on business properties and collected by the council and accounted for on an agency basis. These funds are then distributed 

between the General Fund and other public bodies. 

 

 

 

P
age 343



277 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Net Book Value 

The amount at which property plant and equipment are included in the balance sheet, i.e., their historical cost or current value less the cumulative 

amounts provided for depreciation. 

See Property Plant and Equipment 

 

Net Current Replacement Cost 

The cost of replacing or recreating the particular asset in its existing condition and in its existing use, i.e., the cost of its replacement or of the 

nearest equivalent asset, adjusted to reflect the current condition of the existing asset. 

 

Net Realisable Value 

The open market value of the asset in its existing use (or market value in the case of non-operational assets), less the expenses to be incurred 

in realising the asset. 

 

Net Worth 

A monetary value, defined as the value of the council’s assets less the value of its liabilities. This is the “bottom line” of the Balance Sheet. 

 

Non-Current Asset 

An item, for example land, buildings, and vehicles, which yield benefits to the council and the services it provides over a period of more than one 

year. 

 

Obsolescence 

The term used to describe an asset which no longer has any value to an organisation due to changes in the organisation’s operating environment 

or the emergence of overwhelmingly superior alternatives to that asset. 

P
age 344



278 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

See Impairment 

 

Operational and Non-Operational Assets 

Operational Assets are those that are used directly in providing Council services. Non-operational assets are assets held for any other purpose, 

for example for investment or where they are no longer used and have been earmarked for disposal. 

See Property Plant and Equipment 

 

Operating Leases 

Leases other than a finance lease. 

See Finance Leases 

 

Payables 

An amount owed by the council for work done, goods received, or services rendered, but for which payment has not been made at the end of the 

year. 

See Accruals, Receivables 

 

Precept 

The amount levied by the various joint authorities (e.g., police and fire authorities) which is collected by the council on their behalf. A body which 

can set a precept is called a preceptor. 

 

Premium 

An amount charged by a lender (over and above the outstanding principal) on early redemption of a loan. This is generally where the terms of 

the loan (relative to current market conditions) are favourable to the lender. 

P
age 345



279 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

See Discount 

 

Prior Year Adjustments 

Those material adjustments applicable to prior years, arising from changes in accounting policies or from the correction of fundamental errors. 

They do not include normal recurring corrections or adjustments of accounting estimates made in prior years. 

 

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 

A government initiative which enables authorities to carry out capital projects through partnership with the private sector. 

 

Property, plant, and equipment (PPE) 

Tangible assets that yield benefits to the council and the services it provides for a period of more than one year. Examples include land, buildings, 

and vehicles. 

See Capital Expenditure 

 

Provisions 

Amounts set aside in respect of a liability of uncertain timing or amount, where a reliable estimate of the potential value can be made. 

 

Prudence 

This accounting concept requires that revenue is not anticipated until realisation can be assessed with reasonable certainty. Provision is made 

for all known liabilities whether the amount is certain or can only be estimated in light of the information available. 

 

 

P
age 346



280 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Receipts in Advance 

Money received before the end of the financial year, but which relates to the following financial year. 

 

Receivables 

Sums of money owed to the council but not received at the end of the year. 

See Accruals, Payables 

 

Related Party 

There is a detailed definition of related parties in FRS 8. For the council’s purposes, related parties are deemed to include: 

• The elected members of the council and their partners. 

• The senior officers of the council. 

• The companies in which the council has an interest. 

• Central government and preceptors of Wolverhampton’s Collection Fund. 

• Other entities which the council has the ability to control or influence. 

 

Retirement Benefits 

All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by employees that are payable after the completion of 

employment. Retirement benefits do not include termination benefits payable as a result of either; 

• An employer’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or 

• An employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits because these are not given in exchange for 

services rendered by employees. 

 

Revenue Expenditure 

Expenditure on the day-to-day running costs of services e.g., employees, premises, supplies and services. 

P
age 347



281 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 

Spending on assets that have a lasting value but are not owned by the council, for example, improvement grants. 

 

Ring-Fenced 

Certain accounts, such as the Collection Fund, must be maintained separately outside the General Fund as a statutory requirement. 

 

Service Reporting Code of Practice (SERCOP) 

This guidance is issued by CIPFA and determines the costs which should be shown in the service lines in the Consolidated Income and 

Expenditure Statement, by determining which types of cost and income should be shown against which service. This promotes comparison 

between authorities by readers of the accounts. 

See Income and Expenditure Account/Statement 

 

Trust Fund 

A fund administered by the council on behalf of others for such purposes as charities and specific projects. 

 

Usable Reserves 

Reserves that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation. 

 

Unusable Reserves 

Amounts that have come about purely from accounting adjustments and are not therefore available to spend. 

 

 

P
age 348



282 
City of Wolverhampton Council 

Useful life 

The period over which the council will derive benefits from the use of an asset. 

 

Vacant Possession Value 

The market value of a property were it to be sold with no unusual restrictions on the occupation of the property, or the level of any rents or charges 

made for its use. 

See Existing Use Value (Social Housing) 

 

Work in Progress 

Expenditure in respect of assets that are not yet ready to be put into use or sold (as appropriate). 

 

P
age 349



T
his page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

  

 

  

 

Audit and Risk Committee 
25 July 2022 

  
Report Title Audit Services – Counter Fraud Update 

Accountable Director Claire Nye                Finance 

Accountable employee 

 

Report to be/has been 
considered by 
 

Peter Farrow 
Tel 
Email 
 
Not applicable 

Head of Audit 
01902 554460 
peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 

 
 
Recommendation for noting: 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee is asked to note: 

 

1. The contents of the latest Audit Services Counter Fraud Update.  
  

Page 351

Agenda Item No: 9



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

  

1.0 Purpose 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with an update on current counter fraud 

activities undertaken by Audit Services. 
 
2.0 Background 
 
2.1 The Counter Fraud Unit was set up within Audit Services, in response to the increased 

emphasis being placed upon both fraud prevention and detection by Central 
Government. 

 
3.0 Progress, options, discussion, etc. 
 
3.1 At the last meeting of the Audit and Risk Committee in March 2022, it was agreed that 

regular updates on the progress the Council was making in tackling fraud would continue 
to be brought before the Committee. 

 
4.0 Financial implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from the recommendation in this report. 
 [SR/14072022/A].  
    
5.0 Legal implications 
 
5.1 Investigations by the Counter Fraud Unit may have legal implications depending upon 

what action is taken or decided against in respect of those investigations.  
 [DA/14/07/2022/1] 
 
6.0 Equalities implications 
 
6.1 Equalities issues are taken into consideration where appropriate during fraud related 

activities undertaken during the year.  
 
7.0 All other implications 
 
7.1 There are no other implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 
 
8.0 Schedule of background papers 

8.1 There are no background papers. 
 
 

Page 352



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

  

 

Audit Services 
Counter Fraud Report  
@ July 2022 

Page 353



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

1 Introduction 

The counter fraud agenda is one that continues to hold significant prominence from 
Central Government who are promoting a wide range of counter fraud activities. The 
purpose of this report is to bring the Audit and Risk Committee up to date on the 
counter-fraud activities undertaken by the Counter Fraud Unit within Audit Services.  

The Council is committed to creating and maintaining an environment where fraud, 
corruption and bribery will not be tolerated. This message is made clear within the 
Authority’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, which states: “The Council operates a 
zero tolerance on fraud, corruption and bribery whereby all instances will be 
investigated, and the perpetrator(s) will be dealt with in accordance with established 
policies. Action will be taken to recover all monies stolen from the Council.” 

2 The Counter Fraud Team 

The Counter Fraud Team, which sits within Audit Services, is continuing to develop 
and lead in raising fraud awareness across the Council and in promoting an anti-fraud 
culture. The team carries out investigations into areas of suspected or reported 
fraudulent activity and organises a series of Council wide pro-active fraud activities, 
including the targeted testing of areas open to the potential of fraudulent activity. The 
team maintains the Council’s fraud risk register, implements the counter fraud plan and 
leads on the Cabinet Office’s National Fraud Initiative (NFI) exercise. 
 
The team also provide a tenancy fraud investigation service to Wolverhampton Homes. 
 

3 Counter Fraud Update 

 Counter Fraud Plan 
The latest status of progress against the counter fraud plan is shown at Appendix 1 
 

 Fraud Risk Register  
The Counter Fraud Team maintains the Council’s fraud risk register. The register is 
used to help identify areas for testing and to inform future audit assurance plans by 
focusing on the areas with the ‘highest’ risk of fraud. The latest fraud risk register is 
included at Appendix 2. 

 Covid-19 Business Support Grants 
To support Local Authorities in the administration of these grants, the Department for 
Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) Counter Fraud Function developed a toolkit that 
included a range of measures that could be used to reduce the risk of fraud and error 
in these schemes. Where appropriate these tools were used by the Council when 
assessing each application and prior to payment. 

 

 

Page 354



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

While BEIS placed an emphasis on speed of payment the Council completed due 
diligence checks in accordance with the BEIS Counter Fraud toolkit. These checks 
were designed to reduce the risk of fraud and error in the grant schemes. BEIS also 
agreed to stand behind any erroneous grant payments subject to Local Authorities 
taking reasonable and practicable measures to minimise the risk of errors and/or fraud, 
avoid making payments to those not entitled and to take reasonable and practicable 
steps to recover any over-payments 

 

 Business Grants Paid April to September 2020 
 

The total number of Small Business Grants, Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Grants and 
Discretionary Grants paid was: 
 

Small Business Grants paid 3,255 £32,550,000 

Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants paid 722 £12,620,000 

Discretionary Grants paid 343 £2,280,000 

Total number of grants paid 4,320 £47,450,000 

 

Following a series of post payments checks on the above 4,320 grants, invoices were 
raised to recover payment for ineligibility, as follows: 

  

Small Business Grants found to be ineligible and an 
invoice raised for recovery 

20 £210,000 

Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants found to be 
ineligible and an invoice raised for recovery 

3 £75,000 

Discretionary Grants 3 £15,000 

Total grants where invoices were raised for 
recovery 

26 £300,000 

 

 Page 355



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

Of the above 26 invoices raised £155,858 has been recovered. Recovery action for the 
remaining outstanding amounts is continuing and further progress will be reported to 
future meetings of this Committee. 

 

 Business Grants Paid October 2020 onwards 

 

Since October 2020 BEIS introduced a series of additional local and national 
restrictions support grants designed to provide financial support to businesses and 
individuals affected by the ongoing Covid-19 measures. These grants are subject to 
similar due diligence checks to those applied to the previous rounds of grants. As at 
June 2022 the following grants had been awarded. 
 

Total number of grants paid (all types) 10,423 £33,259,024 

 
To assist with managing the grants awarded since October 2020 the Council has used 
third party software to manage the application, checking and award process. 
 
Following a series of post payments checks on the above, invoices were raised to 
recover payment for ineligibility, as follows: 

 

Total Local and National Restrictions Support 
Grants (all types) 

23 £102,528 

 
Of the above 23 invoices raised £22,585 has been recovered. Recovery action for the 
remaining invoices is continuing and further progress will be reported to future 
meetings of this Committee as appropriate. 

 
Reporting Potentially Fraudulent Business Grants 
 
Grants where an invoice has been raised to recover the payment, plus several other 
applications where a payment was not made but potential fraud was suspected, have 
been reported to the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN). BEIS has appointed NAFN 
to collate details of all potentially fraudulent activity in relation to the Covid-19 Business 
Grants. The information is also used by Crime Agencies to identify potential criminal 
activity and organised crime. 
 
BEIS Business Grant Post Payment Assurance 
 
The Council continue to be required to provide evidence of the pre and post payment 
checks completed for a sample of these payments as selected by BEIS. BEIS has 
confirmed that the evidence provided of the checks completed so far to date against 
the grant schemes was satisfactory. 
 
In the case of later grants schemes the Council used third party software to manage 
the application and payment process and this has enabled BEIS to be allowed access 
to the information directly to complete their checks. 

 
BEIS has indicated that they are to provide further guidance on business grant debt 
recovery and counter fraud activities. Once details are known the Council will 
determine the impact and report any outcomes to future meetings of this Committee. 
 Page 356



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
National Fraud Initiative Exercise 2020/21 
The Counter Fraud Unit co-ordinates the investigation of matches identified by the 
Cabinet Office’s National Fraud Initiative (NFI) data matching exercises. Where 
matches are identified, the ensuing investigations may detect instances of fraud, over 
or underpayments, and other errors. A match does not automatically mean there is a 
fraud. Often there is another explanation for a data match that prompts bodies to 
update their records and to improve their systems. The NFI exercise also provides 
assurance to management those systems are working effectively where fraud and error 
is not present. 

 
The latest NFI exercise commenced in January 2021 and a total of 10,407 matches 
have been released. The matches are graded with over 1,500 classed as the highest 
quality of match, these are prioritised for investigation. Work is progressing to 
investigate the various types of matches with over 1,551 matches checked. As further 
matches are processed details of the progress made will be brought before the 
Committee. Examples of the progress made are shown below: 

 

Description *Current 
value (£) 

Pensions and Pension Gratuities to DWP Deceased 65,521 

Housing Tenants to Housing Tenants 186,000 

Blue Badge Parking Permit to Blue Badge Parking Permit 575 

Blue Badge Parking Permit to DWP Deceased 171,350 

Total 423,446 

 

*These figures are based on methodology and calculations produced by the Cabinet Office in support of 
the National Fraud Initiative. The figures include: 

Social housing tenancy fraud – Notional £93,000 per property recovered  
Blue Badge – Notional £575 per badge cancelled 
 

Counter Fraud Team - Tenancy Fraud 
The Counter Fraud Teams Tenancy Fraud results for the financial year 1 April 2021 to 
31 March 2022 and the first quarter 2022/23 are shown in the following table: 

 1 Apr 2021 – 31 March 
2022 

1 April 2022 – 30 June 
2022 

Type of fraud and / or error Cases *Value £ Cases *Value £ 

Social Housing Application fraud – 
offers withdrawn and/or applicants 
excluded from waiting list 

8 25,920 - - 

Tenancy sub-letting – Illegal 
subletting of properties which were 
recovered  

1 93,000 3 279,000 

Succession/Assignment – applicant 
prevented from obtaining a tenancy to 
which they are not entitled. 

4 372,000 - - 

Page 357



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

*The savings figures for tenancy fraud are based on methodology and calculations produced by the 
Cabinet Office in support of the National Fraud Initiative. The figures include: 

Social housing tenancy fraud – Notional £93,000 per property recovered based on average four year 
fraudulent tenancy and an estimate of the duration that the fraud may have continued undetected. This 
includes temporary accommodation for genuine applicants; legal costs to recover property; re-let cost; 
and rent foregone during the void period between tenancies. 
 
Social housing application fraud – Notional £3,240 per applicant removed from the waiting list, based 
on the annual cost of temporary accommodation. the likelihood that individuals on the waiting list would 
be provided a council property, and the duration for which fraud or error may continue undetected. 

  
Right to Buy fraud – Notional £65,000 per application withdrawn based on average house prices and 
the minimum right to buy discount available 

 National Anti-Fraud Network Intelligence Notifications 
The National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) issues regular alerts which provide 
information on fraud attempts, trends and emerging threats. The information provided 
in the alerts has been notified to NAFN by other local authorities from across the 
country. These alerts are checked to the Council’s systems to verify whether there 
have been any instances at Wolverhampton.  
 
Alerts which either involve suppliers used by the Council or are applicable to all 
Councils, are notified to appropriate sections of the Council. The most common alerts 
relate to Covid-19 Business Rates Relief Grant frauds, Bank Mandate fraud, Council 
Tax Refund fraud, cyber fraud including ransomware and email interception.  
 
Midland Fraud Group 
This group consists of fraud officers from across the Midland’s local authorities. The 
purpose of the group is to identify and discuss the outcome of initiatives being used to 
tackle fraud. At the last meeting in June 2022 discussions were held on: 
 

 Blue Badges. 

 Money Laundering. 

 Sanctions 
 

 

Right to buy – preventing fraudulent 
RTB applications 

2 130,000 - - 

Non-occupation – not using the 
property as a residence. 

4 372,000 1 93,000 

Total 19 992,920 4 372,000 

Page 358



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

                   Appendix 1 

Counter Fraud Plan Update 

Issue Action Timescale 

Raising counter fraud 
awareness across the 
Council 

Develop and deliver Fraud Awareness seminars Next round of training to 
be planned 

Develop on-line fraud training for staff. To be refreshed Summer 
2022 

Work with Workforce Development to develop and promote 
fraud training. 

New training package to 
be introduced Summer 
2022 

Establish measures for assessing the level of employee 
fraud awareness. 

Autumn 2022 

Hold fraud surgeries to enable staff to report areas of 
suspected fraud. 

Fraud surgeries planned 
for Autumn 2022 

Use various forms of media to promote fraud awareness 
across the Council including City People, the intranet and 
the internet. 
 

Fraud training and 
surgeries will be 
promoted through City 
People  

Work closely with Wolverhampton Homes and seek 
opportunities to promote joint fraud awareness. 

On-going 

Work with national, 
regional and local 
networks to identify 
current fraud risks and 
initiatives. 

Maintain membership of the National Anti-Fraud Network 
(NAFN). 
 

On-going 

Participate in the Cabinet Office’s National Fraud Initiative 
(NFI) data matching exercises. Acting as key contact for 
the Council, the West Midlands Pension Scheme and 
Wolverhampton Homes. 
 

On-going. Latest 
exercise commenced 
January 2021 

Complete the annual CIPFA fraud survey. CIPFA Survey last 
required to be completed 
August 2020  

Investigate opportunities to develop the use of NFI real 
time and near real time data matching. 
 

Ongoing 

Participate in CIPFA’s technical information service. As and when appropriate 

Maintain membership of the Midlands Fraud Group. On-going – last meeting 
June 2022 next meeting 
October 2022 

Attend external fraud seminars and courses. 
 
 

Economic Crime 
Conference February 22, 
Whistleblowing March 
2022, Procurement 
Fraud June 2022, 
Counter Fraud and 
Forensic Accounting 
Conference June 2022 
 

Assess the counter fraud 
strategy against best 
practice 
 

Complete national fraud self-assessments, for example:  

 CIPFA Code of Practice 
 

As and when next 
updated by CIPFA 

 CIPFA Counter Fraud Tracker Survey 
 

Annually 

Page 359



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

Issue Action Timescale 

 The former Department for Communities and Local 
Government – ten actions to tackle fraud against 
the Council. 
 

On-going 
 

 Consideration of fraud resilience toolkit 
 

On-going 
 

Identify and rank the fraud 
risks facing the Council 

Manage the Council’s fraud risk register to ensure key risks 
are identified and prioritised. 

Updated quarterly and 
presented to the Audit 
and Risk Committee 
 

Develop measures of potential fraud risk to help justify 
investment in counter fraud initiatives. 
 

On-going 

Seek opportunities to integrate the fraud risk register with 
other corporate risk registers and also the Audit Services 
Audit Plan 
 

Where appropriate 

Work with other fraud 
investigation teams at the 
Council 

Develop good communication links between the Counter 
Fraud Unit, Wolverhampton Homes, and Audit Services. 
 

The Council’s Counter 
Fraud Team provide a 
tenancy fraud service to 
Wolverhampton Homes. 

Work with external 
organisations to share 
knowledge about frauds?  
 

Establish formal joint working relationships with external 
bodies, for example Police, Health Service and Immigration 
Enforcement. 
 

On-going 

Participate in external 
initiatives and address 
requests for information 

Implement industry best practice as identified in reports 
produced by external bodies, for example; CIPFA’s Annual 
Fraud Tracker Survey and the National Fraud Initiative 
report. 
 

Annual/on-going 

Encourage Service Areas to participate in initiatives to 
identify cases of fraud. 

Liaise with other services 
where appropriate 

Look for opportunities to use analytical techniques such as 
data matching to identify frauds perpetrated across bodies, 
for example other Councils. 
 

On-going 

Undertake a programme of proactive target testing. On-going 

Respond to external requests for information or requests to 
take part in national initiatives. 

On-going 

All cases of reported fraud 
are identified, recorded 
and investigated in 
accordance with best 
practice and professional 
standards. 

Work with Service Areas to develop methods of 
recognising, measuring and recording all forms of fraud. 
 

Liaise with other services 
where appropriate 

Manage and co-ordinate fraud investigations across the 
Council. 

As reported back to the 
Audit and Risk 
Committee on a quarterly 
basis 
 

Implement and update the Council’s portfolio of fraud 
related policies in response to changes in legislation. 

Latest version will be 
presented to the Audit 
and Risk Committee in 
Autumn 2022 
 

Where appropriate take sanctions against the perpetrators 
of fraud either internally in conjunction with Human 
Resources and Legal Services or externally by the Police. 
 

On-going 

Ensure responsibility for 
counter fraud activities is 
included in Partnership 

Embed responsibility for counter fraud activities in 
partnership agreements with the Council’s strategic 
partners. 
 

On-going 

Page 360



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

Issue Action Timescale 

agreements with external 
bodies. 
 

Partnership agreements to include the Council’s rights of 
access to conduct fraud investigations. 
 

On-going 

Provide the opportunity 
for employees and 
members of the public to 
report suspected fraud. 
  

Manage and promote the Whistleblowing Hotline and 
record all reported allegations of fraud. 

City People article – 
planned for Autumn 2022 

Promote and hold fraud surgeries that provide the 
opportunity for staff to discuss any potentially fraudulent 
activity at the Council. 

Fraud surgeries planned 
for Autumn 2022 

Seek other methods of engaging with employees and the 
public to report fraud. 

On-going – for example 
through the Council’s 
internet site 

Where appropriate ensure allegations are investigated and 
appropriate action taken. 

On-going 

Work with and develop procedures for carrying out 
investigations with other service areas for example Human 
Resources, Legal Services and Wolverhampton Homes. 

On-going 

Inform members and 
senior officers of counter 
fraud activities. 
 

Report quarterly to the Audit Committee on the 
implementation of Counter Fraud initiatives and the 
progress and outcome of fraud investigations. 
 

On-going 

Page 361



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

Appendix 2 
Fraud Risk Register @ July 2022           

Themes Potential fraud type Risk rating 

Housing Tenancy Subletting for profit, providing false information to gain a tenancy, wrongful tenancy assignment and succession, failing to use the property 
as the principle home, right to buy. This risk is managed by Wolverhampton Homes. 

Red 

Council Tax Fraudulently claiming for discounts and exemptions such as the single person’s discount and Local Council Tax Support Schemes. Red 

Personal Budgets Falsely claiming that care is needed, carers using direct payments for personal gain, carers continuing to receive direct payments after a 
person dies, duplicate applications submitted to multiple Councils. 

Red 

Cyber Security Using technology as a tool to commit acts of fraud – this currently has a very high profile and is an ever-increasing area susceptible to 
fraud 

Red 

Welfare Assistance Fraudulent claims. Amber 

Procurement Collusion (employees and bidders), false invoices, overcharging, inferior goods and services, duplicate invoices.  Amber 

Business Rates Evading payment, falsely claiming mandatory and discretionary rate relief, empty property exemption, charity status. Amber 

Payroll ‘ghost’ employees, expenses, claims, recruitment. Amber 

Blue Badge Fraudulent applications use by others and continuing use after a person dies. Amber 

Electoral Postal voting, canvassing. Amber 

Schools School accounts, expenses, procurement, finance leases. Amber 

Bank Mandate Fraud Fraudulent request for change of bank details (increased following a recent case). Amber 

Theft Theft of Council assets including cash (increased following a recent case). Amber 

Covid-19 related 
support grants 

The Council was open to fraud and misappropriation due to changes in legislation and the speed in which government support grants 
needed to be processed.  

Green 

Insurance Fraudulent and exaggerated claims. Green 

Manipulation of data Amending financial records and performance information. Green 

Grants False grant applications, failure to use for its intended purpose. Green 

Bribery Awarding of contracts, decision making. Green 

Money Laundering Accepting payments from the proceeds of crime. Green 

P
age 362



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

P
age 363



T
his page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

 

Recommendations for noting: 

 

The Audit and Risk Committee is asked to note: 

 

1. The latest summary of the Council’s Strategic Risk Register, as at Appendix A.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Audit and Risk Committee 
25 July 2022  

  
Report title Strategic Risk Register Update  

 
  

Accountable director Claire Nye, Finance  

Originating service Audit 

Accountable employee Peter Farrow 

Tel 

Email 

Head of Audit  

01902 5504460 

Peter.Farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Report to be/has been 

considered by 

 

 

 

SEB 5 July 2022 

Page 365

Agenda Item No: 10

mailto:Peter.Farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

1.0 Purpose 

 

1.1 To keep members of the Audit and Risk Committee aware of the key strategic risks faced 

by the Council and how it can gain assurance that these risks are being mitigated. 

 

2.0 Background 

 

2.1 The Council is no different to any organisation and will always face risks in achieving its 

objectives and priorities. Sound risk management can be seen as the clear identification 

and management of such risks to an acceptable level. 

 

2.2  The Strategic risk register was last presented to Committee in March 2022. Since that 

time the risk register has been reviewed in conjunction with risk owners, reviewed by 

SEB and updated where appropriate. Two previous risks primarily relating to the Covid-

19 vaccination programme have now been closed.  

 

2.3 Similarly the new Council Plan, Our City: Our Plan, went to Cabinet in February 2022 and 

was approved by Council in March 2022. The new Plan embeds Relight recovery 

priorities, following extensive engagement and consultation with local communities, and 

is underpinned by clear delivery plans to deliver the city’s strategic priorities. Regular 

updates are provided to SEB and elected members, and so therefore the earlier Relight 

risk has also been closed down, with broader risks to the delivery of Our City: Our Plan 

managed through the ongoing review of the wider strategic risk register. 

 

2.4 The strategic risk register does not include all the risks that the Council faces. It 

represents the most significant risks that could potentially impact on the achievement of 

the Council’s corporate priorities. Other risks are captured within directorate, programme, 

project or partnership risk registers in line with the Council’s corporate risk management 

framework.  
 

2.5 A summary of the strategic risk register is included at Appendix A of this report which 
sets out the status of the risks as at July 2022. These risks are reviewed on an on-going 
basis and can be influenced by both external and internal factors and as such, may 
fluctuate over time.  

 

3.0 Progress, options, discussion 

 

3.1 The strategic risk register will be updated as required and presented at approximately 

quarterly intervals to the Committee.  The strategic risk register does not include all the 

risks that the Council faces. It represents the most significant risks that could potentially 

impact on the achievement of the corporate priorities. As stated above, other risks are 

captured within directorate, programme, project or partnership risk registers in line with 

the Council’s corporate risk management framework.  

 

Page 366



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

 

4.0 Financial implications 

 

4.1 There are no financial implications associated with the recommendations in this report as 

Councillors are only requested to note the risk register summaries. Financial implications 

may arise from the implementation of strategies employed to mitigate individual risks, but 

these will be evaluated and reported separately if required.  

[AS/14072022/V] 

 

5.0 Legal implications 

 

5.1 Although there may be some legal implications arising from the implementation of the 

strategies employed to mitigate individual risks, there are no direct legal implications 

arising from this report [DP/140722/A] 

 

6.0 Equalities implications 

 

6.1 There will be equalities implications arising from the implementation of a number of the 

strategies employed to mitigate individual risks. These equalities implications will be 

addressed, where appropriate, through the various mechanisms taken to manage each 

risk. 

 

7.0 All other implications  

 

7.1 Although there may be implications arising from the implementation of the strategies 

employed to mitigate individual risks, there are no direct implications arising from this 

report. 

 

8.0 Schedule of background papers  

 

8.1 Appendix A – Strategic Risk Register  

  

  

   

Page 367



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

\City of Wolverhampton Council – Strategic Risk Register 
Risks reviewed by risk owners – July 2022  
 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk title and description  
 

Our City Our 
Plan  

Previous 
Risk 

Score 

Current 
Risk and 
Target 
Score  

Direction of 
Travel  

Update position and further actions to take to mitigate risks Sources of Assurance 

1 

 

Businesses Closing  
Loss of businesses within the City, 
potentially impacting on regeneration and 
the achievement of the Council Plan.  
 

Risk Owner: Richard Lawrence 

Cabinet Member: Cllr S Simkins  

Thriving 
economy in all 
parts of the city 

8 Amber 

 

8 Amber 

Target 4 
Amber 

 

  

 

 

 Across all sectors reports are coming in about difficulties to recruit staff.  This is impacting on services and production in the local economy. The 
cost of inflation fuel prices and the impact on the war in Ukraine are also creating challenges for business around affordability and managing 
global supply chains, construction and food businesses have been particularly affected by the challenges in the supply chain. 

All covid support grants closed on 31 March 2022 and the Council has now returned to delivery of existing programmes of support, the main one 
being AIM for GOLD. This is an EU funded programme and comes with criteria around the sector and type of business who can be supported.  

The team is 70% funded by EU money which is going to come to a close on 31 March 2023. The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) doesn’t 
offer the same level of funding. Currently a review and plan for future of business support including the role of the Council is being prepared. 

With the announcement of Levelling Up and the focus towards Business Support the Council is taking steps to have a clear proposition for the 
City to be included in regional asks through the West Midlands Combined Authority. This takes in to account the work Metro Dynamics has 
helped inform the council on key focus areas and provided a framework for taking forward the immediate and longer-term business support 
model for the council and the city    
 
Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
The Council is continuing to support local businesses to adapt and invest in new ways of working and strengthen areas which the pandemic has 
highlighted as weakness in their business through existing programmes and with partners including the Chamber of Commerce. The Council is 
also funding IGNITE, a new business and enterprise hub to support small businesses in the city.  

 

Working with key partners such as WMCA, and other business support delivery partners to ensure Wolverhampton businesses can access 
relevant support. 
     

 

Regeneration have commissioned an external 
consultancy group (Metro Dynamics) to review 
the City's strategic priorities, the economic/ 
business context and current business 
support offer and develop an approach to 
business support that will help deliver the 
City’s ambitions for future success. This work 
is to be captured in the City’s investment plan 
for Levelling up and Shared Prosperity funds 

 

Internal audit review planned for 2022-2023 of 
the IGNITE business and enterprise hub. 

 

 

2 

 

Safeguarding Children  
Failure to safeguard the City’s most 
vulnerable children.  
 
Risk Owner: Emma Bennett 

Cabinet Member: Cllr B Momenabadi   

Strong families 
where children 
grow up well and 
achieve their 
potential 

8 Amber  

 

 

8 Amber 

Target 8 
Amber 
(being 
met) 

 

  

 Referral rates have consistently been higher than 2019-2020 since June 2021. This has resulted in higher numbers of children in Assessment.   

There has been an increase in social work turnover, although the annual turnover rate remains below national levels. Additionally, in line with the 
national and regional position there is a shortage of suitable agency social workers to back fill temporary vacancies we have created by 
secondment opportunities, and maternity leave. This does mean that we have seen an increase in caseloads for social workers, particularly in 
the Disabled Children and Young People’s team and in the Strengthening Families Service. As we successfully recruit to permanent posts and  
secondments come to an end, we are starting to see social workers returning to working with an appropriate level of children    

A newly established peripatetic team of nine permanent social workers are being deployed into teams where there are uncovered vacancies. 
Recruitment to these posts is underway. Social workers across Children’s social care have been supporting the work of the teams most affected   
to ensure caseloads across all services are manageable. 

MASH24 was launched on 14 June 2021, these arrangements support greater consistency of practice and response during the daytime, 
evening and at weekends. A 12-month review of the new arrangements is currently taking place.  

The Executive Team are briefed every 6 months to offer reassurance regarding safeguarding of the children in the city. 

 
 
Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
Actions are being taken to try to attract experienced agency workers locally and regionally to cover short term vacancies whilst we also recruit to 
vacant permanent posts. Actions to support this include: 

 The regional memorandum of understanding regarding the use of agency workers within the West Midlands has been updated  

 Recruitment is ongoing to recruit permanent social workers, both newly qualified and experienced social workers. Recruitment 
processes have been adapted to speed up start dates for new employees. 

 Rebranding of recruitment material is underway 

 A review of progression opportunities for experienced social workers is taking place 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Internal Quality Assurance report, alongside 
regular analysis of performance information 
offers Senior Leadership Team reassurance 
regarding practice. 

Quality assurance  and performance 
information is shared with SEB, Cabinet 
Member and the Leader regularly, together 
with Ofsted on a quarterly basis,  

Monthly data continues to be submitted to the 
DfE and is being closely monitored. 

Although referral rates are higher, overall, 
they appear to remain in line with the 
England/West Midland average. 

Feedback from a deep dive undertaken in 
Wolverhampton by members of the National 
Independent Care Review team was positive 
and offered further reassurances about 
practice with children and families.  

Senior leaders have regular oversight of 
caseloads and have responded by ensuring 
social work resource and capacity is utilised 
across the service  

Positive outcome of Ofsted Inspection of 
Children’s Services,(21 March - 1 April 2022) 
with services rated overall as Good offering 
external reassurance that children  and 
families are supported and safeguarded well 
in Wolverhampton. 

Assurance provided to Wolverhampton 
Safeguarding Together Partnership through a 
number of mechanisms including scrutiny of 
practice through priority groups and specific 
activity such as the COVID response group 
and Multi-agency casefile audits.  Reviews of 
the impact of learning from Children’s 
Safeguarding Practice Reviews is also 
assured through the One Panel. 

 

3 

 

Safeguarding Adults 
Failure to safeguard the City’s most 
vulnerable adults.  
Risk Owner: Becky Wilkinson 

Cabinet Member: Cllr L Leech   

Fulfilled lives for 
all with quality 
care for those 
that need it 

12 Amber 

 

12 Amber 

Target 8 
Amber 

 

 

 All statutory assessments and safeguarding enquiries are undertaken and more face to face visits are taking place. Service providers and 
inhouse provision continue to reopen services safely.  An increase in contacts to MASH and Adult Social Care has been experienced.  
  

Covid related safeguarding risks have reduced, current risks are related to resources through sickness and vacancies which is being picked up 
through the Adult Service redesign. 

Additional short-term measures including 
increasing staff in the MASH are in place to 
manage the caseloads coming directly into the 
service.  

 

P
age 369



 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk title and description  
 

Our City Our 
Plan  

Previous 
Risk 

Score 

Current 
Risk and 
Target 
Score  

Direction of 
Travel  

Update position and further actions to take to mitigate risks Sources of Assurance 

 
Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
The long-term plan to manage the increase in demand is being planned through the adult service redesign. 

   

 

Assurance provided to Wolverhampton 
Safeguarding Together Partnership through a 
number of mechanisms including scrutiny of 
practice through priority groups and specific 
activity such as the Covid response group and 
Multi-agency casefile audits.  Reviews of the 
impact of learning from Serious Adult Reviews 
is also assured through the One Panel. 

 

4 

 

Reputation / Loss of Public Trust 
There is a risk that the Council loses 
public trust and confidence by: 

 failing to respond to the needs of 
local people, especially those most 
vulnerable  

 failure to inform the public about 
delivery of key City priorities. 

 

Risk Owner: Ian Fegan  

Cabinet Member: Cllr I Brookfield  

Our Council  12 Amber 

 

12 Amber 

Target 10 
Amber 

 

 

 As the City continues its recovery from the pandemic, new challenges have emerged such as the national cost of living crisis. The Council is 
also delivering a number of key City priorities including delivering opportunities for young people, regeneration and investment projects, a high-
quality events programme and tackling health inequalities. 
 
Strategic Executive Board (SEB) and Council Cabinet are aware of the issues and challenges facing local people and developed Our City: Our 
Plan – the new Council plan, which launched in May 2022 and provides a framework on how we will deliver our objectives to ensure Wulfrunians 
live longer, healthier lives. 
 
The plan aims to demonstrate that we are dealing with the things that matter to local residents and businesses. Proactive and sustained 
communication with residents, businesses and key stakeholders will inform and engage with the aim of demonstrating that we are dealing with 
the things that matter, thereby building trust and confidence in, as well as support for the Council’s work. 
 
Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
Comprehensive targeted and regular communications with residents and other key stakeholders on all council priorities will play a key role 
supporting specific plan and priority objectives. 
 

National youth employment figures 
 

Supportive data provided by Insight and 
Performance 

5 

 

 

Social Care Providers Adults  
There is a risk that we may lose service 
providers and not be able to maintain 
adequate service provision.  

 
Risk Owner: Becky Wilkinson 
Cabinet Member: Cllr L Leech  

Fulfilled lives for 
all with quality 
care for those 
that need it 

16 Red  
 

 

12 Amber 

Target 

8 Amber 

 

 

 

 
  

Levels of sickness has reduced, and closures/outbreaks have reduced.  
Spot purchasing is still in place to mitigate pressures on the framework. 
 
Risks to sustainability are being mitigated with: 

 Robust outbreak management processes 

 High percentage of staff and residents are now vaccinated 

 Use of the daily provider survey to alert to trigger contact and support if providers report they are having issues remains in place through 
the Capacity Tracker 

 

Risk is amber due to resource and cost of living pressures. 

Provider support has been stood down following consultation with providers.  

National Level 4 emergency stood down. 

 

Daily capacity tracker provides daily 
information on outbreaks, sickness levels and 
staff turnover – this provides the necessary 
data for commissioning to act to support 
outbreaks or protect residents.  

 
Regular updates to SEB/Cabinet Member are 
provided with respect to home care.  

6 

 

Employee Wellbeing  
There is a potential impact on the health 
and wellbeing of the Council's staff due to 
unprecedented levels of service demand 
and changes to working practices.   
 

Risk Owner: Laura Phillips  

Cabinet Member: Cllr P Brookfield  

 
 

Our Council  12 Amber  

 

12 Amber 

Target 8 
Amber 

 

 

 Employee well-being continues to be a Council priority, a number of initiatives have been embedded for employees which include (but are not 
limited to) the Council’s Our People Portal, access to mental health first aiders, access to face to face well-being checks and work-outs led by 
WV-Active, the introduction of Council wide wellbeing leads and the creation of wellbeing pledges. Further directed work has been undertaken to 
promote financial wellbeing support to support employees with the cost of living rises.  
 
Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
Organisational Development (OD) are continuing to work with Human Resources and Health and Safety to monitor, analyse and proactively 
respond to sickness absence data (both Covid and non-Covid) to ensure appropriate support is provided for employee health and wellbeing.  
We continue to monitor the health and wellbeing of our employees and the effectiveness of Our People support offer. 
Targeted work is continuing with our frontline workers and there has been increased engagement initiatives and communications regarding 
health and wellbeing across the organisation.  
The OD team will be creating more opportunity to meet with employees face to face to ensure they are getting information on Wellbeing and 
understand where to access all the support that is available to them.  
 

 Operational Health & Wellbeing Group  
 Our People Board  
 Employee Surveys  

 Professional Conversations which 
include discussions around well-being 

 SafeSpace Reporting Line 

 Mental Health Support App for 
employees (My Possible Self) 

 OD Wellbeing roadshows out to sites 
across the City. 

7 

 

Education Provision 
There is a risk to the consistent provision 
of education to all children and young 
people in Wolverhampton due to Covid-
19 outbreaks in schools, children and 
young people not regularly being in 
school and parents' confidence that 
children are safe in schools due to the 
pandemic     
 
 Risk Owner: Emma Bennett 

Cabinet Member: Cllr C Burden 

Strong families 
where children 
grow up well and 
achieve their full 
potential 

8 Amber 8 Amber  

Target  

4 Amber 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 School attendance continues to be a concern. There are higher numbers of children and young people with persistent absenteeism than pre-
pandemic and school attendance overall disappointingly low, particularly in the secondary sector.   

 Formal examinations and assessment tests have recommenced in schools (the first since 2019) and there are concerns that the performance 
and outcomes may be negatively impacted as a result of the lockdowns as well as the absence of staff and students affected by Covid.    

 Increasing numbers of referrals are being made through the Special Needs Early Years' Service and for Education Health and Care Plan 
assessments following the lockdown periods.  

Electively home education numbers have increased throughout the pandemic and continue to rise (although at a slower rate). 

Further actions to take to mitigate risk 

 The Inclusion service has undertaken an analysis of school attendance across the city and work is ongoing with targeted schools to increase 
the focus on attendance.  Statutory powers have been reinstated to ensure parents and carers understand their responsibilities in respect of 
ensuring their children access learning.   

Proactive engagement between parents and the local authority is ongoing. Extensive support is also being made available by the Education 
Psychology Service to address emotional and mental health and well-being issues that are emerging for pupils and school staff.  This is being 
well-received by schools with take-up at a high level. 

A graduated response toolkit to support children in schools with Special Educational Needs (who are not at the level of need to require an 
Education Health and Care Plan) is in development and will be launched in September 2022.   

The National Tutoring Programme is being promoted in schools to support students whose progress has been negatively impacted by the 
pandemic.  

Regular updates to Lead Member and SEB on 
attainment of pupils in schools although data 
from this year’s formal assessments will not 
be available until end of Autumn term 2022.   

Each school has had School Improvement 
Advisor support, guidance and challenge to 
mitigate the impact of Covid on outcomes.    

As more young people are vaccinated the 
numbers contracting the virus are reducing 
slowly but steadily.   

  

 

P
age 370



 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk title and description  
 

Our City Our 
Plan  

Previous 
Risk 

Score 

Current 
Risk and 
Target 
Score  

Direction of 
Travel  

Update position and further actions to take to mitigate risks Sources of Assurance 

 

8 

 

City Wide Regeneration  
There is a potential impact on the City if 
the Council do not take effective action to 
regenerate and repurpose.  In addition, 
there are risks to ongoing Council 
managed and operated capital projects 
and programmes in terms of costs, 
timings and ensuring that original 
business cases continue to align with the 
Council's strategic aims. 
 
 

Risk Owner: Richard Lawrence 

Cabinet Member:  Cllr S Simkins 

 

Thriving 
economy in all 
parts of the city 

 

Good homes in 
well connected 
neighbourhoods 

12 Amber  

 

12 Amber  

Target 8 
Amber 

 

 

 

 With regards to the Council’s major capital projects work is underway at pace to ensure we secure Levelling Up funding for rounds 2 and 3, with 
the original submission date being 6 July (this has now been delayed due to technical issues). We continue to deliver funded programmes for 
Towns Fund and Future High Streets Fund.   
 
An interim Transformation Programme Management Office (TPMO) function has been set up to deliver Towns Fund and further work is being 
carried out to address constituent project delivery and development for a wider Levelling Up agenda for the City in delivering regeneration and 
infrastructure objectives.  
 
Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
Local Enterprise Partnership support will be in place within the next 3 – 6 months to take over the programme role to mitigate any additional risk 
and to co-develop and implement projects across all funding sources and service areas. The TPMO function will support and complement 
existing activities and resources to ensure successful project delivery and implementation.  
 
The Council is pro-actively working with partners and stakeholders to mitigate risk and continue operations in accordance with Government 
guidelines. 

 
Inflation is at the highest it has been for four decades and there is considerable uncertainty and risk of inflationary pressures across the capital 
programme, increases in the cost of materials are already being realised.  Project contingency budgets are viewed in light of these pressures in 
order to build in and mitigate against such cost increases, however these are unprecedented market conditions, and the ongoing risk should be 
noted. 
 

Internal audit review of Westside Leisure now 
complete, and the advisory actions are being 
undertaken. 

Internal audit review planned for 2022-2023 
regarding the new TPMO. 

9 

 

High Unemployment (previously Rising 
Unemployment) 

There is a risk that high levels 
of unemployment caused by historic 
trends and more recently the impact of 
Covid will persist and the gap between 
Wolverhampton and other areas will 
continue to grow without focused action.  

 

Risk Owner: Richard Lawrence 

Cabinet Member:  Cllr S Simkins 

 

Thriving 
Economy in all 
parts of the city 

 

More local 
people into good 
jobs and training 

16 Red 

 

16 Red 

Target 15 
Red 

 

 

 Young people (18 – 24) and the over 50s have been particularly affected. With the 18-24 group, at the point of last report, Wolverhampton’s 
unemployment claimant count had dropped one place to the second highest in England, and another monthly decrease in claimants. Whilst this 
month-on-month decrease is good to see, the gap to regional and national figures persists. For the over 50 group, latest data shows 
Wolverhampton in 14th position overall against the same measure of unemployment with no change in rate from the previous month.   
    
Further actions to take to mitigate risk    
The Council £3m Wolves at Work 18-24 Programme is underway, with a number of initiatives, including the City Ideas Fund, which has awarded 
over £212,000 to local organisations to implement a wide range of activities, to help young people access the world of work.  The Youth 
Summits continue to take place across the city, bringing young people together with employers and training providers to understand the barriers 
facing the young people, and to find ways to collectively work together to create opportunities.  Vacancies are being promoted to a wider 
audience via Wolves Workbox and its regular newsletters, whereby job seekers are able to apply for jobs directly 
    
Wolves at Work continues to offer its employment support service for job seekers of all ages.  Regular “Let’s Talk Jobs” sessions are held, 
focusing on either vacancies in a particular sector or for specific employer, to which all those organisations who advise job seekers are invited, 
to hear about the opportunities in detail.  

 
Employment Workshops taking place with OD on a monthly basis in conjunction with BCI and Wolves at Work – targeting those applying for 
Grade 5 posts within the council (or below). 
 
Drop-in information/screening session in operation to support Strategic Employers and other large scale vacancies – these operate weekly/bi-
weekly dependant on employer need. 

 
Black Country Impact continues to deliver support to those aged 16-29 across Wolverhampton, and will continue to do so until the funding ends 
in mid-2023. Currently there is £1.31m available to support this age group, with a heavy focus on upskilling the workforce via vocational and L3 
upwards qualifications in order to provide sustainability. 
 
The Restart Scheme was rolled out in June 2021, and referrals to programme will continue until June 2024 at the earliest. Currently the council 
has £1.64m (talks pending around an increased market share) in funding to support residents.  

Increased collaborative working between all employability contracts and Yoo Recruit / the Council in order to meet the recruitment needs of the 
Council with local unemployed residents on the programme. Intrinsically linked to the One Council approach to tackle Youth Unemployment, and 
the individual pledges made by various departments. 

The Insights team provide detailed monthly 
analysis of the unemployment data in the 
City and have provided comprehensive 
analysis of the historical picture and present 
trends – which show a general improvement 
from pandemic peaks. This data monitoring 
work is now firmly embedded into the ongoing 
Wolves at Work 18-24 Programme 
arrangements.  

Ongoing Covid impact on employment in 
the City is now monitored and reported 
regularly as part of this work. The team have 
been assessing the data alongside labour 
market information for any signs that the end 
of furlough arrangements might be having a 
impact on overall employment statistics, but 
have not found any evidence so far to suggest 
this is happening on a scale that would 
negatively impact the overall figures.  

The Wolves at Work 18-24 Programme has 
now been established and there is a pipeline 
of planned activity with a focus on partnership 
collaboration and actively engaging with those 
directly impacted.    

A scoping session has been held to discuss 
how all key City partners can be well engaged 
in the development of effective interventions.   

Internal audit review planned for 2022-2023 of 
the Wolves at Work 18-24 Programme (Youth 
Employment Scheme).   

As of July 2022 2,526 Wolverhampton 
residents have started on the Restart 
Scheme, with 597 (24%) entering sustainable 
employment. Of these 597, 109 (18%) have 
been supported directly by the Council, 
despite only receiving 8% of all referrals to 
programme 

Conversations pending about possible 
increase in market share of Restart Scheme 
for the Council, which will lead to increased 
staffing levels and funds to support 
Wolverhampton residents of all ages into 
sustainable employment 

Activity to date has seen 749 BCI participants 
offered employment, with a view to this 
increasing to approx. 1,200 minimum in the 
next 11 months (remainder of contract). 

 
 

P
age 371



 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk title and description  
 

Our City Our 
Plan  

Previous 
Risk 

Score 

Current 
Risk and 
Target 
Score  

Direction of 
Travel  

Update position and further actions to take to mitigate risks Sources of Assurance 

10 

 

Information Governance 

If the Council does not put in place 
appropriate policies, procedures and 
technologies to ensure the handling and 
protection of its data is undertaken in a 
secure manner and consistent with 
relevant legislation then it may be subject 
to regulatory action, financial penalties, 
reputational damage and the loss of 
confidential information. 
 
Risk Owner: David Pattison 
Cabinet Member: Cllr P Brookfield 

Our Council 6 Amber 

 

6 Amber 

Target 4 
Green 

 

 

 
  

Five newly approved level-1 IG policies were being rolled out to employees during May 22.  A review of the internal procedures and guidance 

documents (level 2) that underpin the new polices continues, with rollout being incremental between now and September 2022.  Mandatory 

training levels (level 1) continue to be monitored through quarterly leadership team updates; a refresh and reset of IG priorities within each 

leadership area has commenced to maintain compliance at service level. Meetings between the Caldicott Guardian (CG) and the Data 

Protection Officer (DPO) have recommenced and are scheduled quarterly to provide an update on performance in key areas such as information 

requests, breaches and training for teams falling under the Caldicott function and to discuss any potential or current risks identified within 

Caldicott linked projects so that they are flagged to the CG and mitigating actions agreed.  Key corporate projects continue to be supported to 

ensure IG compliance and to ensure privacy by design is initiated in a timely manner. Collaborative working between IG and Digital and IT 

continues to maintain technical and cyber compliance and to mitigate associated risks; collaborative work has commenced between IG and Data 

& Analytics with monthly meetings scheduled. Information incidents reported during the period have been contained, investigated with mitigating 

actions put in place locally with relevant teams. An additional temporary resource has been successfully recruited and will support the IG team 

for a 12-month period in terms of the delivery of statutory functions and work programme activities.  

 

Further actions to take to mitigate risk 

 Continue to progress the review and creation of level two procedures and guidance to support level one policies 

 Progress the development and rollout of Level 2 and level 3 training for specialist roles 

 Progress the collaboration with Audit Services to support the DPO reporting function and ongoing corporate compliance assurance. 
 

E-learning take up and ongoing training 
development 
Privacy by design – DPIA, IG Impact 
Assessments 
Quarterly updates and regular touch points 
with Leadership teams 
Robust breach management procedures in 
place with assessment and monitoring at 
service level (leadership feedback) 

SEB/IG Board and Caldicott function to 
continue to monitor, challenge, support and 
champion IG compliance initiatives 

11 

 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

If the Council does not manage the risks 
associated with the successful delivery of 
its in year budget and medium term 
financial strategy then this may exhaust 
reserves, result in the potential loss of 
democratic control and the inability of the 
Council to deliver essential services and 
discharge its statutory duties. 

Specific risks include the impact of Covid-
19, rising inflation, demand pressures and 
the effective management of the key 
MTFS programmes.  

 

Risk Owner: Claire Nye 

Cabinet Member: Cllr Obaida Ahmed  

Our Council  20 Red 

 

20 Red  

Target 12 
Amber 

 

 

 

 

 

 On 16 December 2021, the Government announced the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2022-2023.  The announcement 
was for one year only.  
 
The 2022-2023 Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022-2023 to 2025-2026 report (Cabinet 23 February and Council 2 March) 
presents a balanced budget for 2022-2023 without the use of general reserves.  
 
The report notes that the Council is now faced with finding further projected budget reductions estimated at £12.6 million in 2023-2024, rising to 
£25.8 million over the medium-term period to 2025-2026. Work to develop budget reduction and income generation proposals for 2023-2024 
onwards in line with the Five-Year Financial Strategy will continue, with an update on progress to be reported to Cabinet in July 2022. 
 
The level of uncertainty over future funding levels continues to be a significant risk. A prudent approach has been taken to forecasting resources 
over the MTFS period and all assumptions are detailed in the report. 
 
On 28 June 2022 the Secretary of State announced that there will be a 2 year settlement and that a consultation will be launched shortly.  
 
Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
The assumptions underpinning the MTFS will continue to be reviewed throughout 2022-2023 and updates will be reported to Cabinet, with the 
next update to Cabinet on 27 July 2022. 
 
External advice will be sought where appropriate to support financial modelling as an when further information is available on a 2-year 
settlement and or fair funding review. 
 
Regular monitoring of the delivery of MTFS programmes is undertaken and reported to Strategic Executive Board. 
 

Regular budget monitoring at all levels. 

A local more detailed risk register is 
maintained within Finance.  

External Audit Annual Report 

12 

 

Cyber Security  

Failure to maintain a high level of cyber 
security (technology, processes and 
awareness) throughout the Council may 
result in cyber-attacks and theft or loss of 
confidential data leading to financial 
penalties, reputational damage and a loss 
in public confidence. 

 

Risk Owner: Charlotte Johns  

Cabinet Member: Cllr O Ahmed 

 

Our Council / 
Driven by Digital  

6 Amber 

 

9 Amber 

Target 6 
Amber  

 

 

 Nationally there has been an increase in cyber security threats to local government, with high profile cyber incidents impacting on some local 
authorities. Cyber security at CWC is externally verified though both PSN accreditation and Cyber Essentials Plus accreditation. 
 
Digital and IT continue to deploy security enhancements across the infrastructure to further improve security, key activity undertaken includes: 
 

 Implementation of multi factor authentication 

 Conditional policies which prevent access to the Council’s network on personal devices unless it is via the internet. 

 Amending the Council’s password policy to move to passphrases. 

 Implementation of Windows Defender Advance threat protection, user risk detection and mitigation. 

 Training and development  

 Working with the LGA on a £10,000 grant to further invest in cyber security enhancements 
 

Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
There is a continued work programme to address cyber threats and a further update will come forward to a future Audit and Risk Committee. 

 

The Council has achieved external 
accreditation of its cyber security, through 
achievement of Cyber Essentials Plus and 
PSN compliance. 

Internal Audit review of Cyber Security and 
Disaster Recovery planned for this year. 

Quarterly updates provided to SEB. 

 

 

13 

 

Civic Halls 

There is a significant reputational and 
financial risk to the Council and to the 
City’s wider visitor economy if the revised 
Civic Halls refurbishment programme is 
not effectively managed in terms of 
project timings, costs, and scope. 

 

Risk Owner: Richard Lawrence 

Cabinet Member: Cllr S Simkins  

Thriving 
economy in all 
parts of the city 

 

12 Amber  

 

12 Amber 

Target 8 
Amber 

 

 

 In conjunction with the professional project team the ongoing scrutiny and monitoring of the project continues at pace. In preparation for AEG’s 
opening and the recommencement of commercial events (subject to Covid restrictions and national guidance), the Council continues its 
collaborative working relationship with AEG.  
 
This world class operator is bringing forward exciting and ambitious plans for the venue with bigger and better acts and events. Plans will also 
benefit local businesses, see new jobs created and raise the city’s profile. The public realm works are progressing well and are on schedule to 
complete in time for the opening of the building. 
 

Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
Monthly Civic Halls Restoration Boards take place in order to ensure assurance on the project. This is supported by bi-weekly operational group 
meetings, end user operator and public realm meetings, which all feed into the overall programme board. Directors are also supplied with weekly 
project updates.  
 

 

Project Assurance Group 

Civic Halls Restoration Board 

AEG Contract 

Specialist external advice – project and risk 
management 

Internal Audit representation on Civic Hall’s 
Operational Group 

P
age 372



 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk title and description  
 

Our City Our 
Plan  

Previous 
Risk 

Score 

Current 
Risk and 
Target 
Score  

Direction of 
Travel  

Update position and further actions to take to mitigate risks Sources of Assurance 

14 

 

Climate Change 

Failure to achieve the Council’s 
commitments in relation to Climate 
Change, including the pledge to make 
Council activities net-zero carbon by 2028 
may result in significant reputational 
damage and a loss in public confidence. 
 
Risk Owner: John Roseblade 

Cabinet Member: Cllr S Evans 

 

Climate 
conscious  

 

6 Amber 

 

6 Amber 

Target 3 
Green 

 

 

 
 

The Council’s Climate Change Action Plan was approved by Cabinet in July 2021. The action plan clearly sets out all activity needed to meet the 
Council’s net zero ambitions by 2028 as well as setting out the framework for the 2041 target for the whole City.  

 
Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
Resource requirements identified – certain posts have been created and have/are being recruited to. 
Additional graduate support for sustainable staff travel policy has been secured. 
SEB update with draft structure approved and supported. 

 

Governance and action plan monitoring 
arrangements being established. 

Quarterly update to SEB and Member 
reference panel. 

Internal audit review planned for 2022-2023 of 
the Climate Change Action Plan. 

15 

 

Related Parties  

The Council has a number of bodies that 
it either owns or has a potential liability 
for. There is a risk that poor performance 
of these bodies could adversely impact on 
the Council both financially and 
reputationally.  
 
 
Risk Owner: Claire Nye    
Cabinet Member: Cllr Obaida Ahmed 

Our Council 
 

 

12 Amber  

 

12 Amber  

Target 8 
Amber 

 

 A detailed financial review of each company was undertaken as part of the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, this included the going 
concern position of each party. It was concluded that there is currently no material financial impact on the Council. Regular monitoring is 
undertaken and there are no areas of concern.  

The Council is currently undertaking a review of Yoo Recruit Ltd which will in turn inform a refreshed business plan being prepared by the 
Company.  

WV Living presented an updated Business Plan which was approved by Cabinet on 27 April 2022.  

Wolverhampton Homes presented an updated Delivery Plan which was approved by Full Council on 6 April 2022. 

On 29 June the Resources and Equality Scrutiny Panel received a report from the Chief Operating Officer on the arrangements in place to 
monitor linked bodies, further reports are being taken on the approach to each specific body to the relevant Committee/Panel.  

Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
Regular monitoring of the related parties is undertaken, and monthly reports are provided to the Executive Team. 

Financial implications of our related parties have been referenced in the 2022-2023 Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022-2023 to 
2025-2026 report (Cabinet 23 February and Council 2 March) and will be referenced in future budget reports.   

 

The Annual Governance Statement 
incorporates related parties. 

External audit of each related party. 

16 

 

Safeguarding Ukrainian refugees from 
exploitation. 
Risk to Ukrainian refugees ability to 
access safe and appropriate local 
accommodation. 
 
Risk Owner: John Denley 

Cabinet Member: Cllr J Jaspal  

 

Healthy Inclusive 
Communities 

 

New risk  9 Amber 

Target 4 
Amber 

 

 

 

Not 
applicable 

Development of CWC criteria, home visits for residents who have been offered accommodation, continued dialogue with Government via West 
Midlands Strategic Migration Partnership. 
 
Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
Ongoing dialogue with the Department for Levelling Up, Home Office and local and national multi-agency Homes for Ukraine forums. 
 

Department for Levelling Up, Home Office and 
local and national multi-agency Homes for   

Ukraine forums. 
 

17 
 

Financial wellbeing and resilience –  
 
Risk that the financial wellbeing 
strategy does not address the impact 
of the cost-of-living crisis for residents 
of the city  
 
Risk owner: Alison Hinds/ Emma 
Bennett 
Cabinet members:  Councillor B 
Momenabadi, Councillor L Leach and 
Councillor J Jaspal 
 
 

Strong families 
where children 
grow up well and 
achieve their full 
potential 
 
Healthy, inclusive 
communities 
 

New risk 12 Amber 

Target 8 
Amber 

Not 
applicable  

The Council’s Financial Wellbeing Strategy was approved by Cabinet in March 2022. 
 
The strategy details our partnership approach to tackling the cost-of-living crisis in the city though our graduated response offering essential 
support when required, responding to emerging need and offering an early intervention approach to support resilience in the city. 
 
Further actions to take to mitigate risk 
Partnership approach to delivery of the strategy 
Supporting our faith, community, and voluntary sector to build resilience   
Continued distribution of any Department of Work and Pension or government grants to ensure those in need are supported by those closest to 
them, maintaining dignity and choice wherever possible. 

Strong governance arrangements, with Health 
and Wellbeing Board being responsible for the 
implementation of the strategy, monitoring the 
progress of the partnership cost of living 
action plan  

 

P
age 373



T
his page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

 Agenda Item No:  XX 

 

Audit and Risk Committee 
25 July 2022 

  
Report title Cyber Security Statement June 2022 
  

Accountable director Charlotte Johns, Director of Strategy 

Originating service Digital and IT 

Accountable employee 

 

Report to be/has been 

considered by 

 

Jaideep Ghai  

Tel 

Email 

 

 

Head of Digital and IT 

01902 552072 

jai.ghai@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation for action or decision: 

 

The Audit and Risk Committee is recommended to: 

 

1. Review and comment upon the contents of the Council’s Cyber Security Statement for 

June 2022.  

 

 

  

Page 375

Agenda Item No: 10a

mailto:jai.ghai@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

1.0 Purpose 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update regarding how the City of 

Wolverhampton Council (CWC) are managing evolving Cyber threats, the measures in 

place and work in progress to ensure on-going protection  

 

2.0 Background 

 

2.1 The Cyber threat landscape is continuously evolving with new vulnerabilities being 

published weekly and with the on-going conflict in the Ukraine, the Cyber threat Level has 

been increased to HIGH by the National Cyber Security Centre (NCSC).   The NCSC have 

emphasised the need to be vigilant and to ensure robust processes exist to minimise and 

prevent any compromise. 

 

2.2 CWC have actively been working on NCSC advice to ensure our data, workforce and 

technical architecture are continuously protected as well has acting on emerging threats 

and counteracting them as soon as they are identified.  Alongside this, key findings from 

the NCSC Annual Active Cyber Defence Programme Report (ACD) have been reviewed 

to ensure compliancy and that threat mitigation measures are actively deployed. 

 

2.3 CWC are always working with trusted partners to ensure Cyber defences are robust, in 

line with best practice and any vulnerabilities identified are plugged before they are 

exploited. 

 

3.0 Progress, options, discussion 

 

3.1 Cyber Security is a key priority for the Council and monitored rigorously via the strategic 

risk register.  CWC is one of the few councils in the country that are Public Services 

Network (PSN), Cyber Essential Plus certified, Payment Card Industry Data Security 

Standard (PCI DSS) and NHS Information Governance (NHS IG) Toolkit accredited. 

Continued accreditation involves auditing and testing of Digital and IT systems and controls 

by a 3rd party throughout the year. 

In March 2022, CWC PSN accreditation was recertified and currently working towards 

Cyber Essential Plus recertification which expires in September 2022. The recertification 

process involves engaging with a 3rd party who have undertaken active network scans to 

identify vulnerabilities which have been remediated. These 3rd party reports are submitted 

to central Government as evidence that CWC meets and exceeds stringent controls 

required for transactions with Government bodies 

 

3.2 CWC have undergone Internal and External audits over the last few months to assess its 

Cyber and Disaster Recovery capabilities, and both identified no serious issues and 

recommendations made have been programmed to be completed by September 2022. 

Digital and IT have also used this opportunity to revise its Cyber Incident response plan, 

in partnership with our colleagues in Information Governance and Resilience, to meet the 

challenges of the Cyber Security landscape. 

 

Page 376

https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/report/acd-the-fifth-year


This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

 The Local Government Association (LGA) Funded Audit – As reported in the last briefing 

note CWC were awarded monies to engage with an external Cyber security expert to 

benchmark CWC again NCSC Cyber Security best practices. The outcome of the 

engagement was as below: 

 

 ““The City of Wolverhampton Council has a strong cyber security posture and our 

recommendations are mostly minor controls to consider concerning Incident Management, Logging 

and Monitoring and Removable Media Controls. In a lot of these cases you are already considering 

tooling or have exercises planned in the not-too-distant future” 

 

 
3.3 Digital and IT in partnership with the Resilience team undertook several events during 

Business Continuity week commencing 16th of May 2022. These included: 

 

 Phishing exercise with the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 

 NCSC Ransomware out of the box exercise 

 City People articles throughout the week to re-affirm the need to be vigilant in the 

hybrid world 

 

Digital and IT worked collaboratively with the Resilience Team to simulate potential attacks 

and it enabled Digital and IT’s Security Team assess the quality of the CWC incident 

Page 377



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

response plan and amend it accordingly. Further such events will be scheduled for later 

this year, including an exercise with SEB. 

 

 To complement the events, Digital and IT procured specialist Cyber training which the 

Business Critical team will be engaging SEB and Councillors over the coming months. 

 

3.4 To reduce the impact of cyber-attacks, in particular ransomware, and to maintain our strong 

security position, Digital and IT continue to deliver against the following key actions, which 

are resourced in the capital programme. 
 

 
  

 Key deliverables in the coming months are: 

 Reducing the Cyber Attack surface area by introducing endpoint controls that 
manage known attack vectors like unapproved USB devices  

 Backup Immutability to allow failsafe recovery after ransomware attack 

 Enhance Employee Cyber aware training 

 Automated response system for Cyber incidents using security toolset 

 Risk assessment for Supply chain attacks 

 Removal of unsupported applications from Network 

 Continued partner working with Information Governance and Resilience Teams 

 Migration of Shared Data to Microsoft Cloud for continued protection 

 

Page 378



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

3.5 LGA funding has been awarded to the CWC to Digital and IT to train our staff to security 

specialist to Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP) standard.  

CISSP is a highly sought-after certification which is focussed on Security Threat 

Management and staying on top of security trends. Having a CISSP working for CWC will 

help to ensure best security practises are maintained and robust and stringent measures 

are in place to counter threats 

 

3.6  To counter emerging cyber threats requires flexible and agile policies along with support 

from the Senior Executive Board to allow for a rapid response.  Several initiatives are being 

worked on that will be presented to SEB for support: 

 

 Bring your own device (BYOD) – Working with information Governance, policies are 
being developed to allow for the use of personal devices to access corporate data 
within a secured container on the device. Microsoft Intune allows for app protection 
policies which enable the use of corporate data securely using Company Portal 
which allows the transition from a fully managed devices to unmanaged with 
protection. 

 Unified Labels protection policies – CWC have deployed labelling policies that 
ensure data is classified at the time it is saved or sent to other people. To ensure 
that our data is used only by the intended recipients and not shared, protection 
policies are being worked which enable Council employees to manage how the data 
they have shared is used. This will allow employees to revoke access or be as 
granular as to restrict the likes of being able to print or forward the data. 

 To maintain our Security certifications requires that all endpoints run vendor 
supported versions of software which requires continued investment on hardware.  
At times this may necessitate the replacement of the device for continued access 
to the Council’s network. 

 

4.0 Financial implications 

 

4.1 There are no financial implications arising from the recommendation in this report.  

 [AS/150722/R] 

 

5.0 Legal implications 

 

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendation in this report beyond 

those set out clearly in the Annual Governance Statement and the strategic risk register 

report. [DP/150722/C] 

 

 

6.0 Equalities implications 

 

6.1 The Council’s governance framework underpins the Council Plan, which itself is guided 

by consultation and equality analysis, and thereby aides the Council in its ability to meet 

its equality objectives 

 

7.0 All other implications 

Page 379



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

 

7.1 There are no other implications arising from the recommendation in this report. 

 

8.0 Schedule of background papers 

 

8.1 None. 

Page 380



June 2022
Jaideep Ghai

Digital & IT
Cyber Security Update

P
age 381



Background

• Cyber threat landscape is continuously evolving, highlighted by the 
weekly publication of new vulnerabilities and the conflict in the 
Ukraine.

• This is reflected by the Cyber threat level being increased to HIGH by 
the National Cyber Security Centre (NCSC)

• Emphasis placed on robust processes to minimise and prevent any 
compromise by the NCSC and be extra vigilant.

• Digital and IT take any threat seriously and protecting our network is 
of utmost importance and priority. Stats provided by Government IT Security Conference

P
age 382



Deliverables and Work Undertaken by Digital and IT to Minimise Threats

• Benchmarking exercise completed comparing 
CWC against NCSC Cyber Security best practices 
with external Cyber Security and the outcome 
from the Local Government Association (LGA): 
‘The City of Wolverhampton Council has a 
strong cyber security posture, and our 
recommendations are mostly minor’

Incident Management, Logging and Monitoring, and 
Removable Media Controls. 
We are already considering tooling and have exercises 
planned in to resolve these issues.

• LGA funding awarded to CWC to train Digital and 
IT staff to Certified Information Systems Security 
Professional Standard

P
age 383



Deliverables and Work Undertaken by Digital and IT to Minimise Threats

• Continuously reviewing and implementing NCSC advice
• Deploying threat mitigation measures
• Working with trusted Partners to maintain and further strengthen our robust 

Cyber defenses
• 3rd Parties actively scanning our network to identify vulnerabilities which 

have been remediated 
• These reports submitted to Central Government as tangible evidence CWC 

exceeds stringent controls required to transact with Government bodies
• Cyber and Disaster Recovery Capabilities assessed via internal and external 

audits
• Adopting Best Practice by plugging any vulnerabilities identified immediately
• Primary Security Network Accreditation recertified 
• In partnership with the Resilience Team, Digital and IT undertook a few events 

during Business Continuity Week

P
age 384



Planned Activities/Next Steps

• Implementing recommendations Local Government Association
• Train Digital and IT staff to Certified Information Systems Security Professional 

Standard via LGA funding
• Recommendations from internal and external audit of Cyber and Disaster 

Recovery Capabilities to be implemented
• Automated response system for Cyber Security Incidents
• Backup Immutability enabling failsafe recovery following ransomware attack
• Introduction of USB and Application controls
• Enhance Employee Cyber Security Awareness training
• Removal of unsupported applications from the Network
• Migration of Shared Data to Microsoft Cloud
• Continued collaborative working with Information Governance and Resilience 

Teams
• Retain existing Cyber Security Accreditation i.e., Cyber Essential Plus

P
age 385



[Thank you / Questions text]

P
age 386


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	5 Code of Corporate Governance
	Appendix 1 Code-of-Corporate-Governance 2022

	6 Annual Governance Statement 2021-2022
	Appendix 1 -  Annual Governance Statement

	7 Assessment of Going Concern Status
	Appendix 1 - Going Concern Statement

	8 Draft Statement of Accounts
	Appendix A – Draft Statement of Accounts 2021-2022

	9 Counter Fraud Update
	10 Strategic Risk Register
	Appendix A – Strategic Risk Register

	10a Cyber Security Update
	Cyber Security Update


